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IL Form BCA 8.12
Groupon, inc.
File # 6591-522-9

Questions:

1. Is the corporation a publicly held corporation with its principal executive office located in
lllinois?
Answer: Yes

1a. Principal address of executive office in lllinois:
Answer: 600 West Chicago Ave, Suite 400, Chicago IL 60610

2. Set forth data on specific qualifications, skills and experience that the corporation considers
for its board of directors, nominees for the board of directors, and executive officers.
Answer:

The chart below identifles certain skills and qualifications our Board of Directors (the
“Board”) and executive officers bring to Groupon, based on areas we believe are
important to our success. We belleve the combination of the skills and qualifications
shown below demonstrates how our Board Is well positioned to provide effectlve
oversight and strategic advice to our management. We believe the categories of skills
and qualifications highlighted below are particularly relevant to the oversight of our
global e-commerce business.

Qualificatlon/SkilVExperlence Number of Current Directors
Audit / Finance 7
International Experience 9

Public Company CFO / CEQ Experience 6

Marketing / Advertising 6

Techncelogy / E-Commerce 8

3. Set forth the self-identified gender of each member of the board of directors.
Answer:

Rich Williams: Male
Eric Lefkofsky: Male
Michael Angelakis: Male
Peter Barris: Male
Robert Bass: Male
Theodore Leonsis: Male



e Joseph Levin: Male
e Deborah Wahl: Female
¢ Ann Ziegler: Female

4, Set forth the race or ethnicity of each member of the board of directors.
Answer:

Rlch WHllams: Caucasian

Eric Lefkofsky: Caucasian
Michael Angelakis: Caucasian
Peter Barris: Caucasian
Robert Bass: Caucasian
Theodore Leonslis: Caucasian
Joseph Levin: Caucaslan
Deborah Wahl: Caucasian
Ann Ziegler: Caucasian

5. Set forth a description of the corporation's process for identifying and evaluating nominees for
the board of directors, including whether and, if so, how demographic diversity is considered.
Answer:

The Nominating Committee of the Board reviews with the Board the appropriate set of
characterlstics, skills and experiences for the Board as a whole, with the objective of
having a Board that can best help drive the success of our business and represent
stockholder interests through the exercise of sound judgment using its diversity of
experience. In evaluating its overall composition, our Board and Nominating Committee
take Into account many factors, Including: general understanding of marketing, finance
and other disciplines relevant to the Company's industry or the success of a large
publicly traded company in today’s business environment; operational and senior
leadership experience; needs and strategy of the Company relative to the overall
composition of our Board; understanding of our business and technology;
independence; and diversity of background, skills and experience. The Nominating
Commilttee regularly engages In ongoing board composition planning to assure that our
Board continues to maintain an appropriate mix of skills and experiences to provide
fresh perspectives and effective oversight and guidance to management, while
leveraging the institutional knowledge and historical perspective of our longer-tenured

directors.

The Nominating Committee reviews the skills and qualifications of each candidate for
nomination to the Board. The Nominating Committee considers candidates that are
suggested by members of the Board, as well as management, our stockholders and any
director search firm retained by the Board or the NomInating Committee. In evaluating a
candidate, the Nominating Committee considers, among other things; educational and
professional background; personal accomplishments; potential conflicts of interest;



whether he or she also brings specific skills or expertise in areas that the Board has
identified as deslred; and whether he or she possess personal attributes and diverse
experiences that will contribute to the effective functioning of the Board as a whole. In
addition, characteristics expected of all directors include integrity, high personal and
professional ethics, sound business judgment, and the ability and willingness to commit
sufficient time to the Board.

6. Set forth a description of the corporation’s process for identifying and appointing executive
officers, including whether and, if so, how demographic diversity is considered.
Answer:

In evaluating executlve officers, our Board takes into account many factors, including:
understanding of marketing, flnance, e-commerce and other disciplines refevant to the
Company's industry and the proposed role of a particular executive officer; operational
and senior leadership experience; needs and strategy of the Company; understanding of
our husiness and technology; and diversity of background, skills and experience. In
reviewing the skills and qualiflcations of each candidate, the Board considers candidates
that are suggested by members of the Board, as well as management, our stockholders
and any executive search firm retained by the Board. In evaluating a candidate, the Board
considers, among other things; educational and professional background; personal
accomplishments; potential conflicts of Interest; and whether he or she possess
personal attributes and diverse experiences that will contribute to the effective
functioning of the Company as a whole. In addition, characteristics expected of all
executive officers Include integrity, high personal and professlonal ethics and sound
business judgment.

7. Set forth a description of the corporation’s policies and practices for promoting diversity,
equity and inclusion among the board of directors and executive officers.
Answer:

Diversity, equity and inclusion are important factors we consider in our searches for
Board nominees, executlve officers and other Groupon employees. In fact, one of
Groupon’s core guiding values Is “Respect, Integrity and Inclusion”, which enjoins
everyone at Groupon to invite diverse perspectives to ensure that we take on challenges
in an honest, open and respectful manner. In addition, the Groupon Diversity and
Inclusion team is committed to encouraging the daily practice of cultivating an
empathetic global communlty where commerce, innovation and brand loyalty thrive
through inclusion.

As part of Groupon'’s core value of “Respect, Integrity and Inclusion”, we ensure that our
Board and executive offlcers engage with our global Inclusion and Diversity team and
support its strategy and operations that impact our internal culture and connection to
our merchants and customers. The Board receives a report annually on our diversity



hiring and attrition numbers as well as an overvlew of our programs designed to attract,
retain and promote diverse talent. Our executive officers serve as global champions of
our diversity efforts through their engagement as executive sponsors of Business
Resource Groups, participation in diversity/unconscious bias training and support of
diversity programming deslgned to advance under-served populations into management
positions.
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PART 1
FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

This Annual Report on Form 10-K contains forwardHooking statements within the meaning of Section 2TA of the Securities Act of 1933, as
ameanded, and Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, including statements regarding our future resuits of operations and
financial posltion, business strategy and plans and our objectives for future operations. The words "may," "will," "should,” "could," “expect,”
"anticipate,” "believe,” "estimate,” "intend,” "continue” and other similar expressions are intended to identify forward-locking statements. We have
basad these forward looking statements largely on current expectations and projections about future events and financial trends that we believe may
affect our financial condition, results of operations, business strategy, short-lterm and long-term business opsrations and objectives, and financial
needs. These forward-looking statements involve risks and uncertainties that could cause our actual results to differ materially from those expressed
or implied in our forward-looking statements. Such risks and uncertainties include, but are not limited to, risks related to volatility in our operating
results; execution of our business and marketing strategies; retaining existing customers and adding new customers; chalienges arising from our
international operations, including fluctuations in currency exchange rates, legal and regulatory developments and any potential adverse impact from
the United Kingdom's likely exit from the European Union; retaining and adding high quality merchants; our voucherless offerings; cybersecurity
breaches; competing successfully in our industry; changes to merchant payment terms; providing a strong moblle experlence for our customers;
malntaining and improving our informaticn technology infrastructure; delivery and routing of our emails; claims related to product and service
offerings; managing inventory and order fulfillment risks; litigation; managing refund risks; retaining and attracting members of our executive team;
completing and realizing the anticipated benefits from acquisitions, dispositions, joint ventures and strategic investments; lack of control aver
minority investments; compliance with domestic and forslgn laws and regulations, induding the CARD Act, GDPR and regulation of the Internet and
e-commerce; classification of our independent contractors or employees; tax llabilities; tax legislation; protecting our intellectual property,
maintaining a strong brand; customer and merchant fraud; payment-related risks; our abillty to raise capital If necessary and our outstanding
indebtedness; global economic uncertainty; our common stock, including volatility in our stock price; our convertible senior notes; our ability to
realize the anticipated benefits from the hedge and warrant tfransactions; and those risks and other factors discussed in ltem 1A. Risk Factors of this
Annual Report on Form 10-K, as well as in our consolidated financial statements, related notes, and the other financial information appearing
elsewhera in this report and our other filings with the Securities and Exchange Commission ("SEC"). Mcreovar, we operate in a very compstitive and
rapidly changing environment. New risks emerge from time to time. It is not possible for our management to predict all risks, nor can we assess the
impact of all factors on our business or the extent to which any factor, or combination of factors, may cause actual results to differ materially from
those conlained in any forward-looking statements we may make. We do not Intend, and undertake no abligation, to update any of our forward-
looking statements after the date of this report to reflect actual results or future events or circumstances. Given these risks and uncertainties,
readers are cautioned not to place undue reliance on such forward-looking statements.

As used herein, "Groupon,” "we,” "our,” "us” and slimilar terms incdlude Groupon, Inc. and its subsidiaries, unless the context indicates
otherwise.




ITEM 1. BUSINESS

Groupon is a global leader in local commerce, making it easy for people around the world to search and discover great businesses and
merchandise. Qur vision is to connect local commerce, increasing consumer buying power while driving more business to merchants through price
and discovery. We want Groupon to be the destination that consumars check first when they are out and about; the place they start whan they are
looking to buy just about anything, anywhere, anytime. Wa provide consumers with savings and help them discover what to do, eat, see, buy and
where to travel. By bringing the brick and mortar world of local commerce onto the Internet, Groupon is helping local merchants to attract customers
and sell goods and services.

Groupon operates online local commerce marketplaces throughout the world that connect merchants to consumers by offering goods and
services, generally at a discount. Consumers access those marketplaces through our websites, primarily localized groupon.com sites in many
countries, and our mobile applications.

Our operations are organized into two segments: North America and Intemational. See llem 8, Note 19, Segment Information . W e offer
goods and services through our online marketplaces in three primary categories: Local, Goods and Travel.

We generate both product and service revenue from our business operations. In prior years, we referred to product revenue and service
revenue as "direct revenue” and "third-party and other revenue,” respectively. This terminology change did not impact the amounts presented in the
accompanying consolidated financial statements.

We eam product revenue from direct sales of merchandise inventery through our Goods category. We primarily eam service revenue from
transactions in which we eam commissions by selling goods or services on behalf of third-party merchants. Those transactions generally involve a
customer's purchase of a voucher through one of our online marketplaces that can be redeemed with a third-party merchant for specified goods or
services (or for discounts on specified goods or services). Service revenue also includes commissions that we eamn when customers make
purchases with retailers using digital coupons accessed through our websites and mobile applications and from voucheress merchant offerings in
which customers eam cash back on their credit card statements when they transact with third-party merchants.

Our results from 2018 were impacted by the strategic initiatives discussed in ltem 7, Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial
Condition and Resufts of Operations . Those results include the following:

«  Gross bhillings decrease d to $5.2 billion in 2018 , as compared with $5.6 billion in 2017 . In 2018, 65.8% and 34.2% of our gross
bilings were generated in North America and International, respectively, as compared with 69.6% and 30.4% in 2017 . Gross
billings represent the total dollar value of customer purchases of goods and services. The substantial majority of our service
revenue transactions is comprised of sales of vouchers and similar transactions in which we collect the transaction price from the
customer and remit a portion of the transaction price to the third-party merchant who will provide the related goods or services. For
these transactions, gross billings differs from revenue reported in our consolidated statements of operations, which is presented net
of the merchant's share of the transaction price. For product revenue transactions, gross billings are eguivalent to product revenue
reported in our consolidated statements of operations.

»  Revenue decrease d to $2.6 billion in 2018 , as compared with $2.8 billion in 2017 . In 2018 , 62.2% and 37.8% of our revenue was
generated in North America and fnternational, respectively, as compared with 67.3% and 32.7% in 2017 .

»  Gross profit of $1.3 billion in 2018 was consistent with prior year. In 2018 , 67.4% and 32.6% of our gross prefit was generated in
North America and International, respectively, as compared with 69.5% and 30.5% in 2017 .

*  Income from operations was $54.0 million in 2018 , as comparad with $29.4 million in 2017 .

= The number of active customers, which is defined as unique user accounts that have made a purchase during the trailing twelve
months ("TTM") either through one of our online markelplaces or directly with a merchant far which we eamed a commission,
decreased to 48.2 million as of December 31, 2018 from 49.5 million as of December 31, 2017 .




We are a Delaware corporation, incorporated on January 15, 2008 under the name "ThePoint.com, Inc." We started Groupon in October
2008 and officially changed our name to Groupon, Inc. by filing an amended cartificata of incorporation on June 16, 2009. Our principal executive
offices are located at 600 West Chicago Avenue, Suite 400, Chicago, lllinois 60654, and our telephone number at this address is (312) 334-1579.
Our investor relations department can be reached via email at ir@groupon.com. Our website is www.groupon.com. Information contained on our
wabsite is not a part of this Annual Report on Form 10-K. We completed our initial public offering in November 2011 and our common stock is listed
on the Nasdag Global Select Market under the symbol "GRPN."

GROUPON, the GROUPON logo and other GROUPON-formative marks are trademarks of Groupon, Inc. in the United States or other
countries. This Annual Report on Form 10-K alse includes other trademarks of Groupon and trademarks of other persons.

Our Strategy

Our goal is to continue to build marketplaces that our customers rely on to discover and save on amazing things to do, eat, see, buy and
where to travel. Key elements of our strategy include the following:

Enhance the customer experience. With a mobile-first strategy, we intend to improve the customer experience by continuing to invest in
Innovative, frictionless products and differentiated local supply coupled with strong national brands. As we build out our marketplaces, we want our
customers to have a superior, frictionless experience when they use our product whether finding, booking, buying or redeeming an offer. For
merchants, this includes providing capabilities to manage demand for their goods and services and improving their ability to acquire customers. For
consumers, this includes easily finding offers and accessing features that augment the overall experience, as well as seamlessly purchasing and
redeeming offers. We are currently investing in Initiatives to improve the purchase and redemption experience, such as enhancing our mobile
applications, testing offerings with voucherless redemption resulting in cash back directly to customers' credit cards, and adding direct booking
capabilities. These inifiatives are targeted at growing customer value via increased purchase fraquency and gross profit per customer to drive long-
term growth in our business.

Establish Groupon as an open platform . We ultimately want Groupon to become a daily habit for our customers and believe that
significantly Increasing the offerings available through our online local commerce marketplaces is critical to this goal. Our initiatives to grow our
inventory of deal offerings include entering into commercial agreements with third parties that enable us to feature addltional merchant offerings
through our marketplaces, identifying new distribution channels through which to sell our marketplace offerings, and continuing to optimize the
activities performed by our sales teams. Additionally, we believe that our efforts to Increase our customer value may improve the health of our
marketplaces, making our marketing and promotional services more effective for the merchants who feature offerings on our platform.

Continue to realize our international potential. In 2018, the gross profit generated by our International segment represented 32.6% of our
consolidated gross profit. We maintain a long-term focus on driving International to achieve gross profit that is more comparable to that of North
America. Our initiatives to grow International gross profit include increasing cur intemational marketing spending and leveraging enhanced
marketing analytics, prioritizing more technology resources in order to expand and advance its product and service offerings, growing our inventory
of deal offerings by entering into commercial agreements with third parties that enable us to feature additional merchant offerings through our
marketplaces, and other initiatives.

Maintain culture of operational efficiency. Cur company runs with a fundamental emphasis on maximizing operational efficiency. While we
expect to invest in our key initiatives, we will continue to do so as disciplined operators and seek out opportunities to improve our efficiency.

Our Business

We earn revenue from transactions in which we provide markeling services primarily by selling vouchers through our online local
marketplaces that can be redeemed for goods or services with third-party merchants. Our service revenue from those transaclions is reported on a
net basis as the purchase price received from the customer for the voucher less an agreed upon portion of the purchase price paid to the merchant.
We also earn revenue by selling merchandise inventory directly to customers through our online marketplaces. Qur product revenue from those
transactions is the purchase price received from the customer.




Our business model has evolved in recent years from primarily an email-based "push” model with a limited number of deals offered at any
given time to more extensive online "pull® marketplaces, where customers can come to Groupon's websites and mobile applications to search and
browse for deals on goods and services. We also publish ratings and helpful tips from customers to Fighlight the unique aspects of local merchants,
including merchants that have featured offerings through our marketplaces.

Local . Our Local category includes offerings from local and national merchants, as well as local events. Local also includes other revenue
sources such as commission revenue and advertising revenue, as these revenue sources are primarily generated through our relationships with
local and national merchants. Our local offerings comprise multiple subcategories, including events and activities, beauty and spa, health and
fimess, food and drink, home and garden and automotive. National merchants also have used our marketplaces as an alternative to traditional
marketing and brand advertising. Although our business today is weighted toward offerings from lecal merchants, we continue to feature offerings
from national merchants to build our brand awareness, acquire new customers and generate additional revenue. In addition to local and national
deals, we give consumers the abllity to access digital coupons from thousands of retailars through our Coupons offering. We also offer deals on
concerts, sports, theater and other live entertainment events. We are increasingly featuring offerings on our site from other online marketplaces to
further expand local offerings.

Goods . In our Goods category, we eam product revenue from transactions in which we sell merchand|se inventory directly to customers, as
well as service revenue from transactions in which third-party merchants sell products to customers through our marketplaces, Our Goods category
offers customers the ability to find discounted merchandise across multiple preduct lines, including electronics, sporting goods, jewelry, toys,
household items and apparel. We expect that we will continue to add new brands to our platform in order to expand our offerings.

Trave! . Through our Travel category, we feature trave! offers at both discounted and market rates, including hotels, airfare and package
deals covering both domestic and intemational travel. For many of our travel offerings, the custorner must contact the merchant direclly to make a
travel reservation after purchasing a travel voucher from us. However, for some of our hotel offerings, customers make room reservations directly
through our websites.

Distribution

Our customers access our online local commerce marketplaces through our mobile applications and our websites, which primarily consist of
localized groupon.com sites in countries throughout the world. We use a varisty of marketing channels to direct customers to the deal offerings
available through these marketplaces, as described in the Markefing section below.

Consumers predominately access our offerings through our mobile applications and, to a lesser extent, through mobile web browsers. Our
applications and mobile websites enable consumers to browse, purchase, manage and redeem deals on their mobile devices. In addition, the mobile
experience leverages location In several ways, enabling consumers to fitter by distance, discover deals near them and visualize the assortment of
Groupon offers through a maps view. For the year ended December 31, 2018 , aver 70% of our global transactions were completed on mobile
devices.

Marketing

Woe primarily use marketing to acquire and retain high-quality customers and promote awareness of our marketplaces. In North America, we
are using Improved marketing analytics to drive efficiency in our marketing spend and maximize the lifetime value of our customer base.
Internationally, we are also leveraging improved marketing analytics whiie ramping up overall marketing spend to drive customer acqulsition. In total,
we dacrease d our global marketing spend by $5.2 million , o r 1.3% , for the year ended December 31, 2018 as compared with the prior period. We
expect to continue to use marketing in fulure perlods in connection with our efforts to acquire and retain high-quality customers.

We use a variety of marketing channels to make customers aware of the deal offerings on our mobile and web platforms, including search
engines, email and push nofifications, affiliate channels, social and display advertising and offline marketing.




Search engines. Customers can access our deal offerings indirectly through third-party search engines. We use search engine optimization
("SEO") and marketing ("SEM") to increase the visibility of our offerings in web search results.

Email and push notifications. We use targeting technology to determine which deal offerings to communicate to our subscribers based on
their locations and personal preferences. A subscriber who clicks on a deal offering within an email or push notification Is directed to our website or
mobile application to learn more about the deal and be able to make a purchase.

Affiliate channels. We have an affiliate program that utllizes third parties to promote our deal offerings online. Affiliates earn commisslons
when customers access our deal offerings through links on their websites and make purchases on our platform. We expect to continus to leverage
affiliate relationships to extend the distribution of our deals to a broad base of potential customers,

Social and display. We publish deals through various social networks and adapt our notifications to the particular format of each of these
social networking platforms. Our websites and mobile application interfaces enable consumers to share deal offerings with their personal social
networks. We also promote our deal offerings using display advertlsing on websltes.

Television and other offine. We use offline marketing such as television advertising, and to a lesser extent, print and radio advertising, to
help build awareness of our offerings and brand strength.

Our marketing activities also include elements that are not presented as Marketing on our consclidated statements of operations, such as
order discounts and free shipping on qualifying merchandise sales.

Sales and Operations

Our sales force consists of 2,268 merchant sales representatives and sales suppont staff, who build merchant relationships and provide
local expertise. Our North American merchant sales representatives and support staff are primarily based in our offices in Chicago and Phoenix, and
our intemational merchant sales representatives and support staff are based In thair respactive local offices. Our global sales and sales support
headcount by segment as of December 31, 2018 was as follows:

WorhAmerica  — ~ T T T ) 934 |
International . . . 1,334
Total 2,268 |

Other key operational functions include edltorial, merchant development, customer service, technology, merchandising and logistics. Our
editorial depariment s responsible for creating the written and visual content on the deals we offer. The merchant development team works with
merchants to plan the deal before an offering is active and serve as an ongoing point of contact for the merchant over the term of a deal. Our
customer service department is responsible for answerlng questions via phone, email, chat and on social media platforms regarding purchases,
shipping status, retums and other areas of customer inquiry. Our technology team is focused on the design and development of new features and
products to enhance the customer and merchant experience, maintenance of our websites and development and maintenance of our internal
systems. Merchandising and logistics personnel are responsible for managing Inventory and the flow of products from suppliers to our customers.

Our websites are hosted at two U.S. data centers in California and at an international data center in Ireland. Our data centers host our
public-facing websites and applications, as well as our back-end business Intelligence systems. We employ security practices to protect and
maintain the systems located at our data centers. We have invested in intrusion and anomaly detection tools to try to recognize intrusions to our
websites. We engage independent third-party Intemet security firms to regularly test the security of our webskes and Identify vulnerabilities. In
financial transactions with customers conducted on our websites and mobile applications, we use data encryption protocols to secure information
while in transit. See Risk Factors for additional informaticn relating to cyber threats.




Competition

Our business is rapidly evolving and we face competition from a variely of sources. Some of our competitors offer deals as an add-on to
their core business, and others have adopted a business model similar to ours. We also compete against companies that offer other types of
advertising and promotional services to local businesses. In addition to such competitors, we expect to increasingly compete against other large
Internet and technology-based businesses that have launched initiatives in the local space. We also expact to compete against other Intemet sites
that are focused on specific comrnunities or interests and offer coupons or discount arrangements related to such communities or interests. Further,
as our business continues to evolve, we anticipate facing new competition. We believe the principal competitive factors in our markets include the
following:

+ quality and performance of our merchants;

«  size and composition of our customer base;

= mobile penetration;

= understanding of local business trends;

= ability to structure deal offerings to generate a positive return on investment for merchants;
+ ability to generate large volumes of sales; and

*  repulation, strength and recognition of brand.

Although we belisve that wa compete favorably on the factors described above and benefit from scale, we anticipate that larger, more
established companies may directly compete with us over time. Many of our current and potential competitors have longer operating histories,
significantly greater financial, technical, marketing and other resources, greater scale and larger customer bases than we do. These factors may
allow our competitors to benefit from their existing customer base with lower acquisition costs or to respond more quickly than we can to new or
emerging technologies and changes in customer requirements. These competitors may engage in more extensive research and development
efforts, undertake more far-reaching marketing campaigns and adopt more aggressive pricing policies, which may allow them to build a larger
subscriber base or to monetize that subscriber base more effactively than wa do. Qur competitors may develop products or services that are similar
to our products and services or that achieve greater market acceptance than our products and services.

Seasonality

Some of our cfferings experience seasonal buying patterns mirroring that of the larger consumer retail and e-commerce markets, where
demand declines during customary summer vacation periods and increases during the fourth quarter holiday season. We believe thal this
seasonality pattern has affected, and will continue to affect, our business and quarterly sequential revenue growth rates. We recognized 30.3% ,
30.7% and 30.0% of our annual revenue during the fourth quarter of 2018 , 2017 and 2016 .

Regulation

We are subject to a number of foreign and domestic laws and regulations that affect companies conducting business on the Internet,
Additionally, those laws and regulations may be interpreted differently across domestic and foreign jurisdictions. As a company in a relatively new
and rapidly innovating industry, we are exposed to the risk that many of those laws may evolve or be interpreted by regulators or in the courts in
ways that could materially affect our business. Those laws and regulations may involve taxation, unclalmed property, inteilectual property, product
liability, travel, distribution, electronic contracts and other communications, competition, consumer protection, the provision of various online
payment services, employee, merchant and customer privacy and data security or other areas.

The Credit Card Accountability Responsibility and Disclosure Act of 2008 (the "CARD Act”), as well as the laws of mast states, conlain
provisions goveming gift cards, gift certificates, stored value or pre-paid cards or coupons ("gift cards”). Groupon vouchers may be included within
the definition of "gift cards™ under many laws. In addition, certain foreign jurisdictions have laws that govern disclosure and certain product terms and
conditions, including restrictions on expiration dates and feas, that may apply to Groupon vouchers. There are also a number of legislative proposals
pending before the U.S. Congress, various state lagisiative bodies and foreign governments that could affect us, and our global operations may be
constrained by regulatory regimes and laws in Europe and other jurisdictions outside the United States that may be more restrictive and adversely
impact our business.




Various U.S. laws and regulations, such as the Bank Secrecy Act of 1970 (the "Bank Secrecy Act"). the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and
Consumer Protection Act, the USA PATRIQT Act and the CARD Act impose certain anti-mecney laundering requirements on companies that are
financial institutions or that provide financial products and services. Those laws and regulations broadly define financial institutions to include money
sarvices businesses such as money transmitters, check cashers and sellers or issuers of stored value. Requirements imposed on financial
institutfons under thosse laws include customer identification and verification programs, record retention policies and procedures and transaction
reporting. We do not believe that we are a financial institution subject to those laws and regulations.

We are subject to a variety of federal, state and intemational laws and regulations goveming consumer data. The General Data Protection
Regulation {"GDPR"), which was racently adopted by the European Unlon became effective in May 2018, requires companies to salisfy new
requirements regarding the handling of personal and sensitive data, including its collection, use, protection and the ability of persons whose data is
stored to correct or delete such data about themselves. Complying with the GDPR caused us to update certain business practices and systems.
Non-compliance with GDPR could result in proceedings against us by governmental entities or others and fines up to the greater of €20 million or
4% of annual global revenue. In addition, the State of California adopted the Callfornia Consumer Protection Act of 2018 ("CCPA™}, which will
bacome effaclive In 2020 and also will regulate the collection and use of consumers’ data. Compliance with the CCPA is expacled to cause us to
make additional updates to certain business practices and systems.

Intellectual Property

We protect our inteliectual property rights by relying on federal, state and common law rights, as well as contractual restrictions. We control
access to our proprietary technology by entering into confidentiality and invention assignment agreements with our employees and contractors, and
confidentiality agreements with third partles.

In addition to those contractual arrangements, we also rely on a combination of trade secrets, copyrights, trademarks, service marks, trade
dress, domain names and patents to protect our intellectual property. Groupon and its related entities own a number of trademarks and service
marks registered or pending in the United States and Intemationally. In addition, we own a number of issued patents and pending patent
applications in the Unlted States and intemationally and own and have applied for copyright registrations In the United Statses.

Circumstances outside our control could pose a threat to our Intellectual property rights and the efforts we have taken to protect our
proprietary rights may not be sufficient or effective or deter independent development of equivalent or supsrior intellectual property rights by others.
Any significant impairment of our intellectual property rights could harm our business or our ability to compete. Also, protecting our intellectual
property rights is costly and time-consuming. Any unauthorized disclosure or use of our intellectual property could make it more expensive to do
business and harm our operaling results.

Companies in the Internet, technology and other industries as well as non-practicing entities may own large numbers of patents, copyrights
and trademarks or other intellectual property rights and may request license agreements, threaten litigation or file suit against us based on
allegations of infringement or other violations of intellectual property rights. We are currently subject to, and expect to face in the future, lawsuits and
allegations that we have infringed the intellectual property rights of third partles. As our business grows, we will likely face more claims of
infringement, and may experience an adverse resuft which could impact our business and/or our operating results.

We have received in the past, and we anticipate we will receive in the future, communlcatlons alleging that items offered or sold through our
website infringe third-party copyrights, trademarks, patents and trade names or other Intellectual property rights or that we have otherwise infringed
third parties’ past, current or future inteilectual property rights. We may be unable to prevent third partles from offaring and selling unlawful or
infringing goods or goods of disputed authenticity, and we may be subject to allegations of civil or criminal liability for unlawful activities carried out
by third parties through our website, We may implement measures in an effort to protect against these potential liabilities that could requlre us to
spend substantial resources and/or to reduce ravenus by discontinuing certain service offerings. Any costs incurred as a result of liability or asserted
liability relating to the sale of unlawful goods or the unfawful sale of goods could harm our business.
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Employees

As of December 31, 2018 , there were 2,522 employees in our North America segment, consisting of 934 sales representatives and 1,588
corporate, operaticnal and customer service representatives, and 4,054 ernployess in our Intemational segment, consisting of 1,334 sales
representatives and 2,721 corporate, operational and customer service repraesentatives.

Executlve Officers

The following table sets forth information about our executive officers:

Name Age Position

Rich Williams 44 Chief Executive Officer and Director
Michael Randolfi 46 Chief Financial Officer

Steve Krenzer 60 Chief Operating Officer

Dane Drobny 51 Genaral Counsel and Corporate Secretary
Melissa Thomas 39 Chief Accounting Officer and Treasurer

Rich Williams has served as our Chief Executive Officer and a member of our Board of Directors since November 2015. Prior to this role,
Mr. Willlams served as our Chief Operating Officer since June 2015 and President of North America since October 2014. He joined the Company in
June 2011 as Senior Vice President of Marketing. Prior 1o joining Groupon, Mr. Wiliams served in a variety of marketing leadership roles
at Amazon.com, Inc. (NASDAQ: AMZN) from January 2008 to June 2011, most recently as the Director, Paid Traffic leading global advertising. Prior
to joining Amazon, he spent nearly seven years in sales and marketing leadership roles at Experian plc (LSE: EXPN), a global information services
company.

Michael Randoifi has served as our Chief Financial Officer since April 2016. Prior to Joining Groupon, Mr. Randolfi served as the Chlef
Financial Officer of Orbitz Worldwide, Inc. (NYSE: OWW) from March 2013 until November 2015 (when he departed following its acquisition by
Expedia, Inc.). Prior to joining Orbitz, Mr. Randolfi served as Vice President and then as Senior Vice President and Controller at Delta Air Lines
{NYSE: DAL) from February 2008 to February 2013. From June 1989 to February 2008, he held various executive positions at Delta Air Lines in
financial planning and analysis, controllership and treasury. Prior to his 14-year career at Delta, Mr. Randolfi held positions with Continental Airlines
{(NYSE: UAL) and Raymond James and Assoclates (NYSE: RJF). Mr, Randolfi is a CPA and a certified management accountant.

Steve Krenzer has served as our Chief Operating Officer since November 2017. Prior to joining Groupon, Mr. Krenzer was the Chief
Executive Officer of Core Digital Media, Inc. from October 2012 to November 2017. From November 1996 to October 2012, Mr. Krenzer held a
variety of senior executive positions at Experian (LSE: EXPN), ultimately serving as President of Interactive Media.

Dane Drobny has served as our General Counsel and Corporate Secretary since July 2014. Prior to Joining Groupon, Mr. Drobny was
Senlor Vice President, General Counsel and Corporate Secretary at Sears Holdings Corporation (NASDAQ: SHLD) from May 2010 to June 2014.
Prior to joining Sears Holdings, he spent 17 years at the intemational law firm of Winston & Strawn LLP, most recently as a partner,

Melissa Thomas has served as our Chief Accounting Officer and Treasurer since November 2018. Prior to this role, Ms. Thomas served as
our Vice President of Commercial Finance since May 2017. Prior to joining Groupon, Ms. Thomas sarved as Vice President of Finance at Surgical
Care Affiliates from June 2016 to May 2017. From August 2007 to May 2016, Ms. Thomas servad in a variety of finance and accounting leadership
roles at Orbitz Worldwide (NYSE: OWW), most recently as Vice President of Finance. Prior to Orbitz, Ms. Thomas held accounting positions at
Equity Office Propertles and bagan her career at PricewaterhouseCoopers.
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Available Information

We selactronically file reports with the SEC. The SEC maintains an Intemet site (www.sec.gov) that contains reports, proxy and information
statements and other information regarding issuers that file electronically with the SEC. Copies of our Annual Report on Form 10-K, Quarterly
Reports on Form 10-Q and Current Reports on Form 8-K and amendments to those reports filed or fumished pursuant to Section 13(a} or 15(d) of
the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 are also available free of charge through our website (www.groupon.com), as soon as reasonably practicable
after electronically filing with or otherwise fumnishing such information te the SEC, and are available in print to any stockholder who requests them.
Qur Code of Conduct, Corporate Governance Guidelines and committee charters are also posted on the site. We use our Investor Relations website
(investor.groupon.com) and our blog {www.groupon.com/blog) as a means of disclosing material non-public information and for complying with our
disclosure obligations under Regulation FD. Information contained on our website and blog is not a part cf this Annual Report on Form 10-K.
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ITEM 1A, RISK FACTORS

Cur business, prospects, financial condition, operating results and the trading price of our common stock could be malernally adversely
affected by the risks described below. In assessing those risks, you should also refer lo the other information contained in this Annual Report on
Form 10-K, including Part I, ltem 7. Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Resufts of Operations (MD&A) and fhe
consolidated financial statements and the related notes in Part Il, ltem 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data of this Annual Report on
Form 10-K.

Risks Related to Our Business
Our operating results may vary significantly from quarter to quarter.

QOur operating results may vary significantly from quarter to quarter due to seasonality and other reasons such as the rapidly evolving nature
of our businass. We believe that our abllity to achieve and maintain profitability will depend, among athar factors, on our ability to
. acquire new customers and retain existing customers;

. attract and retain quality merchants:

. effectively address and respond to challenges in international markets;

. expand the number, variety and relevance of products and deals we offer, including through third party business partners and
technology integrations, as we attempt to build a more complete local marketplacs;

. our ability to leverage other platforms to display our offerings;

. achieve additional mobile adoption to capitalize on customers’ continued shift toward mobile device usage;

. increase the awareneass of our brand;

. successfully achieve the anticipated benefits of business combinations or acquisiticns, strategic investments, divestitures and
restructuring activities;

. provide a superior customer service experience for our customers;

. avoid interruptions to our services, including as a result of attempted or successful cybersecurity attacks or breaches;

. respond to continuous changes in consumer and marchant use of tachnology;

. offset declines in email, search engine optimization ("SEO") and other free traffic and further diversify our traffic channels;

. react to challenges from existing and new competitors;

. respond to seasonal changes in supply and demand; and

. address challenges from existing and new laws and regulations.

In addltion, our margins and profitability may depend on our product sales mix, our geographic revenus mix and merchant and third-party
businass partner pricing terms. In recent years, w e have shifted the focus on our websites and moblle applications toward offerings with higher
gross profit in connection with our efforts to drive long-term gross profit growth. {f we are not successful in achieving this objective, our business,
financial position and results of operations could be harmed. Further, sales in our Goods category may constitute a greater percentage of our sales
in certain periods relative to ather categories, which may result in lower margins and profitability during those periods. Accordingly, our profitability
may vary significantly from quarter to quarter.

Our strategy to grow our business may not be successful and may expose us to addftlonal risks.
Our strategy to grow our business focuses on saveral key priorities including enhancing the customer experience, establishing Groupon as

an open platform, realizing the potential of our international busine ss and malntaining a culture of operational rigor. We have undertaken several
initiatives as we execute this strategy.
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We have prioritized building great products and customer experience. To this end, we have continued to invest in improving the customer
experience, from search to purchase to redemption, in removing friction from our websites and mobile applications and In product development (for
example through card-inked offerings and booking capabilities). There are no assurances that our actions or product offerings will be successful in
improving the customer experience, increasing our customer base, or improving customer purchase frequency in the short term or at all. If we are
unable to realize expected outcomes from the execution of our strategy, our business and operating results may be harmed.

In addition, as we focus on building out a more extensive local commerce marketplace platform, we have also devoted significant resources
to increasing the number of offers on our platform, attracting new merchants, retaining merchants who are willing to run deals on a continuous basis
with us and engaging with third-party business partners via technology integrations in order to build a significant inventory for cur customers. We
have accepted, and expect to continue to accept, a lower portion of the gross billings from some of our merchants and business partners as we
expand our marketplaces and introduce new products. In addition, we are continuously refining our process for presenting the most relevant deals to
our customers based on their personal preferences and location. We are also continuing our efforts to optimize the mix of products that we offer. If
we are not successful in achieving these objectives, our business, financial position and results of operations could be harmed. Further, we have
implemented technology integrations with a number of third party business partners that we rely on to support various products and augment
inventory across all categories of our business. Significant disruption in these services, or breakdown of these relationships, could negatively impact
our ability to grow.

With respect to our international markets, we expect to continue to focus on improving our products and customer experience a nd applying
our North American playbook fo our International business. If we are unable to successfully execute these initiatives and realize the potential of our
intemational markets, our business and operating results may be harmed.

Our efforts to execute our strategy may prove more difficult than we currently anticipate, and we may not succeed in realizing the benefits of
these efforts, Including increasing gross profit, unit growth or gross profit per custemer, in a short time frame or at all.

Our financial resuits may be adversely affected If we are unable to execute on our marketing strategy.

Our marketing strategy is focused on acquiring and retaining customers who we believe will have higher long-term value , activation and
conversion, purchase frequency and mobile application downloads, as weli as increasing awareness of our brand and online marketplaces and
introducing consumers and merchants to new products. We expect to continue to focus on maintaining a payback perlod on our global marketing
spend of approximately 12 to 18 months; however, there are no assurances that we will be able to achieve this result. If any of our agsumptions
regarding our marketing activities and strategies prove Incorrect, including with respect to payback periods and the efficiency of our marketing
spend, our ability to generate gross profit from our investments may be less than we antlcipated. In such case, we may neead to increase marketing
expenditures or otherwise alter our strategy and our results of operations could be negatively impacted.

If we fall fo retain our existing customers or acquire new customers, our operating results and business will be harmed.

We must continue to retain and acquire custorners who make purchases on our platform in order to increase profitability. Further, as our
customer base evolves, the composition of our customers may change in a manner that makes it more difficult to generate revenue to offset the loss
of existing customers and the costs associated with acquiring and retaining customers and te maintain or increase our customers' purchase
frequency. If customers do not perceive our offerings to be atiractive or if we fail to introduce new and more relevant deals or increase awarenass
and understanding of the offerings on our marketplace platform, we may not be able to retain or acquire customers at levels necessary to grow our
business and profitability. Further, the organic traffic to our websites and moblle applicatlons, including traffic from consumers responding to our
emails, has dedlined in recent years, such that an increasing proportion of our traffic is generated from paid marketing channels, such as search
engine marketing. In addition, changes to search engine algerithms or similar actions are not within our control and could adversaly affect traffic to
our wabsites and rmobile applications. If we are unable to acquire new customers in numbers sufficient to grow our business and offset the number
of existing active customers that have ceased to make purchases, or if new
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customers do not make purchases at expected levels, our profitability may decrease and our operating results may be adversely affected.

Qur international operations are subject to varled and evolving commerclal and regulatory challenges, and our Inabliity to adapt
fo the diverse and changing landscapes of our international markets may adversely affact our business.

Our international operations require management attention and rescurces and also require us to localize our services to conform to a wide
variety of local cultures, businass practices, laws and policies. Our international operations are subjecl to numerous risks, including the following:

. our ability to maintain merchant and customer satisfaction such that our marketplace will continue to attract high quality merchants;

. our ability to successfully respond to macroeconomic challenges, including by optimizing our deal mix lo take into account consumer
preferences at a particular point in time;

. polit)ical. economic and civil instability and uncertainty {including acts of terrorism, civil unrest, labor unrest, violence and outbreaks of
war);

. currency exchange rate fluctuations;

. strong local competitors, who may better understand the local market and/or have greater resocurces in the local market;

. differant regulatory or other legal requirements, including regulation of gift cards and coupon terms, Internet services, professional

selling, distance selling, bulk emailing, privacy and data protection {including GDPR, which became effective in May 2018),
cybersecurity, business licenses and certifications, taxation (including the European Union's voucher directive, digital service tax and
similar regulations), consumer protection laws including those restricting the types of services we may offer {e.g., medical-related
services), banking and money transmitting, that may limit or prevent the offering of our services in some jurisdictions, cause
unanticipated compliance expensas or limit our ability to enforcs contractual obligations;

. our ability to use a common technology platform in our North America and Intemational segments to operate our business without
significant businass interruptions or delays;

. difficulties in integrating with local payment providers, including banks, credit and debit card networks and eiectronic funds transfer
systems; )

. different employee and employer relationships and the existence and actions of workers' councils and labor unions;

. difficulty in staffing, developing and managing foreign operations, including through centralized shared service centers, as a result of
distance, language barriers and cultural differences;

. seasonal reductions in business activity;

. expenses associated with localizing our products; and

. differing intellectual property laws.

Woae are subject to complex foreign and U.S. laws and regulations that apply to our international operations, such as data privacy and
protection requirements, including GDPR, the Foreign Corrupt Practices Act, the UK Anti-Bribery Act and similar local laws prohibiting certain
payments to government officials, banking and payment processing regulations and antl-competition regulations, among others. The cost of
complying with these various, and sometimes conflicting, laws and regulations is substantial. We have implemented and continue to implement
policies and procedures to ensure compllance with these laws and regulations, however, we cannol ensure that our employees, contractors, or
agents will not violate our policies. Changing laws, regulations and enforcement acticns in the United States and throughout the world could harm
our business. If commerclal and regulatory constraints in our intemational markets restrict our ability to conduct our operations or exscute our
strategic plan, our businéss may be adversely affected.

In addition, we are subject to risks assoclated with the withdrawal of the Unlted Kingdom from the European Union (“Brexit™). In March 2017,
the United Kingdom formally notified the European Union of its intention to withdraw,
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and withdrawal negotiations began in June 2017. European Union rules provide for a two-year negotiation period, ending on March 29, 2019, unless
an extension is agreed to by the parties. There remains significant uncertainty about the future relationship between the United Kingdom and the
European Union, including the possibility of the United Kingdom leaving the European Union without a negotiated and bilaterally approved
withdrawal plan. We have significanl operations in both the United Kingdom and the European Union. Our operations and that of our merchants are
highly Integrated across the United Kingdom and the European Union, and we are highly dependent on the free flow of labor and goods in those
regions. The ongoing uncertainty and potential re-imposition of border controls and customs duties on trade between the United Kingdom and
European Union naticns could negatively impact our competitive position, merchant and customer relationships and financial performance. The
ultimate effects of Brexit on us will depend on the specific terms of any agreement the United Kingdom and the European Union reach to provide
access to each other’s respective markets.

Our future success depends upon our ability to attract and retain high quallty merchants and third-party business partners.

We must continue to attract and retain high quality merchants in order to Increase profitability. We depend on our abillty to aftract and retain
merchants that are prepared to offer products or services on compelling terms through our marketplaces and provide our customers with a good
experience. In most instances, we do not have long-term arrangements to guarantee the availability of deals that offer attractive quality, value and
variety to customers or favorable payment terms to us. If merchants decide that utilizing our services no longer provides an effeclive means of
attracting new customers or selling thelr goods and services, they may stop working with us or negotiate to pay us lower margins or fees. In addition,
current or future competitors may accept lower margins, or negative margins, fo secure merchants offers that attract attention and acquire new
customers. If competitors engage in group buying initiatives in which merchants receive a higher portion of the purchase price than we currently
offer, or if we target merchants who will only agree to run deals if they receive a higher portion of the proceeds, we may receive a lower portion of
the gross billings on deals offered through our marketplaces. In addition, we may experience attrition in our merchants due to shifts in cur business
model and the way we pay merchants, and in the ordinary course of business resulting from several factors, including losses to competitors and
merchant closures or merchant bankruptcies. If we are unable to attract and retain high quallty merchants In numbers sufficient to grow our
business, or if merchants are unwilling to offer products or services with compelling terms through our marketplaces or offer favorable payment
terms to us, our operating results may be adversely affected.

Our business Is exposed to risks assoclated with our voucherless offerings.

Woao are developing and scaling voucherless offerings, including offers that are linked to customer credit cards. Although we believe that
voucherless offerings have the potentlal to increase customer purchase frequency and generate gross profit growth over the long term, there are no
assurances that we wili be able to scale our voucherless products or that our voucheress products will be successful in increasing customer
purchase frequency or gross profit growth, if and when scaled. If we are unable to grow the number of and scale voucherless products In our
marketplaces, our results of operations may be adversely affected. In addition, as we scale card-linked offerings, we may experience a short term
negative impact to our financial performance.

In addltion, we currently depend on third party business partners and technology integrations for many of our voucherless offerings. If we
are unable to increase our third-party offerings or successfully complete the associated technology integrations, the quality of our supply and
customer experience may be negatively impacted and decrease which could adversely affect our business operations and financial condition.
Furthermore, our ability to offer card-inked offerings currently depends on our arangements with card brand networks. In the evant any card brand
network no longer supports our card-linked offerings, imposes significant restrictions on our offerings or deal structures or significantly changes their
fees, we may not be able to grow our card-linked offerings or such offerings may otherwise be unsuccessful, and our results of operations and
financial condition could be adversely affected.

Further, most of our current card-inked offerings involve collecting fees from the merchant, rather than collecting payment from the

customer and then remitting a portion of the proceeds to the merchant (as with the sale of vouchers). Accordingly, our gross billings are expected to
be reduced if and when these card-linked offerings (or similarly structured products) become a larger portlon of our overall product mix.
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Wa may be subject to breaches of our information technology systems, which could harm our relationships with our customers,
merchants and third-party business partners, subject us to negative publicity and litigation, and cause substantial harm to our
business or brand.

In operating a global online business, we and our third-party service providers maintain significant propristary information and manage large
amounts of personal data and confidential information about our employees, customers and merchants. We and such service providers are at
constant risk of cyber-attacks or cyber Intrusions via the Intemet, computer viruses, break-ins, malware, phishing attacks, hacking, denial-of-service
attacks or other attacks and similar disruptions from the unauthorized use of or access to computer systems (including from intemal and extemal
sources). These types of incidents have become more prevalent and pervasive across industries, including in our industry, and such attacks on our
systems have occurred in the past and are expected to occur in the future. Further, we believe that we are a compelling target for such attacks as a
resull of the high profile of our brand and the amount and type of information we maintain relating to our customers and merchants. Any such
incident could lead to interruptions, delays or website outages, causing loss of critical data or the unauthorized disclosure or use of personally
identifiable or other confidential information.

Any failure to prevent or mitigate cybersecurity breaches or other improper access to, or disclosura of, our data or confidential information,
including nan-public financial information, could result in the loss or misuse of such data or information, negatively impacting customers’, merchants’
and third-party business partners' confidence in the security of our services and potentially resulting in significant customer or marchant attrition, a
decline in customer purchase frequency, litigation and/or regulatory investigations, and/or damage to cur brand and reputation.

Our risk and exposure to these matters remains heightened because of, among other things, the evolving nature of these threats, our
prominent size and scale, the large number of transactions that we process, our gecgraphic footprint and intemational presence, our use of open
source software, the complexity of our systems, the maturity of our systems, processes and risk management framework, our number of employees,
the Jocation of our businesses and data storage facilities, the jurisdictions in which we operate and the various and evolving laws and regulatory
schemes govemning data and data protection applicable to us, the extent to which our current systems, controls, processes and practices permit us
to detect, log and monitor security events, our use of cloud based technologles and the outsourcing of some of our business operations.

Although cybersecurity and the continued development and enhancement of our controls, processes and practices designed to protect our
systems, computers, software, data and networks from attack, damage or unauthorized access are a high priority for us, our activities and
Investment may not be deployed quickly enough or successfully protect our systems against all vulnerabilities, including technologies developed to
bypass our security measures or zero day vulnerabilities. In addition, outside parties may attempt o fraudulently induce employees, merchants or
customers to disclose access credentials or other sensltive information in order to gain access to our systems and networks. Ye also may be
subject to additional vulnerabilities as we integrate the systems, computers, software and data of acquired businesses and third-party business
partners into our networks and separate the systems, computers, software and data of disposed businesses from our networks.

We maintain a cybersecurity risk management program that is overseen by our Vice President, Information Security, who reports directly to
our Chief Technology Officer. Our Vice President, Information Security regularly reports to the Audit Committee on the state of our cybersecurity
program and provides updates on cybersecurity matiers. Wa also conduct an annual cybersecurity review with our Board of Directors. As part of our
cybersecurity risk management program, we employ security practices to protect and maintain the systems located at our data centers and hosting
providers, invest in intrusion, anomaly, and vulnerability detection tools and engage third-party security firms to test the security of our websites and
systems. In addition, we r egularly evaluate and assess our systems and the controls, processes and practices to prolect those systems and also
conduct pensfration testing against our own system. The evaluations, assessments and testing identify areas of potential weakness in, and
suggested improvements to, the maturity of our systems, processes, and risk management framework as well as vulnerabilities in those systems,
processes, and risk management framework that could be aftacked and exploited to access and acquire praprietary and confidential information,
including information about our customers and merchants. There are no assurances that our cybersecurity risk mitigation program or actions and
investments to improve the maturity of our systems, processes and risk management framework or remediate vulnerabilities will be sufficient or
completed quickly enough to prevent or limit the impact of any cyber intrusion. In addition, in the future we may be required to expend significant
additional resources to modify or enhance our protective measures, controls and systems or to improve the maturity of our systems, processes and
risk management framework, or investigate or remediate any information security vulnerabiliies. These improvements, modifications and
enhancements may take significant time to implement. Further,
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the sophistication of potential attacks or the capabilities of our systems and processes may not permit us to detect the eccumrence of cyber Incidents
until significant data loss has occurred. Moreover, because the techniques used to gain access to or sabotage systems often are not recognized
until launched against a target, we may be unable to anticipate the methods necessary to defend against these types of attacks and we cannot
predict the extent, frequency or impact these problems may have on us. Any actual breach, the perceived threat of a breach or a perceived breach,
could cause our customers, merchants, card brands and payment card processors to cease doing business with us or do business with us less
frequently, subject us to lawsuits (including claims for damages), investigations, regulatory fines or other action or liability or damage to our brand
and reputation, which would harm our business, financial condition and results of operations.

We operate in a highly compatitive Industry with relatively low barriers to enfry and must compete successfully in order to grow
our business.

Competiti on in our industry may increase in future periods. A number of e-commerce sites that attempt {o replicate our business model
operate around the world. We also compete against companies that offer ather types of advertising and promotional services to local businesses. In
addition to such competitors, we may experiencs increased competition from other large businesses who offer deals similar to ours as an add-on to
their core business. We also compete with other companies that offer digital coupons andfor card-inking services through their websites or mobile
applications. Further, we compete against other e-commerce companies that serve niche markets and interests. In some of our categories, such as
Goods and Travel, we compete against much larger companies who have more resources and significantly greater scale. In addition, we compete
with traditional offline coupon and discount services, as well as newspapers, magazines and other traditional media companies who provide
coupons and discounts on products and services.

We believe that our ability to compete successfully depends upon many factors both within and beyond our control, induding the following:

+ the size, composition and retention of our customer base and the number of merchants we feature;
+  moblle penetration;

+ understanding local business trends;

+  ablllty to structure deals to generate positive retumn on investment for marchants;

« the timing and market acceptance of deals we offer, including the developments and enhancements to those deals offered by us or our
competitors;

- customer and merchant service and support offorts;

+ selling and marketing efforts;

« aase of use, parformance, price and reliability of services offered either by us or our competitors;

»  our ability to improve customer purchase frequency and customer lifetime value;

= our ability to drive organic trafflc to our marketplaces;

= the number, quality and reliability of the digital coupons that can be accessed through our platform;
= the quality and performance of our merchants;

= our ability to cost-effactively manage our operations; and

* our reputation and brand strength relative to our competitors.
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Many of our current and potential competitors have longer operating histories, greater financial, marketing and other resource s and larger
customaer bases than we do. These factors may allow our competitors to benefit from their existing customer base with lower customer acquisition
costs or to respond more quickly than we can to new or emerging technologies and changes in consumer habits. In addition, our competitors may
engage in more extensive research and development efforts, undertake more far-reaching marketing campaigns and adopt more aggressive pricing
policies, which may allow them to build larger customer and/or merchant bases or generate revenue from their customer bases more effectively than
we do. Our competitors may offer deals that are similar to the deals we offer or that achieve greater market acceptance than the deals we offer. This
could attract customers away from our websites and mobile applications, reduce our market share and adversely impact our gross profit. In additlon,
we are dependent cn some of our existing or potential competitors for display adverfisements and other markeling initiatives to acquire new
customers. Our ability to utilize their platforms to acquire new customers may be adversely affected if they choose to compete maore directly with us
or prevent us from using their services.

Our operating cash flow could be adversely impacted if we change our merchant payment terms.

Our merchant payment terms and revenue growth have historically provided us with operating cash flow to fund our working ¢ apital needs.
Our merchant arrangements are generally struclured such that we collect cash up front when our customers purchase vouchers or products on our
website or mobile application and we make payments to merchants or suppliers at a subsequent date, either on a fixed schedule or upon
redemption by customers. For our current card-linked offerings, we offer cash back on customers' credit card statements based on qualifying
purchases with participating merchants. For those offerings, we remit payment to a card brand network at the time of the qualifying purchase for the
customer’s cash back incentive and then we collect from the merchant both our commission and reimbursement for the customer's cash back
incentive, generally on a bi-weekly basis. The working capital impact of cardinked offerings is less favorable to us than traditional voucher
transactions, for which we collect payment from customers at the time of sale and remit payment to merchants at a later date. We have used the
operating cash flow provided by our merchant payment terms and revenue growth to fund our working capital needs. If we offer merchants more
favorable or accelerated payment terms and/or significantly grow our card-linked offerings, our operating cash flow could be adversely impacted and
we may have to seek altemative financing to fund our working capitat needs.

Our success Is dependent upon our abllity to provide a superfor mobile experience for our customers and our customers'
continued abliity to access our offerings through moblie devices.

In the year ended December 31, 2018, over 70% of our global transactions were completed on mobile devices. Additionally, our mobile
application has been downloaded over 195 million times as of December 31, 2018. While the focus on mobile is kay to our long-term strategy,
currently averaga purchase prices and conversion rates on moblle tend to be significantly lower than desktop. In order to continue to grow our
mabile transactions and improve mobile conversion rates, it is critical that our applications are compatible with a range of mobile technologies,
systems, networks and standards and that we provide a good customer experience. Further, as part of our strategy, we have been developing and
testing a number of product enhancements that are intended to make our offerings easier to use for both customers and merchants, including
voucherless offerings. We also are working on a next-generation mobile application that we expect to test during 2019. Our buslness may be
adversely affected if our customers choose not to access our offerings on their moblle devices or use mobile devices that do not offer access to our
mabile applications, we are not successful in increasing mobile conversion rates or if we fail to develop applications and product enhancements with
adequate functionaiity and a positive customer experiencea on a wide range of mobile devices.

Our business depends on our ability to maintain and improve the technology infrastructure necessary to send our emails and
operate our websites, mobile applications and transactlon processing systems, and any significant disruption in service on our
emall network infrastructure, websites, mobile applications or transaction processing systems could resuft In a loss of customers
or merchants.

Customers access our marketplaces through our websites and mobile applications, as well as via emails that are often targeted by location,
purchase history and personal preferences. Customers can also access our deal offerings indirectly thr ough third-party search engines. Our
reputation and ability to acquire, retain and serve our current and potential customers are dependent upon the reliable performance of cur websites,
mabile applications, email delivery and transaction processing systems and the underlying network infrastructure. Our systerns may not be
adequately designed with the necessary reliability and redundancy to avoid performance dalays or outages that could be prolonged and harmful to
our business. If our websites or mobile applications are unavailable when users attempt to access them, or if they do not load as quickly as
expected, users may not return as often in the future, or at all. As our customer
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base and the amount of information shared on our websites and mobile applications continue to grow, we will need an increasing amount of network
capacity and computing power. YWe have spent and expect to continue to spend substantial amounts on data centers and equipment, cloud-based
technology and related network infrastructure and services to handle the traffic on our websites and mobile applications and to help shorten the time
of or prevent system interruptions. The operation of these systems is expenslve and complex and could resuit in operational failures. While
resiliency and redundancy are considerations in the design and operation of Groupon's systems, interruptions, delays or failures in these systems,
whether due to earthquakes, adverse weather conditions, other natural disasters, power loss, computer viruses, cybersecurity attacks, physical
break-ins, terrorism, erors in our software or otherwise, could be prolonged and could affect the security or availability of our websiles and
applications, and prevent our customers from accessing our setvices. If we do not maintaln or expand our network infrastructure successfully or if
we experience operational failures or prolonged disruptions or delays in the availability of our systems or a significant search engine, we could lose
current and potential customers and merchants, which could harm our operating results and financial condition.

In a ddition, a portion of our network infrastructure is hosted by third-party providers. We also rely on a variety of tools and third-party
commercial partners to provide certain services and offerings (e.g., booking and ficketing tools). Any disruption or failure of these providers, tools
and/or other third parties to handle existing or increased traffic and transactions could significantly harm our business. Any financial or other
difficulties these providers face may adversely affect our business, and we exercise little control over these providers, which increases our
vulnerability to problems with the services they provide.

If our emalls are not delivared and accepfed, or are routed by emall providers less favorably than other emalls, or our sltes or
moblie applicatlons are not accessible, or are treated disadvantageously by Internet service providers or other third-parties, our
business may be substantially harmed.

If @ mail providers or Intermet service providers ("ISPs") implemant new or more restrictive email or content delivery or accessibillly policies,
including with respect to net neutrality, it may become more difficult to deliver emails to our customers or for customers to access our site and
services, For example, certain email providers, including Google, categorize our emails as "promotional,” and these emalls are directed to an
altemate, and less readily accessible, section of a customer’s inbox. If email providers materially limit ar halt the delivery of our emails, or if we fail to
deliver emails to customers in a manner compatible with email providers’ email handling or authentication technologies, our ability to contact
customers through email could be significantly restricted. In addition, if we are placed on "spam” lists or lists of entities that have heen involved in
sending unwanted, unsolicited emails, our operating results and financial condition could be substantially harmed. Further, if ISPs prioritize or
provide superior access to our competitors' content or if there are changas to search engine algorithms or similar actions that adversely affect traffic
to our websites and mobile applications, our business and results of operations may be negatively Impacted.

We purchase and sell some products from indirect suppllers and allow third parties to sell products via our site and services,
which increase our risk of litigatlon and other losses.

Woe sou rce merchandise both directly from brand owners and indirectly from retailers and third-party distributors, and we often take title to
the goods before we offer them for sale to our customers. Further, some brand owners, retailers and third- party distributors may be unwilling to offer
products for sale on the Internet or through Groupon in particular, which could have an adverse impact on our abllity to source and offer popular
products. We also allow third party merchants to sell products to our customers via our marketplace platform. By selling merchandise sourced from
parties other than the brand owners, and allowing the sale of merchandise by third parties, we are subject to an increased risk that the marchandise
may be damaged or of disputed authenticity, which could result in potentiai liability under applicable laws, regulations, agreements and orders, and
increase the amount of returned merchandise or customer refunds. In addition, brand owners or regulators may take legal action against us. Even if
we prevail, any such legal action could resull in costly litigation, generate adverse publicity for us, and have a material adverse impact on our
business, financial condition, results of operations, brand and reputation. Further, in any such matter, we may not be enfitled to indemnification from
our supplier or merchant, or able to effectively enforce the supplier's or merchant's contractual indemnification obligations.
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We may be subject to substantial llability claims and damage to our brand and reputation if people or property are harmed by the
products or services offered through our marketplace.

Some of the products and services offered through our marketplace may expose us to liability claims relating to personal injury, death,
negligence, Intentlonal misconduct, assault, abuse or environmental or property damage. Certain merchants and third parties sell products and offer
services using our marketplace that based on the type of product or service, may increase our exposure to substantial claims and litigation,
aspecially if these merchants or third-party sellers do not have sufficient protection from such claims. Although we believe we are not liable for the
goods or services that merchants or third-parties offer through our marketplace, there is no assurance that a court would rule in our favor on such
issues, Further, while we maintain liability insurance, we cannot be certain our coverage will apply to the claims at issue, be adequate for liabilities
actually incurred or that Insurance will continue to be available to us on economically reascnable terms, or at all. In addition, some of ou r
agreements with vendors, merchants and third-party sellers do not indemnify us from certain liability and costs or we may not be able to effectively
enforce our contractual indemnification rights. Claims relating to products or services offered through our marketplace also could resull in significant
damags to our brand and reputation regardiass of whether we are ullimately liable for any such claims.

Our processes and procedures for onboarding merchants and third-party sellers also may expose us to liability claims or damage to our
brand and reputation if the processes or procedures are deemed inadequate. Additionally, while we maintain multiple channels through which our
customers can submit feedback or complaints about their experiences with merchants and other third-party sellers on our platform, because our
customers often deal directly with the sellers, pertinent feedback may not be provided to us. Moreover, our evaluation of any customer feedback or
complaints we recei ve is subjective based on the information, which is sometimes very limited, that our customers provide, and we may not take
action in response to feedback or complaints. If our systems and procedures with respect to any such feedback or complaints are determined to be
inadequate or any action or inacton is found to be inadequate, including, by way of example, not discontinuing on a timely basis offers of deals with
merchants or sellers that have been the subject of material complaints, we could face substantial additional liability and damage to our brand and
reputation for the misconduct of such merchants or third-party sellers,

We are subjoct to Inventory management and order fulfiliment risks as a result of our Goods category.

We purchase a portion of the merchandise that we offer for sale to our customers. The demand for products can change for a varisty of
reasons, induding customer preference, quality, seasonality, and customers' perception of the value of purchasing the product through us. If we or
our third-party suppliers are unable to adeguately predict customer demand and efficiently manage inventory, we could have elther an excess or a
shortage of inventory, either of which would adversely impact our business.

It Is important that we fulfill orders on a timely, efficient and cost-effective basis. Many other online retailers have significantly larger
inventory balances and therefore are able to rely on past experience and economies of scale to optimize their order fulfil Iment. Because we rely on
third-party logistics providers and third-party sallers for much of our order fulfillment and delivery, many parts of the supply chain are outside our
control. Delays or inefficiencies in our processes, or those of our third-party logistics providers or third-party sellers, could subject us to additional
costs, as well as customer dissatisfaction, which would adversely affect our business. Additionally, in some cases we assume the risks of inventory
damage, theft and obsolescence, as wall as risks of price erosion for these products. These risks are espedially significant because some of the
merchandise we sell is characlerized by seasonal trends, fashion trends, cbsolescence and price erosion and because we sometimes make large
purchases of particular types of inventory. Our success will depend on our ability to sell our inventory rapidly, the ability of our buying staff to
purchase Inventory at attractive prices relative to its resale value and our ability to manage customer retuns and other costs. If we are unsuccessful
in any of these areas, we may be forced to sell our inventory at a discount or loss.

Woe are Involved in pending litigation and an adverse resolution of such litigation may adversely affect our busliness, financial
condition, results of operations and cash flows.

We are involved from time to time In litigation regarding, among other matters, patent, consumer, privacy and employment issues. Litigation
can be expensive, time-consuming and disruptive to nommal business operations. The results of complex |egal proceedings are often uncertain and
difficult to predict. An unfavorable outcome with respect to any of these law suits could have a material adverse effact on our business, financial

condition, results of operations
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and cash flows. For additional information regarding these and other lawsuits in which we are involved, see ltem 8, Note 10, Commitmenis and
Contingencies , to the consolidated financial statements.

An increase in our refund ratas or estimated llabilities with respect to unredeemed vouchers could adversely affect our
profitabllity or net income.

As we expand our product offerings, our custemer refund rates may exceed historical levels. A downtumn In general economic conditions
may also increase our refund rates. An increase in our refund rates could slgnificantly reduce our liquidity and profitability. We estimate future
refunds utilizing a statistical model that Incorporates historical refund experience, including the relative risk of refunds based on deal category. Our
actual level of refund claims could prove to be greater than the level of refund clalms we estimate. If our refund reserves are not adequate to cover
future refund claims, this inadequacy could have a material adverse effect on our profitability. In addition, we may not be able to obtain
reimbursament from marchants for refunds that we issue, which could have an adversa effact on our liquidity and profitability.

In recent periods, we have increased our use of redemption payment terms with our North America merchants. In addition, the revenue
recognition standard that we adopted in 2018 requires us to estimate variable consideration from unredeemed vouchers. As a result, a greater
percentage of our transactions in North America than in prior periods will require us to use projections in order fo estimate revenue and liabilities
associated with unredeemed vouchers. If the estimates that we use in projecting the likelihood of vouchers being redeemed prove to be inaccurate,
our liabilities with respect to unredeemed vouchers may be materally higher than the amounts shown in our financial statements, and our net
income could be matenally and adversely affected.

The loss of one or more key members of our management team, or our failure to attract and retain other highly qualified
personnel In the future could harm our business.

In order to be successiul, we rmust attract, retain and motivate executlves and other key employess, including those in managerial, technical
and sales positions. Hiring and retaining qualified executives, engineers and qualified sales representatives are critical to our success, and
competition for experienced and well qualified employees can be intense. In order to aftract and retain executives and other key employees In a
competitive marketplace, we must provide a competi tive compensation package, including cash and share-based compensation. We currently
utilize restricted stock units and performance share unils as our forms of share-based incentive compensation. If the anticipated value of such
share-based incentive awards does not materialize, if our share-based compensation otherwise ceases to be viewed as a valuable bensfit or if our
total compensation package Is not viewad as competitive, our ability to attract, retain and motivate executives and key employees could be
weakened. The failure to successfully hire executives and key employees or the loss of any executives and key employees could have a significant
irpact on our operations.

Acquisitions, dispositions, Joint ventures and strategic invesitmeants could result In operating difficuities, dilution and other
consequences.

We routinely evaluate and consider a wide array of potential strategic transactions, including acquisitions and dispositions of businesses,
joint ventures, technologies, services, products and other assets and minority Investments. The pursuit and consummation of such transactions can
result in operating difficulties, dilution, management distraction and other potentially adverse consequences. In the past, we have acquired and
divested a number of companies and may complete additional transactions in the future.

Acquisitions involve significant risks and uncertalnties, Including uncertainties as to the future financial performan ce of the acquired
business and the performance of acquired customers, valuation of the acquired business and integration risks such as difficulties integrating
acquired personnel into our business, the potential loss of key employees, customers or suppliers, difficulties in Integrating different computer,
payment and accounting systems and exposure to unknown or unforeseen liabilities of acquired companies. In addition, the integration of an
acquisition could divert management's time and our resources. If we pay for an acquisition or a minority investment in cash, it would reduce our cash
available for operations or cause us to incur debt, and if we pay with our stock it could be dilutive to our stockholders. Additionally, we do not have
the ability to exert control aver our minority investments, and therefore we are depandent on others in order to realize their potential benefits.
Dispositions and atternpted dispositions also Involve significant risks and uncertainties, such as the risk of destabilizing the applicable operations,
the loss of key personnel, the tarms and timing of any dispositions, the ability to obtain necessary govemmental or regulatory approvals, post-
disposal disputes and indemnification obligations and risks and uncertainties with respect to the




separation of disposed operations, including, for example, transition services, access by purchasers to certain of our systems and tools during
transition periods, the migration of data and separation of systems, data privacy matters and misuse of trademarks and intellectual property. We
may be unable to successfully complete potential strategic transactions or dispositions on a timely basis or at all, or we may not realize the
anticipated benefits of any of our strategic transactions in the time frame expected or at all.

We do not have the ability to exart control over our minority invastments, and therefore we are dependent on others in order to
realize thelr potaential benefits.

We currently hold non-controlling minority investments in Monster Holdings LP ("Monster LP") and other entities and we may make
additional strategic minority investments in the future. Such minority investments inherently involve a lesser degree of control over business
operations, thereby potentially increasing the financial, legal, operational and/or compliance risks associated with the investments. Other investors in
these entities may have business goals and interests that are not aligned with ours, or may exercise their rights in a manner in which we do not
approve. These circumstances could lead to delayed decisions or disputes and litigation with those other investors, all of which could have a
material adverse impact on our reputation, business, financial condition and results of operations.

if Monst er LP or other investees seek additional financing in order to fund their growth strategies, such financing transactions may resuit in
further dilution of our ownership stakes and such transactions have and in the future may occur at lower valuations than the investment transactions
through which we acquired such interests, which could significantly decrease the fair values of our investments in those entities. Additionally, if
Monster LP or other investess are unable to obtaln any such financing, those entities could need to significantly reduce their spending in order to
fund their operations. Such actions likely would result in reduced growth forecasts, which also could significantly decrease the fair values of our
investments in those entities.

The application of certaln laws and regulations, including, among other laws, the CARD Act and simllar state and foreign laws,
may harm our business and resulls of operations.

The application of certain laws and regulations to vouchers is uncertain. Vouchers may be considered gift cards, gift certificates, stored
value cards or prepaid cards and thersfore governed by, among other laws, the CARD Act, and state laws governing gift cards, stored value cards
and coupons, and, in certain instances, potentially subject to unclaimed and abandoned property laws. Other foreign jurisdictions have similar laws
in place, in particular European jurisdictions where the European E-Money Directive regulates the business of electronic money institutions. Many of
these laws contain provisions governing the use of gift cards, gift certificates, stored value cards or prepaid cards, including specific disclosure
requirements and prohibitions or limitations on the use of expiration dates and the imposition of certain fees. For example, if vouchers are subject to
the CARD Act and are not included in the exemption for promotional programs, it is possible that the purchase vatue, which is the amount eqgual to
the price paid for the voucher, or the promotional value, which is the add-on value of the voucher in excess of the price paid, or both, may not expire
before the later of (i) five years after the date on which the voucher was issued; (i) the voucher's stated expiration date (if any); or (iii) a later date
provided by applicable stale law. In the event that it is determined that vouchers sold through our platform are subject io the CARD Act or any
simllar state or foreign law or regulation, and are not within various exemptions that may be available under the CARD Act or under some of the
various state or foreign Jurisdictions, our liabilities with respect to unredeemed vouchers may be materially higher than the amounts shown in our
financial statements and we may be subject to additional fines and penalties.

In add ition, from time to time, we may be notified of additional laws, or developments in existing, laws and regulations that govermmental
organizations or others may claim should be applicable to our business, or that otherwise affect our operations. If we are required to alter our
business practices, or there are other market changes, as a result of any laws and regulations, our revenue could decrease, our costs could
increase and our business could otherwise be hammed. In addition, the costs and expenses associated with defending any actions related to, or
otherwise reacting to, such legal or regulatory developments, and any related payments (including penalties, judgments, setlements or fees) couid
adversely impact our profitability. To the extent that we expand into new lines of business and new geographles, we will become subject to
additional laws and regulations.

We may have exposure to greater than anticipated tax llabllitles.
We are subject to Income taxes in the United States (federal and state) and nurmerous foreign jurisdictions. Tax laws, regulations, and

administrative practlces in various jurisdictions may be subject to significant change due to economic, political, and other conditions, and significant
judgment is required in evaluating and estimaling our provision
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and accruals for these taxes. Our income tax obligations are based on our corporate operating structure, Including the manner in which we develop,
value and use our intellectual property and the scope of our international operations.

The ta x laws applicable to our domestic and international business activities, including the laws of the United States and other jurisdictions,
are subject 1o interpretation. The taxing authorities of the jurisdictions in which we opserate may challenge our methodologies for valuing developed
technology or intercompany arrangaments, which could potentially increase our worldwide effective tax rate and harm our financial position and
results of operations. In addition, there are many transactions that occur during the ordinary course of business for which the ultimate tax
determination is uncertaln. Our effective tax rates could be adversely affected by eamings being lower than anticipated in jurisdictions where we
have lower statutory rates and higher than anticipated in jurisdictions where we have higher statutory rates, losses incurred in jurisdictions for which
we are not able to realize the related tax benefits, changes in foreign currency exchange rates, entry into new businesses and geographies and
changes to our existing businesses, acquisitions and investments, changes in our deferred tax assets and liabilities and their valuation and changes
in the relevant tax, accounting and other laws, regulations, administrative practices, principles and interpretations, including fundamental changes to
the tax laws applicable to corporate multinationals. Developments in an audit, litigation or the relevant laws, regulations, administrative praclices,
principles and interpretations could have a material effect on our financial position, operating results and cash flows in the period or periods for
which that development occurs, as well as for prior and subsequent periods.

We a Iso are subject to regular review and audit by both U.S. federal and state and foreign tax authorities. In particular, wa currently are,
and expact to continue to be, subject to numercus federal, state and intemational tax audits relating to income, transfer pricing, sales, VAT and
other tax liabilities. Some of these pending and future audits could involve significant liabiliies andfor penalties. We are subject to claims for tax
assessments by foreign jurisdictions, including a proposed assessment for $109.6 million . We belleve that the assessment, which primarily relates
to transfer pricing on transactions occurring in 2011, is without merit and we intend to vigorously defend ourselves in that matter. Sea Item 8, Note
15, Income Taxes, for addltional information. Any adverse outcome of such a review or audit could have a significant negative effect on our financial
posltion and results of operations. In addition, the determination of our worldwide provision for income taxes and other tax liabilities requires
significant judgment by management, and there are many transactions where the ultimate tax determination Is unceriain. Although we believe that
our estimates are reasonable, the ullimate tax outcome may differ from the amounts recorded in our financial statements and may materially affect
our financiat results in the period or pericds for which such determination is made.

The adoption of tax reform policles, Inciuding the enactment of legislation or regulations implementing changes in the tax
treatment of companies engaged in Intarnet commerce or the U.S. faxation of International business activities could materially
affect our financial posftion and results of operations.

Further, due to the global nature of the Intemet, it is possible that various states or foreign countries might attempt to regulate o ur
transmissions or levy sales, income or other taxes relating to our activities. Tax authorities at the international, federal, state and local levels are
currently reviewing the appropriate treatment of companies angaged in Internet commerce, New or revised intemational, federal, state or local tax
regulations may subject us or our customers to additional sales, income and other taxes. We cannot predict the effect of current attempts to impose
sales, income or other taxes on commaerce over the Intemet. New or revised taxes and, in particular, sales taxes, VAT and similar taxes, including
digltal service taxes, would likely increase the cost of doing business online and decrease the attractiveness of advertising and selling goods and
services over the Intermet. For example, the voucher directive recently adopted by the European Union or similar regulations could adversely affect
our financial results, New taxes could also create significant increases in internal costs necessary to capture data, and coliect and remit taxes. Any
of these events could have an adverse effect on our business and results of operatlons.

O n December 22, 2017, new legislation was signed into law that revises the Intemal Revenue Code of 1886, as amended. The newly
enacted federal income tax law contains significant changes to corporate taxation. Although we currently do not expect the new federal tax law to
have a significant impact on us, the overall impact over time is uncertain as the law is interpreted and implemented. In addition, it Is uncertain i and
to what extent various states will conform to the newly enacted federal tax law.
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If we are required to materially increase the liability recorded in our financlal statements with respect fo unredeemed vouchers
our results of operations could be materlally and adversely affected.

In cer tain states and foreign jurisdictions, vouchers may be considered a gift card. Some of these states and foreign jurisdictions include gift
cards under their unclaimed and abandeoned properly laws which require companies to remit to the govermment the full value or a portion of the
value of the unredeemad balance on the gift cards after a specified period of time (generally between one and five years) and impose certain
reporting and record-keeping obligations. We do not remit any amounts relating to unredeemed vouchers based on our assessment of applicable
laws. The analysis of the potential application of the unclaimed and abandoned property laws to vouchers is complex, involving an analysis of
constitutional and statutory provisions and factual issues, including our contractual relationship with customers and merchants. In recent periods, we
increased our use of redemption payment terms with our North America merchants, and we expect that trend to continue. The determinations we
make with respect to variable consideration that we eam on those transactions may be subject to the laws described above, and we expect the
amount of that variable consideration to increase as our use of redemption payment terms increases. In the event that one or more states or foreign
jurisdictions successfully challenges our position on the application of its unclaimed and abandoned property laws to vouchers, our liabilities with
respact to unredeemed vouchers, including any resulting penalties and interest, may be materially higher than the amounts shown in our financial
statements which could have a material adverse impact on our results of operations.

Government regulation of the Internet and e-commerce is evolving, and unfavorable changes or failure by us to comply with these
regulations could substantially harm our business and results of operations.

We a re subject to general business regulations and laws as well as regulations and laws specifically governing the Intermet and e-
commerce. Existing and future regulations and laws could impede the growth of the Intemet or other online services. These regulations and laws
may involve taxatlon, tariffs, subscriber privacy, anti-spam, data protection, content, reference pricing. copyrights, distribution, electronic contracts
and other communications, consumer protection, the provision of online payment services and the characteristics and quality of services. The
application of existing laws goveming issuses such as property ownarship, sales and other taxes, libel and personal privacy to the Internet is not clear
as the vast majority of these laws were adopted prior to the advent and do not contemplate or address the unique issues raised by the Intemet or e-
commerce. In addition, it is possible that govemments of one or more countries may seek to censor content available on our websites and mobile
applications or may even attempt to completely block our emails or access to our websites. Adverse legal or regulatory developments could
substantially harm our business. In particular, in the event that we are restricted, in whole or in part, from operating in one or more countries, our
ability to retain or increase our custorner base may be adversely affected and we may not be able to maintain or grow our gross profit as anticipated.

Failure to comply with federal, state and international privacy laws and regulations, or the expansion of current or the enactment
of new privacy laws or regulations, could adversely affect our business.

A va risty of federal, state and international laws and regulations govern the collection, use, retention, sharing and security of consumer
data. The existing privacy-related laws and regulations are evolving and subject to potentially differing interpretafions. In addition, various federal,
state and foreign legislative and regulatory bodies may expand current or enact new laws regarding privacy matters. For example, the Europaan
Union adopted the GDPR, which became effective In May 2018, and requires companies to satisfy new requirements regarding the handling of
personal and sensitive data, including its collaction, use, protection and the ahility of persons whose data is stored to correct or delete such data
about themsalves. In addition, the State of California adopted the California Consumer Protection Act of 2018 ("CCPA"}, which will become effective
in 2020 and also will regulate the collection and use of consumers' data. Cornplying with the GDPR, CCPA and similar laws and regulations may
cause us to incur substantial operational costs or require us to change our husiness practices. Further, despite our diligent efforts to comply with
these laws and regulations, we may not be successful either due to internal or external factors such as resource allocation limitations or a lack of
vandor cooperation. Noncompllance could result in proceedings against us by governmental entities or others and fines. For example, fines under
GDPR could be up to the greater of €20 million or 4% of annual global revenue and damage our reputation and brand. As a resuit of GDPR, in
particular, we may also experience difficuity retaining or obtaining new European or multi-national customers due to the compliance cost, potential
risk exposure, portability of customer data and uncertainty for these entities. We also may find it necessary to establish systems to maintain
personal data originating from the Eurcpean Union in the European Economic Area as a result
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of changes or restrictions to currently legitimate methods of effectuating cross-border personal data transfers to countries outside of the European
Economic Area, which may involve substantial expense and distraction from other aspects of our business. Additionally, there could be uncertainty
as to how to comply with privacy laws, in various jurisdictions such as country or stale-specific laws that may conflict with or deviale from privacy
directives, such as GDPR, CCPA or future laws and regulations.

We have posted privacy policies and practices concerning the collection, use and disclosure of subscriber data on our websites an d
applications. Several Internet companies have incurred substantial penalties for failing to abide by the representations made in their privacy policies
and practices. In addition, several states have adopted legislation that requires businesses to implement and maintain reasonable security
procedures and practices to protect sensitive personal information and to provide notice to consumers In the event of a security breach resulting in a
loss or likely loss of personal information. Any failure, or perceived failure, by us to comply with aur posted privacy policies or with any data-related
consent orders, Federal Trade Commission requirements or orders or other federal, state or internaticnal privacy or consumer protection-related
laws, regulations or industry self-regulatory principles could result in claims, proceedings or actions against us by govemmental entities or other
third-parties or other liabilities, which could adversely affect our business. In addition, a failure or perceived failure to comply with industry standards
or with our own privacy policies and practices could result in a loss of subscribers or merchants and adversely affect our business. Federal, state
and intemalional govermmental authorities continue to evaluate the privacy implications inherent in the use of third-party web "cookies™ for tracking
and behavioral advertising. The regulation of these cockies and other current online advertising practices could adversely affect our business.

Misclassification or reclassiication of our independent contractors or employees could increase our costs and adversely impact
our business.

Our workers are classified as either employees or independent contractors, and if employees, as either exempt from overime or non-
exempt {and therefore overtime eligible). Regulatory authorities and privaie partles have recently asserted within several Industries that some
independent contraciors should be classified as employees and that some exempt employees, including those in sales-related positions, should be
classified as non-exempt based upon the applicable facts and circumstances and their interpretations of existing rules and regulations. if we are
found to have misclassified employees as independent contractors or norrexempt employees as exempt, we could face penalties and have
additional exposure undar federal and state tax, workers' compensation, unemployment benefits, labor, employment and tort laws, including for prior
periods, as well as potential llabllity for employee overtime and benefits and tax withholdings. Legislative, judiclial, or regulatory (including tax)
authorities could also introduce proposals or assert interpretations of existing rules and regulations that would change the classification of a
significant number of independent contractors deing business with us from independent contractor to employee and a significant number of exempt
employess to non-exempt. A reclassification in either case could result in a significant increasse in employment-related costs such as wages, benefits
and taxes. The costs associated with employee classification, including any related regulatory action or litigation, could have a material adverse
effect on our results of operations and our financial position.

Wa may suffer liability as a result of Information or content retrieved from or transmitted over the Internet and claims related to
our service offerings.

We may be, and in certain cases have been, sued for defamation, civil rights infringement, negligence, patent, copyright or tradema rk
infringement, invasion of privacy, personal injury, product liability, breach of contract, unfair competition, discrimination, antitrust reference pricing or
other legal claims relating to information or content that is published or made available on our websites or service offerings we make available
{including provision of an application programming interface platform for third parties to access our website, mobile device services and geolocation
applications). This risk is enhanced in certain jurisdictions outside the United States, where our liability for such third-party actions may be less clear
and we may be less protecied. In addition, we could incur significant costs In investigating and defending such claims, even if we ultimately are not
found liable. If any of these events occurs, our business could be materially and adversely affected.

W e are subject to risks associated with information disseminated through our websites and mobile applications, including consumer data,
content that is produced by our editorial staff and errors or omissions related to the offerings on our marketplaces. Such information, whether
accurate or inaccurate, may result in our being sued by our merchants, subscribers or third parties and as a result cur resulis of operations and our
financial position could be materially and adversely affacted.
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We may not be abla to adequately protect our inteflectual property rights or may be accused of infringing intellectual property
rights of third parties,

We regard our trademarks, service marks, copyrights, patents, trade dress, trade secrets, proprietary technology, merchant lists, subscriber
lists, sales methodology and similar intellectual property as critical to our success, and we rely on trademark, copyright and patent law, trade secret
protaction and confidentiality and/or license agreements with our employees and others to protect our proprietary rights. Effective intellectual
property protection may not be available in every country in which our deals are made available. We also may not be able to acquire or maintain
appropriate domain names or trademarks in all countries in which we do business. Furthermore, regulations goveming domain names may not
protect our trademarks and similar proprietary rights. Wa may be unable to prevent third parties from acquiring and using domain names or trade
names that are similar to, infrihge upon or diminish the value of ocur trademarks and other proprietary rights. We may be unable to prevent third
parties from using and registering our trademarks, or tradernarks that are similar to, or diminish the value of, our trademarks in some countries.

We may not be able to discover or determine the extent of any unauthorized use of our proprietary rights. Third parties that license our
intellectual property rights also may take actions that diminish the value of our proprietary rights or reputation. The protection of our intellectual
property may require the expenditure of significant financial and managerial resources. Moreover, the steps we take to protect our inteliectual
property may not adequatsly protect our rights or prevent third parties from infringing or misapproprlating our proprietary rights. We are currently
subject to multiple lawsuits and disputes related to our intellectual property and service offerings. We may in the future be subject to additional
litigation and disputes. The costs of engaging in such litigation and disputes are considerable, and there can be no assurances that favorable
outcomes will be obtained.

We are cumently subject to third-party claims that we infringe upon proprietary rights or trademarks and expect to be subject to additional
claims in the future. Such claims, whether or not merltorious, may result in the expenditure of significant financial and managerial resources,
injunctions against us or the payment of damages by us. We may need to obtain licenses from third parties who allege that we have infringed their
rights, but such licenses may not be available on terms acceptable to us or at all. These risks have been amplified by the increase in third parties
whose sole or primary business is to assert such claims.

Our business depends on a strong brand, and ff we are not able to maintaln and enhance our brand, our ablilty to expand our
base of customers and merchants could be iImpaired and our business and operaling results could be harmed.

We believe that the brand identity that we have developed has significantly contributed to the success of our business. We also believe that
maintaining and enhancing the *Groupon™ brand is critical to expanding our base of customers and merchants. Maintaining and enhancing our brand
may require us to make substantial investments and these investments may not be successful. If we fail to promote, maintain and protect the
"Groupon™ brand, or if we incur excessive expenses in this effort, our business, operating results and financlal condition will be materially and
adversely affected. We anticipate that, as our market becomes increasingly competitive, maintaining and enhancing our brand may become
increasingly difficult and expensive. Malntaining and enhancing our brand will depend largely on cur ability to continue to provide refiable,
frustworthy and high quality offerings on our online marketpfaces, which we may not do successfully.

Wa rec eive a high degree of madia coverage around the world. Unfavorable publicity or consumer perception of our websites, maobile
applications, practices or service offerings, or the offerings of our merchants or their preducts, could adversely affect our reputation, resulting in
difficutties in recruiting, decreased revenue and a negative impact on the number of merchants we feature and the size of our customer base, the
loyalty of our customers and the number and variety of deals we offer each day. As a result, our businass, financial condition and results of

operations could be materially and adversely affected.

Failure to deal effectively with fraudulent transactions and customer disputes would increase our loss rate and harm our
business.

Groupon vouchers are issued in the form of redeemable vouchers with unlgue identifiers. It is possible that consumers o r other third parties
will seek to create counterfeit vouchers in order to fraudulently purchase discounted geods and services from merchants. While we use advanced
antl-fraud technologles, criminals may atitempt to circumvent our anti-fraud systems using increasingly sophisticated methods. In addition, our
servica could be subject to employee fraud or other internal security breaches, and we may be required to reimburse customers and/or merchants

27




for any funds stolen or revenue lost as a result of such breaches. If merchants are affectad by buyer fraud or other types of fraud, they could also
request reimbursement, or stop offering goods or services on our marketplaces.

Although we have not incurred significant losses from fraud and counterfeit vouchers in the past, we could incur significant losses from such
a ctivities in future periods. Additionally, we may incur losses from claims that the customer did not authorize a purchase, from credit card fraud,
from merchant fraud, from emronecus transmissions, and from customers who have closed bank accounts or have insufficient funds in them to
satisfy payments. We also may incur losses as a result of purchases made with fraudulent credit card information, even if the associated financial
institution approved payment of the transaction. In addition to the direct costs of any such losses, if the losses are related to credit card transactions
and become excessive, they could potentially result in our losing the right to accept credit cards for payment. If we were unable to accepl credit
cards for payment, we would suffer substantial reductions in revenue, which would cause our business to suffer. While we have taken measures to
detect and reduce the risk of fraud, these measures need continual improvement and may not be effective against new and continually evolving
forms of fraud or in connection with new product offerings. If we are unable to effectively combat the use of fraudulent credit cards on our websites
or if we otherwise experience increased levels of fraud or disputed credit card payments, our business could materially suffer.

We are subject to payments-related risks.

We accept payments using a varety of methods, including credit cards, debit cards and gift certificates. As we offer new payment options to
customers, we may be subject to additional regulations, compliance requirements and fraud. For certain payment methods, including credit and
debit cards, we pay interchange and other fees, which may increase over time and raise our operating costs and lower profitability. In addition, our
credit card and other payment processors could impose receivable holdback or reserve requirements in the future, which could have a material
impact on our cash flow and available liquidity. We rely on third parties to provide payment processing services, including the processing of credit
cards and debit cards, and it could disrupt our business if these companies become unwilling or unable to provide these services to us. We are also
subject to payment card assoclation operating rules, certification requirements and rules goveming electronic funds transfers, which could change or
be reinterpreted fo make it difficult or impossible for us to comply. If we fail to comply with these rules or requirements, wa may be subject to fines
and higher transaction fees and lose our abllity to accept credit and debk card payments from customers or facilitate other types of online payments,
and our busingss and operating results could be adversaly affected.

We are also s ubject to o voluntarily comply with a number of other laws and reguiations relating to money laundering, international money
transfers, privacy and information security and elactronlc fund transfers. if we were found to be in violation of applicable laws or reguiations, we
could be subject to civit and criminal penalties. In addition, events affecting our third-party payment processors or our integration with them,
including cyber-attacks, Internet or othar infrastructure or communications impairment or other events that could interrupt the normal operation of
our payment processors or our integration with them, or result in unauthorized access to customer information, could have a material adverse effect
on our business,

Faderal Jaws and regulations, such as the Bank Secrocy Act and the USA PATRIOT Act and similar foreign laws, could be
expanded to include Groupon vouchers or other offerings.

Vario us federal laws, such as the Bank Secrecy Act and the USA PATRIOT Act and foreign laws and regulations, such as the Eurcpean
Directive on the prevention of the use of the financial system for the purpose of money laundering and terrorist financing, impose certain anti-money
laundering requirements on companies that are financial institutions or that provide financial products and services. For these purposes, financial
institutions are broadly defined to Incdlude money services businesses such as money transmitters, check cashers and sellers or Issuers of stored
value cards. Examples of anti-money laundering requirements imposed on financial institutions include subscriber identification and verification
programs, record retention policies and procedures and transaction reporting. We do not believe that we are a financial institution subject to these
laws and regulations based, in part, upon the characteristics of Groupon vouchers and our role with respect to the disiribution of Groupon vouchers
to customers. For example, the Financlal Crimes Enforcement Network ("FinCEN®), a division of the U.S. Treasury Department tasked with
implementing the requirements of the Bank Secrecy Act {the "BSA"), has adopted regulations expanding the scope of the BSA and requirements for
parties involved in stored value or prepaid access cards, including a proposed expansion of financlal institutions to include sellers or issuers of
prepald access cards. While we believe Groupon vouchers are not subject to these regulations, it is possible that FinCEN or a court of law could
consider Groupon vouchers (or other Groupon products) a financial product and that we could be a financial institution. In the event that we become
subject to the requirements of the Bank Secrecy Act or any other anti-money laundering law or regulation imposing obligations on
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us as a money services business, our regulatory compliance costs to meet these obligations would likely increase which could adversely impact our
operating results.

State and forelgn laws regulating money transmisslon could be expanded to include Groupon vouchers or other Groupon
products or services.

Man y states and certain foreign jurisdictions impose license and registration obligations on those companies engaged in the business of
money transmission, with varying definitions of what constitutes money transmission. We currently believe that we are not a money transmitter given
our role and the product terms of Groupon vouchers or other Groupon products or services. However, a successful challenge to our position or
expansion of state or foreign laws could subject us to increased compliance costs and delay our ability to offer Groupon vouchers or other products
or services in certain jurisdictions pending receipt of any necessary licenses or registrations.

Our abllity to ralse caplital In the future may be limitad, which could prevent us from growing, and our exlIsting credit agreament
could restrict our business activities.

We may in the future be required to raise capital through public or private financing or other arrangements. Such financing may not be
available on acceplable terms, or at all, and our failure to raise capital when needed could harm our business. In addition, we are party to a $250.0
million amended and restated credit agreement with JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., as Administrative Agent, dated as of June 29, 2016, as amended
(the “Credit Agreement”), which matures in June 2019. We intend to refinance our Credit Agreement during the first half of 2019. Our Credit
Agreement contains financlal and other covenants that may restrict our business activities or our ability to execute our strategic objectives, and our
failure to comply with these covenants could result in a default under our Credit Agreement. Furthermore, additional equity financing may dilute the
interests of our common stockholders, and debt financing, if available, may involve restrictive covenants that could further restrict our business
activities or our abillty to execute our strategic objectives and could reduce our profitability. If we cannot refinance our Credit Agreement or raise or
borrow funds on acceptable tarms, we may not be able to grow our business or respond to competitive pressures.

In addition, advances under our revolving credit facility generally bear interest based on (i) the Alternate Base Rate (as defined in our Credit
Agreement) or (i) the Adjusted LIBO Rate (as defined in our Credit Agreement} and calculated using the London Inter-bank Offered Rate
{"LIBOR™). Although our Credit Agreement matures on June 28, 2019, we would expect that any extended or refinanced indebtedness would bear
interest on similar terms. On July 27, 2017, the Financial Conduct Authority (the authority that regulates LIBOR) announced that it intends to stop
compelling banks to submit rates for the calculation of LIBOR after 2021, and it is unclear whether new methods of calculating LIBOR will be
established. If LIBOR ceases to exist after 2021, any calculation of interest based upon the Altemate Base Rate (or any comparable or replacement
formulation), may result in higher interest rates. To the extent that these interest rates increase, our interest expense will increase, which could
adversely affect our financial condition, operating results and cash flows.

Wa may not have the abliity to use cash to settle the principal amount of our 3.25% convertible notes due 2022 ({the "Notes") upon
conversion or to repurchase the Notes upon a fundamaental change, which could rasult In dilution and could adversely affect our
financial condition.

The Notes are convertible any time prlor to their maturity on April 1, 2022 into cash, stock or a combination of cash and stock at an i nitial
conversion rate set forth in the indenture goverming the Notes (the "Indenture®). Notes that are converted in connection with a make-whole
fundamental change (as defined in the Indenture) may be entitled to an increase in the conversation rate for such Notes. Upon a conversion event, if
we do not have adequate cash available or cannct obtaln additional financing, or our use of cash is restricted by applicable law, regulations or
agreements governing our current or future indebtedness, we may not be able to use cash to setile the principal amount of the Notes upon
conversion. If we settle any portlon of the principal amount of the Notes upon conversion in stock, it will result in immediate dilution to the ownership
Interests of existing stockholders and such dilution could be materlal.

In addition, holders of the Notes have the right o require us to repurchase their Notes upoen the occurrence of a fundamental change (as
defined in the Indenture) at a repurchase price equal to 100% of the principal amount of the Notes to be repurchased, plus accrued and unpaid
interest, if any. If we do not have adequate cash avallable or cannot obtain additlonal financing, or our use of cash is restricted by applicable law,
regulations or agreements govemning our current or future indebtedness, we may not be able repurchase the Notes when required under the
indenture, which would constitute an event of default under the Indenture. An event of default under the Indenture could also lead to a default under
other agreements governing our current and future indebtedness, and if the repayment of such
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other indebtedness were accelerated, we may nol have sufficient funds to repay the indebtedness and repurchase the Notes or make cash
payments upon conversion of the Notes.

The terms of the Notes could delay or prevent an attempt to take over cur Company.

The terms of the Notes require us to repurchase the Notes in the event of a fundamental change. A takeover of our Comp any would
conslitute a fundamental change. This could have the effect of delaying or preventing a takeover of our Company that may otherwise be beneficial
to our stockholders.

Risks Related to Ownershlp of Our Common Stock
The trading price of our common stock Is highly volatile.

The t rading price of our common stock has fluctuated significantly since our initial listing on NASDAQ. We expect that the trading price of
our stock will continue to be volatile due to variations in our operating results and also may change in response to other factors, including factors
spaclfic to technology and Intemet commerce companies, many of which are beyond our control. Among the factors that could affect our stock price
are:

= our financial results;

» any financial projections that we provide to the public, any changes In these projections or our  failure for any reason to meet these
projections or projections made by research analysts;

« the number of shares of our common stock that are available for sale;
« the relative success of competitive preducts or services;

» the public's response to press releases or other public announcements by us or others, Including our filings with the SEC and
announcements relating to litigation;

*  speculation about our business in the press or the investment community;

+ future sales of our cornmon stock by our significant stockholders, officers and directors;

« announcements about our share repurchase program and purchases under the program;

= changes in our capital structure, such as future issuances of debt or equity securities;

*  our entry into new markets or exits from existing markets;

+ regulatory developments in the United States or foreign countries;

« strategic acquisitions, joint ventures or restructurings announced or consummated by us or our competitors;
« strategic dispositions of businesses or other assets announced or consurmnmated by us; and

* changes in accounting principles.
We ex pect the stock price volatility to continue for the foreseeable future as a result of these and other factors,

If securities or Industry analysts do not publish research or reports about our business, or publish inaccurate or unfavorable
research reports about our business, our share price and trading volume could decline.

Th e trading market for our common stock depends, in part, on the research and reports that securities or industry analysts publish about us
or our business. We do not have any conirol over these analysts, and in the past, we have had changes in analyst ratings that have affected our
stock price. If one or more of the analysts who cover us should downgrade our shares or change their opinion of our shares, industry sector or
products, our share price would likely dedline. If one or mare of these analysts ceases coverage of our company or fails to regularly publish reports
on us, we could lose visibility in the financial markets, which could cause our share price or trading volume to dedline.




The concentration of our common stock ownership may limit stockholders’ ablilty to influence corporate matters.

On October 31, 2016, each share of our Class A common stock and Class B common stock automatically converted {the "Conversion”) into
a single class of common stock. As a result of the Conversion, each holder of our common stock is entitled to one vote per share on any matter that
is submitted to a vote of stockholders. Although the voting power of our founders was maore concentrated prior to the Conversion, Eric Lefkofsky and
his affillates own approximately 15% of our common stock as of December 31, 2018. He, therefore, may have significant influence over matters
requiring stockholder approval, including the elaction of directors and significant corporate transactions, such as a merger or other sale of our
company or its assets. This concentrated ownership could limit stockholders’ ability to influence corporate matters and, as a result, we may take
actions that our stockholders do not view as beneficial. As a result, the market price of our commen stock could be adversely affected.

We do not intend to pay dividends for the foreseeable future.

We int end to retain all of our eamings for the foreseeable future to finance the opsration and axpansion of our business and do not
anticipate paying cash dlvidends, As a result, stockholders can expect to receive a return on their investment in our common stock only if the market
price of the stock increases.

Provisions in our charter documents and under Delaware faw could discourage a takeover that stockholders may consider
favorable.

Provi sions in our certificate of incorporation and bylaws may have the effect of delaylng or preventing a change of control or changes In our
management. These provislons include the following:

«  QOur Board of Directors has the right to elect directors to fill a vacancy created by the expansion of the Board of Directors or the resignation,
death or removal of a director, which prevents stockholders from being able to fill vacancies on our Board of Directors.

= Special mestings of our stockholders may be called only by our Chairman of the Board, our Chief Executive Officer, our Board of Directors
or holders of not less than the majority of our issued and outstanding common stock. This limits the ability of minority stockholders to take
certain actions without an annual meeting of steckholders.

«  Qur stockholders may not act by written consent unless the actlon to be effected and the taking of such action by written consent is
approved in advance by our Board of Directors. As a result, a holder, or holders, controlling a majerity of our common stock would generally
not be able to take certain actions without holding a stockholders' meeting.

= Our certificate of incorporation prohibits cumulative voting in the election of directors. This limits the ability of minority stockholders to elect
director candidates.

+  Stockholders must provide timely notice to nominate individuals for election to the Board of Directors or to propose matters that can be
acled upon at an annual meeting of stockholders. These provisions may discourage or deter a potential acquiror from conducting &
solicitation of proxies to elect the acquiror's own slate of directors or otherwise attempting to obtain control of our company.

» Our Board of Diractors may issue, without stockholder approval, shares of undesignated preferred stock. The ability to authorize
undesignated preferred stock makes it possible for our Board of Directors to issue preferred stock with voting or other rights or preferences
that could impede the success of any attempt to acquire us.

The convertible note hedge and warrant transactions may affect the value of our common stock.

On M ay 9, 2016, we purchased convertible note hedges from certain bank counterparties. The convertible note hedges are intended to
reduce the potential economic dilution upon convarsion of the Notes. On May 9, 2016, we also sold warrants to certain bank counterparties. The
warmrant transactions would separately have a dilutive effect to the extent that the market price per share of cur commen stock exceeds the
applicable strike price of the warrants.

The bank counterparties or their respective affiliates may modify their initial hedge positions by entering into or unwinding various
derlvatives contracts with respect to our common stock andfor purchasing or selling our common stock or other securities of ours in secondary
market transactions prior to the maturity of the Notes (and are likely to do so during any observation perlod related to a conversion of Notes or
following any repurchase of Notes by us on
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any fundamental change repurchase date or otherwise). This activity could cause or avoid a significant change in the market price of our common
stock.

In add ition, in some circumstances, such as an early termination of the convertible note hedge and warrant transactions, including in
connection with certain change of control transactions or other extraordinary events, the bank counterparties or their respective affiliates may
unwind thair hedge positions with respect to our common stock, which could adversely affect the value of our commen stock.

ITEM 1B. UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS
None.

ITEM 2. PROPERTIES

As of December 31, 2018 , we owned no property and had leases for approximately 1.3 million square feet of space. Qur corporate
headquarters and principal executive offices are located in Chicago, lllincis. Other properties are located throughout the world and largely represent
local operating facilities. We believe that our properties are in good condition and meet the needs of our business, and that suitable additional or
allenative space will be available as needed to accommodate our business operations and future growth.

Description of Use _ Segment Square Faet Various lease explrations through
Comporatacffices _______ NorhAmerica 555,000 January 2026 |
lC-::)rporate; olﬁoesr__ L o International 371,000 L June ZOE__ o
S B ]
Fulfillment gpd data centerésﬁ e ﬁoih_mleﬂq_a__ o 360,000 August 2023 _
Fufitmentand datacanters _Intomational _ 3,000 _ March2024 !

ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS
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For a description of our material pending legal proceedings, please see Item 8, Note 10 , Commitments and Contingencies , to the
consolidated financlal statements of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

ITEM 4. MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURES

Not applicable.
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PART Il

ITEM 5. MARKET FOR REGISTRANT'S COMMON EQUITY, RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS AND ISSUER PURCHASES OF EQUITY
SECURITIES

Our common stock has been listed on the NASDAQ Global Select Market under the symbol "GRPN" since November 4, 2011.
Holders

As of February 8, 2019, there were 160 holders of record of cur common stock. Each holder of our common stock is entitled to one vote per
share on any matter that is submitted to a vote of stockholders.

Equlty Compensation Plan Information

Information about the securities authorized for issuance under our compensation plans is incorporated by reference from the Proxy
Statement for our 2019 Annual Meeting of Stockholders.

Recent Sales of Unregistered Securlties
During the year ended December 31, 2018 , we did not issue any unregistered equily securities.
Issuer Purchases of Equlty Securities

In May 2018, the Board authorized us to repurchase up to $300.0 million of our common stock undsr a new share repurchase program. The
prior share repurchase program, which authorized repurchases up to $700.0 million , expired in April 2018. The timing and amount of share
repurchases, if any, will be determined based on market conditions, limltations under the Amended and Restated Credit Agreement, share price and
other factars, and the share repurchase program may be terminated at any time. Wae will fund the repurchases through cash on hand, future cash
flows and bomowings under our credit facility. Repurchases will be made in compliance with SEC rules and other legal requirements and may be
made in part under a Rule 10b5-1 plan, which permits stock repurchases when we may otherwise be precluded from doing so.

During the three months ended December 31, 2018 , we repurchased 3,252,886 shares for an aggregate purchase price of $10.0 million
{including fees and cormmissions} under the new repurchase program. As of December 31, 2018, up to $290.0 million of common stock remained
available for purchase under that program. A summary of our common stock repurchases during the three months ended December 31, 2018 is set
forth in the following table:

Total Number of Shares Maximum Number (or Approximate
Total Number of Avarage Price Purchased as Part of Publicly Dollar Value) of Shares that May
Date Shares Purchasad Pald Per Share Announced Program ) Yeat Ba Purchased Under Program
Octovert3t,208_ . — 8 = —_$ . .300,000,000 |
November1-30, 2018 638,685 3.09 638,685 298,035,664
@295;"1*10:,1#31-,2919, o 2,614,201 3.09 2,614,201 290,000,000 ]
Total 3,252,886 % 3.09 3,252,886 § 290,000,000

From the inception of our share repurchase programs in August 2013 through December 31, 2018 , we have repurchased 191,855,128
shares of our common stock (or Class A common stock prior to the conversion of our Class A common stock and Class B common stock to a single
class of common stock on Octobar 31, 2016 ) for an aggregate purchase price of $877.5 million (including fees and commissions).




The following table provides information about purchases of shares of our common stock during the three months ended December 31,
2018 related to shares withheld upon vesting of restricted stock units for minimum tax withholding obligations:

Total Number of Total Number of Shares Maximum Number (or Approximate
Shares Purchased  Average Price Purchased as Part of Publicly  Dollar Value) of Sharas that May
Date (1) Paid Per Share Announced Program Yot Bo Purchased Under Program
Ocober 1312018 333408 $ W ==
November 1-30, 2018 . 177,235 %19 ) -
December 31,2018 610565 320 - ~.
Total 1121206 8 3.28 —

1) Total number of shares delivered lo us by employees to sallsfy the mandatory tax withholding requirement upon vesting of slock-based compensation
awards.
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Stock Performance Graph

This performance graph shall not be deemed "fled” for purposes of Section 18 of the Securitles Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the
Exchange Act), or incorporaled by reference into any filing of Groupon, Inc. under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, or the Exchange Act,
except as shall be expressly set forth by spacific reference In such filing. Our stock price performance shown in the graph below is not Indicafive of
our future stock price performarnce.

The graph set forth below compares the cumulative total return on our common stock (or Class A common stock prior to the conversion of
our Class A common stock and Class B common stock to a single class of common stock on October 31, 2016 ) with the cumulative total returmn of
the Nasdaq Composite Index and the Nasdaq 100 Index, resulting from an initial investment of $100 in each and assuming the reinvestment of any
dividends, based on closing prices on the last trading day of each year end period for 2014, 2015, 2016, 2017 and 2018.

Stock Price Performance Graph
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ITEM 6. SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA

The following selected consolidated financial data should be read in conjunction with our consclidated financial statements and the
accompanying notes thereto in Item 8 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K, and the information contained in Iltem 7, M anagement's Discussion and
Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations, of this Annual Report on Form 10-K . Historical results are not necessarily indicative af
future results.

Year Ended Dacembear 31,
2018 2017 2016 2015 2014

Consolidated

Statemants of

Opaeratlons

Data (112 {in thousands, excepl share and per share amounts)

Revenue:
Service 3 1,205,487 $ 1,266,452 3 1,206,441 $ 1,250,149 § 1,353,948

Product 1,431,259 1,577,425 1,807,174 1,704,867 1,504,698
Total
revenue 2,636,746 2,843,877 3,013,615 2,954,818 2,858 G46

‘Gost of
revenua:

Service 120,077 160.810 150,031 158,095 173,204

Product 1,186,068 1,349,206 1,582,931 1,508,911 1,339,881
Total cost

of
ravenua 1,316,145 1,510,016 1,732,962 1,667,006 1,513,085

Gross profit 1,320,601 1,333,861 1,280,653 1,287,810 1,345,561

Operating
expenses:

Marketing 395,737 400,918 352,175 241,342 227,855
Salling,
general and
adminisirative 870,961 901,829 999,677 1,102,385 1,081,468
Rastructuring
_ charges (136) 18,828 40,438 28,464 —

(Gain on sale

of intangible

assets — (17.149) — - _

(5ains on

business

dispositions — — (11,399) (13,710) —

Total
operating

~ expenses 1,266,562 1,304,426 1,380,891 1,358,481 1.309,323
Incoma (loss)
from
oporations 54,039 29,435 {100,238) {70.671) 36,238
Other income
{expense), net (53,008) 6,710 (71,289) {25,586) {31,655)

Income (loss)
from

L

continuing

bafore

provision

(benefit) for

Income taxes 1,031 36,145 (171,527) (96,257) 4,583
Provision

{benelil) for

income taxas (957) 7.544 (5,318} {23.010) 15,308
Incoma (loss)
from
continuing
‘operations 1,988 28,601 (166,209) (73,247) {10,725}
Income {loss)

from

discontinued

operations,

nat of tax — {1,974) (17.114) 106,926 {53.194)
Net Income
{losg) 1,988 26,627 (183,323) 33,679 {63.919)

Neat Income

atiributable t¢

nonconteolling

interests (13.067) (12,587) (11,264) (13,011} (9.171)

Neot income




{loss)

attributable to
Groupon, Inc, $ (11,079) $ 14,040 § (194,587} & 20668 § (73,090)

‘Baslc net
‘Income (loss)

1per share 19

Continuing

‘operations b (0.02) $ 0.03 3 {0.31) $ (0.13) $ (0.03)
1Discontinued

operations 0.00 (0.00) (0.03) 0.16 (0.08)
Baslc net

income (loss)
per share ] (0.02)y % 0.03 3 (0.34) § 003 % (0.11)

Diluted net

Incomae (loas)

per shareg (!:
Conlinuing
-operations $ ) (002 3 0.03 3 N ) @31) 3 S 013 8

(0.03)

Discontinued
‘operations 0.00 {0.01) (0.03) 0.16 (0.08)
‘Diluted net

lincome (loas) I
iper share 5 (0.02) % 002 % 034) 3§ 003 3% 0.1

Walghted

lavarage

Inumber of

shares

outstanding @

Basiq
_ Diluted
(1}
(2}

(3}

566,511,108 559,367,075 576,354,258 650.106.225 674,832,393

] 566,511,108 _ 568,418,371 ) 576,354,258 650,106,225 674,832,393
The consolidated statements of operatlons data for prior years has been retrospectively adjusted to reflact discontinued operations. Refer to Iltem 8, Note 3 ,
Discontinued Operations and Other Busingss Dispositions , for additional information.

Includes $0.7 mifion , $5.7 million , $1.9 million and $1.3 million of acquisition-related expenses for the years ended December 31, 2018, Decamber 31, 2016,
Dacembear 31, 2015 and December 31, 2014, Refer to Item 8, Note 4 , Business Combinations , for additional information.

The structure of our common stock changed during the year endad December 31, 2018. Refer to Item 8, Note 11, Stockholders' Equity , and Note 18 , Income
{Loss) Per Share , for addlllonal information.
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As

of December 31,

2018

2017

2016 2015

2014

Consolldated Balance Sheet Data:
Cash and cash equivalents
Working capital (daficit)

Total sesets
Total Ioig_;;tgzn_ lljblitles

iTotal Groupon, Inc. Stockhoiders’ Equity

$__ 841021 §
41485
ed24z

..5880129 | §
_ (B1051)

(in thousands)
_ge2917 §_
(121,115) {128,283)

292,161

_ 1877505

283,264

824307
) 91 .4Et(_J_

T
L AIENETT 1796264
122,152

982,862

2,227,597 |
169,055

- ... 762828




ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSiIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

The following discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations should be read together with our consclidated
financial statements and related notes included under ltem 8 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K. This discussion contains forwardHooking
statements about our business and operations. Our actual results may differ materially from those we currently anticipate as a result of many
factors, including those we describe under Risk Factors and elsewhers in this Annual Report. See Part |, Forward-Looking Statements | for
additional information.

Overview

Groupon operates online local commerce marketplaces throughout the world that connect merchants to consumers by offering goods and
services, generally at a discount. Consumers access those marketplaces through our websltes, primarily localized groupon.com sites in many
countries, and our mobile applications. Traditionally, local merchants have tried to reach consumers and generate sales through a variety of
methods, including online advertising, paid telephone directories, direct mail, newspaper, radio, television and other promotions. By bringing the
brick and mortar world of local commerce onto the Intemset, Groupon is helping iocal merchants to attract customers and sell goods and services.
Wae provide consumers with savings and help them discover what to do, eat, see and buy and where to travel.

Qur operations are organized into two segments: North America and International. For the year ended Decamber 31, 2018 |, we derived
62.2% of our revenue from our North America segment and 37.8% of our revenue from our Intermational segment. See ltern 8, Note 19, Segment
information , for additional information. We offer goods and services through our online marketplaces in three primary categories, Local, Goods and
Travel,

We generate both product and service revenue from our business operations. Our product revenue from transactions in which wa sel!
merchandise inventory in our Goods catagory Is the purchase price received from the customer. Our service revenue from transactions in which we
eam commissions by selling goods or services on behalf of third-party merchants is the purchase price collected from the customer less the portion
of the purchase price paid to the merchant.

Since early 2017, we have shifted our focus towards long-term gross profit growth. As part of our growth strategy, we have focused on
anhancing the customer experience, establishing Groupon as an open platform, continuing to realize our Intermnational potential, and maintaining a
culture of operational efficiency. We have developed and are testing a number of product enhancements to make our offerings easier to use for both
customers and merchants, including cash back offers linked to customer credit cards and booking capabillties. We have also entered into
commercial agreements with third partles that enable us to feature additional merchant offerings through cur marketplaces. We have drivan
officiency in our marketing spend by focusing that spend on customers who we believe will have higher long-term value.

In April 2018, we expanded our Intemational segment offerings through the acquisition of 80% of the outstanding shares of Cloud Savings
Company, Lid. ("Cloud Savings"), a UK-based business that operates conline discount code and digital gift card platforms. In December 2018, we
exercised our right to acquire the remaining outstanding shares of Cloud Savings. See Item 8, Note 4, Business Combinations , for further
information.

In October 2016, we completed a strategic review of our International markets in conneclion with our efforts to optimize our global footprint
and focus on the markets that we balieve to have the greatest potential to benefit our long-term financial performance. Based on that review, we
decided to focus our business on 15 core countries, which are primarily based in North America and EMEA, and to pursue strategic altematives for
our operations in the remaining 11 countries, which were primarily based in Asia and Latin America. Betwaen November 2016 and March 2017, we
exited our operations in the 11 non-core countries and their results have been presented as discontinued operations. See ltem 8, Note 3,
Discontinued Operations and Other Busingss Dispositions | for additional information about the dispositions.
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How We Measure Our Business

We measure our business with several financial and operating metrics. We use those metrics to assess the progress of our business and
make decisions on where to allocate capital, time and technology investrnents. Certain of the financial metrics are reported in accordance with U.S.
GAAP and certain of those metrics are considered non-GAAP financial measures. As our business evolves, we may make changes in future periods
to the key financial and operating metrics that we use to measure our business. For further information and reconciliations to the most applicable
financial measures under U.S. GAAP, refer to our discussion under Non-GAAP Financial Measures in the Results of Operations section.

Flnanclal Metrics

=  Revenue . Product revenue is eamed from direct sales of merchandise inventory through our Goods category and is reported on a
gross basis as the purchase price received from the customer. Service revenue is eamed from transactions in which we eam
commissions by selling goods or services on behalf of third-party merchants, primarily through sales of vouchers and similar
transactions in which we collect the transaction price from the customer and remit a portion of that transaction price to the third-party
merchant who will provide the related goods or services. Service revenue from those transactions is reported on a net basis as the
purchasa price collected from the customer less the portion of the purchase price that is payable to the third-party merchant. Service
revenue also includes commissions we earn when customers make purchases with retailers using digital coupons accessed through
our websites and mobile applications and fram voucherless merchant offerings in which customers earn cash back on their credit card
statements when they transact with third-party merchants.

«  Gross profit. Gross profit reflects the net margin earned after deducting our cost of revenue from our revenue. Due to the lack of
comparability between product revenue, which is reported on a gross basis, and service revenue, which primarily consists of
transactions reported on a net basis, we believe that gross profit is an important measure for evaluating our performances.

»  Adjusfed EBITDA . Adjusted EBITDA is a non-GAAP financial measure that we define as net income (loss) from continuing operations
excluding income taxes, interest and other non-operating items, depreciation and amortization, stock-based compensation, acquisition-
related expense (benefit), net and other special charges and credits, including items that are unusual in nature or infrequently occurring.
For further information and a reconciliation to Income (loss) from continuing operations, refer to our discussion under Non-GAAP
Financial Measures in the Resufis of Operations section.

= Froe cash flow. Free cash flow is a non-GAAP financial measure that comprises net cash provided by (used in) operating activities from
continuing operations less purchases of property and equipment and capitalized software from continuing operations. For further
information and a reconciliation to Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities from continuing operatlons, refer to our discussion
in the Liquidity and Capital Resources section.

The following table presents the above financial metrics for the years ended December 31, 2018, 2017 and 2018 {in thousands):

Year Ended December 31,

o ) 2018 2017 2016 1
Revews . __ .. __.__._ . S aemms s 288877 5 3013615
Grosspoft o ) 1,320,601 1,333,861 1,280,653
AdsiedEBTDA L asesw o sel 179833
Frea cash flow 121,160 71,387 61,958

(1) Prior period free cash flow Information has been updated from $78.3 million and $60.6 million previously reported for the years ended Decembar 31, 2017 and 2016 1o
reflect the adoption of ASU 2016-18, Statement of Cash Flows (Topic 230) - Restricted Cash, on January 1, 2018. See Item 8, Note 2, Summary of Significant
Accounting Policies, for addltional information on the adopbion of ASU 2016-18.

Operating Metrics

»  Gross Billings. This metric represents the total dollar value of customer purchases of goods and services. The substantial majority of
our service revenue transactions is comprised of sales of vouchers and similar
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transactions in which we collect the transaction price from the customer and remit a portion of the transaction price to the third-parly
merchant who will provide the related goods or services. For these transactions, gross billings differs from revenue reportad in our
consolidated statements of operations, which is presented net of the merchant's share of the transaction price. For product revenue
transactions, gross blllngs are equivalent to product revenue reporied in our consolidated statements of operations. This metric is an
indicator of our growth and business performance as it measures the dollar volume of transacticns generated through our marketplaces.
Tracking gross billings on service revenue transactions also allows us to monitor the percentage of gross blllings that we are able to
retain after payments to merchants. However, management is primarily focused on optimizing the business for long-term gross profit
and adjusted EBITDA growth, rather than gross billings or revenue growth.

Active cusfomers. We define active customers as unique user accounts that have made a purchase during the trailing twelve months
("TTM"} either through one of cur online marketplaces or directly with a merchant for which we eamed a commission. We consider this
metric to be an important indicator of cur buslness performance as it helps us to understand how the number of customers actively
purchasing our offerings is trending. Some customers could establish and make purchases from more than one account, so it is
possible that our active cuslomer metric may count certaln customers more than once in a given period. For entities that we have
acquired in a business combination, this mefric includes active customers of the acquired entity, including customers who made
purchases prior to the acquisition. We do not include consumers who solely make purchases with retailers using digital coupons
accessed through our websites and mobile applications In our active customer metric, and accordingly, the acquisition of Cloud Savings
in April 2018 did not impact that metric.

Our active customer metric for the year ended December 31, 2018 declined from the year ended December 31, 2017. For the year
ended December 31, 2017, our active customers increased compared with the year ended December 31, 2016, The decline in the
current year is primarily attributable to a decline In traffic to cur websites and mobile applications, as well as our efforts to improve the
efficiency of our marketing spend by focusing that spend on customers who we believe will have higher long-term value. That strategy
has resulted in lowar marketing spend on less valuable customers, particularly in North America, which has adversely impacted our
active customer metric. We expect the trend of declining actlve customners In North America to continue in 2019 due to ongoing traffic
declines and our continued focus on atfracting and retaining high-quality customers.

Gross billings and gross profit per active customer. These metrics represent the TTM gross billings and gross profit generated per
active customer. We use these metrics to evaluate trends in customer spend and in the average contribution to gross billings and gross
profit on a per-customer basis. We updated the calculation of these metrics In the current year to reflect active customers as of the end
of the period, rather than the average of active customers as of the beginning and end of the pericd, in the denominator of the
calculations. Because our active customer metrics are based on purchases over a TTM period, we believe that this change improves
the usefulness of thesa metrics. The prior period metrics presented below have been updated to reflect this change.

Units. This metric represents the number of purchases during the reporting period, before refunds and cancellations, made either
through one of our cnline marketplaces or directly with a merchant for which we eamed a commission. We consider unit growth to be an
important indlcator of the total volume of business conductied through our marketplaces.

For the year ended December 31, 2018 , our total units sold declined by 8.8% , as compared with the prior year, reflecting unit declines
in our North Amerlca segment, partially offset by unit growth in our International segment. For the year ended December 31, 2017, our
total units sold declined by 3.4% , as compared with the year ended December 31, 2016. The decline In total units sold in the current
year was attributable to fewer active customers and lower frequency of purchases by these custormers, We expect that trend to continue
into 2019.
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Qur gross billings for the years ended December 31, 2018, 2017 and 2016 were as follows (in thousands):

Year Ended December 31,
_ 2018 2017 2016
Gross Billings $ - 5202814 $ 5645898 % 5,687,714

Our active customers, gross billings per active customer and gross profit per active customer for the TTM ended December 31, 2018, 2017
and 2016 were as follows:

Year Ended December 31,

R o _ 7 2018 _ 2017 2016 (4
‘TTM Active cuslomers {in thousands) ) ] 48,158 49,536 47,881
TTM Gross bllings per active customer . s 10803 $ BRI 11879
“TTM Gross profit per active customer 5 2742 8 2693 $ 26.75

(1} TTM Gross blllings per active customer have been updated from $115.91 and $124.26 previously reported for the TTM ended December 31, 2017 and 2016, and TTM
Gross profit per active customer has been updated from $27.38 and $27.98 previously reporied for the year ended December 31, 2017 and 2016 dus to the change In
the calculatlon discussed above.

Our units for the years ended December 31, 2018, 2017 and 2016 were as follows {in thousands):

Year Ended December 31,
) ‘ _ 2018 2017 2016
Units . _ ) S L , . 1Ww230s 0 188905 195,646

Factors Affecting Our Performance

Atltracting and Retaining Local Merchants. As we seeX to build a more complete online local commerce marketplace platform, we depend on
our ability to attract and retain merchants who are willling to offer discounted products and services through our marketplaces. Additionally,
merchants can generally withdraw their offerings from our marketplaces at any time and their willingness to continue offering products and services
through our platform depends on the effectiveness of our marketing and promotional services. We primarily source the deal offerings available on
our marketplaces through our sales teams, which comprise a significant portion of our global employee base. We have also entered into commercial
agreements with third parties that enable us to feature additional merchant offerings through our marketplaces. We continue to focus much of our
sales efforts on sourcing local deal offerings in subcategories that we believe provide us with the best opportunities for high frequency customer
purchase behavior. In connection with our efforts to grow our offerings in those high frequency subcategories, which include health, beauty and
wellness, events and activities, and food and drink, we may be willing to offer more attractive terms to local merchants that could reduce our deal
margins in future periods.

Growing our Active Cusfomer Base and Customer Value. We must acquire and retain customers that we expect to have long-term valus,
and increase gross profit per customer In order to grow our business. Cur marketing spending is intended to attract and retain active customers and
to promote increased purchase frequency. We have made enhancements to our customer segmentation in recent periods that are intended to better
focus our marketing efforts on customers that we believe have a greater potential for long-term gross profit generation. In addition to online
marketing, such as search englne marketing ("SEM"), our marketing spending includes investments in offline campaigns intended to increase
customer awareness and understanding of the Groupon brand and our product and service offerings. Additionally, we consider order discounts and
certaln other initiatives to drive customer acquisition and activation to be marketingrelated activities, even though such activiies may not be
presented as marketing expenses in our consolldated statements of operations. The organic traffic to our websites and mobile applications from
consumers responding to our emails has declined in recent years, such that an increasing proportion of our traffic is generated from SEM and other
paid marketing channels. More recently, we have also experienced declines from other sources of organic traffic, such as search engine
optimization ("SEQ"). As such, we are focused on developing sourcas of organic traffic other than email and optimizing the efficiency of our
marketing spending, which is primarily guided by retum on investment thresholds that are currently based on expected months-to-payback targets
ranging from 12 to 18 months. Additionally, our product and supply initiatives are intended to increase the rates at which visitors to our websites and
mobile applications complete a purchase.

Investing in Growth. We have invested significantly in product and technology enhancements intended to support the growth of our online
marketplaces and we intend to continue to do so in the future. We have also invested in business acquisitions to grow our merchant and customer
base and advance our product and technology capabilities. We are currently developing and testing a number of product enhancements intended to
make our offerings easier to use for both customers and merchants, inciuding voucherless cash back offers linked to customer credit cards and
functionality enabling appointment booking at the time an offering is purchased. We believe that those initiatives may be important drivers for
increasing customer purchase frequency and growing our business over time. We are currently

focusing our efforts on growing customer awarenass of those products and scaling the related merchant base. As such, our gross profit and
operating income may be adversely impacted in the near term as we focus more of our marketing initiatives and related efforts on early stage
voucherless cash back offerings. Additionally, our cash back offars linked to customer credit cards involve collacting a net fee from the merchant,
rather than selling a voucher to the customer and then remitting a portion of the proceeds to the merchant. As we report sales of vouchers to
customers as gross billings, the growth of voucherless cash back transactions in future periods could adversely impact our gross billings trends.
Mobile consumers, particularly those accessing our marketplaces through the mobile web, generally complete purchases at a lower rate and at
lower average transaclion prices than consumers accessing our marketplaces through desktop computers. As a substantial majority of our traffic
comes from consumers on mobile devices, we are focused on improving the mobile experience in order to increase purchase rates. Our initiatives to
improve the mobile experience include improving page speeds, enhancing our relevance algorithms, streamlining the checkout process and



redirecting mobile web consumers to our mobile applications.

Managing Operating Efficiency . We are focused on effectively managing our cost structure as we seek to generate and grow our
profitability in future periods. From 2015 through 2017, we reduced the global footprint of our operations from 47 countries to 15 countries.
Additionally, we significantly reduced our global workforce over that period as a result of our restructuring actions. Those restructuring actions and
our continuing efforts to automate internal processes have allowed us to centralize many of our back office activities in lowar cost shared service
centers resulting in significant reductions fn our selling, general and administrative expenses In recent perlods. We have primarily used those
savings to invest in marketing and product enhancements Intended to drive the long-term growth of our business. We intend to continue to focus on
maintaining operating efficiency.

Results of Operatlons

Gross Billings

Gross billings is an operating metric that represents the total dollar value of customer purchases of products and services. Gross billings is
presented net of customer refunds, order discounts and sales and related taxes. In our Goods category, we generate gross billings from product
revenue transactions in which we sell merchandise inventory directly to customers, as well as service revenue transactions In which we sell products
cn hehalf of third-party merchants.

Comparison of the Years Ended December 31, 2018 and 2017 :

Gross billings for the years ended Dacember 31, 2018 and 2017 were as follows (dollars in thousands):

Year Ended Dacembar 31,
e S 2018 ) 2017 $ Change % Change
Grossbilings: . _
N §§_r_\iigﬁ___ o e 3 3,771,555 % 4,068,473 % ~ (296,918) (7.3)%_
i Podyct ——_— l_ _-_”7 e 1,431,259 1,577,425 (146,186) | (8.3) i
Total gross blllings 3 5202814 % 5645898 $ (443,084) (7.8)

The effect on our gross billings for the year ended December 31, 2018 from changes in exchange rates versus the U.S. dollar was as
follows (in thousands):

Year Ended December 31, 2018

e o _ _ _ At Avg. 2017 Rates (!  Exchange Rate Effect @ As Reported
Grossbillags s 5147207 % 55517 _ % 5,202,814 |
(1) Represents the financial statement balances that would have resultad had exchange rates In the reporting period been the same as thosa In effact in the prior year

period.
{2) Raprasents the increase or decrease in tha reported amount resulting from changes in exchange rates from those In effect in the prior year pericd.
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Gross Billings by Segment
Gross billings by segment for the years ended December 31, 2018 and 2017 were as follows (dollars in thousands):

Year Ended Decamber 31,

_ 2018 2017 $ Change % Change
North America
Service gross blllings: ]
Local $ 2,161,192 3§ 2415243 § (254,051) {10.5)%
Travel ) _ 352,247 404,523 {52,276) {12.9)
.. Goods L 3 114638 (775) on
_ Product gross billings - Goods o 796,393 993,326 {196,933} ) §1_9.8)
Tgtal North America gross billings o N o N 3,423,695 3,927,730 {504,035} ) (12.8)
-‘In’g—ern_aﬂon;d ) ) ) )
Service gross billings:
_ Local o B ) ) 865,271 . B2,785 52,486 6.5
vad _ o 207&90 ) EOEﬁfﬁ_ {1,155) (0.6)
(Goods | L mam 128 @7 (35)
Product gross billings - Goods 634,866 584,099 50,767 8.7
Total Intemational gross billings o ] 1,779,119 1,718,168 60,951 o 35
Total gross billings $ 5202814 § 5645898 § (443,084) (7.8)

The percentages of gross billings by segment for the years ended December 31, 2018 and 2017 were as follows:

2018 2017

D North Amerlca D Intemnational

North America

North America gross billings for the year ended December 31, 2018 decreased $504.0 million from the prior year due to a decline in each of
our Local, Goods and Travel categories. The primary drivers of the decline included the following:

«  Lower customer traffic, primarily from organic traffic sources;

= Qur shift of customer impressions from traditional voucher offerings with food and drink merchants towards voucherless cash-back
offerings as we seek to enhance convenience for our customers. While we believe that voucherless cash-back offerings have the
potential to ultimately drive long-term gross profit growth, the shift away from traditional food and drink vouchers is adversely impacling
our gross billlngs In the near term;
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«  Qur ongoing focus on optimizing for long-term gross profit generation rather than gross billings growth has resulted in merchandising
and preduct mix decisions that have adversely impacted transaction volume and gross billings from our Geods category;

+  We ceased most of our food delivery operations in the third quarter 2017, which resulted in a $45.9 million decrease in Local gross
billings as compared with the prior year period; and

* A $ 25.5 million unfavorable impact on gross billings for the year ended December 31, 2018 as a result of adopting Accounting
Standards Codification Topic 608, Revenus from Contracts with Customers ("Topic 6067) as compared with previous accounting
guidance. See item 8, Note 2, Summary of Significant Accounting Policies , and Note 13, Revenue Recognition , for additional
information on the impact of adopting Topic 606 and its related amendments on our accounting policies.

The above drivers adversely impacted gross billings per active customer, which was $111.96 for the year ended December 31, 2018 , as
compared with $120.04 in the prior year period, and total units sold, which decreased to 111.4 million for the year ended December 31, 2018 , as
compared with 129.2 million units in the prior year period.

Intemational

Intemnational gross billings Increased $61.0 million in 2018 , primarily due to a $55.5 million benefit from year-over-year changes in foreign
currency rates, higher transaction volume driven in part by our customer acquisition and the expansion of our digital coupons offerings through our
acquisition of Cloud Savings. These increases were partially offset by the impact of pricing and promotional strategies on cur international gross
blllings per unit.

In addition, there was a $2.0 million unfavorable impact on gross billings for the year ended December 31, 2018 as a result of adopting
Tapic 606 as compared with previous accounting guldance. See ltem 8, Note 2, Summary of Significant Accounting Policies , and Note 13, Revenue
Recognition , for additional information on the impact of adopting Topic 606 and Its related amendments on our accounting policies.

Comparison of the Years Ended December 31, 2017 and 2016

Gross blllings for the years ended December 31, 2017 and 2016 were as follows (dollars in thousands):

Year Ended December 31,
2017 2016 $ Change % Change

Grossbiings: . » e

,.S_anf.i.., L S _____ﬁv_____s ﬁfri(ﬁﬂ.fﬁi § 3,880,540 % . 187,933 o _f’«_ﬁ%

. PLDEi_uqt___ e e . 1,577,425 1,807,174 (229,749) o :fﬁﬁ.bﬁgj)h.[
Total gross billings % 5,645,898 ] 5,687,714 3 (41,816) 0.7)

The effect on our gross billings for the year ended December 31, 2017 from changes in exchange rates versus the U.S. dollar was as
follows (in thousands):

Year Ended December 31, 2017

Exch Rate Effect
e At Avg, 2016 Rates 1! e A Reported
Bross bllings e L $ 5619119 § .79 8 5.645.89_8_]
(1} Represents the financial statement balances that would have resulted had exchange rates in the reporting perlod been the same as those in effect in the prior year

period.
(2) Represents the Increase or decrease in the reported amount resulting from changes in exchange rates from thosa In effect In the pror year period.




Gross Blilings by Segment

Gross billings by segment for the years ended December 31, 2017 and 2016 were as fallows (dollars in thousands):

North America

Service gross billings:
L Travel
.. Goods . :
. . Product gross billings - Goods
Total North America gross blllings

Inemational
Servics gross billngs:
Cteeal

Travel
Goods ,
Product grgss_b-ﬂngs - Goods

iTotal International groas billings
Total gross billings

Year Ended December 31,

i 2017 2016 $ Change % Change

S 24152038 2203514 5 211729 95%

. sz ez e 31
11463 4269 e 1685

993,326 1,297,810 (304,484) (23.5)
3,927,730 3,936,421 (8.691) 02 .
Cmaes | s02403 10382 13
208645 289495 80550y o (128)
112,639 200,331 (87,692) 438) |

584,099 509,364 74,735 14.7
1,718,168 1,751,293 (33.125) (19) |

S 5545898 §  5687,714 § (41,816) 0.7)

The percentages of gross billings by segment for the years ended December 31, 2017 and 2016 were as follows:

20186

North America

. North America

. International

North America gross billings for the year ended December 31, 2017 were relatively flat with the prior year, as the decrease in our Goods
category was largely offset by increases in our Local category and, to a lesser extent, cur Travel category. The primary drivers of the fluctuations

included the following:

»  We shifted the focus on our websites and mobile applications toward offerings with higher gross profit in connection with our efforts to

drive gross profit growth, which contributed to a decrease in Goods gross billings and an increase in Local gross billings; and
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« LlvingSocial, which we acquired during the fourth quarter of 2016, generated incremental gross billings of $75.7 million in Local, $12.8
million in Geods and $11.7 million in Travel for the full year ended December 31, 2017, as compared with the gross billings generated
during the two-month period following its acquisition in the prior year.

Gross billings per active customer decreased to $120.04 for the year ended Decamber 31, 2017 , as compared with $126.47 in the
coresponding prior year period. Addltionally, the total number of units sold decreased to 129.2 million units for the year ended December 31, 2017,
as compared with 132.6 million units in the prior year period.

Internationat
Intemational gross billings decreased $33.1 million during the year ended December 31, 2017 , due to a decline in our Travel and Goods

categories, partially offset by an increase in our Local category. The primary drivers of the decline included the following:

+  We shifted the focus on our websltes and mobile applications toward higher gross profit offerings in connection with our efforts to drive
gross profit growth, which contributed to a decrease in Goods and Travel gross billings and an increase in Local gross hillings; and

+  We substantially eliminated Goods offerlngs from our marketplaces in Japan and Poland in connection with our efforts to de-emphasize
lower margin product offarings, which resulted in a $13.0 million year-over-year reduction in Goods gross billings.

There was a $26.4 milllon favorable impact on international gross billings from year-over-year changes in foreign currency rates that
partially offset the decline.

Revenue

Wae earn product revenue from direct sales of merchandise inventory through our Goods category. Product revenue is reported on a gross
basis as the purchase price received from the customer. Service revenue is earned from transactions in which we eam commissions by selling

goods or services on behalf of third-party merchants,
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primarily through sales of vouchers and similar transactions in which we collect the transaction price from the customer and remit a portion of that
transaction price to the third-party merchant who will provide the related goods or services. Service revenue from those transactions is reported on a
net basis as the purchase price collected from the custormer less the portlon of the purchase price that is payable to the third-party merchant.
Service revenue also includes commissions we eam when cusiomars make purchases with retailers using digital coupons accessed through our
websites and mobile applications and from voucherless merchant offerings in which customers eam cash back on thelr credit card statements when

they transact with third-party merchants.
Comparison of the Years Ended December 31, 2018 and 2017 :

Revenue for the years ended December 31, 2018 and 2017 was as follows (dollars in thousands):

Year Ended Decamber 31,

e ) o i 2018 2017 ) $ Change i % Change

Revenwe: . _ R

L SeMice ... 81205487 § 1266452 §  (60865)  (48)%

L Product 1,431,259 1577425 (146186) (93
$ 2838746 § 2843877 % (207,131) (7.3)

Total revenue

The effect on revenue for the year ended December 31, 2018 from changes in exchange rates versus the U.S. dollar was as follows {in

thousandsj):
Year Ended December 31, 2018
At Avg. 2017 Exchange Rate
) o ) 7 Ratas ) Effect @ As Reported
Revenue $ 2603611 _$ 33135 § 2,636,746 |

(1) Represents the financial statement balance that would have resulted had exchange rates in the reporting pericd been the same as those in effect In the prior year
period.
(2) Represents the increase or decrease in the reported amount resulting from changes in exchange rates from those in effect In the prior year period.
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Revenue by Segment

Revenue by category and segment for the years ended December 31, 2018 and 2017 was as follows (dollars in thousands):

Year Ended December 31,

e o 2018 2017 $ Change i % Change
NothAmedea _ e ]
Service revenue: o e e
r Local e ———— % 752883 § 825,579 _$____(7_2L16)___(§§)£|
_ Travel AL .. 78,495 ___l6.639) {8.5)

L Goods_ _ . . 18,283 16,768 1515 _ 9.0
Product revenus - Goods e L 798,393 993,326 (196.933) (19.8)
fTotal Noith America revenue o 1,639,395 1,914,188 (274,773) (&i)_]

otorational ]

Service revenue:

{_ Local e L o _ 308,700 281,466 | 25,234 _Bo |
Travel o i _ﬂ.183 _4“3.786 (2,603) _ {5.9)

E Goods _ 14,602 20,358 (5.756) (@J_l
Product revenue - Goods _ e 634,866 584,099 50,767 _ a7

Eﬂal International revenue 997,351 928,708 67,642 7.3 i
Total revenue $ 2636746 3 2843877 3§ (207,131) (1.3)

The percentages of revenue by segment for the years ended December 31, 2018 and 2017 were as follows:

2018 2017

I North America . International
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The percentages of service gross billings that we retained after deducting the merchant's share for the years ended December 31, 2018 and
2017 were as follows:

North America Intemational

NI% agse
: :
& @
: ;
B 5
& a*
S

North America

North America revenue decreased $274.8 million for the year ended December 31, 2018 duz primarily to decreases of $72.7 million and
$195.4 milllon in our Local and Goods categories, respectively. The decreases were driven primarily by the decline in transaction volume and gross
billings, as discussed above.

In addition, for the year ended December 31, 2018 , there was a $2.4 million favorable impact on revenue as a result of adopting Topic 606
as compared with previous accounting guidance. See jtem 8, Note 2, Summary of Significant Accounting Policies , and Note 13, Revenue
Recognition , for additional informatlon on the impact of adopting the ASU and its related amendments on our accounting policies.

International

International revenue increased $67.6 million for the year ended December 31, 2018 driven primarily by the following:
+ a $33.1 milllon faverable impact from year-over-year changes in foreign exchange rates;

= a shift in our Goods category mix from service revenue transactions, which are reported on a net basis, toward product revenue
transactions, which are reported on a gross basis;

»  higher transaction volume driven In part by our customer acquisition; and
= the expansion of our digital coupons offerings primarily through our acquisition of Cloud Savings; pariially offset by
« the impact of pricing and promotional strategies and shift in mix of offerings sold.

In addition, there was a $2.9 million unfavaorable impact on revenue for the year ended December 31, 2018 as a result of adopting Topic 606
as compared with previous accounting guidance. Ses ltem 8, Note 2, Summary of Significant Accounting Policies , and Note 13, Revenue
Recognition , for additional information on the Impact of adopting the ASU and its refated amendments on our accounting policies.
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Comparison of the Years Ended December 31, 2017 and 2016 :

Revenue for the years ended December 31, 2017 and 2016 was as follows (dollars in thousands):

Yaar Ended Decembar 31,

] o ) B 2017 2016 $ Change % Change
[Revenve: . S , o
_ Service S o $ 1266452 § 1206441 § 60,011 50%
- Product 7 o o o i 1,577,425 1,807,174 (229,749) (2T
Total revenue 3 2843877 § 3,013615 § (169,738) (5.8)

The effect on revenue for the year ended December 31, 2017 from changes In exchange rates versus the U.S. dollar was as follows (dcllars
in thousands):

Year Ended Decomber 31, 2017

At Avg. 2016 Exchange Rate
L L e o Rates ] Effact @ As Reporied
,_Revenue L A o L .8 2825004 8 18,873 § 2843877

(1) Represents the financial stalement balance that would have resulted had exchange rates In the reporting period been the same as those in effect in the prior year
parod,

(2) Represents the increase or decrease in the reported amount resulting from changes in exchange rates from those in effect in the prior year peried.
Revenue by Segment

Revenue by category and segment for the years ended December 31, 2017 and 2016 was as follows (dollars in thousands):

Year Ended Dacambear 31,

o ‘ ] B 2017 2016 $ Change % Change
North America e
. Service revenue: L S .
leesl . .. _$ . ms59 s 23w 8 @5 83%
Travel S ) 78485 82577 (4082  {49)
. _Goods o o i 7 o 6766 9088 7700 849
) _E’r@udrevengg:(ﬁogds ) ) N 993,326 1,297,810 : (304,484) . A (23.5)
Total North Amerlca revenue __7_ o B 7_ 7_ __ 1,914,168 ) 2,151,769 {237,601} 7 i (T10) ;
Infematonsl L i
Servicareven_ue: ) o o o
Local e ... %48 20045 1420 42
_Travel L . oo._. 4786 48786 BeTO) 0 (120)
LGeods_ . . ._ _ ;s __ _sew ____@am______ (@7
_ Product revenue - Goods . S . 584,009 509,364 7473 1T
t@llpt@gﬁqgl_rev_aqge S S 929,709 861,846 67863 79 |
Total revenue $ 2843877 & 3013615 § {169,738) (5.6)
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The percentages of revenue by segment for the years ended Decamber 31, 2017 and 2016 were as follows:

2017 2016

- North America - Intemational

The percentages of service gross billings that we retained after deducting the merchant's share for the years ended December 31, 2017 and
2016 were as follows:

North America International
31.4% 4% )

- |_ X0.5% 28 4%,

2 ' 8

& i

a | | C]

-] ) k]

it J A0

L - B
! \J 1 \
7ot oM o o

North America

The decrease in North America segment revenue for the year snded December 31, 2017 reflects a $296.8 million decrease in our Goods
category. As discussed above, we were increasingly focusing the business on initiatives that were intended to optimize for gross profit to a greater
extant than revenus, particularly in our North America segment, including shifting more of the focus on our websites and mobile applications toward

offerings in our Local category.

The decrease in revenue in our Goods category was partially offset by a $63.3 million increase in our Local category, which was primarily
attributable to the increases In Local gross hillings, as discussed above. Additionally, there was a $5.5 million increase In breakage revenus from
customer credits and gift cards for the year ended December 31, 2017, as compared with the prior year.

The percentage of gross billings that we retained after deducting the merchant's share on service revenue transactions was 31.4% , as
compared with 32.4% in the prior year period. The percentage of gross billings that we retain after deducting the merchant's share reflects the
overall results of individual deal-by-deal negotiations with merchants and can vary significantly from period-to-period.

LivingSocial, which we acquired during the fourth quarter 2016, generated incremental revenue of $32.0 million in Local, $10.9 million in
Goods and $1.0 million in Travel for the full year ended December 31, 2017 , as compared with the revenue generated during the two-month period

following its acquisiticn in the prior year.
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International

International segment revenue increased $67.9 million for the year ended December 31, 2017 , with a $62.4 million increase in our Goods
category and an $11.4 million increase in our Local category, partially offset by a $6.0 million decrease in our Travel category. The primary drivers
are the following:

* a shift in our Goods category mix from service revenue transactions, which are reported on a net basis, toward product revenue
fransactions, which are reported on a gross basis;

= a$19.0 million favorable impact from year-over-year changes in foreign exchange rates;

» anincrease in our Local category due to growth in revenue from our digital coupons offerings; and

* changes in Local and Travel gross billings, as discussed above,

Cost of Revenue

Cost of revenue is comprised of direct and certain indirect costs incurred to generate revenue. Costs incurred to generate revenue, which
include credit card processing fees, editorial costs, compensation expense for technology support personnel who are responsible for maintaining the
infrastructure of our websites, amortizaticn of internal-use software relating to customer-facing applications, web hosting and other processing fees
are attributed to the cost of product and service revenue in proportion to gross billings during the period. For product revenue transactions, cost of

revenue also includes the cost of inventory, shipping and fulfillment costs and inventory markdowns. Fulfillment costs are comprised of third-party
logistics provider costs, as well as rent, depreciation, personnel costs and other costs of operaling our fulfillment center.

Comparison of the Years Ended December 31, 2018 and 2017 :
Cost of revenue for the years ended December 31, 2018 and 2017 was as follows (dallars in thousandsy):

Year Ended Dacember 31,

e 2018 2017 ; $ Change % Change
Costofrevewe: . . e
Sevice $ 120077 $ 160810 $ (40,733) (25.3)%
| Product o 0 1,196,068 1,349,206 (153,138) (1.4 ]
Total cost of revenua $ 1,316,145 $ 1,510,016 3 (193,871) {12.8)

The effact on cost of revenue for the year ended December 31, 2018 from changes in exchange rates versus the U.S. dollar was as follows
(in thousands):

Year Ended December 31, 2018

At Avg. 2017 Exchange Rate
Rates Effect 2 As Reported
e
Costofreverve $ 1,206,296 § 19849 § 1,316,145
(1} Represents the financial statement balance that woukd have resulted had exchange rates in the reporting period been Lha same as lhose in effect in the prior year

period.
(2} Represents the increase or decreasa in the reported amount resulting from changes In exchange rates from those in effect in the prior year period.
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Cost of Revenue by Segment

Cost of revenue by category and segment for the years ended December 31, 2018 and 2017 was as follows (dollars in thousands):

Year Ended December 31,

_ 2018 2017 $ Change % Change
North America }
Service cost of revenue: ) ) ) i )
Local 3 81511 § 117,006 §  (35495) _ (30.3)%_
| Travel _ _ 1391 17801 eI @)
L. Goeds - e o _... 2881 383 (899) (22.3)
Product cost of revenue - Goods y S 650,308 847744 (197.436)  (23.3)
Total North America costof revenue e em o 748,711 | 886,450 (237.779) (24.1)
intemational R e e e -

Service cost of revenus: ) S o o S
Cleeal L w88 s 72
Travel 3ost o 3ass w0 (28
CGeods Ll o.a30 o o2s8 (098 49 |
__ Product cost of revenue - Goods ] o o ) S 545,760 501462 44288 __ 88
Total Intemational costofrevenwe . .. . __ 567434 _ 52352 4998 84
Total cost of revenue $ 1316145 $ 1510016 $§ (193,871) {12.8)

T he percentages of cost of revenue by segment for the years ended December 31, 2018 and 2017 were as follows:

2018 2017

- North America - International

North America

North America cost of revenue decreased $237.8 million for the year ended December 31, 2018 due primarily to the decrease in transaction
volume and gross billings for our Local and Goods categories as described above, our optimization of shipping and fulfillment costs, and a favorable
impact of $25.4 million as a result of adopting Topic 608. See Item B, Note 2, Summary of Significant Accounting Policies , and Note 13, Revenue
Recognition , for additional information on the impact of adopting Topic 606 and its related amendments on our accounting policies.
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International

International cost of revenue increased $43.9 million for the year ended December 31, 2018 due primarily to a shift in our Goods category
mix from service revenue transactions, which are reported on a net basis, toward product revenue transactions, which are reported on a gross basis,
and a $19.9 million unfavorable impact from year-over-year changes in foreign exchange rates.

Comparison of the Years Ended December 31, 2017 and 2016 :

Cost of revenue for the years ended December 31, 2017 and 2016 was as follows {dollars in thousands):

Year Endoed December 31,

e 2017 ) 2016 $ Change % Change
Costofrevemer ]
Serviee $ 160,810  § 150,031 $ 10.779 7.2
Pt T 149,206 _ 1,562,031 @w725) ______(49)
Tolal cost of revenue 3 1510016 % 1,732,962 § (222,946 (12.9)

The effect on cost of revenue for the year ended December 31, 2017 from changes in exchange rates versus the U.S. dollar was as follows
{in thousands);

Year Ended December 31, 2017

At Avg. 2016 Exchange Rats
e o B Ratas ¥ Effact @ As Reported
L()fogtifr_a\_repgg_ L e $ 1496302 § 13714 § 15}2@_6}
(1} Represents the financial statement balance that would have resulted had exchange rates in the reporting perlod been the same as those in effect in the prior year

pariod.
(2) Represents the increase or decrease in the reported amount resulting from changes in exchange rates from thosa in effect in the prior year period.




Cost of Revenue by Segmaent
Cost of revenue by category and segment for the years ended December 31, 2017 and 2016 was as follows (dolfars in thousands):

Year Ended December 31,

] 2017 2016 $ Change % Change
North America } L !
. Service costof revenue: . R , , o

Loea_l ) ) - 7 o S - 117,006 S__ 101,31 3 15,675 7 15.5 %i
. Travel . , . o 17er 18222 o2 8
LoGeods _ o aEmw 158 2241 1402
. Productcostof revenue - Goods B 847,744 1,145,071 (e7.327) | (280)
Total North America costof revenue 986490 1266222 (279732)  _ (221)
tematonat | T | B
_ Senvicocostofrevenue: L o
Coleea T T Taeme test0  @as) (7 |
JTravel L. ... . 8498 4% 007 (234
Ceeeds T e et @asn (80)
_ Productcostof revenue - Goods o 501,462 437,860 63goz | 145 _
Total Infemational cost o revenuve 523526 466,740 56786 122 |
Total cost of revenue $§ 1510018 5 1,732962 § (222,946} {12.9)

The percentages of cost of revenus by segment for the years ended December 31, 2017 and 2016 were as follows:

2017 2016

I:] North America =  Intemetional

North America

The decrease in North America cost of revenue for the year ended December 31, 2017 was primarily atiributable to the decrease In product
revenue and an increase in margins in that category.

International

International cost of revenue increased $56.8 million for the year ended December 31, 2017 due primarily to the growth in product revenue
and a $13.7 million unfavorable impact from year-over-year changes in foreign exchange rates.
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Gross Profit
Comparison of the Years Ended December 31, 2018 and 2017 :

Gross profit for the years ended December 31, 2018 and 2017 was as follows (dollars in thousands):
Year Ended December 31,

e 2018 2017 $ Change ; % Change
Grossproft !
serviee § 1085410 § 1105642 3 (20,232) {1.8)%
| Prodot L 235,191 228,219 8,972 31|
5 1320601 § 1,333.861 3 (13,260) (1.0}

Total gross profit
The effect on gross profit for the year ended December 31, 2018 from changes in exchange rates versus the U.S. dollar was as follows (in

thousands):
Yaar Ended Dacember 31, 2018
At Avg. 2017 Exchange Rate
Ratos Effect @ ) As Reported
_ 1,307,315 13,286 & 1,320,601

Represents lhe financial statement balance that would have resulted had exchange rates in the reporting period been the same as those in effact in the prior

n
year period.
Repressents the increase or dacrease in the reported amount resulting from changes In exchange rates from those in effect in the prior yaar period.
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Gross Profit by Segment

Gross profit by category and segment for the years ended December 31, 2018 and 2017 was as follows (dollars in thousands):

‘North America
~ Service gross profil:
Local

Travel

__Product gross profit - Goods
Total North America gross profit

Jntemational
_ Bervice gross profit:

_ Product gross profit - Goods
Total International gross proft

Total gross profit

The percentages of gross profit by segment for the years ended December 31, 2018 and 2017 were as follows:

North America

Year Ended December 31,

2018 2017 $ Change % Change
$ 671,352 $ 708573 % (37.221) (5.3)%
_ ) , 57045 605%  (26849) (44)
] L1532 12829 2373 184
o ) 146,085 145582 503 03
. B _ 890,684 . 927,678 7 7 (36.994) o (4.0) .
L o 04w 2858 24079 Cen
_ o AR 40288 (245) 64)
e o . w2 17910 (4858) _ (260) |
) o o N 89,106 ) 82,637 o 6469 _7.8_
L . . 420017 406,183 o 23._734___ _5_.8_”_
$ 1320601 $ 1333861 § (13.260) (1.0)

2018 2017

El North America iﬂﬂ International

The decrease in North America gross profit for the year ended December 31, 2018 reflects a decline in revenue, as discussed above, which
was partially offset by cost of revenue leverage driven by our optimization of shipping and fulfillment costs.

In addition, for the year ended December 31, 2018 , there was a $27.8 million favorable impact on gross profit as a result of adopting Topic
606 as compared with previous accounting guidance. This favorability was primarily driven by the change in the timing of recognition of variable
consideration for unredeemed vouchers. Beginning in the third quarter of 2017, we began to increasingly use pay-on-redemption terms for
merchants in North America. As we expect to continue to shift toward pay-on-redemption terms going forward, we expect that the change to
recognize estimated variable consideratlon at the time of sale under Topic 606 will drive further Increases to North America gross profit in
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2019. See ltem 8, Note 2, Summary of Significant Accounting Policies , and Note 13, Revenus Recognition , for additional information on the impact
of adopting Topic 606 and its related amendments on our accounting policies.

International

The increase in International gross profit for the year ended December 31, 2018 was primarily attributable to the following:
+ a $13.3 million favorable impact from year-over-year changes in foreign exchange rates;

« higher transaction volume driven in part by our customer acquisition; and

« the expansion of our digita! coupons offerings primarily through our acquisition of Cloud Savings; partially offset by

« the impact of pricing and promotional stralegies; and

* a%2.9 million unfavorable impact on gross profit for the year ended December 31, 2018 as a result of adopting Topic 606. See Item 8,
Note 2 , Summary of Significant Accounting Policles , and Note 13, Revenue Racognition , for additional information on the impact of
adopting Topic 606 and its related amendments on our accounting policies.

Comparison of the Years Ended December 31, 2017 and 2016 :

Gross profit for the years ended Decembar 31, 2017 and 2016 was as follows (dollars in thousands):

Year Ended December 31,

L e ~ 2017 2016 $ Change % Change
Grossproft |
Servies B 1105642 3 1,056,410 _§ 48282 AT
. Product - 226,219 224243 agre 18
Total gross profit $ 1,333,861 % 1,280,653 § 53,208 4.2

The effect on gross profit for the year ended December 31, 2017 from changes in exchange rates versus the U.S. dollar was as follows (In
thousands):

Year Ended December 31, 2017

e L At Avg. 2016 Rates (Y Exchange Rate Effect @ As Reported
Grossproft o ) $ 1328702 § 5159 % 1,333,861
(1)) Represents the financial slatement balance that would have resulted had exchange rates In the reporting period been the same as those In effect In the prior year

pariod.
(2) Represents the increase or decrease in the reported amount resulting from changes in exchange rates from those In effect in the prior year perniod.
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Gross Profit by Segment

Gross profit by category and segment for the years ended December 31, 2017 and 2016 was as follows (dollars in thousands}):

Year Ended December 31,

) ) 2017 2016 $ Change % Change
North America )
_Ser_vlce gross p_roﬁl: _ o _ _ ] ) X
Local _ _ $ 708573 § 660,983 § 47,590 72%
Tm\_lel 60.594_ o 64355 (3,761) (5.8)
Goods ] A o 2ee 740 5,459 731
_Erodyolg‘ross proﬂt-(_5905ls o L ) 145582 152,739 (7,1577)7 (4.?) )
Total North America gross profit L 927,678 BA5.547 4243 48
Inematonal _ _ o _
. Service gross proft. _
. Loca R ] L. msyMs | 2043 t4es 60
_Travel o o _ 40,288 45,191 B (4,903) (10.8)
_Goods L i L _meN et (10.066) (@%0) |
_Product g_rqss_PEQﬁtjGuqc_ig ) 82,637 71,504 11,133 15.6
Total Intemational gross profit 7 . 406,183 395106 11077 28
Total gross profit $ 1333861 $ 1280653 § 53,208 4.2

The percentages of gross profit by segment for the years ended Dacember 31, 2017 and 2016 were as follows:

2017

2018

North America

North America

- International

The increase in North America gross profit for the year ended December 31, 2017 reflacts a $47.6 million increase in gross profit from our
Local category, which was attributable to the increase in service re venus from our Local category, as discussed above.

Gross profit from product revenue transactions declined by 4.7% , as compared with the 23.5% decrease in revenue from those
transactions. That difference was attributable to increased gross margins on product revenue transactions, which were 14.7% in 2017 as compared
with 11.8% in the pror year. That improvement resulted from our ongoing efforts to de-smphasize lower gross profit product offerings and reduce

our shipping and fulfillment costs.
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Internationaf

The increase in Intemational gross profit for the year ended December 31, 2017 reflacts an increase in service revenue transactions from
our Local category, as discussed above, and a $5.3 million favorable impact from year-over-year changes in foreign exchange rates.

Marketing

Marketing expense consists primarily of online marketing costs, such as search engine marketing, advertising on social networking sltes
and affiliate programs, and offline marketing costs, such as television and radio advertising. Additionally, compensation expense for marketing
employees is classified within marketing expsnse. We record these costs within Marketing on the consolidated statements of opserations when
incurred. From time to time, we offer deals with well-known national merchants for customer acquisition and activation purposes, for which the
amount we owe the merchant for each voucher sold exceeds the transaction price paid by the customer. Our gross billings from those fransactions
generate no service revenue and our net cost (i.e., the excess of the amount owed to the merchant over the amount paid by the customer) is
classified as marketing expense. We evaluate marketing expense as a percentage of gross profit because it gives us an indication of how well our
marketing spend is driving gross profit performance.

Comparison of the Years Ended December 31, 2018 and 2017 :

Marketing expense by segment as a percentage of gross profit for the years ended December 31, 2018 and 2017 was as follows {dollars in
thousands):

Year Ended December 31,

% of Gross % of Gross
2018 Profit 2017 Profit $ Change % Change
Noﬂ]lﬁnrln_ca . o $ 273787 30.7% $ 299454 323% $ (25687) (8.6)%
Inemationsl 121950 284 _ 10148 250 20486 _ 202 |
Total marketing $ 385,737 0.0 $ 400,918 30.1 3 (5181) (1.3)

The percentages of marketing expense by segment for the years ended December 31, 2018 and 2017 were as follows:

2018 2017

. North America - Intemational

North America

North America marketing expense and marketing expense as a percentage of gross profit for the year ended December 31, 2018
decreased from the prior year period as we leveraged improved marketing analytics to drive efficiency in our marketing spend and maximize the
lifetime value of our customer base.

Intemational

Intemational marketing expense and marketing expense as a percentage of gross proflt for the year ended December 31, 2018 increased
year-over-year, driven primarily by our ongoing marketing investments to drive customer acquisition in our intemational markets. In addition,
marketing expense increased $4.2 million due to an unfavorable impact from year-over-year changes in foreign exchange rates.

Comparison of the Years Ended Dacember 31, 2017 and 2016 :

Marketing expense by segment as a percentage of gross profit for the years ended December 31, 2017 and 2016 was as follows (dollars in
thousands}:

Yaar Ended December 31,

% of Gross % of Gross
2017 Profit 2016 Profit $ Change % Change
North America & 299454 __32.3% $ 263,208 297% $ 36,248 13.8%
Intormational . L 101,464 25.0 85,969 225 12,495 14.0

Total marketing § 400918 301 $ 352175 75 % 48,743 13.8



The percentages of marketing expense by segment for the years ended December 31, 2017 and 2016 were as follows:

2017 2016

North America - International

North America

The increases in North Amerlca segment marketing expense and marketing expanse as a percantage of gross profit for the year ended
December 31, 2017 were primarily attributable to an increass in investments in offline marketing to drive customer growth and awareness of the
Groupon brand and our product and service offerings.

Intemational

The increase in Intemnational segment marketing expense and markeling expense as a percentage of gross profit for the year ended
December 31, 2017 was primarily attributable to our ongoing strategic initiative to drive customer growth. In addition, marketing expense increased
$2.2 million due to an unfavorable impact from year-over-year changes In foreign exchange rates.

Selling, General, and Administrative

Selling expenses reported within Selling, general and administrative ("SG&A™) on the consolidated statements of operatlons conslst of sales
commissions and other compensation expenses for sales representatives, as well as costs assoclated with supporting the sales function such as
technology, telecommunications and travel. General and administrative expenses include compensation expense for employees involved in
customer service, operations, technology and product development, as well as general corporate functions, such as finance, legal and human
resources. Additional costs included in general and administrative include depreciation and amortization, rent, professional fees, litigation costs,
travel and entertainment, recrulting, office supplies, maintenance, certain technology costs and other general corporate costs. We evaluate SG&A
expense as a percantage of gross profit because it gives us an indication of our operating efficiency.

Comparison of the Years Ended December 31, 2018 and 2017 :

SG3A as a percentage of gross profit for the years ended December 31, 2018 and 2017 was as follows (in thousands):

Year Ended December 31,

% of Gross % of Gross
2018 Profit 2017 Profit $ Change % Change

-
‘Seling, general and administative $ 870,961 86.0% § 901,829 B76% $ _  (30,868) (347% |
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The decrease in SG&A and SG&A as a percentage of gross profit for the year ended December 31, 2018 as compared with the prior year
period was primarily dus to the following:

»  a'$31.4 million decrease in compansation-related costs, including variable compensation; and
« decreases in facilities costs, systems costs, and other general expenses; partially offset by

* the expensa refated {o our patent litigation with IBM of $34.6 million , as described in ltem 8, Note 10, Commitmenits and Contingencies
; and

« a $9.7 million unfavorable impact from year-over-year changes in foreign currency exchange rates.
Comparison of the Years Ended Dacembar 31, 2017 and 2016 :

SG&A as a percentage of gross profit for the years ended December 31, 2017 and 2016 was as follows (dollars in thousands}):

Yoar Ended Decamber 31,

% of Gross % of Gross
2017 Profit 2016 Profit $ Change % Changa
e s ,
Salling, general and administrative 3 901,829 67.6% S 990877 78.1% §  (97848) 0 (9.8Y%

The decrease in SG8A and SG8A as a percentage of gross profit was primarily attributable to our efforts to improve our cost structure,
including a $62.8 million decrease in compensation-related costs, primarily due to headcount reductions as part of our restructuring plan, as well as
decreases in facilities costs, systems costs, and other general expenses and a $0.2 million favorable impact from year-over-year changes in foreign
currency exchange rates.

Restructuring Charges

Restructuring charges represent severance and benefit costs for workforce reductions, impairments of long-lived assets and other exit costs
resulting from our restructuring activities. See Item 8, Note 14, Restructuring , for information about our restructuring pian.

Galn on Sale of Intangible Assels

During the third quarter of 2017, we sold customer lists and other intangible assets in certain food delivery markets to Grubhub Inc.,
resulting in a galn of $17.1 million . See ltam 8, Note 6, Goodwill and Cther Intangible Assets , for additional Information.

Gains on Business Dispositions

During the year ended December 31, 2016, we sold our subsidiaries in Russia and Indonesia, and our point of sale business, Breadcrumb,
resulting in a gain of $11.4 million . See Item 8, Note 3, Discontinued Qperations and Other Business Disposifions , for additional information,

The financia! results of those entltles are presented within income from continuing operations In the accompanying consoclidated financial
statemants through their respective disposition dates. Those financial results were not material for the year ended December 31, 2016.
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Income (Loss) from Operations
Comparison of the Years Ended December 31, 2018 and 2017 :

Income (loss) from operations for the years ended December 31, 2018 and 2017 was as follows (dollars in thousands);

Year Ended Dacember 31,

S S o 2018 2017 $ Change % Change

NorthAmerca =~ = s 10808 s @5_8 __ teese M
International 34,130 29,480 4,650 15.8
Income (loss) fromoperations " 5 54039 § 29435 § 24604 T

North America

The improvement in our income (loss) from operations was attributable to a $36.6 million decrease in SG&A costs, a $25.7 million decrease
in marketing expense, and an $11.8 million decrease in restructuring costs, partially offset by a $37.0 million decrease in gross profit and a $17.1
milllon decrease in gains from the sale of intangible assets.

Income (loss) from operations includes stock-based compensation of $53.7 million and $76.1 million for the years ended December 31,
2018 and 2017 .

For the year ended December 31, 2018 , there was a $27.0 million favorable impact on income (loss) from operations as a result of
adopting Topic 606 as compared with previous accounting guldance. See Iltem 8, Note 2, Summary of Significant Accounting Policies , and Note 13,
Revenue Recognition , for additional information on the impact of adopting Toplc 606 and its related amendments on our accounting policies.

International

The increase in our income from operations was primarily attributable to a $23.7 million increase In gross profit and a $7.1 million decrease
in restructuring costs, partially offset by a $20.5 million increase in marketing expense and a $5.7 millicn Increase In SG&A.

Income (loss) from operations Includes stock-based compensation of $5.0 million and $5.7 million for the years ended December 31, 2018
and 2017 .

For the year ended December 31, 2018 , there was a $2.7 million favorable Impact on income (loss) from operations as a result of adopting
Topic 606 as compared with previous accounting guidance. See ltem 8, Note 2, Summary of Significant Accounting Policies , and Note 13, Revenue
Recognition , for additional Information on the impact of adopting Topic 606 and its related amendments on our accounting policies.

Comparison of the Years Ended December 31, 2017 and 2016 :

Income (loss) from operations for the years ended December 31, 2017 and 2016 was as follows (dollars In thousands):

Year Ended December 31,

e N 2017 2016 $ Change % Change
:Eiotth America ' $ (45)_§ {85,423) 5§ 85,378 99.9%
Intemational 29,480 {14,815) 44,295 299.0
;TmésT) ?roa"a;;;ra_a‘c_;ﬁa j $ 29435 § (100.238) § 129,673 129-"?
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North America

The improvement in our income (loss) from operations was attributable to a $62.0 million decrease in SG&A, a $42.1 million increase in
gross profit and a $17.1 million gain from the sale of customer lists and other intangible assets in certain food delivery markets. See ltem 8, Note 6,
Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets , for additional information. The reduction in our loss from operations was partially off set by a $36.2 million
increase i n marketing expense.

Income (loss) from operations includes $76.1 million and $104.7 million of stock-based compensation for the years ended December 31,
2017 and 2016 .

Intermnational

The improvement in our income (loss) from operations was primarily attributable to a $35.8 million decrease in SG&A, a $21.6 million
decrease in restructuring charges and an $11.1 million increase in gross profit. Those items were partially offset by a $12.5 million increase in
marketing expense and an $11.4 mlllion decrease in gains on business dispositions.

Income (loss) from operations includes $5.7 million and $8.5 million of stock-based compensation for the years ended December 31, 2017
and 2016 .

Other Income (Expense), Net

Other income (expense), net includes interest income, interest expense, gains and losses on fair value option investments, impairments of
investments and foreign currency gains and losses, primarily resulting from intercompany balances with our subsidiaries that are denominated in
foreign currencies.

Comparison of the Years Ended December 31, 2018 and 2017 :

Other income (expense}, net for the years ended December 31, 2018 and 2017 was as follows (dollars In thousands):

Year Ended Decamber 31,
e S _ 2018 2017 $ Change % Change
Other Income (expense), net S (53008) 8 6710 § __ (50718) ___ _ (800.0)|

Other income (expense), net for the year ended December 31, 2018 primarily consisted of the following:

«  $21.9 million of interest expense primarily related to interest on our convertible notes;

» $20.3 millon In foreign cumency losses, which primarily resulted from intercompany balances with our subsidiaries that are
denominated in foraign currencies. Those losses ware driven by the depreciation of the Euro against the U.S. dollar from
December 31, 2017 to December 31, 2018 ;

= $10.2 million of impairments of minority investments. See ltem 8, Note 7, Investments |, for additional information; and

= $9.1 million of losses on fair valus option investments. See ltem 8, Note 7, Investments , for additional information.

Those items were partially offset by $6.4 million in interest income and a $2.4 million gain on an embedded derivative related to an
available-for-sale security.

Other incoma (expense), net for the year ended December 31, 2017 primarily consisted of the following:

«  $18.6 million in net foreign currency gains, which primarily resulted from intercompany balances with our subsidiaries that are
denominated in foreign currencies. Those gains were driven by the appraciation of the Euro against the U.S. dollar from
December 31, 2016 to December 31, 2017 ; and

= a$7.6 milllon galn on the sale of an investment. See Item 8, Note 7, Investments , for additional information.




Those items were partially offset by $20.7 million of interest expense primarily related to interest on our convertible notes.
Comparison of the Years Ended December 31, 2017 and 2016 :

Other income (expense), net for the years ended December 31, 2017 and 2016 was as follows (dollars in thousands):

Year Ended December 31,
2017 2016 $ Change % Change
Other Incoma (expensa), net 3 6710 % (71,289) § _ 77998 129_4%‘

— - —_——————— - . e — R, [ty

Other income (expense), net for the year ended Dacember 31, 2017 primarily consisted of the following:

« $18.6 million in net foreign currency gains, which primarily resulted from intercompany balances with our subsidiaries that are
denominated in foreign currencies; and

+  $7.6 million gain on the sale of an investment. See Item 8, Note 7, Investments , for additional information.

Those iteams were partially offset by $20.7 million of interest expense primarily related to interest on our convertible notes.
Other income (expense), net for the year ended December 31, 2016 primarily consisted of the following:

«  $48.1 million of losses on fair value option investments;
«  $15.9 million of interest expensa primarily related to interest on our convertible notes; and
«  $6.9milllon In foreign currency losses.

The losses on fair value option invesiments consisted of a $35.4 million loss from our investment In Monster Holdings LP and a $12.8
million loss from our investment in Nearbuy Pte Ltd. ("Nearbuy,"). See Item 8, Note 7, Investments , for additional information.

Provislon (Benefit) for Income Taxes
Comparison of the Years Ended December 31, 2018 and 2017 :

Provision (banefit) for income taxes for the years ended December 31, 2018 and 2017 was as follows (dollars in thousands):

Year Ended December 31,
e 2018 2017 $ Change % Change
iProvision (beneft) for income taxes .3 (957) % 7544 % (8,501) (112.7y%)

Effactive tax rate (92.8)% 20.8%

Our U.S. Federal income tax rate was 21% for the year ended December 31, 2018 and was 35% for the year ended December 31, 2017 .
The primary factor impacting the effective tax rate for the year ended December 31, 2018 and 2017 was the pretax losses incurred in jurisdictions
that have valuation allowances agalnst their net deferred tax assets. We expect that our consolidated effective tax rate in future perlods will continue
to differ significantly from the U.S. federal income tax rate as a resull of our tax obligations in jurisdictions with profits and valuation allowances in
jurisdictions with losses. Tha effactive tax rate for year ended Dacember 31, 2018 also reflected a $6.4 million income tax benefit resulting from the
fmpact of adopting Topic 606 on intercompany activity in cartain foreign jurisdictions, See Item 8, Note 15, Income Taxes , for additional information
relating to tax audits and assessments and regulatory and legal developments that my impact our business and results of operations in the future .
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Comparison of the Years Ended December 31, 2017 and 2016 :

Provision (benefit) for income taxes for the years ended December 31, 2017 and 2016 was as follows (dollars in thousands):

Year Ended December 31,
2017 20186 $ Change % Change

\Provision (beneftt) for Income taxes _ o $§ . 7544 5 (B316)_ 3 12862 S 2M9%
Effective tax rate 20.9% 31%

The pretax losses incurred by our cperations in jurisdictions that have valuation allowances against their net deferred tax assets, including
the Unlted States, was the primary factor impacting our effective tax rate for the years ended December 31, 2017 and 2016 . See Item 8, Note 15,
Income Taxes , for additional information .

Income (Loss) from Discontinued Operatlons

From November 2016 through March 2017, we exited our operations in 11 non-core countries and their results have been presented as
discontinued operations for the years ended December 31, 2018, 2017 and 2016 . See Item B, Note 3, Discontinued Cperations and Other Business
Dispositions , for additional information about the dispositions and see Item 8, Note 10, Commitments and Contingencies , for information about
indemnlfication obligations related to discontinued operations.

Non-GAAP Flnanclal Measures

In addition to financial results reported in accordance with U.S. GAAP, we have provided the following non-GAAP financial measures:
Adjusted EBITDA, free cash flow and foreign currency exchange rate neutral operating results. Those non-GAAP financial measures, which are
presented on a continuing operations basis, are Intended lo ald Investors in better understanding our current financial performance and prospects
for the future as seen through the eyes of management. We believe that those non-GAAP financial measures facilitate comparisons with our
historical results and with the results of peer companies who present similar measures (although other companies may define non-GAAP measures
differently than we define them, even when similar terms are used to identify such measures). However, those non-GAAP financial measures are
not intended tc be a substitute for those reported In accordance with U.S. GAAP.

Adjusted EBITDA . Adjusted EBITDA is a non-GAAP performance measure that we define as net Incoms (loss) from continuing operations
excluding income taxes, interest and other non-operating items, depreciation and amortization, stock-based compensation, acquisition-related
expense {benefit), net and other special charges and credits, including items that are unusual in nature or infrequently occurring. Our definition of
Adjusted EBITDA may differ from similar measures used by other companies, even when similar terms are used to identify such measures. Adjusted
EBITDA is a key measure used by our management and Board of Directors to evaluate operating performance, generats future operating plans and
make strategic decisions for the allocation of capital. Accordingly, we believe that Adjusted EBITDA provides useful information to investors and
others in understanding and evaluating our aperating results In the same manner as cur management and Board of Directors. However, Adjusted
EBITDA Is not Intended to be a substitute for income (loss) from continuing operations.

We exclude stock-based compensation expense and depreciation and amortization because they are primarily non-cash in nature and we
believe that non-GAAP financial measures excluding those items provide meaningful supplemental information about our operating performance and
liquidity. Acquisitionrelated expense (benefit), net is comprised of the change in the fair value of contingent consideration arrangements and
extemnal transaction costs related to business combinations, primanly consisting of legal and advisory fees. The composition of our contingent
consideration arrangements and the impact of those arrangements on our operating results vary over time based on a number of factors, including
the terms of our business combinations and the timing of those transactions. For the years ended December 31, 2018, 2017 and 2016 , special
charges and credits included charges related to our restructuring plan. For the year ended December 31, 2018 , special charges and credlts also
inciuded a $34.6 million charge related to our patent litigation with IBM (see ltem 8, Note 10, Commitments and Contfingencies ). For the year ended
December 31, 2017 , special charges and credits also included a $17.1 million credit related to the sale of intangible assets (see Item 8, Note 6,
Goodwilf and Other Intangible Assets) . For the y ear ended December 31, 2016 , speclal charges and credits also included gains from business
dispositions of $11.4 million (see item 8, Note 3 ,
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Discontinued Operations and Other Business Dispositions ). We exclude special charges and credits from Adjusted EBITDA because we belisve
that excluding those items provides meaningful supplemental information about our core operating performance and facilitates comparisons with our
historical results.

The following is a reconciliation of Adjusted EBITDA to the mosl comparable U.S. GAAP financlal measure, Income {loss) from continuing
operations for the years ended December 31, 2018, 2017 and 2016 (dollars in thousands):

Year Ended December 31,

o ) o o ) _ ) _ 2018 2017 2018
lincome {loss) fram continuing operations _ o o 5 1988 $ 28801 8 (166,209)
_ A_djust’pe_mts: ) B ) _ o o )
Stock-based compensation ¢) o . eas: g0 109523
D_e_;_)(e_cla_tlon_agd_ar_nortiza_ﬁm o o ) ] ) _11_5:828 ) _137.&_321_7 o 1_1_3_5.909_
Acquisition-related expense (beneft), not . , . _.__s_ _ 4 5650
. .. Restructuring charges L _ . e ey 18828 40438
. BMpatentlitgaten . see_ = =]
_._ Gainon sale of intangible assets = ot =
| Gain on business disposifions == v
_._ Other (income) expense, et ™ 53008  {(6710) 71289
| _Provision (benefiyforincome taxes (7 754 (5.318).
Total adjustments 267,819 221,338 346,092
‘Adusted EBITDA S ] s 269,807 § 249939 § 179,883 |

(1) Represents stock-based compensation expense recorded within Selling, general and administrative, Cost of revenue and Marketing. Restructuring charges includas
$0.8 million and $4.7 milllon of additional stock-based compensation for the years ended December 31, 2017 and 2016 . Stock-based compensation recorded
within Reslructuring for the year endad December 31, 2018 was not material. Other income (expense), net includes $0.1 million , $0.2 million and $0.9 million of
addlhonal stock-based compensation for the year ended December 31, 2018, 2017 and 2016 .

Free cash flow . Free cash flow is a non-GAAP liquidity measure that comprises net cash provided by operating activities from continuing
operations less purchases of property and equipment and capitalized software from continulng operations. We use free cash flow to conduct and
evaluate our business because, although it is similar to cash flow from continuing operations, we believe that it typically represents a more useful
measure of cash flows because purchases of fixed assets, software daeveloped for internal use and website development costs are necessary
components of our ongoing operations. Free cash flow is nol intended to represent the total increase or decrease in our cash balance for the
applicable pariod.

Free cash flow has limitations due to the fact that it does not represent the residual cash flow available for discretionary expenditures. For
example, free cash flow does not include cash payments for business acquisitions. In addition, free cash flow reflects the impact of the timing
difference between when we are paid by customers and when we pay merchants and suppliers. Therefore, we beliave It Is Important to vlew free
cash flow as a complement 1o our entire consolidated statements of cash flows. For a reconciliation of free cash flow to the most comparable U.S.
GAAP financial measure, see Liquidity and Capital Resources below,

Foreign currency exchange rate neutral operating results . Foreign currency exchange rate neutral operating results show current period
operating results as if foreign curmency exchange rates had remained the same as those in effect in the prior year period. Those measures are
intended to facilitate comparisons to our historical performance. For a reconciliation of foreign currency exchange rate neutral operating results to
the most comparable U.S. GAAP financial measures, see Resulls of Operations above.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

Our principal sources of liquidity are cash flows from operations, cash balances, which totaled $841.0 million as of December 31, 2018 , and
available borrowing capacity under cur Amended and Restated Credit Agreement.
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Our net cash flows from operating, investing and financing aclivities from continuing operations for the years ended December 31, 2018,
2017 and 2016 were as follows (in thousands):

Year Endad December 31,

2018 2017 2016
Cash provided by {used n): o L o
___Opersting acthviles o .. s . 1sess s 13.0m5 5 130245
B Inveshng actmtles o N ) . . B ) o o (135 982) o ) 25 323) (55.588)
| Financing activites o sy (138048) (14,665)’

(1) Prior period net cash provlded by operating activilies from oonlmulng operations has been updated from $137.5 million and $128 9 million previously reported for the
years ended December 31, 2017 and 2016 , to reflect the adoption of ASU 2016-18 on January 1, 2018. See Item 8, Note 2 , Summary of Significant Accaunting
Policies , for additional informaticn on the adopﬁon of ASU 2016-18.

Free cash flow is a non-GAAP liquidity measure thal comprises net cash provided by operating activities from continuing operations, less
purchases of property and equipment and capitalized software from continuing operations. Our free cash flow for the years ended December 31,
2018, 2017 and 2016 and reconciliations to the most comparable U.S. GAAP financial measure, Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities
from continuing operations, for those periods are as follows (in thousands):

Year Ended December 31,

o e L L 2018 2017 ) 2016
Nat cash providadby(used in) oparathg activities fr from contmumg operaton.s m % 190855 $ 130545 § = 130,245 ’
] Pun:hases of property and eqmpment and capltallzed suﬂware ﬁom conhnumg operatlons N (69,895) (59,158) (68,287)
[Free cash flow _ - N T R 71,387 $ §1,958 |

{1) Net cash provided by operating activities from continuing operations and free cash flow have bsen updated from $137.5 milllon and $78.3 milllion prevlously reported,
for the year ended December 31, 2017 , and from $128.9 million and $60.6 million previously reported, for the year ended Decembar 31, 2016 to reflect the adoption of
ASU 2016-18 on January 1, 2018, See Item 8, Note 2 , Summary of Significant Accounting Policies , for addltional informatlon on the adoption of ASU 2016-18.

Our revenue-generating transactlons are primarily structured such that we collect cash up-front from customers and pay third-party
merchants at a later date, either based on a fixed payment schedule or upon the customer's redemption of the related voucher. For merchants on
fixed payment terms, we remit payments on an ongoing basls, generally bi-weekly, throughout the term of the merchant's offering. For purchases of
merchandise inventory, our supplier payment terms generally range from net 30 to net 60 days. We have primarily paid merchants on fixed payment
terms in North America and upon voucher redemption Internationally. In the third quarter 2017, we began to increase our use of redemption
payment terms with our North America merchants and we expect that trend to continue.

Qur cash balances fluctuate significantly throughout the year based on many variables, including gross billings growth rates, the timing of
payments to merchants and suppliers, seasonality and the mix of transactions betwsen Goods and Local. For example, we typically generate strong
cash inflows during the fourth quarter holiday season, driven primarily by our Goods category, followed by significant cash outflows in the following
perlod when payments are made to inventory suppliers. We are currently developing and testing voucherless offerings that are linked to customer
credit cards. For our carddinked offerings, we offer cash back on customers' credit card statements based on qualifying purchases with participating
merchants. For those offerings, we typlcally remit payment to a card brand network within two weeks of the qualifying purchase for the customer's
cash back Incentive and then we collect from the merchant both our commission and reimbursement for the customer's cash back incentive, usually
on a monthly basls. The working capital impact of carddinked offerings is less favorable to us than voucher transactions, for which we collect
payment from customers at the time of sale and remit payment to merchants at a later date. As such, we expect that our cash flows will initially be
adversely impacted to the extent that card-linked offerings begin to scale in future pericds.

For the year ended December 31, 2018 , our net cash provided by operating activities from continuing operations was $1980.9 million , as
compared with our $2.0 miillion income from continuing operations. That difference was primarily attributable to $206.8 million of non-cash items,
including depreciation and amortization and stock-based compensation. The difference between our net cash provided by operating activities and
our income from continuing operations due to non-cash items was partially offset by an $17.9 million net decrease from changes in working capital
and other assets and liabilities. The working capital impact was primarily related to the seasonal timing of payments to Inventory




suppliers and ailso includes $42.1 million of the payment to IBM related to the settlement of our patent litigation as described in ltem 8, Note 10,
Commitments and Conlingencies .

For the year ended December 31, 2017 , our net cash provided by operating activities from continuing cperations was $130.5 million , as
compared with a $28.6 million income from continuing operations. That difference was primarily attributable to $209.1 milllon of non-cash items,
including depreciation and amortization, and stock-based compensation, and the gain on sale of intangible assets. The difference between net cash
provided by operating activities and our income from continuing operations due to non-cash items was partially offset by an $107.1 million decrease
from changes in working capital and cther assets and liabilities. The working capital impact was primarily related to the seasonal timing of payments
to inventory suppliers and payments related to our restructuring activities.

For the year ended December 31, 2016, our net cash provided by operating activiies from continuing operations was $130.2 million , as
compared with a $166.2 mitlion loss from continuing operations. That difference was primarily due to $ 289.1 million of non-cash items, including
depreciation and amortization, stock-based compensation and lesses from minority investments carried at fair value.

Our net cash used in investing activities from continuing operations was $136.0 million , $25.3 million and $55.6 million for the years ended
December 31, 2018, 2017 and 2016 . For the year ended December 31, 2018 , our net cash used in investing activities from continulng operations
included net cash paid for a business acquisition of $58.1 million , purchases of property and equipment and capitalized softwara of $69.7 million
and net cash paid of $18.3 million for acquisitions of intangible assets, including $15.4 milllon related to the settlement of cur IBM patent litigation as
described in ltem 8, Note 10, Commitments and Contingencies . For the year ended December 31, 2017 , our net cash used in investing activities
from continuing operations included purchases of property and equipment and capitalized software of $59.2 million , proceeds of $18.3 million from
the sale of intangible assets and proceeds of $16.6 milllon from sales and maturities of investments. For the year ended December 31, 2016 , our
nel cash used in investing activities from continuing operations included purchases of property and equipment and capltalized software of $68.3
million and net cash acquired from business combinations of $14.5 million .

Our net cash used in financing activities was $84.4 million , $138.0 million and $14.7 million for the years ended December 31, 2018, 2017
and 2016 . For the year ended December 31, 2018 , net cash used in financing activities included $33.0 million in payments of capital lease
obligations, $24.1 million in taxes paid related to net share settlements of stock-based compensation awards, $9.6 million in purchases of treasury
stock under our share repurchase program, and an $8.4 million payment of a financing obligation related to a business acquisition. For the year
ended December 31, 2017 , net cash used in financing activities Included $61.2 million in purchases of common stock under our share repurchase
program, $34.0 million In payments of capital lease obligations and $27.7 million in taxes paid related to net share settlements of stock-based
compensation awards, For the year ended December 31, 2016 , net cash used in financing activities included $1654 million in purchases of
common stock under our share repurchase program, $59.2 million for the purchase of convertible note hadges, $30.6 million in payments of capital
lease obligations and $29.8 millicn in taxes paid related to net share settlements of stock-based compensation awards, partially offset by $250.0
million In proceeds from issuance of our senior convertible noles described below and $35.5 million of proceeds from the issuance of warrants,

Our Amended and Restated Credit Agreement provides for aggregate principal borrowings of up to $250.0 million and matures in June
2019, We intend to refinance our Amended and Reslated Credit Agreement in the first half of 2019. As of December 31, 2018 , we had no
borrowings under our Amended and Restated Credit Agreement and were in compliance with ali covenants. See ltem 8, Note 9, Financing
Armrangements , for additional information.

As of December 31, 2018 , we had $332.9 million in cash held by our intemnational subsidiaries, which is primarily denominated in Euros,
British Pounds Sterling, Canadian dollars, and, to a lesser extent, Australian dollars and Japanese yen. In general, it is our practice and intention to
re-invest the eamings of our non-U.S. subsldiaries in those operations. We have not, nor do we anticipate the need to, repatriate funds to the United
States to satisfy domestic liquidity needs arising in the ordinary course of business.

In May 2018, the Board of Directors authorized us to repurchase up to $300.0 million of our common stock under a new share repurchase
program. Our prior share repurchase program expired in April 2018. Upon Iis expiration, up to $135.2 milllon of our common stock remainad
available for purchase under that prior share repurchase program. During the year ended December 31, 2018 , we repurchased 3,252,886 shares
for an aggregate purchase price of $10.0 million {including fees and commisslons) under the new repurchase program. As of December 31, 2018,
up to $290.0 million of common stock remainad available for purchase under the new program. The timing and amount of
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share repurchases, if any, will be determined based on market conditions, limitations under our Amended and Restated Credit Agreement, share
price and other factors, and the program may be terminated at any time. Repurchases will be made in compliance with SEC rules and other legal
requirements and may be madse, in part, under a Rule 10b5-1 plan, which permits share repurchases when we might otherwise be precluded from
doing so.

In Apri] 2016, we issued convertible notes with an aggregate principal amount of $250.0 million . We received net proceeds of $243.2 miifion
from the issuance of the Notas. We have used the proceeds from the Notes for general corporate purposes, including repurchases of shares of our
common stock. Additionally, we entered into note hedge and warrant transactions with certain bank counterparties that are designed to offset, in
part, the potential dilution from conversion of the Notes. See ltem 8, Note 9, Financing Arrangements , for additional information,

Our cash balances and cash flows generated from our operations may be used to fund strategic investments, business acquisitions,
working capital needs, investments in technology, marketing and share repurchases. Additionally, we have the ability to borrow funds under our
Amended and Restated Craedit Agreement. We could also seek to raise additional financing, if avallable on terms that we believe are favorable, to
increasa the amount of liquid funds that we can access for acquisitions, share repurchases or other strategic investment opportunities. Although we
can provide no assurances, we believe that our cash balances and cash generated from operations should be sufficient to mest our working capital
requirements and capital expenditures for at least the next twelve months.

Contractual Obligations and Commitments

The following table summarizes (in thousands) our future contractual obligations and commitments as of December 31, 2018 . The table
below excludes $39.9 million of non-current liabilities for unrecognized tax benefits, including interest and penalties, as of December 31, 2018 . We
cannot make a reasonable estimate of the period of cash settlement for the tax positlons classified as non-current liabilities.

Payments due by perlod
Total 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023 Thereafter
Captalleasecplgations® S 31214 3 18169 §__ Te% $ 4784 S____ 6 S — 8 —
Operaling leasa obligations @ 170,199 32,533 31,116 28,876 26,097 21,844 31,833
Cowerthloseniorrotes®™ _ | 762800 8125 8% eAZ_ __2@Mws___ — =
Purchase obligations ¥ 27,366 13,266 7,300 3,400 3,400 — —
Towl 3 51133 $ 72,083 § 54175 § 43185 § 288309 $ 21,944 3§ 31,633

(1) Capital lease obligations include both principal and interest components of fulure minimum capltal laase payments.

(2) Operating lease obllgations are primarily for office faciliies and are noncancelable. Certain leases contain perlodic rent escalatlon adjustments and renewal and
axpanslon options. Operating lease obllgations expirs at varlous dates with the latest maturity In 2026.

(3) Represants the principal amount and relatad interest on our convertlble sanlor notes.

(4) Purchase obligations primarily represent noncancelable contractual obligations related to inforrmation technology products and services.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

We did not have any off-balance sheet arrangements as of December 31, 2018 .

Critical Accountlng Policles and Estimates

Management's Discusslon and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations is based upon our consolidated financial
statements, which have been prepared in accordance with U.S. GAAP. Our significant accounting policies are discussed in ltem 8, Note 2,
Summary of Significant Accounting Policies , in the notes to the consolidated financial statements.

The preparation of consolidated financial statements requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported
amounts and classifications of assets and liabilities, revenue and expenses, and related disclosure of contingent liabilities. Management bases its

estimates on historical experience and on various other assumptions that are believed to be reasonable under the clrcumstances, the results of
which form the basis for making judgments about the camying values of assets and lfabllitles that are not readily apparent from other sources.
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Actual results may differ from those estimates under different assumptions or conditions.

We belisve that the estimates and assumptions related to revenue recognition, impaiment assessments of goodwill and long-lived assets,
income taxes and fair value option investmants have the greatest potential Impact on our consolidated financial statements. Therefore, we consider
these to be our critical accounting policies and estimates.

Revenue Recognition

Refer to ltem 8, Note 2, Summary of Significant Accounting Policies , and Note 13, Revenue Recognition , for information about our revenue
recognition accounting policies, including estimates of our refund liabilities.

Impalrment Assessments of Goodwill and Long-Lived Assels

Refer to Item 8, Note 2, Summary of Significant Accounting Policies , and Note 6, Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets | for information
about our accounting policies relating to goodwill and impairment of longdived assets. Additional information about those accounting policies and
eslimates is set forth in the following paragraphs.

When determining fair values in impairment tests, we use ona of the following recognized valuation methods: the income approach
{including discounted cash flows), the market approach and the cost approach. Our significant estimates in those fair value measurements include
identifying business factors such as size, growth, profitability, risk and retumn on investment and assessing comparable revenus and earnings
multiples. Further, when msasuring fair value based on discounted cash flows, we make assumptions about risk-adjusted discount rates; rates of
increase in revenue, cost of revenue and operating expenses; welghted average cost of capital; rates of long-term growth; and income tax rates.
Valuations are performed by management or third-party valuation specialists under management's supervision, where appropriate. We believe that
the estimated fair valuas used in impairment tests are based on reasonable assumptions that marketplace participants would use. However, such
assumptions are inherently uncertain and actual results could differ from those estimates.

Our three reporting units as of October 1, 2018 were North America, EMEA and Asia Pacific. There was no impairment of goodwill for any
reporting unit because the fair values of the reporting units exceeded their camying values.

We updated our reporting segments in the first quarter of 2017. As a result of the change in segments, we combined our Northern EMEA,
Southermn EMEA and Central EMEA reporting units into a single EMEA reporting unit, which is one level below the International segment. As a result
of the change in reporting units, we performed a gqualitative assessment of potential goodwill impairment for the new EMEA reporting unit and
performed separate qualitative assessments of potential goodwill impairment for the Northem EMEA, Southem EMEA and Central EMEA previous
reporting units immediately prior to the change. We also performed a qualitative assessment of potential goodwill impalrment for the remainder of
our Asia Pacific reporting unlt following the dispositions of businesses in that reporting unit during the first quarter of 2017. Based on those
assessments, which considered current market conditions, recent business psrformance and the amounts by which fair values exceeded carrying
values in quantitative impaimment tests performed as of October 1, 2016, we determined that the likelihood of a goodwill impairment did not reach
the more-likely-than not threshold spacified in U.S. GAAP for any of the reporting units that were evaluated. Accordingly, we concluded that goodwill
related to those reporting units was not impaired and further quantitative testing was not required to be performed. In additlon, we sold all of the
operations of our Latin America reporting unit in the first quarter of 2017 and the goodwill of that reporting unit was included in the net book value
that was derecognized. See ltem 8, Note 19, Segment Information , for information on our change in reporting segments and Item 8, Note 3 ,
Discontinued Operations and Other Business Dispositions , for information about the dispositions of operations in Asia and Latin America.

Future changes In ocur assumptions or the interrelationship of the assumptions described above may negatively impact future valuations. In
future measurements of falr value, adverse changes in assumptions could result in impairments of goodwill or long-lived assets that would require
non-cash charges to the consolidated statements of operations and may have a material effect on our financial condition and operating results.

income Taxes

Refer to Item 8, Note 2, Summary of Significant Accounting Policies , and Note 15, Income Taxes , for information about our income tax
accounting policies.
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Fair Value Option Investments

Refer to Item 8, Note 7, Investments , for information about the fair value measurements of our fair value option investments. Additional
information about those fair value measurements is set forth in the following paragraphs.

If Monster LP or Nearbuy seek additional financing in order to fund their growth strategies, such financing transactions may result in dilution
of our ownership stakes and they may occur at lower valuations, which could significantly decrease the fair values of our investments In those
entities. For example, in December 2016, Monster LP issued a new class of partnership units (Class A-1) to its controlling Investor group and a new
investor for total proceeds of $65.0 million . The fair value of Monster LP implied by the terms of that transaction was lower than its estimated fair
value in previous periods, which resulted in a significant decrease In the fair value of our investment for the year ended December 31, 2016.
Addltionally, If Monster LP or Nearbuy are unable to obtain any such financing, those entities could need to significantly reduce their spending in
order to fund their operations. Such actions likely would result in reduced growth forecasts, which also could significantly decrease the fair values of
our investments in those entities.

Estimating the fair values of our investments requires signlificant judgment regarding the assumptions that market participants would use in
pricing those assets. As the fair value measurements involve significant unobservable inputs, such as cash flow projeclions and discount rates, they
are classified as Level 3 within the fair value hierarchy. Future changes in judgment about the related fair value inputs, including changes that may
result from any subsequent financing transactions undertaken by those investees, could result in significant increases or decreases in fair value that
would be recognized in earnings.

Recently Issued Accounting Standards

For a description of recently issued accounting standards, please see ltem 8, Note 2, Summary of Significant Accounting Policies , to the
consolidated financial statements of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.
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ITEM 7A. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK

We have operations both within the United States and internationally, and we are exposed to markel risks in the ordinary course of our
business, including the effect of foreign currency fluctuations, interest rate changes and inflation. Information relating to quantitative and qualitative
disclosures about these market risks is set forth below.

Foreign Currency Exchange Risk

We transact business In various foreign currencies other than the U.S. dollar, principally the euro, British pound sterling, Canadian dcllar
and Australian dollar, which exposes us to foreign cumrency risk. For the year ended December 31, 2018 , we derived approximately 37.8% of our
revenue from our Intemational segment. Revenue and related expenses generated from our Intarnaticnal operations are generally denominated in
the local currencies of tha corresponding countries. The functional currencies of our subsidiaries that either operate or support these markets are
generally the same as the corresponding local currencies. However, the results of operations of, and certain of our intercompany balances
associated with, our intemational operations are exposed to foreign currency exchange rate fluctuations. Upon consolidation, as exchange rates
vary, our revenue and other operating results may differ materally from expectations, and we may record significant gains or losses on the re-
measurement of intercompany balances.

We assess our foreign curmency exchange risk based on hypothetical changes in rates utilizing a sensitivity analysis that measures the
potentlal impact on working capital based en a 10% change (increase and decrease) in currency rates. We use a current market pricing modei to
assess the changes in the value of the U.S. dollar on foreign currency denominated monetary assets and liabilities. The primary assumption used in
this model is a hypothetical 10% weakening or strengthening of the U.S. dollar against those currency exposures as of December 31, 2018 and
2017 .

As of December 31, 2018 , our net working capital deficit (defined as current assets less current liabilities) from subsidiaries that are subject
to foreign currency translation risk was $20.8 million . The potential increass in this working capltal deflcit from a hypothetical 10% adverse change
in quoted foreign currency exchange rates would be $2.1 million . This compares to a $21.5 million working capital deficit subject to foreign currency
exposure as of December 31, 2017 , for which & 10% adverse change would have resulted in a potential increasse in this working capital deficit of
$2.2 million .

Interast Rate Risk

Qur cash balance as of December 31, 2018 consists of bank deposits, so exposure to market risk for changes in interest rates is limited. In
April 2018, we issued convertible notes with an ag gregate principal amount of $250.0 million (see item 8, Note 9, Finaricing Arrangements ). The
convertible notes bear interest at a fixed rate, so we have no financlal statement impact from changes in interest rates. However, changes in market
interest rates impact the fair value of the convertible notes along with other variables such as our credit spreads and the market price and volatility of
our common stock. In June 2016, we entered Into the Amended and Restated Credit Agreement that provides for aggregate principal borrowings of
up to $250.0 million . As of December 31, 2018 , there were no borrowings outstanding under the Amended and Restated Credit Agreement.
Because the Amended and Restated Cradit Agreement bears interest at a variable rate, we are exposed to market risk relating to changes in
interest rates if we borrow under the Amended and Restated Credit Agreement. We also have $29.7 million of capital lease obligations. We do not
believe that the interest rate risk on the capital lease obligations is significant.

Impact of Inflation

Woe believe that our results of operations are not materially impacted by moderate changes in the inflation rate. Inflation and changing prices
did not have a materiai effect on our business, financial condition or results of operations for the year ended December 31, 2018 |
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the stockholders and the Board of Directors of Groupon, lnc,
Opinlon on the FInancial Statements

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Groupon, Inc. and subsidiaries (the "Company™} as of December 31, 2018 and
2017, the related consolidated statements of operations, comprehensive income (loss}, stockholders' equity, and cash flows for each of the two
years in the period ended December 31, 2018, and the related notss and the schedule listed in the Index at ltem 15(2) (collectively referred to as the
"financial statements”). In our opinlon, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respacts, the financlal position of the
Company as of Decamber 31, 2018 and 2017, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for each of the two years in the period ended
December 31, 2018, in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

Woe have also audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) (PCAOB), the
Company's internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2018, based on criteria established in Intermal Control - Integrated
Framework (2013) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission and our report dated February 12, 2019,
expressed an unqualified opinion on the Company’s intemal control over financial reporting.

Adoption of New Revenus Recognlitlon Accounting Standard

As discussed in Note 13 to the financlal statements, the Company has changed its method of accounting for revenue fransactions in 2018 due fo the
adoption of the guidance In ASC Topic 606, Revenue from Contracts with Customers .

Basls for Opinlen

These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company's management. Our responsibility Is to express an opinion on the Company's
financial statements based on our audits. We are a public accounting firm registered with the PCAOB and are required to be independent with
respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules and regulations of the Securitles and Exchange
Commission and the PCACB.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain
reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement, whether due to arror or fraud. Our audits included
performing procedures to assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to error or fraud, and performing
procedures to respond to those risks. Such procedures included examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures In the
financlal statements. Our audits also included evaluating the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as
evaluating the overall presentation of the financiat statements. VWe belfeve that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

s/ Deloitte & Touche LLP

Chicago, lllinois
February 12, 2019

We have served as the Company's auditor since 2017,
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Raport of Independent Registerad Public Accounting Flrm

The Board of Directors and Stockholders of Groupon, Inc.

We have audited the accompanying consolidated statements of operations, comprehensive income {loss), stockholders' equity, and cash
flows for the year ended December 31, 2016. Our audit also included the financial statement schedule listed in Item 15(2) for 2016. Thesse financial
statements and schedule are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial
statements and schadule based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Ovarsight Board (United States). Those
standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material
misstaternent. An audit Includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit
also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial
statement presentation. We believe that our audit provides a reascnable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated financial position of
Groupon, Inc. at December 31, 2016, and the consolidated results of its operations, and its cash flows for the year ended December 31, 2016, in
conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles. Also, in our opinion, the related financlal statement schedule when considered in
relation to the basic consolidated financial statements taken as a whole, presents fairly in all material respects the information set forth therein.

As discussed in Note 2 to the consolidated financlal statements, on January 1, 2018, the Company adopted the amendmenits to the FASB
Accounting Standards Codification resulting from Accounting Standards Update No. 2016-09, "Compensation - Stock Compensation (Topic 718} -
Improvements to Employee Share-Based Payment Accounting.”

/s/ Emst & Young LLP

Chicago, lllinols

February 15, 2017

axcept far Notes 1. 3 and 19, as to which the date is May 17, 2017, and Note 2, as to which the date is February 12, 2019
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GROUPON, INC.
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
(in thousands, excapt share and per share amounts)

December 31,
2018 2017
Assets T T i B .
Current assets: -

" Cashandcashequivalents U . 841,021 ~_ ss0a2e
Accounls re@lvable net ) 69 493 98.29{
L Preeeldraxipmis}sﬁenﬁd-othercurrentassels _ _____ o :: _7 - ) ) _) o ' BB,115 T T T e4025 |

Total current assets 998,629 1,072,448
[Property, equipment and software, net 7 T s 151,145
Goodwill B 325,491 286,989
intangible assets,net T T ) T T A o 19,196
Investments (lncludlng 384 242 and 5109 751 al at Decamber 31 2018 and Deoember 3, 201? at fBII' value) o 108,515 135,189
Other non-currentassets T oo o peeeT 1353

Total A.asats 3 1,642,142 1,677,505
LLlabHHlns and Equlty B o o o i i
Currenl liabilities:

. Accountspeyeble T T U E T T TTEeass 5 D 31968
Accrued merchant and suppher payablas T - T 651,781 770 335
| Accrued expenses and other curent liabillies o 267,034 331,196

Total current liabiliies 957,174 1,133,489
\Comemﬁeeérﬂornotee nef“* 77 7i T . _—_ ) ,,A:,A, i ) i ___:____—___;20-1._5_6__9—:_ j ___—__1_8'3_.7259"
01:her non-current Irabﬂmes o T S T 100,688 102,408
" TotalLlablittles ] 1,259,531 1,425,660
Commnments and contingencles (see Nots 10)
lStockl;olden Eq_ufty— _77'__”77 7;7‘;7 T - . o _ ) '
Common stock, par value $0.0001 per share, 2, 01[?000 000 shares authorlze-d 760 939, 440 shares issuad and )
569,084,312 shares outstanding at December 31, 2018; 74B,541,862 shares issued and 559,939,620 sharaes
Oulslandmg at Decamber 31, 2017 76 75
Additlonel paldncapitl T 00 T T 2234580 2,174,708
Treasury stuck at cost, 191 855 128 and 188 602 242 sheres al. December 3, 2018 and December 31 2017 (877 491) (867,450)
‘Accumulated defiGit_ T o " (1,010,498) ©(1,088,204)
Acwmulated ol.her oomprehenslvelncome _____ ) | . 34,602 31,844
| Total Groupon, Inc. Stockholders’ Equty _ 381248 250973 !
Nonconwolling interests ) - 1383 " 8r2
_Total€qutty . ___ 362611 251,845

Total Liabilities and Equity $ 1,642,142 1,677.505

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.




GROUPON, INC.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

(in thousands, except share and per shara amounts)

Year Ended December 31,

2018 2017 2016
Revenua:
Service $ 1205487 § 1,266,452 % 1,206,441
Product 1,431,259 1,677,425 7 1,807,174
) Total revenue 2,636,746 2,843,877 3.013.615
Cost of revenue: ]
Service 120,077 160,810 150,031
Produdt 1,196,068 1,348,206 1,582,931
Total cost of revenus 1,316,145 1,510,016 1,732,962
Gross profit 1,320,601 1,332,861 1,280,653
Operaling expenses:
Marketing 395,737 400,918 35-2.1 75
Selling. genaral and administralive 870,961 901,829 999,677
Restructuring charges (136) 18,828 40,438
Gain on sale of intanglble assets — (17,149 -
Gain on business dispositions — — {11,398}
Total operating expenses 1,266,562 1,304,426 1,380,891
Income {loss) from operations 54,039 289,435 (100,238)
Other income (expense), net (53,008) 6,710 (71,289)
{Income (loss) from continuing operations bafore provision (benefit) for incoms taxes 1,031 36,145 (171,527}
Provision (bensfit} for income laxes (957) 7,544 (5,318)
Income (loss) from continuling operations 1,888 28,601 (166,209)
Income (loss) from discontinued operations, net of tax — (1,974) (17.114)
Net Incoma (loss) . ] 1088 26,827 {(183,323)
Net Incoms _attribut'fable to npncomrolling interests ) (13,067) (12,587) {11,264)
‘Net Income (loss) attributable to Groupon, Inc. $ (11.079) _ 3 14040 § {184,587)
jBnh: net income (M) per share (1 ] ]
‘Continuing operations $ {0.02) 35 003 % (0.31)
Discontinued operations 0.00 {0.00) (0.03)-
_Ba@lc net income (loss) per share $ {0.02) % 003 % (0.34)
Diluted net Income (loss) per share :
Continulng operations $ (0.02) $ 003 % (0.31)
Discontinued operations 0.00 (0.01) (0.03)
Diluted net Income {loas) per shara $ (0.02) $ 002 % (0.34)
Wﬂightcd average numbaer of sharee outstanding ™: .
quig 566,511,108 559,367,075 576,354,258
Dlluted 566,511.108 568,4{8.37_1 576,354,258

{1) The structure of our common stock changed during the year ended December 31, 2016. Refar to Note 11, Stockhoiders' Equity . and Note 18 , Income (Loss) Per

Sharo | for additional information.

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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GROUPON, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS)
(in thousands}

Year Ended December 31,

_ o o s 2018 2M7 2018
Ilncomu (Ioss) from conﬂnuln-g o?p-;rallhcw;__- -_. o o 3 1988 & 28601 § (166,208)
Oiher comprehenslve Income (Ioss) rrom continuing operations: o o R ) o i
. Net change m unrealized gain (loss) on foreign curmency lmnslatnon adjus1mant . 3332 ) o776y 3.3§1j
Net change in unrealized gain (loss} on defined benefit pension plan o ) ) - _ 585 .-
‘ _Available-for-sale securities: 7 7 ;;__ e
Not unreal@ngaynﬁ(losﬂc_iugllg_lrhe penod S (@42 o (1099 o (70)
Redlassification adjustment for realized {gain) ioss on Invesh'nent induded in income (loss) J
from continuing operations 106 1,603 —_

Net change In unrealized gain (Iuss) on available-for-sale securities (net of tax effect of $34 $0

) and $43 for lhe years ended Dece_nrlbaLy_sz 2017 and 2016) _ o _ {735} 494 (70)
| Other comprehensive incom (loss) from continuing operations 2507 (9.697) 9.219 |
Comprehensive income (loss) from continuing operatons ) N 4,585 18,904 (156,950)
| .
Incorne {loss) from drsoonﬂnued operailons = 1,974 ____________(_17_.1_:If_4_)1
'Other comprehensive incoma (loss) from discontinued operations - Forelgn curmency translation :
adjustments: S N
__Et_ug_r@l_lge_d_g_al_n (Ioss) dunng the penod = ___(1788) (9,305)
_ Redassification adjustment included [n Income {loss) frorn d:scom.rnued tinued operations — (14,718) 6,932 '
_ Nat ot change in unrealized gain {loss} e — (16,511} (2,373)
'Comprehensive income (loas)fmmdlsoonﬂnﬁéd op;rahons e — {18,485} (19.487):
Comprehensive lncome (loss) 7 7 ass 49 (178417)
Comprehensn_fel—noo_me_a_ttnﬂble to noncontrolling interests {13.067) (12,587) (11,264)
‘Comprehensive Income (loss) attributable to G_rgu_pg_n,_lnc. ______ _ 3 (8.482) § (12,168) $§ (187,741) i

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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‘Balance at Decomber 31, 2015

Cumulative effect of changa In accounting principle
et Income (losa)

Forgign currency translation

'Pansion liability adiustment, nat of tax

Unreallzed gain (loss) on avallable-far-saka
sacuriies, nel of lex

‘Forieltures of unvantad maricted slock

Exarcise of slock opticns

Veating of malriciad siock units )
Shares issued under employes stock purchase
plan

Tax withhoidings relsied 10 net share sattlemants
of tock-beassd compentation awards

Stock-based u]'npu'lsahm on qut-y-daulﬁe;d -
awards
Equilty component of the conwertibie senior noles,

_Pu_r;!'_la_ga_of mmmmbb rme_l'_redgas

tsmuance of warranie

Purcr_\asgs_ of treasury stock _

Bal,ncl at Decamber 31, 2016

Cumulalive affact of change in sccounting principle
Nel incomne (lm_as)

[Forvsgn currency tranelation

Fension kailly adjustmerd. netoftax
Unreatizad galn (loss) on avalable-for-sale
Bacuritie, nat of tax :

Exerclse of stock options

Vasting of restriciad siock units and performance
Shares lsswed under employesa atock purchase
plan

Tax withhokdings releked 1o nel share sattiomants
of sinck-based compensation awards o
Slock-based compensation on equity-classified
awards

GROUPON, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY
(in thousands, except share amounts)

Groupon, Inc. Stockholders® Equity

80

Common Stock ™ Addhlonal Troasury Stock Accgn“:lrmd Total ﬁ:upm, Non-
Palddn Accumulsd  Comprehensive  Stockholders'  controlbng  Total
Shares Amount Caphtal Sharea Amount Daflclt Incoms {Loas) Equity Intarssts Equity
719,787,422 T2 $1864453  (128468,165) $§(645041) 5 (901,292) § 51,206 § 469,388 5 1,189  $470,587

- — — - - (3,131 — {3,131} - @3.131)

- — — — — (194,567) - (194,5687) 11284  (183,323)

- — - - — - 5068 5,988 — 5,968

- - - - - - v28 928 - 828

- - - - - — (70) (70) - (70)
(196.668) - - - - - - - - -
491,483 — 620 - - — — 620 — 620
22,688,324 3 (&)} — — — — —_ - —

1.660,782 - 4.358 - - — — 4.358 - 4.358

_ (7.918.272) L IR — — - - (31,161) — {31,181)
- = 13114 - — — — 131,114 - 131,114

- — 87014 - - - - 67,014 — 87,014

— - {59,163) - - - ] - {59,163) — (59,163)

- - 35,485 - - — — 36,496 - 35495

— — —  (43227.743)  (162,383) - — (162,383) —  (162,383)

— - — — — — — — {11811} (11811)
736,531,771 74 52112728 (171695308) §(807.424) §(1099010) § 58052 3 764420 § 642 5265062
- - — - - (3.234) - (3.234) — (3.234)

— - — - — 14,040 — 14,040 12,587 26,627

- - - - - - (27 287) (27.287) - (27.287)

- - - - .= -7 JUB LW - SN

- - = R = 4B 484 - s

102,803 - 230 - - — — 230 - 230
16,598,582 2 2) - - — — — — —_—
1,879,656 — 5.283 - - - - 5,283 — 5.283

{8,508.930) )} {27.187) - - — — (27.188) - {27.188)
— - 83,658 — — — - 83,656 — 83,656




Groupon, Inc. Stockholders' Equity

Accumulated Total Groupon,
Commeon Btock 11 Additonal Traasury Stock Other Inc. Non-
PaldHn Accumulabed Comprahansive Stockhcldars controlling Total
Shares Amaunt Capital Shares - Amount Deflcit Income (Loas) - Equity Intarests Equity
[Pw‘cha.sas of tresaury stock — — —  (16906334)  (80.028) - = (60,026} —  (60.026) |
Distributions to roncontroding Interest holdars — — — — — — — — {12,357) (12.357)
lBllmco at December 31, 2017 748541862 § 75 $2174708  (188.602,242) §(867.450) $(1088204) § 2 31B44  § 250873 5 672 5251.34_5J
Cumuleilve effect of change in accounting
principle, nel of tax — — —_ - = 88,845 — 88,945 — 83,945
I;ldmsmumfmlnmdu.s.mmmdnnga — — — . - - - (181) 181 — = —
Net income (loss} — — — — — {11,079) — (11.079) 13,087 1,888
Foreign camency transiation - - — - — o= 3,332 3332 — 3332 ]
Unrealized gam (losa) on available-for-sale
securties, net of ax - - — . - = 735) (735) — (735)
Exmdutodwﬁom 672,793 — 21 = = = = ___81___ = a1
Vestng of resiricted stock units and performance
shara unis 14,284,895 1 N — — — — — — —
%&elmu&dmd&rmmm C ooy T e e
plam 1,821,081 5,634 - - — - 5,634 — 5,634
Shares suad to satte liablity-classified awards 1,240,379 — 8,436 - - —_— 68,436 — €436
T withholdings related to net share cetdements T T/ s s T
of sinck-besed compensation awards (5.401,650) — (22,709} - = - = (22,708) - (22,708)
Stock-based compenaation on aquity-classified
awards - — 70.411 — — — — 70411 — 70,411
Eurehm of Ireasury shock — - — (3.252.888) (1004 00 = = (10.041) — (10.04ﬂ
Diztrimions to noncontraling Interest hoidaes — — — — — — — - (12,576} (12,578)
Eahmlnoumbor 3, 2018 760,930,440 § 78  §2234580  (194,855128) §(BYT.491) §(1.010409) § Me02 5 W14 § 136 S3e2.611 !

(1)
Share , for addltional information.

Seso Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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The structure of our common stock changed during the year ended December 31, 2016. Refer to Note 11, Stocktioldars' Equity , and Note 18, income (Loss) Per




CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

Operating activies
Nel income (loss)
Less: Income (losa) from disconlinued operalions, nel of lax

income (loss) from continuing opemtlons

Adusimants Lo reconcila net Income (foss) o nel cash provided by operating eciivitiaa:

Depreclation and amortizetion of proparty, equipman! and aoftware
Amortization of acquirad intkangible assets
Stock-based compensation
Gain on business dlspositions
{ain on sale of inlangible assals
Galn on sale of Investment
Rastructunng-related long-lived asset Impairment
impakmants of [nvestmaents
Daterred income taxas
(Galn) kosy, net from changes In fair value of contingen consideration
(Galn) loss from changes in falr valus of Invesiments
Amortization of debt discount on convertibie senlor notes
Changa In assets and llabllites, net of acquistions and dispesitions:
Accounts recobabla
Prepalc expenses and other current assets
Accouns payable
Accrued merchant and supplier payables.
Accrusd expansss and other curment kabiiklea
Qther, ne
Net cash provided by {used In) cperating activities from comtinuing opemtions
Net cash provided by (used in) operating activitles from discordinued operallons
'Nat cash provided by {used in) operating aclivities
Investing activities
Purchasas of propaerty and aquipment and capitaiized software
_Cash darecognized upon dispasitions of subsidiaries
Procseds from sals of Intangble assets
Proceeds from aales and maturtties of Investments
Acquisiions of businesses. not of acquirsd cash
Acquisitions of intangible assets and other investing activities
'Nei cash provided by (usad in) investing activities from continuing cperations
Net cash provided by (usad in) Investing activiliss [rom disconlinued oparations
Nt cash provided by (usad in) Investing activities
Financing activities
Proceeds from issuancs of canvertible sanlor notes
lasuance costs for convertibla senior notes and revalving credit agreement
Purchase of convertile note hedges
Proceeds lrom issuance of warranls
Payments for purchesas of lreasury stock
Taxes pakl related to net share setilements of stock-based compensation awards
Procoeds from sinck option exerclags and smployes stock purchase plan
Distributions to noncontrolling intarast holders
Payments of capital lease obligations
Paymenls of contingant consideration related to acquisitions

Payment of financing oblgation related to acqulsition

GROUPON, INC.

(in thousands)

Year Ended Dacamber 31,

2018 2017 2016
1,888 § 26627 S {163.323)
— (1,874) (17,114)
1988 26,601 {166.209)
101,330 114,795 115,961
14,408 23,032 18,948
64,821 82,044 115,123
- — (11,398}
— (17,149) —
— {7.624) —
— — 3zs
10,158 2,944 -
(5,000 603 {10,448}
— — 4,002
9,064 {382) 48141
11,916 10.758 7.376
32,057 {18,783) (16,584)
7.166 4,074 35,043
5,805 {199) 5121
(45.268) {29,823) 26,729
{31,430) {40,361) (32,124)
13,752 (21.975) {10,853)
190,855 130,545 130,245
- (2.418) {11,823)
180,855 128,127 118,422
{69,695) (59.158) (68,287)
- - (1.128)
1,500 18,333 —
8,594 16.561 1,685
{58,119) - 14,539
(18,262) (1.059) (2.395)
(135,882) (25,323) (55.588)
— (9.548) (1.800)
(135,882) (34.871) (57.488)
- — 250,000
— — (8.147)
- — (59,163}
- - 35,495
(9,585) (81,233) (165,357)
{24,105) (27.681) (29.777)
5715 5513 4,978
(12.578) (12.357) (11.811)
{33,023) (34,025) {30,598)
(1.815) (7.790) (285)
(8,381) — —



Cther financing ad'rvllha (637) Aar3 —_
[Not cash pruvidod by (usad In) financing sctiviies . {84417 ’ (138.04-6) : ' (ﬂ,ﬂ) I
Eftect of exchange rats chenges on cash, mh squivatents and restricted cuh Irldudlnq cash classlfted within current assets

of discontinusd aperstions {11.209) 26499 (6 T18)
(ﬁ-tm(docnm)mmh mwnmmmmmmmﬂwmmwma _ - .
(iscontinued oparstions : (40,763} {18.291) ___7__@_530,_553;
Less: Net increass (decreasa) in cesh classified within current assets of discontinuad operations — {28,666) {188)
r . : . - T 763 7 .
{Net inoresss (decreass) in cash, cazh squivalents and restrictsd cosh (#40,763) 10,678 E.T&BJ
Cash, cash equivedents and restricied cash, baginning of perod 885,481 874,508 835,167
— - T T Bt ” = - . - } " N
1Cash, cash equivalerts end resirictad cash, end of period . . - : ’ -§ . 844,728 $ 885481 ' § 874,808 {

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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Supplemnental disclosurs of cash flow Infarmation
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See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statemernits.
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GROUPON, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1. DESCRIPTION OF BUSINESS AND BASIS OF PRESENTATION
Company Information

Groupon, Inc. and subsidiaries, which commenced operations in Qctober 2008, operatas online local commerce marketplaces throughout
the world that connect merchants to consumers by offering goods and services, generally at a discount. Customars accass those marketplaces
through our websites, primarily localized groupon.com sites in many countries, and our mobile applications.

Our operations are organized into two segments: North America and Intemational. See Note 19, Segment information .

In connection with a strategic initiative to optimlze our global footprint, we sold our operations in 11 countries and ceased operations in
another country between November 2016 and March 2017. The financial results of those operations have been presented as discontinued
operations in the consolidated financial statements for the years ended December 31, 2017 and 2016. See Note 3 , Discontinued Operations and
Other Business Dispositions , for additional information.

2 . SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
Principles of Consolidation

The consclidated financial statements include the accounts of Groupon, Inc. and its subsidiaries. All intercompany accounts and
transactions have been eliminated in consolldation. The consolidated financial statements were prepared in accordance with U.S. GAAP and include
the assets, liabllitles, revenue and expenses of all wholly-owned subsidiaries and majority-owned subsidiaries over which we exercise control and
variable interest entities for which we have determined that we are the primary beneficiary. Outside stockholders' interests In subsidiaries are shown
on the consclidated financial statements as Noncontrolling interests. Investments in entities in which we do not have a controlling financial interest
are accounted for under the equlty method, the fair value option, as available-for-sale securities or at cost adjusted for observable price changes
and impairments, as appropriate.

Adoptlon of New Accounting Standards

We adopted the guidance In ASC Topic 606, Revenue from Contracis with Customnars , on January 1, 2018. Topic 606 is a comprehensive
new revenue recognition model that requires a company to racognize revenue to depict the transfer of goods or services to a customer at an amount
that reflects the consideration it expects to receive in exchange for those goods or services. See Note 13 | Revenue Recognition , for information on
the impact of adopting Topic 806 on our accounting policies.

We adopted the guidance in ASU 2018-01, Financial Instruments (Topic 825-10) - Recognition and Measurement of Financial Assets and
Financiaf Liabilities , as amendsd, on January 1, 2018 . This ASU generally requires equity investments to be measured at fair value with changes In
fair value recognized through net income and eliminates the cost method for equity securities. However, for equity investments without readily
determinable fair values, the ASU permits entities to elect to measure the investments at cost adjusted for observable price changes and
impalrments, with changes in the measurement recognized through net income. We applied that measurement alternative to our equity investments
that were previously accounted for under the cost method. The adoption of ASU 2016-01 did not have a materal impact on the consoclldated
financial statements.

We adopted the guidance in ASU 2016-18, Statement of Cash Flows (Topic 230) - Restricted Cash , on January 1, 2018. This ASU requires
companies to include amounts generally described as restricted cash and restricted cash equivalents, aleng with cash and cash equivalents, when
raconciling the beginning-of-period and end-of-period amounts shown on the statement of cash flows. Previously, changes in restricted cash were
reported within cash flows from operating activities. We applied that change in cash flow classification on a retrospective basis, which resulted in a
$7.0 million decrease and a $1.3 million increase to net cash provided by operating activities for the years ended December 31, 2017 and 2016 .




GROUPON, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Contlnued)

The following table provides a reconciliation of cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash reported within the consolidated balance sheets
to amounts shown in the consolidated statements of cash flows, as of December 31, 2018, 2017 and 2016 (in thousands):

o S 7 _ December 31, 2018 Dacember 31, 2017 December 31, 2018

Coshandcashequvalens s es02 s 88012 S . so2gTT
Resiricted cash included in prepaid expenses and other ourent assets CoLosao o am2 5769
Restricted cash induded In other non-currentassets T 420 6160
Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash 3 844,728 % 885481 $ 874,906

We adopted the guidance in ASU 2017-05, Other Income-Gains and Losses from the Deracognition of Nonfinancial Assets (Subtopic 610-
20) - Clarifying the Scope of Asset Deracognition Guidance and Accounting for Partial Sales of Nonfinancial Assets , on January 1, 2018. This ASU
is meant to clarify the scope of ASC Subtopic 610-20, Other Income-Gains and Losses from the Derecognition of Nonfinancial Assets , and to add
guidance for partial sales of nonfinancial assets. The adoption of ASU 2017-05 did not have a material Impact on the consolidated financial
statements.

We adopted the guldance in ASU 2017-07, Compensation - Retiroment Benefits (Topic 715) - Improving the Presentation of Net Periodic
Pension Cost and Net Perlodic Postrelirement Benefit Cost , on January 1, 2018. This ASU requires employers to include only the service cost
component of net pericdic pension cost In operating expenses, together with other employee compensation costs. The other components of net
perledic pension cost, including interest cost, expected return on plan assets, amortization of prior service cost and settlement and curtailment
effects, are to be Included in non-operating expenses. The adoption of ASU 2017-07 did not have a material impact on the consolidated financial
statements.

We adopted the guidance in ASU 2017-09, Compensation - Stock Compensation (Topic 718) - Scope of Madification Accounting , on
January 1, 2018. This ASU clarifies the changes to terms or conditions of a share-based payment award that require an entity to apply modification
accounting. The adoption of ASU 2017-09 did not have a material impact on the consolidated financial statements.

We adopted the guidance in ASU 2018-02, income Statement - Reporting Comprehensive Income (Topic 220) - Reclassification of Certain
Tax Effects from Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income, as of January 1, 2018. This ASU permits a reclassification from accumulated other
comprehensive income to retained eamings for stranded tax effects resulting from the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act {the "Jobs Act”). As a result of the
adoption of ASU 2018-02, we reclasslfied $0.2 million from accumulated other comprehensive Income 10 accumulated deficit.

We adopted the guidance in ASU 2017-01, Business Combinations (Topic 805) - Clarifying the Definition of a Business, on July 1, 2017.
This ASU provides clarfication on the definition of a business and provides guidance on whether transactions should be accounted for as
acquisltions (or disposals) of assets or businesses. The guidance in ASU 2017-01 was applied in determining that the sale of customer lists and
other intangible assets in certain food delivery markets, as described in Note 6, Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets, did not meet the definition of a
busliness. The adoption of ASU 2017-01 did not otherwise impact the accompanying consolidated financial statements.

We adopted the guidance in ASU 2016-16, Intra-Entity Transfors of Assets Other Than Inventory (Topic 740) , on January 1, 2017, This
ASU requires immediate recognition of the income tax consequences of intercompany asset transfers other than inventory. We recerded a $3.2
million cumulative effect adjustment to increase our accumulated deficit as of January 1, 2017 to recognize the impact of that change in accounting

policy.
We adopted the guidance in ASU 2015-11, Inventory (Topic 330) - Simplifying the Measurement of Inventary, on January 1, 2017. This ASU

requires inventory to be measured at the lower of cost or net realizable valus, rather than the lower of cost or market. The adoption of ASU 2015-11
did not have a material impact on the accompanying consolidated financial statements.
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GROUPON, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

We adopted the guidance in ASU 2014-15, Presentation of Financial Statements - Going Concemn {Subtopic 20540) - Disclosure of
Uncertainties about an Entity's Ability to Continue as a Golng Concemn, as of December 31, 2016. This ASU requires management to assess a
company's ability to continue as a going concern and to provide related disclosures in certain circumstances. Based on the results of our analysls,
no additional disclosures were required.

We adopted the guidance in ASU 2016-08, Compensation - Stock Compensation (Topic 718) - Improvements to Employee Share-Based
Payment Accounting, on January 1, 2016. Under this ASU, entities are permitted to make an accounting policy election to either estimate forfeitures
on share-based payment awards, as previously required, or to recognize forfeitures as they occur. We elected to recognize forfeitures as they ocour
and the impact of that change in accounting policy was recorded as a $3.1 million cumulative effect adjustment to Increase accumulated deficit as of
January 1, 2016. Additionally, ASU 2016-09 requires that all income tax effects related to settlements of share-based payment awards be reparted
in eamings as an increase or decrease to provision (benefit) for income taxes. Previously, income tax benefits at settlement of an award were
reported as an increase (or decrease) to additional paid-in capital to the exient that those benefits were greater than (or less than) the income lax
henefits reported in eamings during the award's vesting period. The requirement to report those income tax effects in eamings was applied on a
prospective basls to settlements occurring on or after January 1, 2016. ASU 2016-09 also requires that all income tax-related cash flows resulting
from share-based payment awards be reported as operating activities in the consolidated statement of cash flows. Previously, income tax benefits at
settlement of an award were reported as a reduction to operating cash flows and an increase to financing cash flows to the extent that those benefits
exceeded the income tax benefits reported in eamings during the award's vesting period. The Company elected to apply that change in cash flow
classification on a retrospective basls, which resulted in an increase of $7.6 million to net cash provided by operating activities and a comresponding
increase to net cash used in financing activities for the year ended December 31, 2015. The remaining provisions of ASU 2016-09 did not have a
material impact on the accompanying consolidated financial statements.

We adopted the guidance in ASU 2015-02, Consalidation (Topic 810) - Amendments to the Consolldatlon Analysis, on January 1, 2016.
This ASU expands the variable interest entity ("VIE®) criteria to specifically include limited partnerships in certain circumstances. The adoption of
ASU 201502 did not have a material impact on the accompanying consolidated financlal statements. We determined that Monster Holdings LP
("Monster LP") is not a VIE under ASU 2015-02, which s consistent with its conclusion prior to adoption of the ASU. That invesiment is evaluated as
a corporalion, rather than a limited partnership, for purposes of making consolidation determinations because its govemance structure is akin to a
corporation. Under the terms of Monster LP's amended and restated agreement of limited partnership, all of the objectives and purposes of Monster
LP are carried out by a board of directors, rather than a general partner.

Reclassifications and Terminolegy Changes

Certain reclassifications have been made to the consolidated financial statements of prior periods and the accompanying notes to conform
to the current period presentation, including the change in presentation of restricted cash in the consolidated statements of cash flows upon
adoption of ASU 2016-18 as described above. Additionally, in prior years, we referred to our product revenue and service revenue as "direct
revenue” and "third-party and other revenue,” respectively. This terminology change did not impact the amounts presented in the consolidated
financial statements.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of consolidated financial statements In conformity with U.S. GAAP requires estimates and assumptions that affect the
reported amounts and classifications of asssets and liabllitles, revenue and expenses, and the related disclosures of contingent liabilities in the
consolidated financial statements and accompanylng notes. Estimates are used for, but not limited to, variable consideration from unredeemed
vouchers, income taxes, initial valuation and subsequent impaimment testing of goodwill and intangible assets, investments, customer refunds,
contingent liabilittes and the useful lives of property, equipment and software and intangible assets. Actual results could differ materially from those
estimates.
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GROUPON, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

Cash, Cash Equfvalents and Restricted Cash

We consider all highly liquid investments with an original maturity of three months or less from the date of purchase to be cash equivalents.
Restricted cash represents amounts that we are unable to access for operational purposes. These amounts primarily relate to withholdings from
employee paychecks under our employee stock purchase plan ("ESPPT).

Accounts Recaivable, Net

Accounts receivable primarily represents the net cash due from credit card and other payment processors and from merchants and
performance marketing networks for commisslons eamed on consumer purchases. The cammying amount of receivables is reduced by an allowance
for doubtful accounts that reflects management's best estimate of amounts that will not be collected. The allowance is based on historlcal loss
experience and any specific risks identified in collection matters. Accounts recsivable are charged off against the allowance for doubtful accounts
when It Is determined that the receivable Is uncollectible.

Inventories

Inventories, consisting of merchandise purchased for resale, are accounted for using the first-in, first-out method of accounting and are
valued at the lower of cost or net realizable value. We write down our inventory to the lower of cost or net realizable value based upon assumptions
about future demand and market conditions. If actual market conditions are less favorable than those projected, additional inventory write-downs
may be required. Once astablished, the original cost of the inventory less the related inventory write-down represents a new cost basis,

Property and Equipment

Property and squipment are stated at cost and assets under capital leases are stated al the lesser of the present value of minimum lease
payments or their fair market value. Depreciation and amortization of property and equipment is recorded on a straight-line basis over the estimated
useful lives of the assets. Generally, the useful lives are three to five years for computer hardware and office equipment, five to ten years for
furniture and fixtures and warehouse equipment and the shorter of the term of the lease or the asset's useful life for leasehold improvements and
assets under capital leases.

Internal-Use Software

We incur costs related to internal-use software and website development, including purchased software and intemally-developed software.
Costs incurred in the planning and evaluation stage of intemally-developed software and website development are expensed as incurred. Costs
Incurrad and accumulated during the application development stage are capitalized and included within Property, equipment and software, net on
the consolidated balance sheets. Amortization of intemal-use software Is recorded on a straight-line basis over the two -year estimated useful life of
the assets.

Impalment of Long-Lived Assets

Long-lived assets, such as property, equipment and software and intangible assets, are reviewed for impairment whenever avents or
changes In circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of an asset or asset group may not be recoverable. If circumstances require that a long-
lived asset or asset group to be held and used be tested for possible impainment, we first compare the undiscounted cash flows expected to be
generated by that long-lived asset or asset group to its carrying amount. If the camrying amount of the long-ived asset or asset group is not
recoverable on an undiscounted cash flow basis, an impairment is recognized to the extent that the carrying amount exceeds its fair value,

Long-lived assets or disposal groups classified as held for sale are recorded at the lower of their carrying amount or fair value less
estimated selling costs. Long-lived assets are not depreciated or amortized while classified as held for sale.
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GROUPON, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

Goodwill

Goodwill is allocated to our reporting units at the date the goodwill is initially recorded. Once goodwill has been allocated to the reporting
units, it no longer retains its identification with a particular acquisition and becomes identified with the reporting unit in its entirety. Accordingly, the
fair value of the reporting unit as a whole is available to support the recoverability of its goodwill.

We evaluate goodwill for impairment annually on October 1 or more frequently when an event occurs or circumstances change that
indicates the carrying value may not be recoverable. We have the option to assess goodwill for impairment by first performing a qualitative
assessment to determine whether it is more-likely-than-not that the fair value of a reporting unit is less than its camying amount. If we determine that
it is not more-likely-than-not that the fair value of a reporting unit is less than its camying amount, then the two-step goodwill impairment test is naot
required to be performed. If we determine that it is more-likely-than-not that the fair value of a reporting unit is less than its carrying amount, or if we
do not elect the option to perform an initial qualitative assessment, we perform the two-step goodwill impairment test. In the first step, the fair value
of the reporting unit is compared with its book value including goodwill. If the fair value of the reporting unit is In excess of its book value, the related
goodwill is not impaired and no further analysis is necessary. If the fair value of the reporting unit is less than its book value, thers is an indication of
potential impairment and a second step is performed. When required, the second step of testing involves calculating the implied fair value of
goodwill for the reporting unit. The implied fair value of goodwill is determined in the same manner as goodwill recognized in a business
combination, which is the excess of the fair value of the reporting unit determined in step one over the fair value of its net assets, including
identifiable intangible assets, as if the reporting unit had been acquired. If the carrying value of the reporting unit's goodwill exceeds the Implied fair
value of that goodwill, an impairment loss Is recognized in an amount equal to that excess. For reporting units with a negative book value (i.e.,
excess of liabllites over assels), we evaluate qualitative factors to determine whether it is necessary to perform the second step of the goodwill
impairment test,

Investments

Investments in equity shares without a readily detemminable falr valus and for which we do not have the ability to exercise significant
influence are accounted for at cost adjusted for observable price changes and impairments, with changes in the measurement racognized through
net income. Those investments are classified within Investments on the consolidated balance sheets.

Investments in common stock or in-substance common stock for which we have the ability to exercise significant influence are accounted
for under the equity method, except where we have made an irevocable election to account for the investments at fair value. Those Investments are
classlifled within Investments on the consolidated balance sheets. The proportionate share of income or loss on equity method investments and
changes in the fair values of investments for which the fair value option has been elected are presented within Other income (expense), net on the
consolidated statemeants of operations.

Investments in convertible debt securities and convertible redesmable preferred shares are accounted for as available-for-sale securities,
which are classified within Investments on the consolidated balance sheets. Available-for-sale securities are recorded at fair value each reporting
period. Unrealized gains and losses, net of the related tax effects, are excluded from eamings and recorded as a separate component within
Accumulated other comprehensive income on the consolidated balance shests untll realized. Interest income from available-for-sale securitles is
reported within Other Income (expense), net on the consolidated statements of operations.
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GROUPON, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

Other-than-Temporary Impalrment of Investments

An unrealized loss exists when the current fair value of an investment is less than its cost basis. We conduct reviews of our investments
with unrealized losses on a quarterly basis to evaluate whether those impaimments are other-than-temporary. This evaluation, which is performed at
the individual investment level, considers qualitative and quantitative factors regarding the severity and duration of the unrealized ioss, as well as
our intent and ability to hold the investment for a period of time that is sufficient to allow for an anticipated racovery in value. Evidence considered in
this evaluation includes the amount of the impairment, the length of time that the investment has been impaired, the factors contributing to the
impalrment, the financial condition and near-term prospects of the investee, recent operating trends and forecastsd psrformance of the investee,
market conditions in the geographic area or industry in which the investee operates and our strategic plans for holding the investment in relation to
the period of time expected for an anticipated recovery in value. Additionally, we consider whether we intend to sell the Investment or whether it is
more likely than not that it will be required 1o sell the investment before recovery of its amortized cost basls. Investments with unrealized losses that
are determined to be other-than-temporary are written down to fair value with a charge to earnings. Unrealized losses that are determined to be
temporary In nature are not recorded for equity method investments, while such losses are recorded, net of tax, in accumulated other
comprehensive income for available-for-sale securities.

Income Taxes

Woe account for income taxes using the asset and liability method, under which deferred income tax assets and liabilities are recognized
based upon anticipated future fax consequences atfributable to differences between the financlal statement carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
and their respactive tax bases. We regularly review deferred tax assets to assess whether it is more likely than not that the deferred tax assets will
be realized and, If nacessary, establish a valuation allowance for portions of such assets to reduce the carrying value.

For purposes of assassing whether it is more likely than not that deferred tax assets will be realized, we consider the following four sources
of taxable income for each tax jurlsdiction: (a) future reversals of existing taxable temporary differences, (b) projected future eamings, (c) taxable
income in carryback years, to the extent thai camybacks are permitted under the tax laws of the applicable jurisdiction, and (d) tax planning
strategies, which represent prudent and feasible actions that a company ordinarily might not take, but would take to prevent an operating loss or 1ax
credit cammyforward from expiting unused. To the extent that evidence about one or more of these sources of taxable income is sufficient to support a
conclusion that a valuation allowance is not necessary, other sources need not be considered. Otherwise, evidence about each of the sources of
taxable income is considered in arriving at a conclusion about the need for and amount of a valuation allowance. See Note 15, Income Taxas , for
further information about our valuation allowance assessments.

Woe are subject to taxation in the United States, various states and foreign jurisdictions. Significant judgment is required in determining the
worldwide provision for income taxes and recording the related income tax assets and liabilities. During the ordinary course of business, there are
many transactions and calculations for which the ultimate fax determination is uncertain. For example, our effactive tax rate could be adversely
affected by eamings being lower than anticipated in countries where it has lower statutory rates and higher than anticipated in countries where it has
higher statutory rates, by changes in foreign currency exchange rates, by changes in the valuation of deferred tax assets and liabilities, by changes
In the measurement of uncertain tax positions or by changes in the relevant laws, regulations, principles and interpretations. We account for
uncertainty in income taxes by recognizing the financial statement benefit of a tax position only after determining that the relevant tax authority
would more likely than not sustain the position following an audit. For tax positions meeting the more-likely-than-not criteria, the amount recognized
in the consolidated financial statements is the largest benefit that has a greater than 50 percant likelihood of being realized upon ultimale settlement
with the relevant tax authority,
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Lease and Asset Retirement Obllgations

We classify leases al their inceplion as either operating or capital leases and may receive renewal or expansion options, rent holidays and
leasehold improvement or other incentives on certain lease agreements. Ye recognize operaling lease costs on a straight-ine basis, taking into
account adjustments for escalating payments and lease incentives. Rent expense associated with operating lease cbligaticns is primarily classified
within Selling, general and administrative on the consolidated statements of operations. Minimum lease payments made under capital leases are
apportioned between interest expense, which is presented within Other income (expense), net on the consolidated statements of operations, and a
reduction of the related capital lease obligations, which are classified within Accrued expenses and other current liabiliies and Other non-current
liabilities on the consolidated balance sheets.

We establish assets and liabilities for the present value of estimated future costs to retire long-lived assets at the termination or expiration of
a lease. Such assets are amortized over the lease term, and the recorded liabilities are accreted to the future value of the astimated retirement
costs. The related amortization and accretion expenses are presented within Selling, general and administrative on the consolldated statemants of
operations.

Revenue Recognlition

On January 1, 2018, we adopted Topic 606 using the modified retrospective method. Beginning on January 1, 2018, results are presented
in accordance with the revised policies, while prior period amounts are not adjusted and continue to be reported in accordance with our historical
policles. See Note 13, Revenue Recognition , for additional information.

We recognize revenue when we satisfy a performance obligation by transferring a promised good or service to a customner. Substantially all
of our parformance abligations are satisfied at a point in time rather than over time.

Service revenue

Service revenue is primarily eamed from transactions in which we eam commissions by selling goods or services on behalf of third-party
merchants. Those transactions generally involve a customer's purchase of a voucher through one of our online marketplaces that can be redeemed
with a third-party merchant for specified goods or services (or for discounts on speclfied goods or services). Service revenue from those transactions
is reported on a net basis as the purchase price collected from the customer less the portion of the purchase price that is payable to the third-party
merchant. We recognize revenue from those transactions when our cornmission has been earned, which occurs when a sale through one of our
online marketplaces is complated and the related voucher has been made available to the customer. We believe that our remaining obligations to
remit payment to the merchant and to provide information about vouchers sold are administrative activities that are immaterial in the context of the
contract with the merchant. Revenue from hotel reservation offerings is recognized at the time the reservation is made, net of an allowance for
estimated cancellations.

We also earn commissions when customers make purchases with retailers using digital coupons accessed through our websites and mobile
applications and from voucherless merchant offerings in which customers eam cash back on their credit card statements when they transact with
third-party merchants. We racognize those commissions as revenus in the period in which the underlying transactions between the customer and
the third-party merchant are completed. Additionally, we earn advertising revenue when the advertiser's kogo or website link has been included on
our websitas or in specified email distributions for the requisite period of time as set forth in the agreement with the advertiser.

Product revenue
We generate product revenue from direct sales of merchandise inventory through our Goods category. For product revenue transactions,
we are the primary party responsible for providing the good to the customer, we have Inventory risk and we have discretion in establishing prices. As

such, product revenue Is reported on a gross basis as the purchase price received from the customer. Product revenue, including associated
shipping revenue, is recognized when tilte passes to the customer upon delivery of the product.
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Variable Conslderation for Unredeemed Vouchers

For merchant agreements with redemption payment terms, the merchant is not paid its share of the sale price for a voucher sold through
one of our online marketplaces until the customer redeems the related voucher. If the customer does not redeem a voucher with such merchant
payment terms, we retain all of the gross billings for that voucher, rather than retaining only our net commission. We estimate the variable
consideration from vouchers that will not ultimately be redeemed using our historical voucher redemption experience and recognize that amount as
revenue at the time of sale. We only recognize amounts in variable consideration when we believe it Is probable that a significant reversal of
revanue will not occur in future pariods, which requires us to make significant estimates of future redemptions. If actual redemptions differ from our
estimates, the effects could be material to the consolidated financial statements. As of December 31, 2018, we constrained $13.7 million in revenue
from unredesemed vouchers thal we may recognize in future periods when we determine It is probable that a significant amount of that revenue will
not be subsequently reversed.

Refunds

Refunds are recorded as a reduction of revenue. The liability for estimated refunds is Included within Accrued expenses and other current
liabilities on the consolidated balance sheets.

Wa estimats our refund reserve using historical refund experience by deal category. We assass the trends that could affect our estimates
on an onhgoing basis and make adjustments to the refund reserve calculations if it appears that changes in circumstances, Including changes to our
refund policies or general economic conditions, may cause future refunds to differ from our initial estimates. If actual refunds differ from our
eslimates, the effects could be material to the consolidated flnancial statements.

Discounts, Customer Credits and Other Conslderation Payable to Customers

We provide discount offers to encourage purchases of goods and services through our online marketplaces. We record discounts as a
reduction of revenue.

Additionally, we issue credits to customers that can be applied to future purchases through our online markelplaces. Credits are primarily
issued as considaration for refunds. To a lesser extent, credits are issued for customer relationship purposes. Credits issued to satisfy refund
requests are applied as a reduction to the refunds reserve and customer credits issued for relationship purposes are classified as a reduction of
revenue. Breakage income from customer credits that are not expected to be used is estimated and recognized as revenue in proportion to the
pattern of redemption for customer credits that are used.

Salaes and related taxes

Sales, use, valus-added and related taxes that are imposed on specific revenue-generating transactions are presented on a net basis and
excluded from revenue.

Costs of Obtaining Contracts
Incremental costs to obtain confracts with third-party merchants, such as sales commissions, are deferred and recognized over the

expectad period of the merchant arrangement, generally from 12 to 18 months. Those costs are classified within Selling, general and administrative
expenses in the consolidated statements of operations.
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Cost of Revenue

Cost of revenue is comprised of direct and certain indirect costs incurred to generate revenue. Costs incurred to generate revenue, which
include credit card processing fees, editorial costs, compensation expense for tachnology support personnel who are responsible for maintaining the
infrastructure of our websites, amortization of internal-use software relating to customer-facing applications, web hosting and other processing fees
are attributed to the cost of service and product revenue in proportion to gross billings during the period. For product revenue transactions, cost of
revenus also includes the cost of inventory, shipping and fulfillment costs and inventory markdowns. Fulfillment costs are comprised of third-party
logistics provider costs, as well as rent, depreciation, personnal costs and other costs of operating our fulfillment center.

Stock-Based Compensation

We measure stock-based compensation cost at fair value. Expense is generally recognized on a straight-line basls over the service period
during which awards are expected to vest, except for awards with both performance condltions and a graded vesting schedule, which are
recognized using the accelerated method. We present stock-based compensation expense within the consolidated statements of operations based
on the classlflcation of the respective employees’ cash compensation. See Note 12, Compensation Arrangements .

Foreign Currency

Balance sheet accounts of our operations outside of the United Stataes are translated from foreign currencies Into U.S. dollars at exchangs
rates as of the consolidated balance sheet dates. Revenus and expenses are translated at average exchange rates during the period. Foreign
currency translation adjustments and foreign currency gains and losses on intercompany balances that are of a long-term investment nature are
included within Accumulated other comprehensive income on the consolidated balance sheets. Foreign currency gains and losses resulting from
transactions that are denominated in currencies cother than the entity's functional currency, including foreign currency gains and losses on
intercompany balances that are not of a long-term investment nature, are included within Other income {expense), net on the consoclidated
statements of operations.

Business Combinatlons

The results of businesses acquired are Included in the consdlidated financial statements beginning on the respective acquisition dates. The
fair value of consideration transferred in business combinations is allocated to the tangible and intangible assets acquired and liabilities assumed at
the acquisition date, with the remaining unallocated amount recorded as goodwill. Acquired goodwill represents the premium paid over the fair value
of the net tangible and intangible assets acquired. We may pay a premium for a number of reasons, including growing our merchant base and
acquiring an assembled workforce. The goodwill from business combinatlons is generally not deductible for tax purposes.

Recently Issued Accounting Standards

In February 2016, the FASB lssued ASU 2016-02, Leases (Topic 842) . This ASU will require the recognition of lease assets and liabilities
for operating leases with tarms of more than 12 months, in addition to the capital lease assets and liabilities currently recorded on our consolidated
balance sheets. Presentation of leases within the consolidated statements of operations and cash flows will be substantially consistent with current
accounting guidance. The ASU, which is effective for annual reporting pericds beginning after December 15, 2018, and interim periods within those
annual pericds, will have a materal impact on our consolidated balance sheets. We have completed the implementation of a lease accounting
system. We plan ic adopt the ASU effective January 1, 2019 using the modified retrospective transition method and will not restate comparative
periods. The modified retrospective transition method requires the cumulative affect, if any, of initially applying the guldance to be recognized as an
adjustment to our accumulated deficit as of that adoption date. We plan to elect the package of practical expedients permitted under the transition
guidance within the ASU, which allows us to carry forward prior conclusions about lease identification, classification and initial direct costs for leases
entered into pricr to adoption of Topic 842. Additionally, we plan to not separate lease and non-lease components for all of our leases. For leases
with a term of 12 months or less, we plan to elect the short-term lease exemption, which allows us to not recognize right-of-use assets or lease
liabllitles for
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qualifylng leases existing at transition and new leases we may enter into in the future. While we continue to assess all impacts of adoption, we
currently expect to recegnize additional lease liabilities of $100.0 million to $115.0 million representing the present value of the remaining minimum
lease payments at January 1, 2019 and corresponding right-of-use assets of the same amount. See Note 10, Commitments and Contingencies , for
information about our lease commiiments.

in June 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-13, Financial Instruments - Credit Losses (Topic 326) - Measurement of Credit Losses of
Financial Insfruments . This ASU requires entities to measure credit losses for financial assets measured at amortized cost based on expected
losses rather than incurred losses. For available-for-sale debt securities with unrealized losses, entities will be required to recognize credit losses
through an aliowance for credit losses, The ASU will be effective for annual reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2019 and interim
periods within those annual periods. While we are slill assessing the impact of ASU 2016-13, we currently believe that the adoption of this guidance
will not have a material Impact on our consolidated financial statements.

in January 2017, the FASB issued ASU 2017-04, Intangibles - Goodwill and Other (Topic 350) - Simplifying the Tast for Goodwill
Impaiment . This ASU eliminates Step 2 of the goodwill impalfrment test and requires a goodwill impainment to be measured as the amount by which
a reporting unit's carrying amount exceeds its fair value, not fo exceed the carrying amount of its goodwill. The ASU is effective for annual or any
interim goodwill impairment tests in fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2019 and early adoption is permitted. We believe that the adoption of
this guidance will not have a material impacl on our consolidated financial statements.

in June 2018, the FASB issued ASU 2018-07, Compensation - Stock Compensation (Topic 718) - Improvements to Nonemployee Share-
Based Payment Accounting. This ASU expands the scope of Topic 718 to make the guidance to share-based payment awards to nonemployees
consistent with the guidance for share-based payment awards fo employees. The ASU will be effective for annual reporting periods beginning after
December 15, 2018 and interim periods within those annual periods. We believe that the adoption of this guidance will not have a material impact on
our consolidated financial statements.

In August 2018, the FASB issued ASU 2018-13, Fair Value Measurement (Topic 820) - Disclosure Framework - Changes fo the Disclosure
Requirements for Fair Vailue Measurement . This ASU modifies the disclosure requirements in Topic 820, Fair Value Measurement, by removing,
modifying, or adding certain disclosures, The ASU will be effactive for annual reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2018 and interim
periods within those annual pericds. Early adoption is permitted, and entities are permitted to early adopt any removed or modified disclosures and
delay adoption of the additional disclosures until the effective date. We are still assessing the impact of ASU 2018-13 on our consolidated financial
statements.

In August 2018, the FASB issued ASU 2018-15, intangibles - Goodwill and Other - Internal-Use Software (Subtopic 350-40) - Customer’s
Accounting for Implomentation Costs Incurred in a Cloud Computing Arrangement That Is a Service Contract. This ASU requires entities in a hosting
arrangemant that is a service contract to follow the guidance in Subtopic 350-40, Infernal-Use Software , to determine which costs to implement the
service contract would be capitalized as an asset related to the service contract and which costs would be expensed. The ASU will be effective for
annual reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2019 and interim periods within those annual periods. Early adoption is permitted, including
in interim perlods. We cumrently plan to eary adopt the guidance on January 1, 2019 and willl prospectively apply that guidance to all implementation
costs incurred after that adoption date. We may Incur substantial costs within the scope of this guidance.

There are no other accounting standards that have been issuad but not yet adopted that we believe could have a material impact on our
consolidated financial statements.

3 . DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS AND OTHER BUSINESS DISPOSITIONS
Discontinued QOperatlons
In Cctober 2016, we completed a strategic review of our international markets in connection with our efforts to optimize our global footprint

and focus on the markets that we believe have the greatest polenfial to benefit our long-term financial performance. Based on that review, we
decided to focus our business on 15 core countries and to pursue
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strategic alternatives for our operations in the remaining 11 countries, which were primarily based in Asia and Latin America. The dispositions of our
operations in those 11 countries were completed between November 2016 and March 2017,

A business disposition that represents a strategic shift and has {or will have) a major effect on our operations and financial results is
reported as a discontinued operation. We determined that the decision reached by management and our Board of Directors to exit those 11 non-
core countries, which comprised a substantial majority of the operations outside of North America and EMEA, represented a strategic shift in our
business. Additicnally, based on our review of quantitative and qualitative factors relevant o the dispositions, we determined that the disposition of
the businesses in those countries would have a major effect on our operations and financial results. As such, the results of operations and cash
flows for the operations in those countries, including the gains and losses on the dispositions and related income tax effects, are presented as
discontinued operations in the accompanying consolidated financial statements for the years ended December 31, 2017 and 2016.

In connection with our strategic initiative to exit non-core countries as discussed above, we scld an 83% controlling stake in our subsidiary
in Israel and sold our subsidiaries in Argentina, Chile, Colombia, Peru, Mexico, Brazil, Singapore and Hong Kong during the first quarter 2017.
Additionally, we sold our subsidiary in Malaysia and ceasad our operations in South Africa during the fourth quarter 2016. For the years ended
December 31, 2017 and 2016, we recognized a net pretax loss of $1.6 million and a net pretax gain of $0.3 million , respectively, on those
dispositions, which consisted of the following (in thousands):

Year Ended Decoember 31,

. i . ) S N ) N o o 2017 2016
Netconsiderstonrecetved:
. Falrvalue of minority Investments relained or acquired o e Y2 8 2487
_ Cashprocsedsrteceved T sae ]
Cash proceeds recesivable - L R . ) 2,000 I -
| Llesstensactoncoss 77T ) 3w 1w
_ Eal_rgl'@s_idﬂmﬁoaived e . _ 6,089 2,267
Cumuiative tanslation gain (oss) reclessiled tosamings ____________ dape (1200
Less: Netbook value upon closing of the trensactions I e 14.958 . 74
[Less: Indormnification iabities T ews -
Less: Unfavorable contract liability for ransition services _ IO _ 2,114 =
Gain floss) onlepostions 7 7% (1630) _$ 312

(1) See Note 10, Commitmsnts and Contingencies , for additional information about the indemnification liabilities.
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The following table summarizes the major classes of line items included in loss from discontinued operations, net of tax, for the years ended
December 31, 2017 and 2016 (in thousands):

Year Ended December 31,

2017 mia 2016

Service revenue o 3 12,602 § 9‘7.10_5

‘Product revenue _ ‘ o 2882 32,634 !
_Servlce_cost of revenue ) (2,557) {21,897
‘Product cost of revenue ] L o ) - ) '_ - _-(3,95!8) S (31.792);
Marketmg ‘expensa ) ) _ ) S {1,239) (10,7?6)
-Selling, ganaralandadmhlslraﬁvaaxpm e . ~ (;2(_)07) -_ _- L (T23}41)E
Restucturing e 778). RALC)
Gther income (expense) net o . _ ) . o _ L __— R 3855 ) (4.818)-‘r
Loss from discontinued oporatlons be'l’ore galn (Iou) on dlsposltlons and provlslon for Income taxes {263) (14,855)
lainfoss)ondispositons . qaewy a2
Provision for income taxes ) i ) o (81) {2,771)
Loss from discontinued operations, netoftax s (1.974) § (17,114)

(1) The loss from dlscontinued operations before galn (lass) on dispositions and provision for income taxes for the years ended December 31, 2017 and 2016 includes the
results of each business through ils respeactive disposition dats.

{2) Salling, general and administralive expanse from discontinued operations for the year ended December 31, 2017 includes increases to contingent liabilities under
indemnification agreements. See Note 10, Commitrnents and Contingencies , for additional Information about the Indemnification liabilities,

Other Dispositions

During the year ended December 31, 2016, we sold our subsidiaries in Russia and Indonesia, and our point of sale business, Breadcrumb.
The consideration received in exchange for Indonesia and Breadcrumb included minority fnvestments in their respective acquirers. We recognized a
pretax gain of $11.4 million in connection with those transactions, which is presented within Gains on business dispositions in the accompanying
consolidated statements of operallons, and consisted of the following (in thousands):

Year Ended
Decamber 31, 20116

Net consideration recaived:
_Fair value of minority investments acquired T g 11,029
Less: trangaction costs o 849
' Total net consideration received L 10.180
Cumulative translation gain reclassified to eamlngs 7.468
‘Less: Net book valus upon closing of the transsgtions ’ ) S 6,249
§ 11,399

Galn on business disposttions

The financial results of the disposed entities are presented within income from continuing operations in the accompanying consolidated
financial statements through their respective disposition dates. Those financial results were not material for the year ended December 31, 2016.
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4. BUSINESS COMBINATIONS

We acquired one business during the year ended December 31, 2018 and three businesses during the year ended December 31, 2016. For
the years ended December 31, 2018 and 2018, $0.7 million and $1.6 million , of external transaction costs related to business combinations,
primarily consisling of legal and advisory fees, are classified within Selling, general and administrative on the consolidated statements of operations.
The results of businesses acquired are included In the consolldated financial statements beginning on the respective acquisition dates. Acquired
goodwill represents the premium paid over the fair value of the net tangible and Intangible assets acquired. We may pay a premium for a number of
reasons, including growlng our merchant base and acquiring an assembled workforce.

2018 Acquislition Actlvity

On April 30, 2018, we acquired 80% of the outstanding shares of Cloud Savings Company, Ltd. ("Cloud Savings"), a UK-based business
that operates online discount code and digltal gift card platforms. The primary purpose of this acquisition was to expand digital coupon offerings in
our Intemational segment. The transaction included a contingent consideration amrangement with an acquisition-date fair value of $1.6 million . In
additional, concurrent with the acquisition, we entered into an agreement with the noncontrolling shareholder that gave us the right to acquire and
the noncontrolling shareholder's right to put to us the remaining cutstanding shares of Cloud Savings In December 2018. The acquisition-date fair
value of the right and obligation to acquire the remaining outstanding shares of $8.6 million was initially recorded as a financing obligation and
classified within Accrued expenses and other current liabilities on the consolidated balance sheets. We paid $8.4 million to exercise that right in
December 2018. The aggregate acquisition-date fair value of the consideratlon transferred for the Cloud Savings acquisition totaled $74.6 million ,
which consfsted of the following (in thousands):

[Cash _ 5 64,363 |
Financing obligation 8,604
iContingent consideration B 1,589 |
Tokal $ 74,556
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The following table summarizes the allocation of the aggregate acguisition price of the Cloud Savings acquisition (in thousands). The
allocation of the acquisition price has been prepared on a preliminary basis, and changes to that allocation may occur as a result of final working
capital adjustments and tax return filings.

‘Cash and cash squivalents L S o ' s 6244
Accounts receivable 5,885
iPrepald expenses and other current assets _ _ 804 '
Property, equipment and software 226
Goodwﬂl o . 0 - _ . ' a ’ ) ) ) - ) . ) 46,515
Intanglble assels
" Merchant relationships ’ _ ) _ _ S 20,322
Trade names T ' ) ’ 2,609
e e S
Other intangible assets - o ’ . ) 7 687
" Total assets acquired _ o _ o , s 83,841
Accounts payable $ 693
Accrued merchant and suppher payables ' _ o L 386 |
Acerued expensas and othercurrenlhabﬂmés T B i S T §130
T S 2076
To[al liabilities assurned 3 9,285
Tot.al acquisition price . o T ' $ 74,556 |

(1) The estimated useful lives of the acquired intangible assets are 6 years for merchant relationships, 8 years for trade names, 2 years for developed
technology, and 1 year for olher intangible assels.

The results of the Cloud Savings acquisition are included in our consolidated financial statements from the date of acquisition through
December 31, 2018, The revenus and net income of Cloud Savings included in our consolldated statements of operations were $12.9 million and
$1.1 miilion , for the period from April 30, 2018 through December 31, 2018. Pro forma results of operations for the Cloud Savings acquisition are
not presented because the pro forma effects of that acquisition were not material to our consolidated results of operations.

20186 Acquisltlon Activity

LivingSocial, inc.

On Qctober 31, 2016, we acquired all of the outstanding equity interests of LivingSocial, Inc. ("LivingSocfal"), an e-commerce company that

connects merchants to consumers by offering goods and services, generally at a discount. The primary purpose of this acquisition was to grow our
customar base. We acquired LivingSocial for no consideration.
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The following table summarizes the assets acquired and liabilities assumed from the LivingSocial acquisition (in thousands):

iCashand cashequivalents o [, BN 7 I
Accounts receivable 3.652
IPrepeid expenses and other current assets . ' ) S 2,399
Property, equipment and soﬂware 1,075
Goodwll e T T e e e

Intangible assels: o

: Custormrrelaﬁonshlps S o ) ] - o o o 7_1-6-.7260 '
Mearchant ralahonsmps ' 2,700
CTrederame T T T Tl Apoo]
Developed te-chnology 2,500
Other non-currentassets T . -
Total assets acquired 5 51,028
Accounts payable " _ . oL s e
Accrued merchant and suppherpayabres B o ' i o T 18 498
‘Accrued sxpenses and dther camentliabiiiss T T T TTT UTT T TTomTIT TS T T g
Other non-current |IabI|ItIGS 4,492
Tolal liabiites assumed " T T T rm s 51,028 |
Total acquisition price 3 —

{1 The estimated useful lives of the acquired intangible assets are 1 year for developed technology, 4 years for trade name and 3 years for merchant
relationships and customer relatlonships.

The following pro forma infermation presents the combined operating results for the year ended December 31, 2016 as if we had acquired
LivingSocial as of January 1, 2016 (in thousands). The underlying pro forma results include the historical financial results of us and this acquired
business adjusted for depreciation and amortization expense associated with the assets acquired. The pro forma results do not reflect any operating
efficiencles or potential cost savings which may result from the consolidation of the operations of us and the acquired entity. Accordingly, these pro
forma results are not necassarily Indicative of what the actual combined results of operations would have been if the acquisition had occurred as of
January 1, 2018, nor are they indicative of future results of operations.

Year Ended Decomber 31,
2018

Revenue S s 3070431
Loss from conﬂnumg oparauons (182,781)

The revenue and net loss of LivingSocial included in our consolidated statements of operations were $9.3 million and $4.3 million , for the
period from October 31, 2016 through December 31, 2016.

Other Acquisitions

We acquired two other businesses during the year ended December 31, 2016. The acquisition price of those businesses and the assets
acquired and liabilities assumed were not material.
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5. PROPERTY, EQUIPMENT AND SOFTWARE, NET

The following summarizes property, equipment and software, net as of December 31, 2018 and 2017 {in thousands):

Dacember 31,

o o L ) ) L B 2018 2017
Werehouse equpment R T 5265 5 49809
Furniture and fixtures S B e SETT i
Lessehold improvements .. 034 . 40805
Ofﬂce aquu:rrnanl o ] ~ o _ @ _ 2,690
Puchesedsotwere T T esm 3200
C({rpggﬁerhardware”' e L .4 208,859
Intemally-developed sofware® T 196807 249,207 |
Total tal property, equlpment and software gross 447,547 568,940
Less: sccumuiated depreciation endamostization T ogaamn)  (407,795)]
Property, equlpment and softwars, net 3 143117 % 151,145

{1) Includes computer hardware acquired under capital leases of $120.5 million and $132.3 million as of Decamber 31, 2018 and 2017 .
{2) The net camrying amount of internally-developed software was $70.9 million and $64.5 million as of Dacember 31, 2018 and 2017 .

As of December 31, 2018, we removed $75.9 million of certain fully depreciated property and equipment and $105.0 milllon of certain fully
amortized internally-developed software from gross property, equipment and software and accumulated depreciation and amortization.

Depreciation and amertization expense on property, equipment and software is classified as follows In the accompanying consolidated
statements of operations for the years ended December 31, 2018 , 2017 and 2016 (in thousands):

Year Ended December 31,
e 2018 _ 2017 2016
Samoecoslofreveme R T 28102 § 26738 $ 21277
Produdcostofrﬂn&_____ e ______E,i-ﬁ? _ 9,900 ___k‘I_O 616
Selling. general and administrative o 64,7681 78,157 85 0681
Total 3 101,330 % 114795 $ 116,961

The above amounts include amortization of internally-developed software of $53.9 milllon , $57.0 million and $55.0 milllon , and amertization
axpense on assets under capital leases of $30.2 million , $35.2 million and $29.8 miltion , for the years ended December 31, 2018 , 2017 and 2016 .

99




GROUPON, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

6 . GOODWILL AND OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS

The following table summarizes goadwill aclivity by segment for the years ended December 31, 2018 and 2017 (in thousands):

L L North America EMEA Restof World  Intemmatlonal Consolldated
[Bal_anqe_as_queg_em_bgri_tﬁg@_ S $ 178885 § 89747 § = 6119 § . — 8 274,551 |
 Reallocation to new segment " _ T 89747y (6119) 95868 =
. Forelgn curoncy tanslaben o - . - 12438 12438 |
Balance as of December 31,2017~ § 178685 § = — 8 — 8 108304 3 286989
. Goodwlll related to scquisibon | — e e TEe el T . . %55 “,ﬁélﬂ
Farelgn currency lranslation o — — - (8.013) (8,013)
|Balance as of December 31,2018 § 178,685 $ — 3 — s 146,806 § 325,491 |

(1) We updated our segments In the first quarter of 2017 to report two operating segments: North America and Intemational. Refer to Note 19, Segment Enformation, for
additlonal information on our changs In reporting segments.

We evaluate goodwill for impairment annually on Oclober 1 or mors frequently when an event occurs or circumstances change that
indicates the carrying value may not be recoverable. There was no goodwill impairment for the years ended December 31, 2018 , 2017 and 2016 .

The following table summarizes intangible assets as of December 31, 2018 and 2017 (in thousands):

December 31, 2018 Daecembar 31, 2017
Gross Carrying Accumulated Nst Carrying Gross Carrying Accumulated
] S Value _ Amortization Value Value Amortization _ Net Carrying Vatue
LCl_Jstqn)&r_reIaLf-mshlps__ .. % 16200 § ) 11,700 §& 4500 % 56,749 _5_ _____ 46513 & 103236I
_Mgrc_hanlrelallopshl_pg _ 21,554 _4.1_05 _ 1_':',449_ ) 7 11,598 N o 9"853 B o 11745
Trdenames 94/ e799 2877 1207 __ ___ o4e9 1608 ]
Developed technobogy 1385 13485 340 _.. . 3.ses e 0 =
Patorts 20508 16451 405 __ 19,031 15204 a7 ]
QOther Intangible assets 26,007 9,629 16,378 10,875 9,095 1,780
Tow s 107,570 § 62169 § 45401 § 147,194 § 127998 $ 19,196

As of December 31, 2018, we removed $77.4 million of certain fully amortized intangible assets from gross intangible assets and
accumulated amortization.

Amortization of intangible assets is computed using the straight-line method over their estimated useful lives, which range from 1 to 10
years. Amortization expense from continuing operations ralated ta intangible assets was $14.5 million , $23.0 million and $18.9 million for the years
ended December 31, 2018 , 2017 and 2016 . As of December 31, 2018 , our estimated future amortization expense related to intangible assets is as

follows {in thousands):

2009 o ... 13807
2020 ) T - o/ T 7.535
5 - X1
2022 T T ST 6,495
2023 R -
Thereafter ’ ) o T T T T 5.407
" Total _ S s 45,401
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Sale of Intangible Assets
On September 15, 2017, we sold customer lists and other intangible assets in certain food delivery markets fo a subsidiary of Grubhub Inc.
{"Grubhub™). We recognized a pretax gain on the sale of assets of $17.1 million , which represents the excess of the $19.8 million in net proceeds

raceived, consisting of $20.0 million in cash less $0.2 million in transaction costs, over the $2.7 milllon net book value of the assets upon closing of
the transaction. See Note 14, Restructuring , for additional informatior:.

7 . INVESTMENTS

The following table summarizes investments as of December 31, 2018 and 2017 (dollars in thousands).

Percent Ownership of Percent Ownership of
L ) o _ December 31, 2018 Voting Stock ) Decembar 31, 2017 ) Voting Stock
‘Available-for-sale securites: o !
__Convertible debt securilies A 5 ST _ .5 11,354
' Redoemable preferred shares , , 10390 19% to 2% 15431 19% fo  25%
___Total available-for-sale securities L ..., 10340 o o . L2788 o )
 Farvaleoptoninvestments 73802 0% to 1% 82986  10% o 19%
_Other equity investments™ 24273 1% o 19% 25438 1% to  19%
Total Investments s 08515 s 135,189 -

{1 Represents aquity investments without readily determinable fair values. Those invesiments were praviously accounted for using the cost method of
accounting. Under the cost method, investments were carried at cost and adjusted only for other-than-temporary declines In fair value, cerain distibutions
and additional investments. We adopted the guidance in ASU 2016-01 on January 1, 2018, Under that guidance, we have elecled to record aquity
Investments without readily determinable fair values at cost adjusted for observable price changes and impairments. There were no adjustmenis for
obsarvable price changes related lo thess Investments for the year ended December 31, 2018 . See further discussion under Other Equity Investments

betow.

Available-for-sale securities

The foliowing table summarizes amortized cost, gross unrealized gain, gross unrealized loss and fair valus of available-for-sale securities as
of December 31, 2018 and 2017 (in thousands):

December 31, 2018 December 31, 2017
Gross Gross Gross
Amortlzed Unreallzed Gross Amortlzed Unrealized Unreallzed
S Cost ) Gain Unrealized Loss  Fair Value Cost Galn ] Loss {1 Falr Value
Avallable-for-salesecurldes: . . . . ... o
Convortlble debt secudtes 8~ — & — %8 — § = § 10205 § 165 § (504) 5 11354
__Redeamable preferred shares 9,961 7y —_ 10,340 15,431 ’ —_ — 15,431
Total available-for-sale
sacurities 3 9961 % 379§ — % 10340 § 25636 § 1,653 § (504) $ 26,785

[4}] Gross unrealized loss is related to one security that was in a koss position for greater than 12 months as of December 31, 2017.

In September 2018, we soid an available-for-sale security for total consideration of $8.6 million , which approximated its carrying amount
and amortlzed cost as of the closing date.

We recorded $5.6 million and $2.9 million of other-than-temporary impairments of available-for-sale investments for the years ended
December 31, 2018 and 2017, respectively. Those impairments are classified within Other income {axpense), net on the consclidated statement of

operations.
Falr Value Option Investments

In connection with the dispositions of controlling stakes in Ticket Monster, an entity based in the Republic of Karea, in May 2015 and
Groupon India in August 2015, we cbtained minority investments in Monster Holdings LP

("Monster LP") and in Nearbuy Pte Ltd. ("Nearbuy™). We have made an irrevocable election to account for both of those investments at fair value
with changes in fair value reported in eamings. We elected to apply fair value accounting to those investments because we believe that fair value is
the most relavant measurement attribute for those investments, as well as to reduce operational and accounting complexity. We determined that the
fair valua of our investments in Monster LP and Nearbuy were $69.4 million and $4.5 million as of December 31, 2018 , and $78.9 million and $4.0

million as of December 31, 2017 .

The following table summarizes gains and losses due to changss in fair value of those investments for the years ended December 31, 2018
, 2017 and 2016 (in thousands):

Year Ended Decembar 31,
2018 2017 2016




[Monstertp Y 249§ ______(35350)

Nggfbuyi_‘_ ) _ _ _ 445 133 ) {12,791)

[Tptgl_r________ - o o s (9.064)-_5 3|2 8 {48,141)

Monster LP

In May 2015, we completed the sale of a controlling stake in Ticket Monster to an Investor group, wherehy (a) the Investor group contributed
$350.0 million in cash to Monster LP, a newly-formed limited partnership, in exchange for 70,000,000 Class A units of Monster LP and {b) we
contributed all of the issued and cutstanding share capital of Ticket Monster to Monster LP in exchange for {i) 64,000,000 Class B units of Monster
LP and (i) $285.0 millicn in cash consideration. Mr. Daniel Shin, the chief executive officer and founder of Ticket Monster, contributed $10.0 million
of cash consideration to Monster LP shorily after the closing date in exchange for 2,000,000 Class A units of Monster LP. Additionally, Monster LP
was autherized to issue 20,321,839 Class C units to its management, subject to vesting conditions. Under the terms of the Parinership’s amended
and restatad agreement of limited partnership, its general partner established a Board of Directors and imevocably assigned the rights to carry out
any and all of the cbjectives and purposes of the partnership to its Board, The general partner is not entiled to receive any distributions.

During the fourth quarter of 2015, the Company sold 2,515,461 Class B units for $4.8 million to Mr. Daniel Shin and other employees of
Ticket Monster, which resulted in a gain of $0.1 million .

In January 2016, all 20,321,839 of the authorized Class C units were granted to Monster LP's employees. Those share-based payment
awards are subject to time-based vesting conditions and, for a portion of the Class C units, 8 performance-based vesting condition.

In December 2018, Monster LP issued a new class of partnership units (Class A-1) to its controlling investor group and a new investor for
total proceeds of $65.0 million . The fair value of Monster LP implied by the terms of the $65.0 million equity financing transaction in December 2016
was lower than its estimated fair value in previous periods, which resulted in a significant decrease in the fair value of our investment for the year
ended December 31, 2016.

In February 2017, we participated in a recapitalization transaction with Monster LP whereby it exchanged all 61,484,539 of its Class B units
for 16,609,195 newly issued Class A-1 units. The Class B units previously held were then distributed from Monster LP to its controlling investor
group and certain other existing unit holders. Upon closing of the transaction, we own 57% of the outstanding Class A-1 unlts, which reprasents 9%
of the total outstanding partnership units.

Following the February 2017 recapitalization transaction, the Class A-1 units are entitted to an $150.0 million liquidation preference,
including an $85.0 million liquidation preference atiributable to the Class A-1 units held by us, which must be paid prior to any distributions to the
helders of the Class A-2, Class B and Class C units. Class A-1 unit holders are also entiled to share in distributions between $950.0 million and
$1,494.0 million In accordance with the terms of Monster LP's distribution waterfall and in distributions in excess of $1,494.0 million based on their
pro rata ownership of total cutstanding partnership units. As a result of the February 2017 recapitalization transaction, we currently hold an
investment in the most senior equity units in Monster LP's capital structure. However, while providing
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more downside protection, those Class A-1 units provide less opportunity for appreciation than the Class B units praviously held by us.

The following tables summarize the condensed financlal Information for Monster LP as of December 31, 2018 and 2017 and for the years
ended December 31, 2018 , 2017 and 2016 (in thousands):

Year Ended December 31,

— ee—m o s 2018 2017 2016
Revenus R $ 416042 § 200812 $ 216119
Gross profit L. . £ Lo
Loss before Income taxes . (132.276) . (124873) (163,882)
Net loss (132,276) (124,873) {153,882)
December 31,
o 2018 2017
Current asgots L L s esas 170y,
Non-currentassets =~ .. s __Ae250s o 520,105
Corortlibilbes o _amam 43988
Non-current liabilities 78,434 60,077
Nearbuy

In August 2015, Groupon India completed an equity financing transaction with a third-party investor that obtained a majority voting interest
in the entlty, whereby (a) the investor contributed $17.0 million in cash to Nearbuy, a newly formed Singapore-based entity, in exchange for Series A
Preference Shares and {b) we contributed the shares of Groupon India to Nearbuy in exchange for seed preference shares of Nearbuy. In January
2017, Nearbuy issued additlonal Serles A Prefarence Shares to its controlling investor for total proceeds of $3.0 million . Upon closing of that
transaction, the Series A Preference Shares are entitled to a $20.0 million liquidation preference, which must be paid prlor o any distributions to
other equity holders.

In Dacember 2017, Nearbuy sold its subsidiary Nearbuy India Pte Lid., which represented substantially all of its business operations, to a
third-party investor in exchange for a minority investment in the acquirer.

The following tables summarize the condensed financial information for Nearbuy as of December 31, 2018 and 2017 and for the years
ended December 31, 2018 , 2017 and 2016 (in thousands):

Yoar Ended Dacamber 31,

e o o o 2018 ) 2017 ) 2016

Reverue % 606§ 3m9 s 304
Grossproft 58T 3405 2570
Income (loss) before Income taxes ™ (135e) _ _ 1812 ___ _ (15701)
Net income (loss) " {13.594) 15,122 (15.701)

Dacember 31,

e o } o o 2018 2017

Comentassets s s s ______ 41
Noncurrentassets L . a8 18362
{C__L!‘[aflt_lla_b_ll_lt_ie_s o o #7 _ 7 k_ 7_ ___ 7_ 7 B 4015 _ —.
MNon-curmrent liabilities 144 —

(1) Nearbuy's income before income taxes and net income for the year ended December 31, 2017 Includes a $22.6 million gain from the sale of its subsidiary Nearbuy
India Pte Ltd.
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Other Equity Investments

In March 2017, in connection with the disposition of Groupon Israel, we retained a minority [nvestment in the entity. The investment was
recorded at its $0.4 million fair value at initial recognition and is accounted for as an other equity investment,

In May 2016, we acquired a 13% minority investment in the preferred stock of a restaurant software provider as consideration for the sale
of Breadcrumb. The preferred stock was recorded at its $8.3 million acquisition date fair value and was accounted for as an other equity
investment. in July 2017, we sold that investment for total consideration of $16.0 million , consisting of $14.7 million received in cash and $1.3

million that the acquirer paid into an escrow account that will be settled within 18 months of closing. We recognized a pretax gain on the disposition
of $7.6 million , which is classified within Other income (expense), net on the consolidated statement of operations.

We recorded a $4.6 million impairment of an other equity investment for the year ended December 31, 2018. That Impairment is classifled
within Other income {expense), net on the consolidated statements of operations.

8. SUPPLEMENTAL CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS AND STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS INFORMATION
The following table summarizes other incoma (expense), net for the years ended December 31, 2018 , 2017 and 2016 (in thousands):

Year Ended December 31,

e 2018 2017 2016
{Interest Incoms o o $ 6420 S 3287 8§ ) 1,808 |
Interest expense e (21,909) (20,680) (15,912)
‘Changes in fair velue of mvestments_ - - (9.084) 32 #8,141)]
Galn on sale of investment — 7.624 —
[Foreign cumency gains (iossas),net _ (20.325) 18,63 ©827)]
Impairments of Invesiments {10,156} (2.944) —
Other 2,028 407 (2,11751
Other ncomea (expensa), net 3 (53,008) $ 6710 & (71,289)
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The following table summarizes prepaid expenses and other current assets as of December 31, 2018 and 2017 (in thousands):

December 31,
) 2018 2017
‘Merchandise inventories _ ) o 3 33739 § B - 25528
'Prepaid expanses ) _ ) N 28,209 40,399
Income taxes recsivable V - . . . . : ;6-717 . V 170-2799
Ol_har o ] ) L _ y ) ) 19,450 17,799
Total prepakd expenses and other cument assets 7 1 ) ' S ) $ 88115 § 94,025

The following table summarizes accrued merchant and supplier payables as of December 31, 2018 and 2017 (in thousands):

December 31,
) _ ) o ) . ) o _ 2018 2017
Accrued merchant payables i o s 371,279 % ) - 459,662
Accrued supplier payables “’7 ‘ _ _ _ _ , 280,502 310,673
jTotar accrued merchant and supplier pafables _ ) o . o . $ 651,781 % 770,335

(1) Amounts include payables to suppliers of inventories and providers of shipping and fulfillment services.

The following table summarizes accrued expenses and other current liabilities as of December 31, 2018 and 2017 (in thousands):

December 31,
) o ) ) o ) _ 2018 2017
Refund reeerve , . i 3§ 27,957 % LR,
Compensation and benefits 7 ) o o ) 86173 73,096
Acouedmarketng . stz
Customer credits ) o o o o 15118 7 28,487
Income taxes payable L e . 8987 . _ 9645,
_Pe_fgrrg_d_rg\_ranqe ) _ ) _ 25,452 29,539
Current portion of cpita ease obigations S
Ottbef o o ) o ) . o 77,046 100,284
_'_I'or._ala@degp@q&gﬁ_gﬁdiqtﬂgg}frq&j?biﬁﬁes ) ) ‘ o o R 267,034 § 331,196 |

The following table summarizes other non-current liabilities as of December 31, 2018 and 2017 (in thousands):

December 31,

o _ _ 7 o 2018 2017
Coningent income tax lablltles . s Mese $  436W
Deferred rent o B 32,186 _ 29,032
Capttal lesse obligations U DU _ o e . 18,500
Deferred Income taxes B 6619 e
Over . _ osm 10,366
Total other non-cument liabilities 3 100,688 3 102,408
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The following table summarizes the components of accumulated other comprehensive income as of December 31, 2018 and 2017 (in
thousands):

Forelgn currency Unrealized galn
translation {loss) on avallable- Penslon
_ ) o ] adjustments for-gale securitles adjustments Total

{Balanca as of December 31 2015 o B 5 52261 § 458 § - (1.513) 8§ _ 51,206 I
. Other comprehensive income (Ioss) before reclassufcahon adjuslmenls o 6,579 ) {70) _ 8eoc 7339
. Reclasslfication adjustments included in netincome (loss) o (591) - 98 (493)]

Other comprahansive moome {loss) S _ o 5,088 (70) 928 ) 6,846
\Belance as of December 31, 2016 . 58249 3@ (585 58062 |
] Other oomprehenswe Income (Ioss) before radasmrcahon adjustments o (12,382) ] ng = ~ (13,491)
.. Redlassification adjustments included in net income (loss) o (14,905) 1,603 585 (12, T1—]

Olher ‘comprehensive income (loss) o N ) (27,287} 494 ) 585 (26,208)
Balance as of Decomber 31,2017 7T ange gy s
) Other cclmprehenswe income (Ioss) bafore reclassiﬁcation adqutme_}nt_s___ o o ?_332 - S __(_841_)_ = 2491

. Rediassifcation acjustments incuded In netincome (oss) - 106 - 106 |

Other comprehenswe_mggge (Es_s)_ o ) o 3,332 (735) — 2,597
: . Redassificatlon for impact of U.S. tax rete changa o — 161 — 161 ’
Balance as of December 31, 2018 $ 34204 % 8 0§ — 8 34,602

The effects of amounts reclassified from accumulated other comprshensive income to net income (loss) for the years ended December 31,
2018, 2017 and 2016 are presented within the following line items in the consolidated statements of operatlons (in thousands):

Year Ended Decomber 31,

Consolldated Statements of Operations

. o B S 2018 ) 2017 2018 Line ltem
4Forelgn currency lrnmlaﬂon adjuslmarrts o o o S o o o o
Loss(galn)on dlspo&hons continuing operahons % I — % (7468) Galnson busmess dlSpOSItIOﬂS
, Loss (gain) on country exls -continuing operabions —~~~ —_(87)_____(85) Oterincome (epense)net
Loss {gain) on dispositions - discontinued operatlons _ (14.718) 6.932 Lr;c:oc:??agoss) from discontinued operatlons,
Reaa_s;:ﬂ_caﬁ;n éc_ljaéh:ner-lg T T —_ {14.905) - {591} - - j
Unrealized galn (loss) on avallablo-for-sale securities o T
~0ﬂ_1_er¥a;1-?amporary mﬁmmantofavallable—fo;'-salé secur@ - _ 7 75944 o __.:"Oﬂwrsnoome (expense) nat I
Rex;llzed gam on mvestrnant [ 7 10%- S (1,341) - —j‘ -Bthermcome (axpense); net - )
 Less: Tax effect I o _ 2 Provision (beneft) for income taxes
Reclassification adjustment 106 1603 -
Ponsion adjustments 7 ) T o
Guaimentgam T T g T T Salling, general and administrative
. Amortization of ofnetaduanal lc:s:o.z;;lr;? S T T T E '____"R__S;i-llhg genaral_and admlnlstrallve_— —.
Less: Tax sfect - = = (g Provision (beneflforincometaxes
" 'Redessification adjustment — 585 a8 S
Tota];c;ags]ﬂéllo;adiu;irnanls T - 3 106 % (12mn % (493) - - T T
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9. FINANCING ARRANGEMENTS
Convertible Senior Notes

On April 4, 2016, we issued $250.0 million in aggregate principal amount of convertible senior notes (the "Notes") in a private placement to
A-G Holdings, L.P. ("AGH"), Michael Angelakis, the chairman and chief executive officer of Atairos Group, Inc. ("Atairos"), joined our Board of
Diractors in connection with the issuancs of the Notes. Atairos controls the veting power of AGH. The net proceeds from this offering were $243.2
million after deducting issuance costs. The Notas bear interest at a rate of 3.25% per annum, payable annually in arrears on April 1 of each year,
beginning on April 1, 2017. The Notes will mature on April 1, 2022, subject to earlier conversion or redemption.

Each $1,000 of principal amount of the Notes initially is convertible into 185.1852 shares of common stock, which is equivalent to an initial
conversion price of $5.40 per share, subject to adjustment upan the occurrence of specified events. Upon conversion, we can elect to settle the
conversion value In cash, shares of our common stock, or any combination of cash and shares of our common stock. Holders of the Notes may
convert their Notes at their option at any time until the close of business on the scheduled trading day immediately preceding the maturity date. In
addition, if specified corporate events occur prior to the maturity date, we may be required to increase the conversion rate for holders who elect to
convert based on the effective date of such event and the applicable stock price attributable o the event, as set forth in a table contained in the
indenture governing the Notes (the "Indenture”). Based on the closing price of the common stock of $3.20 as of December 31, 2018 , the if-
converted value of the Notes was less than the principal amount.

With certain exceptions, upon a fundamental change (as defined in the Indenture), the holders of the Notes may require us to repurchase all
or a portion of their Notes for cash at a purchase price equal to the principal amount plus accrued and unpaid interest. In addition, we may redeem
the Notes, at our option, at a purchase price equal to the principal amount plus accrued and unpaid interest on or after April 1, 2020, if the closing
sale price of the common stock exceeds 150% of the then-cumrent conversion price for 20 or more trading days in the 30 consecutive trading day
period preceding the exercise of this redemption right.

The Notes are senior unsecured obligations that rank equal in right of payment to afl senior unsecured indebtednass and rank senior in right
of payment to any indebtaedness that is contractually subordinated to the Notes.

The Indenture includes customary events of default. If an event of default, as defined in the Indenture, occurs and is continuing, the principal
amount of the Notes and any accrued and unpaid interest may be declared immediately due and payable. In the case of bankruptcy or insclvency,
the principal amount of the Notes and any accrued and unpaid interest would automatically become immediately due and payable.

We have separated the Notes into their liability and equity components in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets. The carrying
amount of the liability component was calculated by measuring the fair value of a similar liability that does not have an associated conversion
feature. The carrying amount of the equity component, representing the conversion option, was detemined by deducting the fair value of the liability
component from the principal amount of the Notes. The difference between the principal amount of the Notes and the liability component (the "debt
discount”) is amortized to interest expense at an effective interest rate of 9.75% over the term of the Notes. The equity componant of the Notes is
Inciuded In additional paid-in capital in the consolidated balance sheets and is not remeasured as long as it continues to meet the conditions for
equity classification.

Wa incurred transaction costs of approximately $6.8 million related to the issuance of the Notes. Those transactlon costs were allocated to
the liability and equity components in the same manner as the allocation of the proceeds from the Notes. Transaction costs attributable to the liability
component of $4.8 million were recorded as a debt discount in the consolidated balance shest and are being amortized to interest expense over the
tarm of the Notes. Transaction costs attributable to the equity component of $2.0 million were recorded in stockholders' equity as a reduction of the
equity component.
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The carrying amount of the Notes consisted of the following as of Dacembar 31, 2018 and 2017 (in thousands}):

December 31,
2018 2017
Liability component: ) ]
| prngpelemowt s 20000 5 2000
Less: debt discount o (48,331} (60.247)
[ Not corying smourt o bty somponent s 201669 3 189,753 |
[rNat canying a-m:)unt of aquity component $ 67,014 5 87,014 l

The estimated fair value of the Notes as of December 31, 2018 and 2017 was $257.1 million and $285.6 million , and was determined using
a lattice model. We classified the fair value of the Notes as a Level 3 measurement due to the lack of observable market data over fair value inputs
such as our stock price volatility over the term of the Notes and our cost of debt.

As of December 31, 2018 , the remaining term of the Notes is approximately 3 years and 3 months . During the years ended December 31,
2018, 2017 and 2016 , we recognized interest costs on the Notes as follows (in thousands):

Year Ended December 31,

- . o L 2018 2017 ) 2016
(Contractual intsrest (3.25% af the principal amount per annum) s 8128 $ 8128 § 6,005 |
Amortization of debt discount 11,916 10,758 } 7,376
Totsl N s 20044 $ 18,886 3 13,471 |

Note Hedges and Warrants

In May 2016, we purchased convertible note hedges with respect to our common stock for a cost of $59.1 million from cerain bank
counterparties. The convertible note hedges provide us with the right to purchase up to 46.3 million sharas of our common stock at an initial strike
price of $5.40 per share, which corresponds to the initial conversion price of the Noles, and are exercisable upon conversion of the Notes. The
convertible note hedges are intended to reduce the potential economic dilution upon conversion of the Notes. The convartible note hedges are

separate transactions and are not part of the terms of the Notes. Holders of the Notes do not have any rights with respect to the convertible note
hedges.

In May 2016, we also sold warrants for total cash proceeds of $35.5 million to certain bank counterparties. The warrants provide the
counterparties with the right to purchase up to 46.3 million shares of our common stock at a strike price of $8.50 per share. The warrants expire on
various dates between July 1, 2022 and August 26, 2022 and are exercisable on their expiration dates. The warrants are separate transactions and

are nol part of the terms of the Notes or convertible note hedges. Holders of the Notes and convertible note hedges do not have any rights with
respect to the warrants.

The amounts paid and received for the convertible note hedges and warrants were recorded In additional pald-in capltal in the consolidated
balance sheets as of Dacember 31, 2018 and 2017 . The convertible note hedges and warrants are not remeasured as long as they continue to
meet the conditions for equity classification. The amounts pald for the convertible note hedges are tax deductible over the term of the Notes, while
the proceeds received from the warrants are not taxable.

Under the Ifconverted method, the shares of common stock underlying the conversion optlon In the Notes are included in the diluted
earnings per share denominator and the interest expense on the Notes, net of tax, is added to the numerator. However, upon conversion, there will
be no economic dilution from the Notes, as exercise of the convertible note hedges eliminates any dilution from the Notes that would have otherwise
occurred when the price of our common stock exceeds the conversion price. Taken together, the purchase of the convertible note hedges and
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sale of warrants are intended to offset any actual dilution from the conversion of the Notes and to effectively increase the overall conversion price
from $5.40 to $8.50 per share.

Revolving Credit Agreement

The amended and restated senior secured revolving credit agreement entered into in June 2016 (the "Amended and Restated Credit
Agreement”) provides for aggregate principal borrowings of up to $250.0 million and matures in June 2019. Borrowings under the Amended and
Restated Credit Agreement bear intarest, at our option, at a rate per annum equal to the Altemate Base Rate or Adjusted LIBO Rate (each as
defined in the Amended and Restated Credit Agreement) plus an additional margin ranging between 0.50% and 2.25% . We are required to pay
quarterly commitment fees ranging from 0.25% to 0.40% per annum of the average daily amount of unused commitmaents available under the
Amended and Restated Credit Agreement. The Amended and Restated Credit Agreement also provides for the issuance of up to $45.0 million in
letters of credit, provided that the sum of outstanding bormowings and letters of credit do not exceed the maximum funding commitment of $250.0
millien .

The Amended and Restated Credit Agreement is secured by substantially all of our tangible and intangible assets, including a pledge of
100% of the outstanding capital stock of substantially all of our direct and indirect domestic subsidiaries and 65% of the shares or equity interasts of
first-tier foreign subsidiaries and each U.S. enlity whose assets substantially consist of capital stock andfor intercompany debt of one or mare
forsign subsidlarles, subject to certain exceptions. Certain of our domestic subsidiaries are guarantors under the Amended and Restated Credit

Agreement.

The Amended and Restated Cred|t Agreement contains varicus customary restrictive covenants that limit our ability to, among other things:
incur addltional Indebtedness; make dividend and other restricted payments, including share repurchases; enter into sale and leaseback
transaclions; make investments, loans or advances; grant or incur liens on assets; sell assets; engage in mergers, consolidations, liquidations or
dissolutions; and engage in fransactions with affiliates. The Amended and Restated Credit Agreement requires us to maintain compliance with
specified financial covenants, comprised of a minimum fixed charge coverage ratlo, a maximum leverage ratlo, a maximum senior secured
indebtedness ratio and a minimum liquidity ratio, each as set forth in the Amended and Restated Credit Agresment. We are also requirsd to
maintaln, as of the last day of each fiscal quarter, unrestricted cash of at least $400.0 million , including $200.0 million in accounts held with lenders
under the Amended and Restated Credit Agreement or their affiliates. Non-compliance with these covenants may result in termination of the
commitments under the Amended and Restated Credit Agreement and any then outstanding borrowings may be daclared due and payable
immediately. We have the right to terminate the Amended and Restated Credit Agreement or reduce the available commitments at any time.

As of December 31, 2018 and 2017 , we have no borrowings and have cutstanding letters of credit of $19.2 million and $22.7 million , under
the Amended and Restated Credit Agreement.

10 . CCMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES
Leases

We have entered into various non-cancelable operating [ease agreements for our offices and data centers thro ughout the world with lease
explrations between 2019 and 2026. Rent expense under operating leases was $40.1 million , $42.5 million and $45.4 million for the years ended
December 31, 2018 , 2017 and 2016 . Sublease incoma was $6.5 million , $7.1 million and $2.7 million for the years ended December 31, 2018 ,
2017 and 2016 .

We |ease our headquarters located in Chicago, lllinois ("600 West Chicago™). Our lease agreement for 60¢ West Chicago extends through
January 31, 2026 and Includes rent escalations that range from one to twa percent per year, as well as expanslon options and a five-year renewal
option. The 600 Waest Chicago leasa represents $87.5 million of the estimated future payments under operating leases shown in tha table below. Wa
account for the 600 West Chicago lease as an operating lease and recognize rent expense on a straight-line basis, taking into account rent
escalations and lease incentives.
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Certain of our computer hardware has been acquired under capital lease agreements, with expirations between 2019 and 2022,

Wae are responsible for paying our proportionate share of specified operating expenses and real estate, personal property and lease taxes
under certain of our operating and capital leases agreemants.

As of December 31, 2018 , the future payments under operating leases and capital leases for each of tha next five years and thereafter are
as follows (in thousands):

N ] B N o o N ) Capital Leases Operating Loases
2019 $ 18189 § 32,533 |

'2020 S ) ) o o ) ) _ _Eﬁi____ o 31:]16_
020 arma o oes !
2 et 26097
W23 L e,

Thereaftar . S - 31,633
3,274 8 170,199 |

Less: Amoun reprasenting interest , o (1,586)

20688
_ S i (17.207) L
“Total long-{erm capial lesse obligations ' -~ s 12,481

PR

[Present value of net minimum capital jease payments

[ —

_Less: Current portion of capital lease obligations

As of December 31, 2018 , the future amounts due under subleases for each of the next five years and thereafter are as follows (in
thousands):

Subleases

2009 s 508
2020 5,027
- X .-
2022 5,103
2023 U -3
Theresfter i T e o 4,891
Jotwl fture sublease ncome . ____ . __._.__  ._.__.__ . _.35 29,677 |

Purchase Obligations

We have entered into non-cancelable arrangements with third-parties, primarily related to cloud computing and other information technology
sarvices. As of December 31, 2018 , future payments under these contractual obligations were as follows (in thousands):

2 R 1 :.: 3
2020 7,300
021 o 1
2022 3,400
2023 oL , T -
Thereafter ooy s e e
Tolal purchase obligatons 8 27,368 |
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Legal Matters and Other Contingencles

From time to time, we are party to various legal proceedings incident to the operation of our business. For example, we currently are
involved in proceedings brought by former employees and merchants, intellectual property infringement suits, customer lawsults, consumer class
actions and suits alleging, among other things, violations of state consumer protection or privacy laws. The following is a brief description of
significant legal proceedings.

On March 2, 2016, Intemational Business Machines Corporation ("IBM™) filed a complaint in the United States District Court for the District
of Delaware against us (the "Delaware Action™). In the Delaware Action, IBM alleged that we infinged certain IBM patents that IBM claimed relate to
the presentation of applications and advertising In an interactlve service, preserving state information in online transactions and single sign-on
processes in a computing environment and sought damages (including a request that the amount of compensatory damages be trebled}, injunctive
relief and costs and reasonable attomeys’ faes. On July 27, 2018, a jury in this matter retumed a verdict finding we willfully infringed each of these
patents and awarded damages of $82.5 million to IBM.

On May 9, 2016, we filed a complaint in the United States District Court for the Northem District of lliinois against iBM (the "illinois
Action"). We alleged that IBM infringed ane of our patents relating to location-based services.

On September 28, 2018, we entered into settlement and license agreements with IBM fully resolving the Delaware Action, the lliinois Action
and related proceedings with IBM. The settlement terms provide for the payment of $57.5 million to IBM, a cross-license to the parties’ respective
patent portfolios, mutual releases of claims and the dismissal with prejudice of the Delaware Action and the illinois Action. On Qctober 1, 2018, the
court in the Illinois Action entered an order dismissing the lllinofs Action with prejudice. On October 2, 2018, the court in the Delaware Action entered
an order dismissing the Delaware Action with prejudice.

Woe allocated the settlement amount between the litigation setllement component and the license for future use of the patented technology
based on their relative fair values, which resulted in a $34.6 million charge recorded within Selling, general and administrative expsnse in our
consolidated statements of operations to increase our contingent liability and $15.4 million that was capitalized for the license to use the patented
tachnology in future periods under the terms of the setement and licenss agresments.

In addition, other third parties have from time to time daimed, and others may daim in the future, that we have infringed their intellectual
property rights. We are subject to intellectual property disputes, including patent Infringement claims, and expect that we will continue to be subject
to intellectual property infringement claims as our services expand in scope and complexity. In the past, we have litlgated such claims, and we are
presently involved in several patent infringement and other intellectual property-related claims, including pending litigation or trademark disputes
relating to, for example, our Goods category, some of which could involve potentially substantial claims for damages or injunctive relief. We may
also become more vulnerable to third-party claims as laws such as the Digltal Millennium Copyright Act are interpreted by the courts, and wae
become subject to laws in jurisdictions where the underying laws with respect to the potential liability of anline intermediaries are either unclear or
less favorable. We believe that additional lawsuits alleging thal we have violated patent, copyright or trademark laws will be filed against us.
Intellectual property claims, whether meritorious or not, are time consuming and often costly to resolve, could require expensive changes in our
methods of doing business or the goods we sell, or could require us to enter into costly royalty or licensing agreements.

We also are subject to consumer claims or lawsults relating to alleged violations of consumer protection or privacy rights and statutes, some
of which could involve potentially substantial claims for damages, including statutory or punitive damages. Consumer and privacy related claims or
lawsuits, whether meritorious or not, could be time consuming, result in costly litigation, damage awards, fines and penalties, injunctive relief or
increased costs of doing business through advarse judgment or setlement, or require us to change our business practices, sometimes in expensive
ways.

We are also subject to, or In the future may become subject to, a variety of regulatory inquiries, audits, and investigations across the
|urisdictions where we conduct our business, including, for example, inguiries related to consumer protection, employment matters and/or hiring
practices, marketing practices, tax, unclaimed property and privacy rules and regulations. Any regulatory actions against us, whether meritorious or
not, could be time consuming, result In costly litigation, damage awards, fines and penalties, injunctive relief or increased costs of doing business
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through adverse judgment or settlement, require us to change our business practices in expensive ways, require significant amounts of
management time, result in the diversion of significant operational resources or otherwise harm our business.

We establish an accrued liability for loss contingencles related to legal and regulatory matters when the loss is both probable and
reasonably estimable. Those accruals represent management's best estimate of probable losses and, in such cases, there may be an exposure to
loss in excess of the amounts accrued. For certain of the matters described above, there are inherent and signlificant uncertaintiss based on, among
other factors, the stage of the proceedings, developments in the applicable facts of law, or the lack of a specific damage claim. However, we believe
that the amount of reascnably possible losses in excess of the amounts accrued for those matters would not have a material adverse effect on our
business, consolidated financial position, results of operations cr cash flows. Qur accrued liabilities for loss contingencies related to legal and
regulatory matlers may change in the future as a result of new developments, Including, but not limited to, the occurrence of new legal matters,
changes in the law or regulatory environment, adverse or favorable rulings, newly discovered facts relevant to the matter, or changses in the strategy
for the matter. Regardless of the outcoms, litigation and othar regulatory matters can have an adverse impact on us because of defense and
settlement costs, diversion of management resources and other factors.

Indemnlifications

In connection with the dispositions of our operations in Latin America (see Note 3 , Discontinued Operations and Other Business
Dispositions ), we agreed to indemnify the buyer for certain tax and other matters. The indemnification liabilities were initially recorded at their fair
value, estimated to be $5.4 million using a probability-weighted expected cash flow approach, upon closing of the transactions as an adjustrnent to
the net loss on the dispositions within discontinued cperatians. We estimate that the total amount of obligations that are reasonably possible to arise
under the indemnifications in excess of amounts accrued as of December 31, 2018 is approximately $18.0 million .

In the normal course of business to facilitate transactions related to our operations, we indemnify certsin parties, including employees,
lessors, service providers, merchants, and counterparties to investment agreements and asset and stock purchase agreements with respect to
various matters. We have agreed to hold certain parties hammless against losses arising from a breach of representations or covenants, or other
claims made against those parties. These agreements may limlit the time within which an indemnification claim can be made and the amount of the
claim. We are also subject to increased exposure to various claims as a result of our divestitures and acquisitions, particularly in cases where we
are entering into new businesses in connection with such acquisitions. We may alsc become more vulnerable to claims as we expand the range and
scope of our sarvices and are subject to laws in jurisdictions where the underlying laws with respect to potential liability are either unclear or less
favorable. In addition, we have entered into indemnification agreements with our officers, directors and underwriters, and our bylaws contain similar
indemnification obligations that cover officers, directors, employees and other agents.

Except as noted above, it is not possible fo determine the maximum potentlal amount under these indemnification agreements due to the
limited history of prior indemnification claims and the unique facts and circumstances involvad in each particular agreement. Historically, any
payments that we have made under these agreements have not had a materfal Impact on the operating results, financial position or cash flows.

11 . STOCKHCOLDERS' EQUITY

Preferred Stock

Our Board of Directors (the "Board™) has the authority, without approval by the stockholders, to issue up to a total of 50,000,000 shares of
preferred stock in one or rmore series. The Board may establish the number of shares to be included in each such series and may fix the
designations, preferences, powers and other rights of the shares of a series of preferred stock. The Board could authorize the Issuance of preferred

stock with voting or conversion rights that could dilute the voting power or rights of the holders of our common stock. As of December 31, 2018 and
2017 , there were no shares of preferred stock outstanding.
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Common Stock

Prior to October 31, 2016, our certificate of incorporation, as amended and restated, authorized three classes of common stock: Class A
common stock, Class B common stock and common stock. On October 31, 2016, each share of our Class A common stock and Class B common
stock automatfcally converted into a single class of common stock pursuant to the terms of our sixth amended and restated certificate of
incorporation. Upon convarsion, all shares of Class A common stock and Class B common stock were retired.

Pursuant to our restated certificate of incorporation, the Board has the authority to issue up to a total of 2,010,000,000 shares of common
stock. Each holder of common stock shall be entitled to one vote for each such share on any matter that is submitted to a vote of stockholders. In
addition, holders of the common stock will vote as a single class of stock on any matter that Is submitted to a vote of stockholders.

Prior to October 31, 2016, holders of Class A common stock and Class B common stock had identical rights, except that holders of Class A
common stock were entiled to one vole per share and holders of Class B common stock were entitled to 150 votes per share.

Share Repurchase Program

In May 2018, the Board authorized us to repurchase up to $300.0 million of cur common stock under a new share repurchase program. The
pricr share repurchase program, which autharized repurchases up to $700.0 million , expired in April 2018. During the year ended December 31,
2018 , we repurchased 3,252,886 shares for an aggregate purchase price of $10.0 million (including fess and commissions) under the new
repurchase program. No amounts were repurchased under the prior share repurchase program during the year ended December 31, 2018. As of
December 31, 2018, up to $290.0 million of common stock remained available for purchase under the new program. The timing and amount of
share repurchases, if any, will be determined based on market conditions, limitations under the Amended and Restated Credit Agreement, share
price and other factors, and the share repurchase program may be terminated at any time.

12 . COMPENSATION ARRANGEMENTS
Groupon, Inc. Stock Plans

In January 2008, we adopted the 2008 Stock Option Plan, as amended (the 2008 Flan"), under which options for up to 64,618,500 shares
of common stock were autharized to be Issued to employees, consultants and directors. The 2008 Plan was frozen in December 2010. In April 2010,
we established the Groupon, Inc. 2010 Stock Plan, as amended in April 2011 (the "2010 Plan"}, under which options and restricted stock units
{"RSUs") for up to 20,000,000 shares of common stock were authorized for future issuance to employees, consultants and directors. No new awards
may be granted under the 2010 Plan following our initial public offering in November 2011. In August 2011,we established the Groupon, Inc. 2011
Stock Plan (the 2011 Plan"), as amended in November 2013, May 2014 and June 2016, under which options, RSUs and performance stock units
for up to 150,000,000 shares of common stock wers authorized for fiture issuance 1o employees, consultants and directors.

The Groupon, Inc. Stock Plans described above {the "Plans”™) are administered by the Compensation Committee of the Board {the
"Compensation Committee"). As of December 31, 2018 , 54,927,088 shares of common stock were available for future issuance under the Plans.
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The stock-based compensalion expense related to stock awards issued under the Plans and acquisition-related awards are presented
within the following line items of the consolidated statements of operations for the years ended Deacember 31, 2018 , 2017 and 2016 (in thousands):

Year Ended December 31,

o e 2018 2017 ] 2016
Costofrevenwe s tass s ___ 2658 5 3840
Marketing_ e .o_._. . Bo4 78 83
Sellng, generaland agmivistratve _ __ __ ______ sez8 70343 _ ___ s6g5
Restructuring charges LT %8 4T
M(egpﬁe). net o 100 245 851

Tolal stock-based compensation expense $ 64,821 $§ 82,044 % 115,123

We recognized stock-based compensation from discontinued operations of $0.2 million and $3.1 million for the years ended December 31,
2017 and 2016. We also capitalized $7.4 milion , $6.2 milfion , and $9.3 million of stock-based compensation for the years ended December 31,
2018 , 2017 and 2016 , in connection with internally-developed software. As of December 31, 2018 , $95.2 milllon of unrecognized compensation
costs related to unvested employee stock awards are expected to be recognized over a remaining weighted-average period of 1.35 years.

Employee Stock Purchase Plan

We are authorized to grant up to 10,000,000 shares of common stock under our employee stock purchase plan, For the years ended
December 31, 2018 , 2017 and 2016, 1,621,061, 1,879,656 and 1,669,782 shares of common stock were Issued under the ESPP.

Restricted Stock Units

The resiricted stock units granted under the Plans generally have vesting periods between one and four years and are amortized on a
straight-line basis over their requisite sarvice period. Additionally, we are required o issue restricted stock units to settle amounts that exceed
targeted bonus amounts under our primary bonus plans. We account for those obligations as a liability-classified award with performance conditions.
The table below summarizes restricled stock unlt activity under the Pians for the year ended December 31, 2018 ;

Welghted- Average Grant
Restrictad Stock Units Date Falr Value (per share)

[Unvaded at December 31, 2617 o 5 28,939,110 3 4.32_]
Granted 19,376,465 4.59
r\l&ated (15,226,639) 4.46 ]
Forfeited (6,465,504) 4.31
[Unvasted at December 31, 2018 $ 26,623,432 § 4.47 ]

The weighted-average grant date fair value of restricted stock units granted in 2017 and 2016 was $4.10 and $3.93 . The fair value of
restricted stock units that vested during each of the three years ended December 31, 2018, 2017 and 2016 was $64.1 million , $67.0 million and
$88.2 million .

Performance Share Units
The performance share units granted under the Plans vest in shares of our cornmon stock upon the achievement of financial and

operational targets specified in the respective award. The awards are subject to both continued employment through the performance period
dictated by the award and certification by the Compensation Committee that the specified financial and operational targets have been achieved.
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During the year ended December 31, 2018 , we granted performance share units for which the maximum number of common shares
issuable upon vesting was 7,972,780 shares and the weighted-average grant date fair value was $4.88 per unit. Based on our financial and
operational results for the year ended December 31, 2018, 1,261,730 shares with a total grant date fair value of $6.2 million became issuable upon
vesting of the performance share units following the Compensation Committee's approval in February 2019,

During the year ended December 31, 2018 , 278,635 shares of our cornmon stock were issued related to performance share units granted
in the previous year following the Compensation Committee’s certification of the financial and operational metrics for the year ended December 31,
2017 . The weighted-average grant date fair value of those units was $3.78 per share. The fair value of the parformance share units that vested
during the year ended December 31, 2018 was $1.3 million .

Restricted Stock Awards

We previously granted restricted stock awards in connection with business combinations. Compensation expense on those awards was
recognized on a straight-line basis over the requisite service periods of the awards. During the year ended December 31, 2017, 1.2 million
restricted shares with a fair value of $5.2 million vested. The fair value of restricted stock that vested during the year ended December 31, 2016
was $2.2 million . There were no restricted shares outstanding as of December 31, 2017.

Stock Optlons

The exerclse price of stock options granted is equal to the fair value of the underlylng stock on the date of grant. The contractual term for
stock optlons expires ten years from the grant date. Stock options generally vested over a three - or four -year period, with 25% of the awards
vesting after one year and the remainder of the awards vesting on a monthly or quarterly basis thereafter.

The table below summarizes the stock option activity for the year ended December 31, 2018 ;

Walghted- Average Aggragate Intrinslc
Welghted- Average Remaining Contractual Value
o - S Optlons ] Exerclse Price Term (In years} ) (in thousands) {1
JOutstanding and exercisable at December 31,2017 = § gesse0 $ 062 176 % 3.967
Exercised (672793 - 042 L N
i Forfeited — — N
Outstanding and exerclsable at December 31, 2018 3 212,787 1.80 137 % 298

(1) The aggregate Intrinsic value of options outstanding and exercisable represents the lotal pretax Intrinsic value (the difference between the fair valus of our steck on the
last day of each pariod and the exercise price, multiplied by the number of options where the fair value exceeds the exercise price) that would have been raceived by the
option holders had all option hokders exercised their optlons as of December 31, 2018 and 2017 , respectively.

We did not grant any stock options during the years ended December 31, 2018 , 2017 and 2016 . The total intrinsic value of options that
were exercised during the years ended December 31, 2018 , 2017 and 2016 was $3.2 million , $4.0 million and $1.2 million .

13 . REVENUE RECOGNITION

Product and service revenue are generated from sales transactions through our online marketplaces in three primary categories: Local,
Goods and Travel.

Product revenue is earned from direct sales of merchandise inventory to customers and Includes any related shipping fees. Service revenue
primarily represents the net commissions eamed from selling goods and services provided by third-party merchants. Those marketplace
transactions generaliy involve the online delivery of a voucher that can be redeemed by the purchaser with the third-party merchant for goods or
services (or for discounts on goods or services). To a lesser extent, service revenue also includes commissions eamed when customers make

purchases
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with retailers using digital coupons accessed through our websites and mobile applications. Additionally, in the United States we have recently been
developing and testing voucherless offerings that are linked to customer credit cards. Customers claim those voucherless merchant offerings
through our online marketplaces and eam cash back on their credit card statements when they transact with the related merchants, who pay us
commissions for such transactions.

In connection with most of our product and service revenue transactions, we collect cash from credit card payment processors shortly after
a sale ocours. For transactions in which we eam commissions when customers make purchases with retailers using digital coupons accessed
through our websites and mobile applications, we generally collect payment from affiliate networks on terms ranging from 30 to 150 days.

As discussed in Note 2, Summary of Significant Accounting Policies , we previously referred to our product revenue and service revenue as
"direct revenue” and "third-party and other revenue,” respectively.

Adoption of ASC Topic 606, Revanue from Contracts with Customers

On January 1, 2018, we adopted Accounting Standards Codification Topic 606 using the modified retrospective method. Beginning
on January 1, 2018, results are presented in accordance with the revised policies, while prior period amounts are not adjusted and continue to be
reported in accordance with our historical policies. The adoption of Topic 606 did not significantly impact our presentation of revenue on a gross or
net basis. The following changes resulted from the adopticn of Topic 606:

« For merchant agreaments with redemption payment terms, the merchant Is not paid Its share of the sale price for a voucher sold through
ane cof our online marketplaces until the customer redeems the related voucher. If the customer does not redeem a voucher with such
merchant payment terms, we retain all of the gross billings for that voucher, rather than retaining only our net commission. Prior to our
adoption of Topic 606, we recognlzed that variable consideration from unredeemed vouchers and derscognized the related accrued
merchani payables when our legal obligation to the merchant expired, which we believe is shortly after the voucher expiration date in most
jurisdictions. Following our adoption of Topic 606, we estimate the variable consideration from vouchers that will not ultimately be redeemed
and recognize that amount as revenue at the time of sale, rather than when our legal obligation expires. We estimate variable consideration
from unredeemed vouchers using our historical voucher redemption experience. Most vouchers sold through the marketplace in the United
States do not have expiration dates and redemption payment terms were not widely used In that jurisdiction before 2017, so the North
America segment did not have variable consideration from unredeemad vouchers In prior periods.

+  Prior o our adoption of Topic 606, we expensed the incremental costs to obtain contracts with third-party merchants, such as sales
commissicns, as incurred. Following our adoption of Topilc 606, those costs are deferred and recognized over the expected period of the
merchant arrangement, generally from 12 to 18 months. As of December 31, 2018, we had $2.9 million and $11.3 million of deferred
contract acquisition costs recorded within Prepaid expensas and other current assets and Other non-current assets, respectively. For the
year ended December 31, 2018, we amortized $25.2 million of deferred contract acquisition costs and did not recognize any impairment
losses in relation to the deferred costs.

»  Prior to our adoption of Topic 606, we recognized breakage income for unused customer credits when they expired or were forfeited.
Following our adoption of Toplc 608, breakage income from customer credits that are not expected to be used is estimated and recognized
as revenue in proportion to the pattem of redemption for customer credits that are used.

*  Prior to our adoption of Topic 606, we deferred the revenue from hotel reservation offerings until the customer's stay commenced. Following
our adoption of Topic 606, revenue from hotel reservation offerings Is recognized at the time the reservation is made, net of an allowance
for estimated canceliations.

+  Prior to our adoption of Topic 606, we classified refunds on service revenue transactions for which the merchant’s share of the refund
amount is not recoverabie as a cost of revenue. Following our adoption of Topic 606, those refunds are classified as a reduction of revenue.

« Prior to our adoption of Topic 606, we classified credits issued to consumers for relationship purposes as a marketing expense. Following
our adoption of Topic 606, those credits are classified as a reduction of revenue.
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We recorded a net reductlen to our opening accumulated deficit of $88.9 million , which Is net of a $6.7 million income tax effect, as

of January 1, 2018 due to the cumulative impact of adopting Topic 606. The following table summarizes balance sheet accounts impacted by the
cumulative effect of adopting Topic 608 (in thousands);

Increass (decrease) to beginning
Account

) accumulated deficit

{Propald expenses and olher current assels e e $ e e (400D
Other non-current assats o o e (1_0.223) ]
Icorued merchant and suppler payables (4o
Accrued expenses and other current liabililes . (13.1_8_-5)7
l@iher nen-current liabilities o ___:______ = o - ' 3,443 i
Effact on beginning accumulated deficit 3 (88,945)

Sea Note 2 , Summary of Significant Accounting Policies , for additional information about our revenue recognition policies after the
adoption of Topic 606.
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Impacts on Consolldated Financial Statements

The following tables summarize the impacts of adopting Topic 606 on our consolidated financiat statements as of and for the year ended
December 31, 2018 (in thousands);

Consolidated Balance Sheet

December 31, 2018

Balances without
adoption of Topic
As raported Effects of Topic 608 606

e . - .
Jotal asets & 1842142 5 _(10948) % 1,631,194 |
Total liabilitles 1,258,531 103,878 1,383,409
— e _— R A N
(Jotal equity .. /%B2811 (114826)  267.785 ]

Consolidated Statements of Operations

Year Ended December 31, 2018
Balances without

adoption of Topic
o - As reported Effects of Topic 606 806
Revenwe: |
Service revenue ' e _______5___1_,{05,487 5_‘ _ 522 s o 1,206,0_09_
' Productrevenue 1,431,258 — ‘m 1,431,259 |
JI_E_l_rﬂL}e L ) o L 2,636,746 522 2,837,268
Costofrevenve: e
_ Service costofrevenve ® . . __. . 1o 25436 145513
. Productcostofrevenve 1,196,068 — 1.196.068_1
_ Costofrevenge®» o 1,316,145 25,436 1,341,581
Grosspoft 1,320,801 (24.914) 1,205,687 |
Operating expenses: U o
HMarkd.’ng = T 395,737 7.867 403.3@
Selling.generglﬂadminislmﬁve_“l e __ B70,961 (3.092) 867,869
| Restucwrngchages 1) — (138)!
___Tﬂoge@_hﬁ_gua;g_en_seg_ o o 1,266,562 4775 _ 1,271,337
(income (loss) from operations . 54088 _ __ _(29689) 24350 |
Otherincome (expenseh net . __ . _. . {53,008) - . (53.008)
ncome (loss) befors provislon (benefit for incometaxes 1031 (20689) _ ___  (28,658)]
Provision (benefil) for income taxes®™ (957) (803) (1.760)
INetIncome (loss) - s 1988 § 28.388) § (26,898)|

{1) For the year ended December 31, 2018, the adoption of Toplc 606 resulted in a $33.3 million decrsase lo Revenue for refunds on service ravenue
transactions for which the merchant's share is not recovarable and customer credlts issued for relationshlp purposes, partially offzet by Increases of $27.2
million related to the timing of recognition of varlable conslderation from unredearmed vouchers, $2.6 million related to the timing of recognition of ravenue
from hotel reservation offerings and $3.0 mililion related to the timing of recognilion of breakage revenue frem customer credits that are not expected to be
used.

(2) Reflects decreases to Cost of ravenue following the adoption of Toplc 606 for refunds on servica ravenue transactions for which lhe marchant's share is not
recoverabla.

(3) Reflects decreases to Marketing expense following the adoption of Topic 606 for customer credis Issued for relationship purposes.
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4) Reflacts increases to Selling, general and administrative expanse for the amortization of deferred contract acquisition cosls in excess of amounts capitalized.

{5) For the year ended December 31, 2018, we recognized an income lax benefit of $6.4 mlllion resulting from the impact of adopting Topic 606 on intercompany
aclivilty in certain foreign jurisdictions. That income tax benefit Is nat reflacted In this table, which presents the direct impacts of adopling Topic 606.

Segment and Category Information

Year Ended December 31, 2018
Balances without

adopticn of Topic
o B o ) S As reported Effects of Toplc 606 B 606
North Amedica L L
. Servica revenue: o o L A S
Cleeal § 752863 S (1050 S _ 751813.
Travel o o 7856 ) {1.460) 70386
SGoods . s M3 18398
_ Product revenue - Goods - , U 796,393 - 796,383
Tots North Americareveruss 1,639,395 (2.397) 1,636,998 |
Service revenue: N ) o Lo I
_Local L S _we 2288 308,986 |
Travel _ . smes B (262) 40,921
- | B 7Y S 15497 |
~ Product revenue - Goods 634,866 — 634,866
:Tots_a_l_qnpma_gonglrramuq S 7 897,351 2,919 1,000,270 .
comida T o e
Service revenue: L |
oat S 1089563 1208 1060799 |
Travel o 30 {(1722) 111,317
CGesds o wmess 18 %ol
_ Prqdqct rgve_nue_—Go(_st 1,431,259 ) - 1,431,259
Total Consolideted Reverve g 2,636,746 3 522 3 2,637,268 |
Contract Balances

A substantlal majority of our deferred revenue relates to product sales for which revenue will be recognized as the products are delivered to
customers, generally within one week following the balance sheet date. Our deferred revenue was $25.8 million and $25.5 million as of January 1,
2018 and Dacember 31, 2018. The amount of revenue recognized for the year endad December 31, 2018 that was included in the deferred revenue
balance at the beginning of the period was $25.1 million .
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The following table summarizes the activity in the liability for customer credits for the year ended Decembser 31, 2018 (in thousands):

Customer Credits

Balance as of January 1, 2018 e $ 19,414 |

Credils issued 126,874
[ Credits redeemed R e (112.161)]
Breakage revenue recognized (18,802)
Lfg_e“lgn currency transiation T T _-_1""-_ o T __(-ZO_Tﬂ
Balance as of December 31, 2018 $ 15,118

(1) Customer credlts can be redesmed through our online marketplaces for goods or services provided by a lhird-party merchant or for merchandise inventory
sold by us. When customer credils are redeermed for goods or services provided by a third-party merchant, service revenuse Is recognlzed on a net basls as
the difference between the carrying amount of the customer credit liability derecognized and the amount due to the merchant for the related transaction.
When customer credits are redeemed for merchandlse inventory sold by us, product revenue s recognized on a gross basis equal to the amount of the
customer credit liabillty derecagnized. Cuslomer credits are primarily used within one year of issuanca.

14 . RESTRUCTURING

In September 2015, we commenced a restructuring plan relating primarily to workforce reductions in our International operations, We have
also undertaken workforce reductions in our North America segment. In addltion to workforce reductions in our ongoing markets, we ceased
operations in 17 countries within our Intemational segment as part of the restructuring plan between September 2015 and March 2016. Those
country exits, which generally comprised our smallest intermational markets, resulted from a series of separate decisions made at different times
during that pericd that were not part of an overall strategic shift. Costs related to the restructuring plan are classified as Restructuring charges on the
consolidated statements of operatlons. The actions under our restructuring plan were completed as of September 30, 2017 and substantially all of
the cash payments for actions under that plan were disbursed as of December 31, 2018.

During the third quarter of 2017, we reached a decislon to cease most of our food delivery operations and entered intc a long-term
commercial agresment with a subsidiary of Grubhub that will allow us to provide customers with the ability to order food delivery through our
websites and mobile applications in the United States from Grubhub's network of restaurant merchants. See Note 6, Goodwill and Other Intangible
Assets, for additional Information. For the ysar ended December 31, 2017, our restructuring costs assoclated with ceasing those food delivery
operations were $2.6 million , primarily related to employee severance. Additionally, we entered into an agreement to sell customer lists and cther
intangible assets in certain food delivery markets to Grubhub.

We incurred cumulative costs for employee severance and benefits and other exit costs of $80.1 million under the plan since its inception in
September 2015. In addition to those costs, we incurred cumulative long-lived asset Impairment charges of $7.5 million resulting from our
restructuring activities. The amounts presented in Restructuring charges for the year ended December 31, 2018 reflect changes in estimates related
to prior actlons.

The following tables summarize costs Incurred by segment related to the restructuring plan for the years ended December 31, 2018 , 2017
and 2016 (in thousands):

Year Ended December 31, 2018

Employes Severance Total Restructuring
and Boenafit Costs Asset Impalrments Other Exit Costs Charges
[North America $ — 3 — 3 177_$ 177
Intemational (353) — 40 (313)
'Consolidated $ (353) $ — 3 217 § (138)|
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Year Ended December 31, 2017

Employee
Severance and

Total Restructuring

_ } S Benefit Costs 1 Assat Impairments Other Exlt Costs Chargas
INorth America 3 8172 § _ S — 5 3826 § 11,998
_Intemalional 4814 —_ 2,016 6.830
‘Consolldated 5 12,986 § — 3 5842 § 18,828'
Year Ended Decamber 31, 2016
Employes
North America 8. 858 8 _45S __ 33ms  1igen
International 25,499 283 2,759 28,541
Consolidated s 34,047 § 328§ 6063 $ 40,438

(1) The employea severance and benefit cosls for the years ended Decamber 31, 2017 and 2016 related to the termination of approximately 750 and 900 esmployess.

(2) Asset impairments refated to property, equipment and software that were delermined o be impalred as a result of our restructuring activities.

The following table summarizes restructuring liability activity for the years ended December 31, 2018 and 2017 (in thousands)

Employee
Severance and

o o ) - R Benefit Costs  Other Exit Costs Total
Balance as of Docember 31,2016 _ S.. . M135§ 2200 8 163%

Charges payable In cash & - 12,140 5,842 17,982

Cash payments {23,117) (7325) i 7 (30943)l

Foreign currency t{anslation_ 659 28 687
‘Balance as of December 31, 2017 N _ $ 3817 § L. _-5 411,
. Charges payable in cash _ Lo sy A (188
 Ceshpayments _ - N ' W - )
_ Foreign cumency translation L (89) - {89)
Bolancessof Decomber 31,2018 . _§ 1119 $ — 3 1119

Exdudes stock-based compensatlon of $0.8 million related to accelerated vesting of stock-based compensation awards for certain employees terminated as a resull of
our rastructuring actlvitles.

1

15.INCOME TAXES

The components of pretax income (loss) from continuing operations for the years ended December 31, 2018 , 2017 and 2016 were as
follows (in thousands):

Year Ended Dacember 31,

2018 _ 2017 2016
Unlted States L s 23343 § 30005 3 (118,025) ]
International o ) o (22,318) 6,050 {52,432)
Income (loss) before provisin (benefi) for Income taxes s 1081 § 38,145 $ (171,527)
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The provision (benefit) for income taxes for the years ended December 31, 2018 , 2017 and 2016 was allocated between continuing
operations and discontinued operations as follows (in thousands):

Yaar Ended December 31,

L L . 2018 2017 _ 2016
Continuing Operations - - s @) s 754 S (5.318)]
Discontinued Operations — — 2.771
\Total $ (957) $ 7544 8§ (2,547

The provision {benefit) for income taxes from continuing operations for the years ended December 31, 2018 , 2017 and 2016 consisted of
the following components {in thousands):

Year Ended December 31,

2018 2017 2016
{Currerrt taxes; . |
US. federal . $ 768 5 120y 8 ~{1,099)
[_State 57 191 9121
_Intemnatfonal . 3,218 6,870 5,311
Total current taxes 4043 6941 5,130 |
Deforred taxes: _ .
|_U.S. federal _ (319) (1,335) (4.262)]
State o — 50 (1)
{ International e ; . e {4.681) 1888 6.175)]
Total deferred taxes o . _ (5,000) 603 (10,448)
[Provision (beneft) for income taxes 7 $ (957) $ 7,544 :s (5,318)
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The items accounting for differences between the income tax provision (benefit) from continuing operations computed at the U.S. federal
statutory rate and the provision (benefit) for income taxes for the years ended December 31, 2018 , 2017 and 2016 were as follows (in thousands}):

Foreign income and losses taxed at different rates m
Slate income taxes, net offederai benaﬁts and stete tax cradlts

Change In valuahon allowances

) Tax affacls of mlercompany Lransachons
_Adjustments refated to uncertaln tax poslﬂons o
Non-daduchble stock-basad compensatlon expense
Tax shortfalls on stock-based compensation awards
~ Non-deductible (ar nan-axable) change in falr value of investmant
Foderal research and development crediis
) Forglvenass of Imeroompany Eabilltles
'Deductions for Investments in subsidiarias lhat hava oeasad operauons
) _Ordlnary stock Ioss
_Non-taxable gains on busln&ss dnspostﬂons
‘Non-deductible or non-taxable items

Provlsbn {bensfit) for income taxes

{1)

(2)

Year Ended Dacember 31,

2018 2017
3 216 % 12,651 § (60,035)
2,113 4,524 9410
1,968 (4,980) @.69);
) 3829 (36,057) 13,797
1544 . 20466 7,135 |
607 ) 3332 853
L e .o 1824 _ (4.899))
e o8z . 3.002 6.724
- - N 12585
) - LT 4.484
 (8331)  (7.862) (8,547);
| (1.340) (2.494) 15,187
- - 7(545):
(1815 - —.
. ; — _. .. . (3.481);
7,332 6,848 6,808
i ©57) $ 7544 $ (5.318)]

Tax rates In forelgn Jurisdictions were ganerally lower than the U.S. federal statutory rate through December 31, 2018. This results in an adverse impact to the provision
{baneflt) for incoma taxes In this rale reconciliation for the years ended Dacember 31, 2018, 2017 and 2016, prior to the impact of valuation allowances, dus to the net
pretax losses from continuing operations in certain foreign jurisdictions with lower tax rates.

The effact of income tax rate changes on deferred ttems for the year endad December 31, 2017 is primarily related to the U.S. tax reform legislation that was signed into
law an December 22, 2017, which included a reduction of the U.S. Faderal income tax rate ta 21 percent. That rate reduction did not impact our provision for Income

taxes for the year ended December 31, 2017 due to the valuation allowance against our U.S. net deferred tax assets.
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The deferred income lax assets and liabilities consisted of the following components as of December 31, 2018 and 2017 (in thousands):

December 31,

L ) 3 ) 2018 2017
Deferred tax @ssets: .~~~ . _ _ - .
_ Accrued expenses and other liabllities ) $ 25694  § 36.786
. Stockbased compensation o i o osaer_ 3720
. Netoperating loss and tax credil camyforwards_ _ _ w328 208040
_ Intangible assets, net S o ) I 16482 23722
. Investments N _ . U . . L
_ Unrsalized forsign curency exchangelosses ___ __ S - R 2771 |
__CM__J o i _ o o L o L 1,021 ) 687
__ Towmldefemedtaxassls _ . _ . _ ______ . _ %A% _ __ 26540 ]
 Less: Valuation allowances e L (228,023) (238,702)
| Deferred tax asssts, net of valuation allowsnce S S 34,467 37,838 |
Defored tx labilles:___ e i o
| Propsid expensesandotherassets . _ . __ . __ 2 ootn)
_Propery.cquipmentand sotware,net . (25 _ __ (11319
 Converthie senlor notes o . o - @asn) (2773)]
Deferred revenue S _ S (7,255) (10.436)
| Towldeferved tax abitbes - (35,025) (34,535)
Net defarred tax asset (liabllity) $ (558) $ 3,303

We havea incurred significant losses in recent periods and had an accumulated deficit of $1,010.5 million as of December 31, 2018 . As a
result, we maintained valuation allowances against our domestic deferred tax assets and substantially all of our foreign deferred tax assets as of
December 31, 2018 and 2017 to reduce their camying values to amounts that are realizable either through future reversals of existing taxable

temporary differences or through taxable incoms in carryback years for the applicable jurisdictions.

We had $233.1 million of federal and $1,057.5 million of state net operating loss camyforwards as of December 31, 2018 , which will begin
expiring in 2027 and 2019. As of December 31, 2018 , we had $462.2 million of foreign net operating loss carryforwards, a significant portion of

which carry forward for an indefinite period.

We are subject to taxation in the United States, state jurisdictions and fareign jurisdictions. Significant judgment is required in determining
the worldwide provision for income taxes and recording the related income tax assets and llabilities. We recognize the financial statement benefit of
a tax position only aftar determining that the relevant tax authority would more likely than not sustain the position following an audit. For tax positions
rmeeting the more-likely-than-not criterion, the amount recognized in the financial statements is the largest benefit that has a greater than 50 percent

likelihood of being realized upon ultimate setttement with the relevant tax authority.
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The following table summarizes activity related to our gross unrecognized tax benefits, excluding interest and penalties, for the years ended
December 31, 2018 , 2017 and 2016 (in thousands):

Year Ended Dacamber 31,

o o o N 2018 2017 . 2018

BegimingBalance s " erasy § 80081 $ 79,637
__Increasas related to prior year tax positions _ o .. _ . A\s0 %0 1708
. _Decresses related w prior year tax positons e e 3.154)]
. _Inereasos rofated to current year lax posiions o TEB. o RETL 1S
_ Decroases based on setements wih axing authorites  ____ ______ — .= _ (18
. Docraasos due 1o lapse of statute imitations o oM7) e (4.908)
Jgﬁlgn currency translation o S B ;”1;;7;;777::‘—4_.:: - 7157"‘_._”"“-“ . 1,720 i ) ' ("1_47"1)
Ending Balance - $ 87837 % 87,359 % 80,081

The total amount of unrecognized tax benefits as of December 31, 2018 , 2017 and 2016 that, if recognized, would affect the effective tax
rate are $33.3 million , $37.6 million and $34.5 million , respectively.

We recognized $1.6 million , $0.2 million and $1.2 million of interest and penalties within Provision (benefit) for income taxes on our
consolidated statements of operations for the years ended December 31, 2018 , 2017 and 2016 . Total accrued interest and penalties as of
December 31, 2018 , 2017 and 2016 were $5.4 million , $4.8 million and $4.6 million , and are included within Other non-current liabilities In our
consolidated balance sheets.

We are currently under IRS audlt for the 2013 and 2014 tax years. Additionally, we are currently under audit by several foreign jurisdictions.
It is likely that the examination phase of some of those audits will conclude In the next 12 menths. There are many factors, including factors outside
of our control, which influence the progress and completion of those audits. We recognized income tax benefits of $7.9 million , $3.0 million and $8.4
million for the years ended December 31, 2018 , 2017 and 2016 , as a result of new informatlon that impacted our estimates of the amounts that are
more-likely-than not of being realized upon setilement of the related tax positions and due to expirations of the applicable statutes of limitations. We
are subject to claims for tax assessments by foreign jurisdictions, including a proposed assessment for $109.6 milllon . We belisve that the
assessment, which primarily relales to fransfer pricing on transactions occurring in 2011, is without merit and we intend to vigorously defend
ourselves in that matter. in addition to any potential increases in our liabilities for uncertain tax positions from the ultimate resolution of that
assessment, we believe that il is reasonably possible that reductions of up to $49.7 million in unrecognized tax benefits may occur within the 12
months following December 31, 2018 upon closing of income tax audits or the expiration of applicable statutes of limitations.

The Jobs Act was signed into law on December 22, 2017. In December 2017, the SEC slaff issued Staff Accounting Bulletin No. 118 ("SAB
118" to address the application of U.S, GAAP to situations in which an entity does not have the necessary information available, prepared or
analyzed in reasonable detail to complete the accounting for certain income tax effects of the Jobs Act. That guidance specifies that, for income tax
offects of the Jobs Act that can be reasonably estimated but for which the accounting and measurement analysis is not yet complete, entities should
report provisional amounts In the reporting period that includes the enactment date and those provisional amounts can be adjusted for a
measurement period not to exceed one year from the enactment date. Additionally, for income tax effects of the Jobs Act that cannot be reasonably
estimated, entities should report provisional amounts for those income tax effects in the first reporting period in which a reasonable estimate can be
determined, not to exceed one year from the snactment date.

We previously made provisional estimates for the impact of the Jobs Act as of and for the year ended December 31, 2017 relaled to the re-
measurement of deferred income taxes, valuation allowances, uncertain tax positions, and our assessment of permanently reinvested eamings.
Additionally, while we did not expect to incur the deemed repatriation tax established by the Jobs Act due to the aggregate cumulative losses of our
foreign operations, we had not previously finalized the related calculations. As of December 31, 2018 , we have completed our accounting and
measurement analyses related to the income tax effects of the Jobs Act and no significant adjustments to the provisional amounts were recorded
during the year ended Decembar 31, 2G18.
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The Jobs Act also establishes global Intangible low-taxed income (*GILTI"} provisions that impose a tax on foreign income in excess of a
deemed return on tangible assets of foreign corporations. Our accounting policy for the income tax effects of GILT| will be to recognize those taxes
as expenses in the period incurred.

In general, it is our practice and intention to reinvest the eamings of our non-U.S. subsidiaries in those operations. Additionally, while we did
not incur the deemed repatriation tax established by the Jobs Act, an actual repatriaticn from our non-U.S. subsidiaries could be subject to foreign
and U.S. state income taxes. Aside from limited exceptions for which the related deferred tax liabilities recognized as of December 31, 2018 and
2017 are immaterial, we do not intand to distribute eamings of foreign subsidiaries for which we have an excess of the financlal reporting basis over
the tax basis of our investments and tharefore have not recorded any deferred taxes related to such amounts. The actual tax cost resulting from a
distribution would depend on income tax laws and circumstances at the time of distribution. Determination of the amount of unrecognized deferred
tax liability related to the excess of the financial reporting basis cver the tax basis of our forelgn subsidiaries is not practical due to the complexities
associated with the calculation.

On July 24, 2018, the Ninth Circuit Court of Appeals issued an opinion in Altera Corp. v. Commissioner requiring related parties in an
intercompany cost-sharing arrangement to share expenses reiated to stock-based compensation. This opinion reversed an earlier decision of the
United States Tax Court. On August 7, 2018, the Ninth Circuit Court of Appeals withdrew its July 24, 2018 opinion. We are continuing to monitor the
status of the case; however, we cumently do not expect that it will have a material impact on our provision for income taxes for the year ending
December 31, 2019 due to the valuation allowances against our net deferred tax assets in the related jurisdictions.

16 . VARIABLE INTEREST ENTITY

Variable interest entitles {"VIEs") are entities that have either a total equity investment that is insufficient to permit the entity to finance its
activities without additional subordinated financlal support, or whose equity investors lack the characteristics of a controlling financial interest (i.e.,
the ability to make significant declsions through voting rights and the right to recelve the expected residual retums of the entity or the obligation to
absorb the expected losses of the entity). A varable interest holder that has both (a) the power to direct the activities of the VIE that most
significantly impact its economic performance and (b) either an obligation to absorb losses or a right to receive bensfits that could potentially be
significant to the VIE is referred to as the primary beneficiary and must consolidate the VIE.

in 2011, we entered Into an arrangement with a strategic partner lo offer deals related to live events, and a limited liability company {"LLC")
was established to administer that arrangement, Groupen and the strategic partner each own 50% of the outstanding LLC interests and income and
cash flows of the LLC are allocated based on agreed upon percentages specified in the related LLC agreement.

Qur obligations associated with our interests in the LLC are primarily administering transactions, contributing intellectual property, identifying
deals and promoting the sale of deal offerings, coordinating the distribution of deal offerings and providing the record keeping.

Under the LLC agreement, as amended, the LLC shall be dissclved upon the occurrence of any of the following events: (1) either party
becoming a majority owner; (2} July 11, 2019; (3) certaln elections of Groupon or the strategic partner based on the operational psrformance of the
LLC or other changes to certain terms in the agreement; {4) election of either Groupon or the strategic partner in the event of bankruptcy by the
other party; (5) sale of the LLC; or (6) a court's dissolutlon of the LLC. We intend to negotiate an extension to this agreement.

We have determined that the LLC is a VIE and that we are its primary beneficiary. We consolidate the LLC because we have the power to
direct the activities of the LLC that most significantly impact the LLC's economic performance. In particular, we identify and promote the deal
offerings, provide all of the operational and back office support, present the LLC's deal offerings via our websites and mobile applicaticns and
provide the editorial resources that create the verbiage for the related deal offers.
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17 . FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS

Fair value is defined under U.S. GAAP as the price that would be received tc sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly
transaction between market participants at the measurement date. Fair value is a markst-hased measurement that is determined based on
assumptions that market participants would use in pricing an asset or a liability.

To increase the comparability of fair value measures, the following hierarchy prioritizes the inputs in valuation methodologies used to
measure fair value:

Level 1 - Measurements that reflect quoted prices {unadjusted) for identical assets or liabilities in active markets.
Level 2 - Measurements that include other inputs that are directly or indirectly observable in the marketplace.

Level 3 - Measurements derived from valuation technigues in which one or more significant inputs or significant value drivers are
unobservable. These fair value measurements require significant judgment.

In determining fair value, we use various valuation approaches within the fair value measurement framework. The valuation methodologies
used for our assets and liabilities measured at fair value and their classification In the valuation hierarchy are summarized below:

Cash equivalents. Gash equivalents primarily consisted of AAA-rated money market funds. We classified cash equivalents as Level 1 due to
the short-term nature of these instruments and measured the fair value based on quotad prices in active markets for identical assets.

Fair value option investments and available-for-sale securities. To determine the fair value of our fair value option investmentis each period,
wo first estimate the fair value of each entity in its entirety. We primarily use the discounted cash flow method, which is an income approach,
to esfimate the fair value of the investees. The key inputs to determining fair values under that approach are cash flow forecasts and
discount rates. As of December 31, 2018 and 2017 , we applied discount rates of 21% and 22% , in our discounted cash flow valuations for
Monster LP. We also use a market approach valuation technique, which is based on market multiples of guideline companies, to determine
the fair value of sach entity. The discounted cash flow and market multiple valuations are then evaluated and weighted to determine the
amount that is most representative of the fair value of each entity. Once we determine the fair value of each entity, we then determine the
fair value of our specific investmants in those entities. The entities have complex capital structures, so we apply an option-pricing model that
considers the liquldation preferences of each investee's respective classes of ownership interests to determine the fair value of our
investment in each entlty.

We also have investments in redeamable preferred shares and had investments in convertible debt securities Issued by nonpublic entities.
We measure the fair value of those available-for-sale securitles using the discounted cash flow method.

We have classified our fair value option investments and our investments in available-for-sale securities as Level 3 due to the lack of
observable market data over fair value Inputs such as cash flow projections and discount rates. Increases in projected cash flows and
decreases in discount rates contribule to increases in the estimated fair values of the fair value option investments and available-for-sale
securities, whereas decreases in projected cash flows and increases in discount rates confribute to decreases in their fair values.

Contingent consideration. We are subject to a contingent consideration amangement to transfer a maximum payout in cash of $2.5 million to
the former owners of a business acquired on April 30, 2018, See Note 4 , Business Combinations , for further discussion of that acquisition.
Additionally, we had contingent obligations in prior periods to transfer cash to the former owners of a previous business acquisition if
specifled financial results were met (i.e. an earnout).

Liabilities for contingent consideration are measured at fair value each reporting period, with the acquisition-date fair value included as part
of the consideration transferred in the related business combination and
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subsequent changes in fair value recorded in eamings within Selling, general and administrative expense on the consclidated statemeants of
operations.

We use an income approach to value contingent consideration obligations based on the present value of probability-weighted future cash
flows. We classify the contingent consideralion liabilities as Leval 3 due to the lack of relevant observable market data aver fair value inputs
such as probability-weighting of payment ocutcomes.

The following tables summarize assets that are measured at fair value on a recuming basis as of December 31, 2018 and 2017 (in
thousands}):

Fair Value Measurement at Reporting Date Using

Quoted Prices In Active Significant
Markets for Significant Other Unobsarvable
Identical Assets Observable Inputs Inputs
e December 31, 2018 {Lavel 1) (Level 2) ) {Level 3}

‘Aasets: e e
Falr value oplion investments 3 73802 % — 8 — % 73,902
T T T T T T T e T T e e e e e e T T T T
' _Available-for-sale securities: e L
__Redeomablo prefered shares 10,340 — - 10.340
Usbiies: ____ __ __ _ . . . . ____ e
Contingsnt consideration 1,529 - — 1,529

Falr Value Measurement at Reporting Date Uslng
Quoted Prices in Actlve SignHicant
Markets for Significant Other Unobservable
ldentical Assets Obaservabla Inputs Inputs

e December 31, 2017 (Level 1) (Level 2) i {Level 3)
Cashequivalents g 137975 _ 131975 § — $ . — |
Fair value option investments e 82,968 — — 82,966
Lﬁw@blmﬂab;&wﬂ@__-ﬁ_,__________________,_ — e ]
. Comveriiedebtsecurtes M3 - B
. Redeemable preferred shares __ 15,431 — — 15431
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The following table provides a roll-forward of the fair value of recurring Level 3 fair value measurements for the years ended December 31,
2018, 2017 and 2016 (in thousands):

Year Ended Dacamber 31,

2018 2017 2016

Assots
Fair value option investmants:

Beginning Balance ] 82986 % 82584 3 130,725

Total gains (losses) included in earnings (9.064) 382 (48,141}

Ending Balance 3 73902 § 82966 § 82,584
Unrealized {losses) gains still held m 5 (9.084) $ B2 3 (48,141)
Available-for-sale securities

Convertible debt securitles:

Beginning Balance ) $ 11354 8 10,038 § 10,118
Purchases and acquisition of converlible debl securities — 1,612 —
Proceeds from sales and maturitles of convertible debt 2acuritles (8,594) {1,843) (1,685)
Transfer to other equity method investment upon conversion of convertible debt security {4,008) — —
Total gains (losses) included in other comprehensive Income (loss) {1,148) (437) 703
Total galng (losses) Included In eamings @ 2,396 1,984 904

Ending Balanca $ — 3 11,354 § 10,038

Unrealized gains {lossses) still hekd ¢ $ — 3 1,303 § 1.607

Redeamable prefarred shares: ) ) o
Beginning Balance 3 15431 % 17,444  § 22,834

Total gains (lossas) Included in othar comprehensive Income (loss) 379 931 (816)
Other-than-temporary impairment included in eamings (5,470) (2,944} —
Transfer to cost method investment dassification upon elimination of redemption feature — — {4,574)
Ending Balance $ 10,340 & 15431 % 17,444
Unrealized gains (losses) stlll held (" _ $ (5.081) $ (2013} $ (818)
Liabliitles
Contingent Conslderatlon:

Beginning Balanca 3 - 14588 $ 10,781
|ssuance of contingent consideration in connection with acquisitions 1_.589 — —
Settternents of contingent consideration liabilities — (7.858) —
Reclass to non-fair value llabilities when no longer contingent — (6,778) (285)
Total losses (gains) included In samings 56 48 4,092
Foreign cumrency translation (116} — —

Ending Balance $ 1520 % — 3 14,588

Unrealized losses (gains) still held " § 56 $ — 3,966

(1) Represents the unrealized gains or losses recordad In earnings and/or other comprehensive income {loss) during the period for assets and llabilities classified as Level
3 that are still held {or outstanding} at the end of the period.
(2) Represants a gain at maturlty of a previously impaired convertible debt security, accretion of interest income and changes in the fair value of an embedded derivative.

Assets and Llabllitles Measured at Falr Value on a Nonrecurring Basis

Certain assets and liabiliies are measured at fair value on a nonrecurring basis, including assets that are written down to fair value as a
result of an impairment. For the year ended December 31, 2018, we recarded a $4.6 million impairment of an other equity investment. To determine
the fair value of the investment, we considered the financial condition of the investee and applied a market approach. We have classified the fair
value measurement of that other equity investment as Level 3 because it involves significant unobservable inputs. For the year ended December 31,
2018, we recorded a $0.3 million impairment charge related to property, equipment and software as a
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result of our restructuring activities (refer to Note 14 , Restructuring }. Those long lived assets were written down to their estimated fair values of
zero as of December 31, 2016.
Estimated Falr Value of Flnancial Assets and Liabilities Not Measured at Fair Value

The following table presents the camying amount and fair value of equity securities that were classified as cost method investments as of
December 31, 2017 {in thousands):

Decamber 31, 2017

Carrying Amount Fair Value
S G ———
{Cost method investments o 5 25438 % 32,792 J

(1) See Note 2, Summary of Significant Accounting Policies , and Note 7 |, Investments | for Information about our adoption of ASU 2016-01 on January 1, 2018
and its impagt on accounting for aquily investments without readily determinable falr values that were previously subject to the cost method of accounting.

The fair values of our cost method investments were determined using the market approach or the income approach, depending on the
availability of fair value inputs such as financial projections for the investees and market multiples for comparable companies. We classified the fair
value measurements of our cost method investments as Level 3 measurements within the fair value hierarchy as of December 31, 2017 becausa
they involve significant unobservable inputs such as cash flow projections and discount rates.

Qur ather financial instruments not carried at fair value consist primarily of accounts receivable, restricted cash, accounts payable, accrued
merchant and supplier payables and accrued expenses. The camying values of those assets and liabilities approximate their respective fair values
as of December 31, 2018 and 2017 dus to their short-tenn nature.

18 . INCOME (LOSS) PER SHARE

Basic net income (loss) per share is computed using the weighted-average number of common shares outstanding during the period.
Diluted net income (loss) per share is computed using the weighted-average number of common shares and the effect of potentially dilutive
securities outstanding during the period. Potentially dilutive securities include stock options, restricted stock units, performance share units,
performance bonus awards, ESPP shares, warrants and convertible senior notes. If dilutive, those potentially dilutive securities are reflected in
diluted net income (loss) per share by application of the treasury stock mathod, except for the convertible senlor notes, which are subject to the if-
converted method.

Each share of our Class A and Class B common stock automatically converted into a single class of common stock on October 31, 2016.
Refer to Note 11, Stockholders' Equity , for additional information. Prior to the conversion, we computed net income {loss) per share of Class A and
Class B common stock using the two class method. Under the two-class method, the undistributed esamings for each period were allocated based
on the contractual participation rights of the Class A and Class B common shares as if the eamnings for the period had been distributed. As the
liquidation and dividend rights were identlcal for Class A and Class B common shares, the undistributed earnings were allocated on a proportionate
basis. Under the two-class method, the computation of diluted net income {loss) per share of Class A common stock would reflect the conversion of
Class B common stock, if dilutive, while the computation of dlluted net income (loss) per share of Class B common stock would not reflect the
conversion of those sharas.
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The following table sets forth the compulation of basic and diluted net income (loss) per share of common stock for the years ended
December 31, 2018 and 2017 (in thousands, except share amounts and per share amounts):

Year Ended December 31,

2018 2017
Basic and diluted net Income (loss) per share:
_ Netingome {loss) - co_nl.inuing (_)peralions $ 1988 § 28,601
_ Less: Nat incomme {loss) attributable to noncontrolling interests 13,067 . 12,587 ’
Net income {loss) atiributable to common stockholders - continuing operations ) S (11,079} % 16.014
Net Income (loss) atiributable to comrmon stockholders - discontinued operations — {1,974} .
Net income (koss) attributable to common stackholders 3 (11,079) $ 14,040
S_ha_res_. used in computation of basic net income (loss) per share 566,511,108 559,367,075
Welghled-avemge sffect of diluted sacurities; - . .
Stock Options — 842,047
Restricted Stock - 438,773
Restrit::tsd Stock Units — 7,153,674
Employes Stock Purchase Plan ) —~ 201,504
Performance Shars Units and Performance Bonus Awards — 365,298
_ Shares used In computation of diluted net income (loss) per share _ 568,511,108 568,418,371
:guqlg netincome {loss) per share: ) - i
_Co_n!i_nuipg peeraﬁons 3 ) 0.02) % 003
Disgontinuad operations ) ) 0.00 (0.00)
Bisk: net InC_OW_B (logs) per share ~ 3 002y % 0.03
_Dllutad net Incc_:ma {loas) per shara:
‘Continuing operations 5 (002) % 0.03
Discontinued operations ) 0.00 (0.01)
iDiIuta_d_ net income (loss) per share L] (0.02) § 0.02

The following table sets forth the computation of basic and diluted loss per share of the common stock and the Class A and Class B
common stock for the year ended December 31, 2016 {in thousands, except share amounts and per share amounts):
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Perlod from November 1,

Perlod from January 1, 2016 through 2016 through Daecember 31,

Year Ended December 31,

October 31, 2016 (pre-converslon) 2016 (post-conversion) 2016 &0
o e Class A Class B Common Total
‘Basic and diluted nat fncome (lose) per shara: o _ }
 Numerator o . o ) o o
. Allocation of net Income (Ioss) conlmumg operahons o $ _ {151284) & (632) § (14,293) %  {186,209) |
Less: Allocation of net income {loss) attributable to noncontrolllng
lnterests 77777 o 9,559 40 1,665 ) 11,264
" Allocalion of net incoms (loss) aftibutable o commeon I
. _stockhoklers - continuing operations _ % __ (160843 § = (672) § _(159%8) 8 _(177473);
Allocation of net income {loss) attnbutable to common
) sloﬂ-:h_oldgr_s_ discontinued operations B L (7.152) (30) (9,932) {17,114}
Allocation of net income (Ioss) attributable to common
. stockholders o $ (167,995) § (702) § (25,890) $ {194,587)
_ Weighted-averaga common gharas outstandmg o 574,755, 214 ) 2,398,078 574 884 QBT 576,354, 258 '
Basic and diluted net lncoma (losa) per s shara t‘?
it A, - e Ly,
(Continuing operations ~~~  _ ~ § (028 § (028 $ LMooy 8 o3
Dlscontinued operatons (0.01) (0.01) (0.02) {0.03)
Easlc and diluted net income (loss) | peraharo o ~§ {0.29) % (029) % (0.05) § {0.34).
(1) The potentlally dilutive impacts of a conversion of Class B to Class A shares, outstandlng equity awards, wanants and convertible senior notes have been excluded

from the calculation of dilutive net Income (loss) per share for the years ended Dacember 31, 2016 as their effect on net income (less) per share from continuing

operatlons was antidilutive.

{2} The shares of Class A and Class B common stock had equal dividend rights and converted into shares of common stock on a one-for-one basis on October 31, 2016.
This full year column reflects the weighted average Class A and Class B common shares outstanding for the perlod from January 1, 2016 through the October 31, 2016
cenversion date and the weighted average common shares outstanding for the period from November 1, 2016 through December 31, 2016 in the denominator of the

basic and diluted loss per share calculations for the year endsd December 31, 2018.

The following weighted-average potentially dilutive instruments are not included in the diluted net income (loss) per share calculations
above because they would have had an antidilutive effect on the net income {loss) per share from continuing operations:

Yaar Ended Dacember 31,

S 2018 2017 _ 2016
iRestricted slock units e 30,552,028 8,087,545 33,480,458 |
Other stock-based cgmggnsa!onﬁayardisi [ o 2,041,088 ) 13.000 _ 3,850,389
Comertbleseniornotes 46,296,300 B30 213474
Warants _ - - ) 46,296,300 46,296,300 29,761,907
Total 7 ] o 125,185,727 100,693,145 101,306,226 |
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19 . SEGMENT INFORMATION

The segment information reported in the tables below reflecls the operating results that are regulardy reviewed by our chief operating
decision maker to assess performance and make resource allocation decisions. Prior to the first quarter 2017, we organized our operations into
three operating segments: North America, EMEA and Rest of World. As a result of the dispositions discussed in Note 3, Discontinued Operations
and Other Business Dispositions , which represented a substantial majority of our intemational operations outside of EMEA and resulted in changes
to our internal reporting and leadership structure, we updated our segments in the first quarler of 2017 to report two operating segments: North
America and Intsrnational. Our operating segments continue to be the same as our reportable segments. In additicn, we changed our measure of
segment profitability in the first quarter of 2017. Historically, segment operating results reflected operating income {loss) excluding stock-based
compensation and acquisition-related expense (benefit), net. In connection with he internal reporting changes in the first quarter of 2017, the
measure of segment profitability has been changed to operating income (loss), unadjusted. Prior period segment information has been
retrospectively adjusted to reflect those changes.

The following table summarizes revenue by reportable segment and category for the years ended December 31, 2018 , 2017 and 2016 (in
thousands):

Year Ended December 31,

o 2018 _ 2017 2016
Service revenue:
 Local s 752863 825579 § 762,314 |
Travel 71,856 78,495 82,577
_G;)odg ) 18283 16,768 9,068
Product revenue - Goods 796,393 993,326 1,297,810
ToEI North America revenua 1,839,385 . 1,914,168 2,151,769
.Intg[anJor]al o _ l
Service revenue: _ _ o _ _ _
_Loca _ 306,700 281486 270,045 -
Travel - a1183 . 43786 49756
_ . Goods e 14802 2035 . 32681,
Product revenue - Goods 634,866 584,099 509,364
Total Itemational ravenuie 5 007351 3 20709 8 861,846 |

(1)  North America includes revenue from the United States of $1.600.2 million , $1,884.7 milllon and $2,120.3 million for the years ended December 31, 2018, 2017 and
2016 . Intemational includes rayvenue from the Unlted Kingdom of $390.4 million , $343.9 million and $321.9 million for the years ended December 31, 2018, 2017 and
2016 . There were no other individual countries that repressnted more than 10% of consalidated total revanue for the years snded December 31, 2018, 2017 and 2016 .
Revenue is atiribuled to Indivkiual countries based an the location of the customer. In prior periods, revenue was attributed lo indlvidual countries based on the domicile
of the legal entities within our consolldated group that undertook those fransactions. Beginning In the second quarter of 2017, we updated our attribution of revenus by
country to be based on the kcation of the customer. Prior perlod revenue amounts by country have been retrospectively adjusted to reflect that change in attribution.
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The following table summarizes gross profit by reportable segment and category for the years ended December 31, 2018 , 2017 and 2016
{in thousands):

Year Ended Decembear 31,

e S _ 2018 2017 } 20186
NorhAmedca ]
. Service gross profit: _ o L ) S e
el s emas2 s 708573 8 660983 ]
.. Tevel el Ll 97945 _ 60Sm4 6435
oo Goedss . sx2 . _1asm 1470
Produ_ctgfossprol_’rf—_@op_ds ) 146,085 145,582 152,739
Total North Americagrossproft 890,684 927,678 885,547 |
imtornationat __ T
Semvicegross proflt
o Xoeal . _ ____=28942r 265348 = 250435 |
Fravel o L o o _38 132 40,288 45_131_
_ Geods . oToommmmemm 13252 e 27,976 |
_P_[oﬂ.r_c&gos_slaroﬁt_-r(fjogdi o o 89,106 82,637 _ 71,504
['_Tot_al ngemgﬁppglig_rpgef.pyqﬂtv o o '_ __ -_- - -_ _-_ j L 3 429917 § 406,183 § 395,106 |

The following table summarizes operating income by reportable segment for the years ended December 31, 2018 , 2017 and 2016 {in
thousands):

Year Ended December 31,

2018 2017 2016
Operating income (loss) W@®™®; e _
North America $ 19909 § 45) § (85,423)
" nemationat T T T T T Tata 28480 O (1a815)]
L " i} - )
Total operaling income (loss) $ 54039 % 29435 § (100,238)

(1) Includes stock-based compansation of $59.7 million , $76.1 million and $104.7 million for North America and $5.0 million , $5.7 mlition and $9.5 milllon for Intemational
for the years ended December 31, 2018 , 2017 and 2016 , respectively .

{2) Includes acquisition-related (benefit} expense, net of $0.7 million for Intemational for the year ended December 31, 2018 and $5.7 million for North America for the year
ended Dacember 31, 2016.

{3)  Indudes restructuring charges for North America and Intemational. See Note 14, Restructuring , for restructuring charges by segment.

(4) Includes a $34.6 million charge related to the IBM palent litigation matter for North America for the year ended December 31, 2018. See Note 10, Commitments and
Contingencies , for additional information.
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The following table summarizes total assets by reportable segment as of December 31, 2018 and 2017 (in thousands):

December 31,
2018 2017
Total assets:
North America ¢ $ 958,412 % 1,045,072
International ' 683,730 632,433
.Cor!sqli:.igtpd total assets $ 1,642,142 § 1,677,505

(_1) North America contalns assets from the United Stales of $94(l:5 million and $1,006.2 million as of December 31, 2018 and 2017. Intemational contains assels from
Ireland of $204.6 million and $219.7 million as of December 31, 2018 and 2017, There ware no other indlvidual countries that represented more than 10% of

consolidated total assets as of December 31, 2018 and 2017.

The following table summarizes tangible property and equipment, net of accumulated depreciation and amortization, by reportable segment
as of December 31, 2018 and 2017 (in thousands}):

December 31,
o ‘ _ _ ) 2018 2017
North America (" . : o ; $ . S0z s 63,402
Intemational L o _ o 20,773 21,850
~ Consolidated total 3 71805 § 85,252

(1)  Substantially all tangible property and equipment within North America is located in the United States.

(2) Tangible property and equipment, net located within Ireland represented approximately 12% of our consolidated tangible property and equipment, net as of Decembrer
31, 2017. There were no other Individual countries located outside of the United States that representad more than 10% of consolldated tangible property and

equipment, net as of December 31, 2018 and 2017.

The following table summarizes depreciation and amortization of property, equipment and software and intangible assets by reportabla
segment for the years ended December 31, 2018 , 2017 and 2016 (in thousands):

Year Ended Dacember 31,

2018 2017 2016
North America s 101419 § 121616 § 116,865 -
International 14,409 16,211 19,044
. CO"Sd'dﬂinMﬂl _ _ , | $ 115,828  § 137827 § 135,909

: The following table summarizes expenditures for additions to tangible long-lived assets by reportable segment for the years ended
December 31, 2018 , 2017 and 2016 (in thousands):

Year Endad Decembaer 31,

o | o | 2018 2017 _ 2016
Narth America . R 614 5 5917 3§ 9,770 |
Intemnational 10,393 5,106 5,255
_ Consolidated total s 16587 3 1023 § 15,025 -

20 . RELATED PARTY TRANSACTION

On December 28, 2016, we entered into a sublease for portions of our office space in Chicago, llincis to Uptake, Inc. ("Uptake”), a
Lightbank LLC ("Lightbank"} portfolio company. Eric Lefkofsky, our Chairman of the Board, is a co-founder and owns & significant equity interest in
Lightbank, The sublease was negotiated on an arm’s-length basis and is a market rate transaction on terms that we believe are no less favorable
than would have been reached with an unrelated third party. The sublease extends through January 31, 2026 and the sublease rentals over that
term total approximately $18.2 million . Pursuant to our related party transaction policy, our Audit Committee approved us entering
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into the sublease. For the years ended December 31, 2018 and 2017 , we recognized $2.1 million and $1.9 million , in income from the sublease.
21 . QUARTERLY RESULTS (UNAUDITEDR)

The following table represents dala from our unaudited consolidated statements of operations for the most recent eight quarters. This
quarterly information has been prepared on the same basis as the consolidated financial statements and includes all normal recurring adjustments
necessary to fairly state the information for the periods presented. The results of operations of any quarter are not necessarily indicative of the
resulis that may be expected for any future period (in thousands, except share and per share amounts).

Quarter Endad

Dec. 31, Sept. 30, June 30, Mar. 31, Dac. 31, Sept. 30, June 30, Mar. 31,
s . 2018 2018 (n) - 2018 @ . 2018 2017 i 2017 2017 B 2017
Consolidated Suatements of Opersions Data:
Revewe s Tser 3 52863 S 673 S 6650 S 67166 § 63466 S 662610 S 673626
Comofrmerve __ awmgse __ 26e 2070 016 4e2p_ 5041 3Msw ____ 364175 |
Grsspof . ee089  W5ee0 320888 4SS 398 045 G007 30945t
Income foss)ftom operations. ___ __S\ES 5023 @248 385 491 (21 (a8 (11080))
Income loss) fom contnsogoperations (0 asgee __ ALS @238 7% SLOT1 3802 G403 (0869
lincoms (loes) from discontiued operstions, netoftax  — -~ = amw e gz 487 |
'Netl_mome(loss)amquta_blalu_&m_pm._lnc.__ o X iE.ZZBL B __.:.‘.‘1611 B (E_Slll?ﬂ (6,888) 47721 B 759 (9.326) (24 414)
|Besic net income (loss) per shere ®: e
_Contungoparalios  _§ 008 % D06 S @) 5 @0) 5 009 S 000 S 000 5 @0
| Dicomimedoperators 000 000 0.00 0.00 000 0.00) 0.01) 0.00 |
BBSFEI‘]B“’IC_OMU_OS«S‘)‘WSE?B_ o $ 0.08 1 0.08 1) (0.17} s 001y § 0.8 .3 0.00 - (0.02) £ (0.C4)
(Dhed net mcome loss)pershee®: e _
_ Contiungoperaloss § 008 S 008 $ O S (00) S___ 008 S 000 §___ Qo) § __ ©o4)
Wipw__ o 0.00 ) 0.00 0.00 0.00 _ (0.00) N {0.00) {0.01) _ Q.00
Diluled nel incame (loss) per share $ 008 S o8 8 017§ 001§ 008 & 000 § 0.02) § (0.04)

(1) Income (loss) from continuing eperations incdludes restructuring charges of $11.5 million , $4.6 milllon and $2.7 milllon for the three months ended September 30, 2017,
Juns 30, 2017 and March 31, 2017. Restructuring charges were not material for any quarterly period during the year ended December 31, 2018 or for the three monlhs
ended December 31, 2017.

(2) Income (loss) from continuing operations includes a $40.4 million benefit and $75.0 mlllion charge for the three months ended September 30, 2018 and June 30, 2018,
related to our patent litigation with IBM. See Note 10, Commitments and Contingencies , for additional information,

[€))] The sum of per share amounts for quarterly periods may not squal year-to-date amounts due to rounding.
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ITEM 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE
None.

ITEM 9A. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES
Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procadures

Our management, with the participation of our Chief Executive Officer and our Chief Financial Officer, has evaluated the effectiveness of the
design and operation of our disclosure controls and procedures pursuant to Rule 13a-15{(e) and 15d-15(e} under the Securities Exchange Act of
1934, as amended (the Exchange Act), as of the end of the period covered by this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Based on this evaluation, our management concluded that, as of December 31, 2018 , our disclosure controls and procedures are effective
to provide reasonable assurance that information we are required to disclose in reports that we file or submit under the Exchange Act is recorded,
processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified in the Securities and Exchange Commission's rules and forms, and that such
infermation is accumulated and communicated to our management, including our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, as appropriate,
to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure.

Management's Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting

Our management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting, as defined in Rule 13a-
15(f) of the Exchange Act. Our management conductad an evaluation of the effectiveness of our intemal control over financial reporting based on
the framework in Interal ControlIntegrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (2013
framework). Our Internal control over financial reporting includes policies and procedures that provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability
of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for extemal reporting purposes in accordance with U.S. generally accepted
accounting principles. Based on this evaluation, management concluded that our internal control over financlal reporting was effective as of
December 31, 2018 . Management reviewed the results of its assessmaent with our Audit Committee. The effectivenass of our intemal control over
financial reporting as of December 31, 2018 has been audited by Deloitte & Touche LLP, an independent registered public accounting firm, as
stated in its report which is included below.

Changes in Internal Contrel over Financial Reporting

There was no change in our internal control over financial reporting identified in connection with the evaluation required by Rule 13a-15(d)
and 15d-15(d) of the Exchange Act that occurred during the quarter ended December 31, 2018 that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely
to matenially affect, our intermal contreol over financial reporting.

Limitations on Effactiveness of Controls and Procedures

In designing and evaluating the disclosure controls and procedures, management recognizes that any controls and procedures, no matter
how well designed and operated, can provide only reasonable assurance of achieving the desired control objsctives. |In addition, the design of

disclosure controls and procedures must reflect the fact that there are resource constraints and that management is required to apply its judgment in
evaluating the benefits of possible controls and procedures relatlve fo their costs.
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

To the stockholders and the Board of Directors of Groupon, Inc.
Opinion on Internal Control over Financial Reporting

We have audited the intemal control over financial reporting of Groupon, Inc. and subsidiaries (the *Company™) as of December 31, 2018, based on
criteria established in Internal Control - Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway
Commission (COS0). In our opinion, the Company maintained, in all material respects, effective internal control cver financial reporting as of
December 31, 2018, based on critenia established in lnfernal Conirol - Integrated Framework (2013) issued by COSO.

We have also audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board {United States) (PCAOB}, the
consclidated financial statements as of and for the year ended December 31, 2018, of the Company and our report dated February 12, 2019,
expressed an unqualified opinion on those financial statements.

Basis for Opinion

The Company’s management is responsible for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting and for its assessment of the
effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting, Included in the accompanying Management's Report on Intemal Control over Financial
Reporting. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Company's internal control over financial reporting based on our audit. We are a public
accounting firm registered with the PCACB and are required to be independent with respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S. federal
securities laws and the applicable rules and ragulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.

Wae conducted our audlt in accordance with the slandards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain
reasonable assurance about whether effective internal control over financial reporting was maintainad in ali material respects. Our audit included
obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting, assessing the risk that a materlal weakness exists, testing and evaluating the
design and operating effectiveness of Internal control based on the assessed risk, and performing such other procedures as we considered
necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

Deflnitlon and Limitations of Internal Control over Financlal Reporting

A company’s intemnal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial
reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, A
company’s intemal control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the malntenance of records that, in
reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable assurance that
transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles,
and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the
company; and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the
company's assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.

Because of Its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projections of any
evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that
the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

fs! Deloitte & Touche LLP

Chicago, Illinois
February 12, 2019
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ITEM 9B, OTHER INFORMATION

On February 9, 2019, the Compensation Committee {the “Compensation Committee”) of the Board of Directors in connection with its annual
compensation review process approved a change in the allocation between base salary and target bonus of each named executive officer's
compensation. Specifically, the Compensation Committee approved an increase in the 2019 annual base salary of each named executive officer
and a corresponding reduction of the same amount In each executive’s 2019 largat annual incentive amount, so that each executive's 2019 total
target cash compensalion remains the same as in 2018. The resulting 2019 base salary and target annual incentive amounts for the named
executive officers are as follows;

Name and Posltlon 2019 Base Salary 2019 Target Bonus
Rich Williams, Chief Executive Officer $850,000 $650,000
Michael Randolfi, Chlef Financial Officer $600,000 $400,000
Stephen Krenzer, Chief Operating Officer $725,000 $525,000
Dane Drobny, General Counsel and Corparate Secretary $550,000 $350,000

On February 12, 2019, in addition to the regular annual equity awards of restricted stock units and performance stock units consistent with
prior practice, we granted to each named executive officer a special retention award of performance stock units (“Supplemental PSUs"} that will vest
if our average daily closing slock price is equal to or grealer than a specified stock price over a period of 30 consecutive trading days prior to
December 31, 2022, as follows (with number of Supplemental PSUs indicated per executive): Mr. Williams, 3,000,000; Mr. Randoclfi, 1,000,000; Mr.
Krenzer, 1,333,333; and Mr. Drobny, 666.667. The Supplemental PSUs will also vest if a change in control occurs during the performance period at
the specified stock price (and on a proportional basis for a change in control price betwesn the grant date price and the specified stock price) or if
the executive’s employment is terminated without cause or by the executive for good reason (as defined in the executive's severance benefit
agresment) within 120 days prior to vesting, subject to certain other limitations.

In addition, as part of our review of the terms of our severance benefits agreements, on February 9, 2019, the Compensation Committse
autheorized amendments fo the severance banefit agreements with the named executive officers to extend the change in control protection period for
certain terminations of employment (which would trigger change in control severance benefits) from 12 months following a change in control to 24
months following a change in control.
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PART NI
ITEM 10. DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Information regarding our Directors is incorporated by reference from the information under the captions "Board of Directors” and "Corporate
Govarnance at Groupon” in our Proxy Statement for our 2019 Annual Meeting of Stockholders, which will be filed with the SEC within 120 days of
December 31, 2018 ("2019 Proxy Statement"). Information regarding our Audit Committee and its Financial Experts is incorporated by reference
from the information under the captions "Board Committeas” and "Audit Committee Report” in our 2019 Proxy Statement. Information regarding our
Execulive Officers can be found in Part | of this Annual Report on Form 10-K. Information regarding compl lance with Section 16(a) of the Exchange
Act Is incorporated by reference from the information under the caption "Section 16(a) Bensficial Ownership Reporting Compllance™ in our 2019
Proxy Statement.

Code of Ethics

We have adopted a Code of Conduct, which is applicable to our chief executive officer, chief financial officer and other principal executive
and senior financial officers. Our Code of Conduct is available through our website (www.groupon.com). Information about the Code of Conduct is
incorporated by reference from the information under the caption "Corporate Govemance at Groupon® in our 2019 Proxy Statement. We will post
any amendment to or waiver from the provisions of the Code of Conduct that applies to the above executive officers on our investor relations
website {investor.groupon.com) under the caption "Corporate Govemance.”
ITEM 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

Incorporated by reference from the information under the captions "Named Executive Officer Compansation," “Director Compensation,”
"Compensation Discussion and Analysis,” "Compensation Committee Interlocks and Insider Participation™ and "Compensation Committee Report” in
our 2019 Proxy Statement.
ITEM 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT AND RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS

Incorporated by reference from the information under the captions "Informatlon Regarding Beneficial Ownership of Principal Stockholders,
Directors and Management” and "Equity Compensation Plan Information™ in our 2019 Proxy Statement.

ITEM 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS, AND DIRECTOR INDEPENDENCE

Incorporated by reference from the information under the captions “Corporate Governance at Groupon," "Board Independence and
Expertisa™ and "Certain Relationships and Related Party Transactions” in our 2019 Proxy Statement,

ITEM 14. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTANT FEES AND SERVICES

Incorporated by reference from the information under the caption “Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm” in our 2018 Proxy
Statement,
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PART IV
ITEM 15: EXHIBITS AND FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES

(1) We have filed the following documents as part of the Annual Report on Form 10-K

Groupon, Inc.
Consolidated Financial Statements
As of December 31, 2018 and 2017 and for the Years Ended December 31, 2018 , 2017 and 2016

'Reports of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firms
Consolidated Balance Sheats
I m f .. ns;—-—A-LVA. 7 _ R e ramana . . - P — . R )

Consolidated Stalemenis ol'-g‘g. mprehensive Ingome (Lgss)
— - e e et e e e I

‘Consolidated Statements of Stockholders' Equity _ - S
Consolidated Statemenls of Cash Flows

iNotes lo Congolidaled Financial Statements

(2) Financial Statement Schedules - Groupon, Inc.

Schedule ll-Valuation and Qualifying Accounts

Balance at
Beginning of Charged to Acquisitions Balanca at End
Year Expensa (1} and Other of Year
{in thousands)
TAXVALUATION ALLOWANCE: =~ e . .
{Ysar endsd Decemberst, 2086 2702 3%s {14508 = 28023
Year ended December 31, 2017 ] 220,611 10,476 77.6_1‘5 L 238,702
JYear endad December 31, 2016 205,152 89T 1.ez 220811 }

(1) The amount charged to expenss related to the income tax valuation allowance for the year ended December 31, 2017 reflocts a $46.5 million expanse from
discontinued operations, partially affset by a $36.1 milion benafit from continuing operations. The $46.5 milllon discontinued operations expense reflects the
valuatlon allowance recognlzed against loss camyforwards relating to tax losses on the stock of subsidiares that were divested in 2017.

All other schedules have been omitted because they are either inapplicable or the required information has been provided in the
consolidated financial statements or in the notes thereto.

(3) Exhibits
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Exhibit

Number

2.1

31

32*
3.3

4.1

42

10.1*
10.2*
10.3*
10.4*
10.5*
10.8"

10.7

10.8

10.9
10.10

10.11

10.12

10.13

10.14

10.15

10.16

10.17

10.18

211
231
23.2
311

3.2

321

101.INS
101.8CH
101.CAL
101.DEF

Deacription
Investment Agreement, dated as of April 19, 2015, among Groupen Trgilblazer, Inc,, Monster Partpers LP and Monster Holdings LP {Incorporated by
reference to the Company's Current Report on Form 8-K filed April 20, 2015)

Restated Cedificate of Incorporation of the Campany (incorporated by reference to the Company's Reqistration Statement on Form 8-A/A filed on
October 31, 20161,

Amended and Restated By-Laws.

2008 Stock Option Plan,™

Eorm of Notlce of Grant of Stack Option under 2008 Stock Option Plan,**

2910 Stock Plap.**

Form of Notice of Grant gf Stock Option undar 2010 Siock Plan.**

Form of Noli¢e of Restricted Stock Unit Award under 2010 Stock Pign.**
ndemnification Agr -

&N o g ame e garl
8K filed on Qctober 31, 2016).™*
Nen-Emolovee Directors' Gompensation Plan **
Eommn of Notice of Restricted Stock Award under 2011 Incentive Plan (incomorated by reference to the Company’'s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the
yoar ended December 31, 2012).""

Yoting Agresment, dated as of April 4. 2016, among the Company, A-G Holdings, L.P. and the stockhalders party thereto {incorporated by reference
1o the Company's Current Report on Form 8K filed on April 4, 2016).

idiari i
Consent of Deloite & Touche LLP
Consent of Emst & Young LLP
Caertificgtion of ChieffExecutive Officer pursuant to Exchange Act Rules 13a-14(a) and 15d-14(a), as adopted pursuant to Sectlon 302 of the
Sarbanes-Oxlev Act of 2002

XBRL Instance Document

XBRL Taxonemy Extension Schema Document

XBRL Taxonomy Extenslon Calculatlon Linkbase Docurnent
XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Document
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101.LAB  XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document
101.PRE  XBRL Taxcnomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Document

* Incorporated by refarence to the Company's reglstration statement on Form S-1 (reglstratton number 333-174661)

Management contract or compansatory plan of armangement.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed
on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized on this 12th day of February 2019.

GROUPON, INC.
By: s/ RICH WILLIAMS
Name: Rich Williams
Tille: Chief Executive Officer
POWER CF ATTORNEY

KNOWN BY ALL PERSONS BY THESE PRESENTS, that the individuals whose signatures appear below hereby constitute and appoint
Rich Williams, Michael Randolfi and Melissa Thomas, and each of them severally, as his or her true and lawful attorneys-in-fact and agents with full
power of substitution and resubstitution for him or her and in his or her name, place and stead in any and all capacities to sign any and all
amendments to this Annual Report on Form 10-K and to file the same, with all exhibits thersto, and other documents In connection therewith, with
the Securities and Exchange Commission, granting unto said attomeys-in-fact and agents, full power and authority to do or perform each and every
act and thing requisite and necessary to be done in connectlon therewith, as fully to all intents and purposes as he or she might or could do in
person, hereby ratifying and confirming all that said attorneys-in-fact and agents or any of them, or of his substitute or substitutes, may lawfully do to
cause to be done by virtue hereof. Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this Repaort has been signed below by the

following persons on behalf of the registrant and in the capacities indicated as of February 12, 20189.

144




Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the reglstrant has duly caused this report to be signed
on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized on this 12th day of February 2019.

Slanature Titla

fs/ Rich Williams
Rich Williams
1s! Michael Randolfi
Michael Randolfi
s/ Melissa Thomas

Chlef Executive Officer and Director (Principal Executive Officer)

Chilef Financlal Officer {Principal Financial Officer)

Chief Accounting Officer and Treasurer (Principal Accounting Officer)

Melissa Thomas
/g/ Eric Lefkofsk
Y Director
Eric Lefkofsky
s/ Michael A Kl
chaet Angelekls Director
Michael Angslakls
{s! Pater J. Barrls .
Director
Peter J. Barrls
s/ Robert J, Bass .
Director
Robert J. Bass
s Theodore J, Lecnsis
" Director
Theodora J. Leonsis
h Levi
/s/ Joseph Levin oI
Joseph Levin
s/ Daborah Wahl| oI
Deborah Wahl
{s! Ann E, Ziegler
Directo
Ann E. Zlegler '
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Exhibit 10.9

N, INC.
NON-EM ' COMPENSATION PLAN

Amended and Restated as of October 17, 2018

The Company hereby establishes this Plan to assist the Company in attracting and retaining persons of competence and
stature who are not employees to serve as Directors by providing them with competitive retainers, an ownership interest in the
Company, and the opportunity to defer Retainers.

Effective Date . The Plan was initially effective as of the Effective Date and was amended and restated effective

October17 2018.
2, Definitions . Where used in the Plan, the following capitalized words and terms shall have the meanings

specified below, unless the context clearly indicates to the contrary:
(a) " Account " means the record keeping account established by the Committee for each Participant to
which DSUs, and eamings thereon, are credited in accordance with Section 10 of the Plan.

(b) " Beneficiary " means such person(s) or legal entity that is designated by a Participant under Section 14
to receive benefits hereunder after such Participant's death.

(c) " Board " means the Company's Board of Directors.

(d) " Cash Retainer " means the portion of a Retainer which is payable in cash.

{e) " Change in Control " means such term as defined in the Incentive Plan. Notwithstanding the foregoing,

if an amount payable under the Plan is "deferred compensation” for purposes of Code Section 409A, and if a payment of
such amount would be accelerated or otherwise triggered upon a Change in Control, then the foregoing definition is
modified, to the extent necessary to avoid the imposition of an excise tax under Code Section 408A, to mean a "change
in control event™ as such term is defined for purposes of Code Section 409A. For purposes of clarity, if an amount would,

for example, vest and be paid on a Change in Control as defined herein but payment of such amount would violate the
provisions of Code Section 409A, then the amount shall vest but will be paid only in compliance with its terms and Code
Section 409A (/. 8., upon a permissible payment event).

i) Q_Q_d_e_ means the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended.

(@ " Code Section 409A " means Section 409A of the Code and all interpretive guidance issued thereunder
by the U.S. Intemal Revenue Service.

{h) " Committee " means a committee appcinted to administer the Plan by the Board, or the properly
designated delegate of such committes.

(i) " Company " means Groupon, Inc., a Delaware corporation.

) " Director " means each director who has been duly appointed to the Board.

(k) " Disability " means the individual is unable to engage in any substantial gainful activity by reason of any

medically determinable physical or mental impairment which can be expected to result in death or can be expected to last
for a continuous period of not less than twelve (12) months.

0 " DSU " means a deferred share unit issued under and pursuant to the terms and conditions of the
Incentive Plan.
{(m) " Election Form " means such document(s) or form({s), which may be electronic, as prescribed and

made available from time to time by the Committee, whereby a Participant elects to exchange all of his or her Cash
Retainer and/or ail of his or her RSUs for an award of DSUs.

n) " Exchange Act " means the Securities Exchange Act of 1934,

{0) " Eair Market Value " as of a particular date shall mean the fair market value of a Share as determined
in accordance with the Incentive Plan.

(p) " Incentive Plan " means the Groupon, Inc. 2011 Incentive Plan, as amended and restated.

(a) " Patticipant " means each Directaor who is not an employee of the Company.




{r " Plan " means this Groupon, Inc. Non-Employee Directors' Compensation Plan.
{s) " Refainer " means the annual fee payable by the Company to a Participant with respect to his or her
service on the Board mcludlng both fees payable in cash and fees payable in Shares.

(] Rgtlrgmem means a Separation upon or after attaining seventy (70) years of age.

(u) " RSU " means a restricted share unit issued under and pursuant to the terms and conditions of the
Incentive Plan.

v) " RSU Retainer " means the portion of a Retainer which is payable in the form of RSUs.

(W) " Separation " means a Participant's ceasing to be a Director on account of a voluntary or involuntary
separation from service, within the meaning of Code Section 409A, with the Board, for any reascn.

{x) " Share " means a share of the Company's common stock.

{y) " Specified Employee " means a Participant who is determined by the Company to be a “specified
employee” within the meaning of Code Section 409A with respect to a Separation occurring in any twetve (12) month
period commencing on each April 1 based on the Participant's compensation with the Company, as defined in Code
Section 416(i)(1}D}, and his or her status at the end of the immediately preceding calendar year.

3. Eligipility and Participation . Each Director who is not an employee of the Company and who is selected by the
Committee for participation in the Plan shall be a Participant in the Plan. A Participant will cease to be a Participant in the Plan
on the earlier to occur of (a) his or her Separation or (b) the date on which the Committee determines that he or she is no longer
ellglble to participate in the Plan.

Retainer . Each Participant shall be paid an annual Retainer in the amount of $250,000 in exchange for his or
her serwce as a Director. In addition, the annual Retainer for the chair of (a) the Compensation Committee will be increased by
$20,000, (b) the Nominating and Corporate Govemnance Committee will be increased by $15,000, and (c) the Audit Committee
will be increased by $30,000. The Retainer shall be paid as follows: (a) 30% in the form of a Cash Retainer and }b) 70% in the
form of an RSU Retainer. Any additional amount due to a Participant who serves as the chair of one of the aforementioned
committees, shall be paid as follows: (a) 1/3 (one-third) in the form of a Cash Retainer and (b} 2/3 (two-thirds) in the form of an
RSU Retainer. The Cash Retainer shall be paid to the Participant on a quarterly basis as soon as practicable, but in any event
within thirty (30) days, following the end of a calendar quarter, for the future quarter's service. Each Director who becomes a
Participant during a calendar quarter will be entitled to receive a quarterly Cash Retainer payment for such quarter, unless,
immediately before becoming a Participant, he or she was an employee of tge Company. The Réu Retainer shall be awarded to
the Participant on an annual basis on the date of the Company's annual meeting of stockholders, with the number of RSUs to be
granted determined by dividing the amount (in dollars) of the RSU Retainer by the Fair Market Value of a Share on such date. In
the event that a Director becomes a Participant following the date of the annual meeting of stockholders but during the same
calendar year as the annual meeting of the stockholders, the Board may, in its sole discretion, pay such Participant a pro-rated
R3SU Retarner with respect to his or her service during such year.

of R 100% of the RSUs awarded pursuant to an RSU Retainer shall vest and become nan-
forfeltable on the first anniversary of the date on which the applicable RSU Retainer was granted. Notwithstanding the foregoing,

the following provisions shall apply in the circumstances described below:
(a) D_e_am_liﬁabﬂ_u._Retl_re[n_e_m_ In the event of a Participant's Separation due to his or her death,

glsablhty or Retirement, vesting of the unvested portion of an RSU Retainer shall be accelerated upon the date of
eparation.

(b) All Other Separations . In the event of a Participant's Separation for any reason other than his or her
death, Disability, or Retirement, any unvested portion of an RSU Retainer shall immediatsly be cancelled and forfeited on
the date of Separation.

(c) Change in Control . In the event of a Change in Control, vesting of the unvested portion of an RSU
Retainer shall be accelerated upon the date of the Change in Control unless the RSU Retainer has been deferred.




6. Distribution of RSUs . RSUs shall be distributed as soon as administratively practicable, but in any event within
sixty (60) days, following the date on which the RSUs vest in accordance with Section 5. In the event of a Participant's death,
distribution will be made to the Participant's Beneficiary.

7. Deferral of Cash Retainer and RSU Retaingr . Notwithstanding any provision of Sections 4, 5 or 6 hereof, a
Participant may elect to exchange (i) all of his or her Cash Retainer and/or {ii) all of his or her RSU Retainer for an award of
DSUs in the manner described in this Section 7. For purposes of clause (i) above, the number of DSUs to be awarded will be
determined by dividing the amount of the Cash Retainer to be exchanged by the Fair Market Value of a Share as of the date(s)
on which the Cash Retainer would otherwise have been paid, and DSUs will be credited to the Participant's Account effective as
of the date on which the Cash Retainer would otherwise have been paid. For purposes of clause (ii) above, the DSUs will be
awarded at a rate of one DSU for each RSU and shall be issued and credited to the Participant's Account effective as of the date
that the RSUs would otherwise have settled in Shares. The Committee may establish procedures for deferral elections as it
deemns necessary to comply with the requirements of the Plan and Code Section 409A.

{a) Election . A Participant can make an election fo receive DSUs by completing and executing an Election
Form and filing the completed Election Form with the Committee. A Participant’s Election Form shall remain in effect
under the Plan until it is terminated by operation of the Plan or changed by the Participant in accordance with this
Section. A Participant's Election Form must be filed with the Committee before expiration of the election period
established hy the Committee, which period shall end no later than December 31 of the immediately preceding calendar
year. Notwithstanding the foregoing, a Participant may file an Election Form within the thirty (30) day period immediately
following the date he or she first becomes a Parlicipant, provided that the Cash Retainer or RSU Retainer being
exchanged for DSUs relates to services performed after the date of such election.

{b) . A Participant may elect to suspend or revoke a prior filed Election Form for
services performed during a subsequent calendar year by fi Iln? a new Election Form before expiration of the election
period established by the Committee, which period shall end no later than December 31 of the calendar year immediately
preceding such year.

8. Distribution of DSUs . A Participant's Account shall be distributed to the Participant as soon as administratively
possible, but in any event within thirty (30) days, following the Participant's Separation. In the event the Participant's Separation
is due to the Participant's death, distribution will be made to the Participant’s Beneficiary.

(a) _EQI]II_Qf_Em. A Participant's Account shall be distributed in a single distribution in the form of
Shares.
{b) Income Inclusion under Code Section 409A . Notwithstanding any provision of the Plan to the contrary,

in the event that the Plan fails to meet the requiremsnts of Code Section 409A, the Committee may distribute to

Participants the portion of thair Accounts that is required to be included in income as a result of such failure.

9. Source of Shares . The RSUs and DSUs that may be paid pursuant to the Plan shall be issued under the
Incentive Plan subject to all of the terms and conditions of the Incentive Plan, and only to the extent that Shares remain available
for issuance under the Incentive Plan. The terms and conditions of the Incentive Plan are incorporated into and made a part of
this Plan with respect to any RSUs and DSUs paid pursuant to this Plan, and any awards of RSUs or DSUs shall be governed
by and construed in accordance with the provisions of the Incentive Plan. In the event of any inconsistency between the
Incentive Plan and this Plan with respect to RSUs or DSUs, the terms of the Incentive Plan shall control. The Plan does not
constitute a separate source of Shares for the grant of the RSUs and DSUs described herein.

10. Accounts . The Committee shall establish and maintain, or cause to be established and maintained, a separate
Account for each Participant hereunder who executes and files an Election Form pursuant to Section 7. Each such Participant's
DSUs shall be separately accounted for and credited with eamings, to the extent applicable, for recordkeeping purposes only, to
his or her Account. A Participant's Account shall be solely for the purposes of measuring the amounts to be paid under the Plan.
The Company shall not be required to fund or secure a Participant's Account in any way, the Company's obligation to
Participants hereunder being purely contractual.




1. Adminisiration_. The Plan shall be administered by the Committee. So long as the Company is subject to
Section 16 of the Exchange Act, the Committee will consist of not fewer than two (2) members of the Beoard or such greater
number as may be required for compliance with Rule 16b-3 issued under the Exchange Act and will be comprised of persons
who are independent for purposes of applicable stock exchange listing requirements.

(a) ngmﬂmg s Authority . The Committee shall have full discretionary authority to construe and interpret
the terms and provisions of the Plan; to adopt, alter and repeal administrative rules, guidelines and practices governing
the Plan; to perform all acts, mcludmg the delegation of its administrative responmb%tles to advisors or other persons;
and to rely upon the information or opinions of lagal counselor experts selected to render advice with respect to the Plan,
as it shall deem advisable, with respect to the administration of the Plan. The Committee may take any action, correct
any defect, supply any omission or reconcile any inconsistency in the Plan, or in any election hereunder, in the manner
andFt’cla the extent it shall deem necessary to carry the Plan into effect or to carry out the Company’s purposes in adopting
the Plan.

(b} Final Determinations . Any decision, interpretation or other action made or taken in good faith by or at
the direction of the Company or the Committee arising out of or in connection with the Plan, shall be within tha absolute
discretion of each of them, and shall be final, binding and conclusive on the Company, and all Participants and
Beneficiaries and their respective heirs, executors, administrators, successors and assigns. The Committee's
determinations hereunder need not be uniform, and may be made selectively among Participants, whether or not they
are similarly situated.

(c) Delegation of Authority . The Committee may, to the extent permitted by law, delegate some or all of its
authority under the Plan to such officers of the Company as it deems appropriate. Unless the Committee otherwise
specifies, any delegate will have the authority and right to exercise (within the scope of such person's delegated

uthonty) all of the same powers and discretion that would otherwise be available to the Committee pursuant to the terms
hereof. The Committee may also employ or appoint agents (who may be officers or employees of the Company) to assist
in the administration of the Plan and to take such actions under the Plan on its behalf as the Committes deems
appropriate.

P d Indemnification . The Company shall indemnify the Committee and any individuals to whom
administrative duties have been properly delegated under this Plan, against any and all claims, losses, damages,
expenses and liabilities arising from their responsibilities in connection with this Plan, unless the same is determined to
be due to gross negligence or willful misconduct.

(&) Plan Expensag . The expense of administering the Plan shall be bome by the Company.

12, Amendment or Termination , The Board may amend this Plan at any time and from time to time. The Board
may terminate this Plan, o the extent such termination is permissible according to Treasury Regulations or cther published
guidance issued by the u.s. Department of Treasury or the Internal Revenue Service. Any amendment or termination of this
Plan will not matenally adversely affect the n?hts of a Participant accrued prior thereto without that Participant's written consent,
excapt to the extent required by law or to conform the operation of the Plan to the requirements of Code Section 409A.

13. Taxes . The Company is not responsible for the tax consequences under federal, state or local law of any
election made by any Participant under the Plan. All payments under the Flan are subject to withholding and reporting
requirements to the extent required by applicable law. To the extent required by law in effect at the time a distribution is made
from the Plan, the Company or its agents shall have the right to withhold or deduct from any distributions or payments any taxes

required to be withheld by federal, state or local govemments.
14, Banm[njm_ﬂﬂmﬁmamlu%gm Each Parhc1pant shall keep the Committee informed of his or her

current address and the current address of his or her designated Beneficiary or Beneficiaries. A Participant may from time to
time change his or her designated Beneficiary without the consent of such Beneficiary by filing a new designation in writing with
the Committee. If no Beneficiary designation is in effect at the time of the Participant's death, or if the designated Beneficiary is
missing or has predeceased the Participant, distribution shall be made to the Participant's surviving spouss, or if none, to his or
her




surviving children per stirpes, and if none, to his or her estate. The Committee shall not be obligated to search for any person. If
such person is not located within one (1) year after the date on which a payment or distribution is payable under the Plan,
payment shall be made to the Participant's estate.

15. Right of Company to Take Actions . The adoption and maintenance of this Plan shall not be deemed to
constitute a contract between the Company and a Director, or to be a consideration for, nor an inducement or condition of, the
employment of any person. Nothing herein contained, or any action taken hereunder, shall be deemed to give a Director the
right to be retained in the service of the Board or to interfere with the right of the Board to discharge the Director at any time for
any reason, nor shall it be deemed to give to the Board the right to require the Director to remain in its employ, nor shall it
interfere with the Director's right to terminate his or her service at any time. Nothing in this Plan shall prevent the Company from
amending, modifying, or terminating any other benefit plan.

16. Headings . The headings of the sections and subsections of this Plan are for reference only. In the event of a
conflict between a heading and the contents of a section or subsection, the contents of the section or subsection shall control.

17. Number and Gender . Whenever any words used herein are in the singular form, they shall be construed as
though they were also used in the plural form in all cases where they would so apply, and references to the male gender shall be
construed as applicable to the female gender where applicable, and vice versa.

18. Code Section 409A . Amounts payable under this Plan are intended to be exempt from or otherwise comply
with the requirements of Code Section 409A. With respect to amounts payable under this Plan that constitute nonqualified
deferred compensation within the meaning of Code Section 409A, the Plan is intended to be an unfunded nonqualified deferred
compensation plan, and to the extent that the Plan is inconsistent with Code Section 409A, the applicable provisions of Code
Section 409A shall be desmed to automatically supersede such inconsistent provisions. No amount under this Plan that
constitutes nongualified deferred compensation and is payable upon a Specified Employee's Separation shall be paid to such
Specified Employee before the date that is at least six (6) months after the date of such Specified Employee's Separation {(or, if
earlier, the date of the Specified Employee's death).

19. Applicable Law . To the extent not preempted by federal law, this Plan shall be construed, administered and
?_overned in all respects under and by the laws of the State of Delaware, without giving effect to its conflict of laws principles.

he jurisdiction and venue for any disputes arisin? under, or any action brought to enforce (or otherwise relating] to}, this Plan
shall be exclusively in the courts in the State of Illinois, County of Cook, including the Federal Courts located therein (should
Federal jurisdiction exist).

20. Alienation or Assignment of Benefits . Except as otherwise provided under the Plan, a Participant's rights and
interest under the Plan shall not be assigned or transferred except as otherwise provided herein, and the Participant's rights to
benefit payments under the Plan shall not be subject to alienation, pledge or garnishment by or on behalf of creditors (including
heirs, beneficiaries, or dependents) of the Participant or of a Beneficiary.

Company's Protection . By execution of an Election Form, each Participant shall be deemed to have agreed to cooperate with
the Company by furnishing any and all information reasonably requested by the Committee in order to facilitate the payment of

benefits hereunder.




Exhibit A

GROUPON, INC.
NON-EMPLOYEE DIRECTORS' COMPENSATION PLAN
CASH DEFERRAL ELECTION FORM

Please complete and retum this Election Form to Groupon on or before December 31 of the year prior to the year in which you
intend to exchange all of your Cash Retainer for deferred share units ("DSUs") under the Groupon, inc. Non-Employee Directors’
Compensation Plan (the "Plan"). However, if you are newly eligible to participate in the Plan, you may complete and return this
Elfection Form during the 30-day period folfowing the dafe on which you became a Participant. Capitalized terms used in this
Election Form and not defined herein shalf have the meaning ascribed to them in the Plan.

First Name Middle Name Last Name

Street Address City State Zip Code
Social Security Number Date of Birth MALE FEMALE

Telephone Number Email

ELECTION TO RECEIVE DEFERRED SHARE UNITS

As a non-employes director on Groupon's Board of Directors, you may elect to exchange all of your Cash Retainer for an award
of DSUs, which will be credited to an account established for you under the Plan.

This election will be applied to your Cash Retainer effective January 1 of the year fallowing the year in which you make and file
this election. This election wiil remain In effect for each subsequent year until you file a new Election Form with the
Committee in accordance with the terms of the Plan . Any new election will not be effective until January 1 of the year
following the year in which the new election is made and filed.

However, if you are a new Participant in the Plan, and you make and file this election during the 30-day period following the date
on which you became a Participant in the Plan, your election will be applied to your Cash Retainer paid after your Election Form
is filed.

Please select one of the following:

| elect to exchange 100% of my Cash Retainer for an award of DSUs under the terms of the Plan.
| elect to exchange 0% of my Cash Retainer for an award of DSUs under the terms of the Plan.

Your DSUs will be paid to you on your Separation from service, in accordance with the terms of the Plan.




AGREEMENT AND AUTHORIZATION

| understand that my election to receive DSUs in exchange for my Cash Retainer is subject to review and final approval by the
Committee, and that my election is govemned by the terms and conditions of the Plan, as may be amended from time to time.
The Plan and related Plan materials (if any) have been made available to me, and | have had the opportunity to ask questions
and receive answers regarding the terms and conditions of the Plan. | hereby certify that the above information about me is true,
accurate and complete t authorize Groupon to make the appropnate deductlons as indicated on this form, from my Cash

Director - Print Name

Date:

Director - Signature




Exhibit B

GROUPON, INC.
NON-EMPLOYEE DIRECTORS' COMPENSATION PLAN RSU DEFERRAL ELECTION FORM

Please complete and return this Election Form to Groupon on or before December 31 of the year prior to the year in which you
intend to exchange all of your RSU Retainer for DSUs under the Groupon, Inc. Non- Employee Directors' Compensation Plan
(the "Diractors Plan"). However, if you are newly eligible to participate in the Directors Plan, you may complete and return this
Election Form during the 30-day period following the date on which you became a Participant.

As a non-employee director of Groupon, Inc., you are scheduled to receive an annual grant of restricted share units ("RSUs")
on the date of the Groupon Annual Meeting of Stockholders. In 2019 (and in future years until revised), you will be granted a
number of RSUs equal to $175,000 (plus an additional $21,100 for the Chair of the Audit Committee; $13,400 for the Chair of
the Compensation Committee; and $10,050 for the Chair of the Nominating Committee); divided by the Fair Market Value of a
Share on the grant date. These RSUs will vest one year from the grant date. The terms of the Groupon, Inc. 2011 Incentive
Plan, as amended (the “Incentive Plan”) and the Directors Plan are incorporated herein in their entirety and made a part of this
form. Unless otherwise indicated, any capitalized term used but not defined herein has the meaning ascribed to such term in
the Incentive Plan or Directors Plan, as applicable.

Under the provisions of the Incentive Plan and the Directors Flan, you may elect to defer the settlement (in Shares) of all of
your RSUs by exchanging such RSUs for an award of DSUs, which will be credited to an account established for you under the
Directors Plan as of the date your RSUs would have otherwise settled. Upon making a timely deferral election, your RSUs will
remain subject to the same vesting terms but shall be exchanged for DSUs on the original vesting date on the basis of one DSU
for each RSU, and no Shares will be issued to you at the time such Shares would otherwise be issued under the Incentive Plan.
Dividend Equivalents shall be credited on DSUs and distributed at the same time that Shares are delivered to you in settlement
of the DSUs. This election will remain in effect for each subsequent year untii you flle a new Election Form with the
Committee in accordance with the terms of the Directors Plan . Any new election will not be effective until January 1 of the
year following the year in which the new election is made and filed. This election applies to all future grants of RSUs until a new
Election Form is filed, but, for the avoidance of doubt, will not apply to any other types of equity awards you may receive.

By completing thls form, | hereby alect to defer the settlement {in Sharas) of the RSUs granted to me under the 2019
RSU grant {and future years’ RSU grants until a new Election Form is filed) by exchanging my RSUs for an award of
DSUs as follows:

1. Percentage of RSUs to be deferred (please select one):

One Hundred Percent (100%) Zero Percent (0%)
Your DSUs will be settled and paid to you in Shares on your Separation from service as a director, in accordance with the terms
of the Directors Plan.

I understand that by making a deferral electlon, | will not receive Shares payable upon the vesting of my RSUs and
instead will receive DSUs, which will be settled and distributed in Shares upon




my Separation from service as a director. | further understand that this deferral election is irrevocabhle with respect to
the 2019 RSU grant after December 31, 2018.

This Deferral Election Form, the Incentive Plan and the Directors Plan are intended to comply with the applicable requirements
of Section 409A of the Code and will be limited, construed and interpreted in a manner so as to comply therewith. |
acknowledge and agree that Groupon, Inc. reserves the right to amend my election, the Incentive Plan and the Directors Plan at
any time to comply with the requirements of Secticn 409A of the Code.

AGREEMENT AND AUTHORIZATION

I understand that my slection is subject to review and final approval by the Committee, and that my election is governed by the
terms and conditions of the Incentive Plan and the Directors Plan, as may be amended from time to time. The Directors Plan
and related plan materials (if any) have been made available to me, and | have had the opportunity to ask questions and
receive answers regarding the terms and conditions of the Directors Plan. | hereby certlfy that the above information about me
is true, accurate, and complete. | ackng i ) ]
and legal advisors before making any election to defer compensation in order to determine the tax effects and other
implications of my participation in the Plan .

This Deferral Election Form must be signed and retumed to Groupon, Inc. prior to the close of business on Monday, December
31, 2018.

Director - Print Name

Date:

Director - Signature



Subsidiary
Groupon Canada Inc.
Groupon Activities, LLC
Groupon Distribution Services, LLC
Groupon Merchant Services, LLC
Gl Intemational Holdings, Inc.
Groupon Canada Corp, Inc.
Groupon Getaways, Inc.
Groupon Goods, Inc.
Groupon Product Services, LLC
Groupon Trailblazer, Inc.
GrouponLive, LLC
LivingSecial, LLC
Obtiva, Inc.
GROUPON S.P.R.L.
Groupon France SAS
Groupon Goods France
Groupon Europe GmbH
Groupon Goods Germany GmbH
Groupon International Ltd.
Groupon-CityDeal (Ireland) Ltd.
Groupon Goods ltaly S.r.l.
Groupon S.r.l.

Gl Luxembourg S.a.r.|
Groupon SARL
Groupon Goods Netherlands B.V.
Groupon Holdings B.V.
Groupon Netherlands B.V.
Groupon Goods Poland sp. z.0.0.
Groupon Sp.z 0.0.

Groupon Shared Services Poland Sp. z.0.0.

Groupon Spain, SLU
Groupon Goods Global GmbH
Groupon International GmbH
Groupon Intemational Travel GmbH
Groupon FZ-LLC
Groupon Goods UK Ltd.
Groupon Shop Ltd.

MyCity Deal Ltd.

Groupon Australia Pty Lid.
Groupon Getaways Pty Ltd.
Groupon Shared Services Private Limited
Groupon Japan, Inc.
Groupon New Zealand Limited

Exhibit 21.1

Jurisdictlon
Canada
Delawara (U.S.A.)
Delaware (U.S.A.)
Virginia (U.S.A.)
Delaware (U.S.A.)
Delaware (U.S.A.)
Delaware (U.S.A.)
Delaware (U.S.A.)
Delaware (U.S.A.)
Dealaware (U.S5.A.)
Dsalaware (U.S.A.)
Delaware (U.S.A.)
lliinois (U.S.A.)
Belgium
France
France
Germany
Germany
Ireland
Ireland
ltaly
ltaly
Luxembourg
Moroceo
Netherlands
Netherlands
Netherlands
Poland
Poland
Poland
Spain
Switzerand
Switzerland
Switzerland
United Arab Emlrates
United Kingdom
United Kingdom
United Kingdom
Australia
Australia
India
Japan
New Zealand




Exhibit 23.1

CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOLUNTING FIRM

Woe consent to the incorporation by reference in Registration Statement No. 333-214351 on Form S-8 and Registration Statements No. 333-223025
and No. 333-223024 on Form S-3 of our reports dated February 12, 2019, relating to the financial statements and financial statement schedule of
Groupon, Inc. and subsldlaries (the "Company”), and the effectivenass of the Company’s intemal control over financial reporting dated February 12,
2019, appearing in this Annual Report on Form 10-K of Groupon, Inc. for the year ended December 31, 2018,

s/ DELOITTE & TOUCHE LLP

Chicago, lllincis
February 12, 2019



Exhibit 23.2

Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

We consent o the incorporation by reference in (1) the Registration Statement (Form S-8 No. 333-214351) pertaining to the 2012 Employee Stock
Purchase Plan, 2011 Incentive Pian, 2010 Stock Plan, and 2008 Stock Option Plan of Groupon, Inc.,(2) the Registration Statement (Form S-3 ASR
No. 333-223025) of Groupon, Inc. of our report dated February 15, 2017 {except for Notes 1, 3 and 19, as to which the date is May 17, 2017, and
Note 2, as to which the date is February 12, 2019) and {3) the Registration Statement (Form S-3 ASR No. 333-223024), with respecl to the 2016
consolidated flnancial statements and schedule presented on a comparative basis with the 2017 and 2018 consolidated financial statsments and
schedule of Groupon, Inc. included in its Annual Report (Form 10-K) for the year ended December 31, 2018.

s/ Ernst & Young LLP
Chicago, lllinois
February 12, 2019



Exhibit 31.1

CERTIFICATION
I, Rich Williams, cerllfy that:
1. | have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K of Groupon, Inc.;
2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of 2 material fact or omit to state a material

fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with
respect to the psriod coverad by this report;

3 Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and cther financial informaticn induded in this report, fairly present in
all material respects the financial condition, resufts of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presentad in this
report;

4, The registrant's other certifying officer and | are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and

procedures (as deflned in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e}} and Intemal control over financial reporting (as defined n
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f}} for the registrant and have:

(@) Desligned such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be
designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries,
is made known to us by others within those entities, particulary during the period in which this report is being preparead;

{b) Deslgned such intemal confrol over financial reporting, or caused such Internal control over financial reporting
to be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the
preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

(c} Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report
our conclusions about the affectiveness of the disclosure controls and procadures, as of the end of the period covered by this report
based on such evaluation; and

(d} Disclosed in this report any change In the registrant's intemmal control over financial reporting that occurred
during the registrant's most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant's fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report} that has
materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant's intemal control over financial reporting, and

5. The reglstrant’s other certifying officer and | have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of intemal control over
financial reporting, to the registrant's auditors and the audit committee of the registrant's board of directors (or persons performing the
equlvalent functions):

{a) All significant deflclencles and material weaknesses in the design or operation of intenal control over financial
reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant's abllity to record, process, summarize and report financial
informatlon; and

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that Involves management or other employees who have a significant role in
the registrant’s intemal control over financlal reporting.

Date: February 12, 2019 Rich Willi
Rich Williams
Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)



Exhibit 31.2
CERTIFICATION
I, Michael Randolfi, certify that:
1. | have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K of Groupon, Inc.;
2. Based on my knowladge, this report doas not contaln any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material

fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with
respect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in
all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the pericds presented in this
report;

4, The registrant's other cerifying officer and | are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and

procedures {(as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e} and 15d-15(e}} and intemal control over financial reporting (as defined in
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f}) for the registrant and have:

(a} Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be
designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, Including its consclidated subsidiaries,
is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the pericd in which this report is being prepared;

{b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting
to be designed under cur supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the
preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

(c) Evaluated the effactivenass of the reglstrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report
our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the pericd covered by this report
hased on such evaluation; and

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant's intemal control over financial reporting that occurred
during the registrant's most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has
materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant's intemal control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant's othar certifying officer and | have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of intemal control over
financial reporting, to the registrant's auditors and the audit committee of the reglstrant's board of directors {or persons performing the
equivalent functions):

(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses In the design or operation of intemal control over financial
reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant's ability to record, process, summarize and report financial
informatlion; and

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant rele in
the registrant's internal control over financial reporting.

Date: February 12, 2019 [sf Michael Randolfi
Michasel Randolfi

Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial Officer)



Exhibit 32.1

Certlfications Pursuant to
18 U.S.C. Section 1350
As Adopted Pursuant to
Sectlon 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

In connection with the Annual Report of Groupen, Inc. (the "Company™) on Form 10-K for the pericd ended December 31, 2018, as filed with
the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the "Report™), I, Rich Willlams, Chlef Executive Officer of the Company, and Michael
Randolfi, Chief Financlal Officer of the Company, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Saction 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-
Oxley Act of 2002, to our knowledge, that:

(1) The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended; and

{(2) The information contained in the Report faiy presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the
Company.

By: /s{Rich Willigms
Rich Williams
Chief Executive Officer
{Principal Executive Officer)

By: /s/ Michael Randolfi
Michael Randolfi
Chief Financial Officer
{(Principal Financial Officer)

Date: February 12, 2019



